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 1                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Well, we welcome you to
 2  day three of the hearing on the Gila River before the
 3  Navigable Streams Adjudication Commission, also known
 4  as Expendables 3.  Please keep that in mind.
 5                 Mr. Slade, I believe you were continuing
 6  to examine Dr. Mussetter.
 7                 MR. SLADE:  That's right.
 8                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Please begin.
 9                 MR. MEHNERT:  Do you want to do
10  rollcall?
11                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Yes, might as well.
12                 MR. MEHNERT:  Okay.  Commissioner
13  Horton?
14                 COMMISSIONER HORTON:  Here.
15                 MR. MEHNERT:  Commissioner Allen?
16                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Here.
17                 MR. MEHNERT:  Chairman Noble?
18                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Here.
19                 MR. MEHNERT:  And Mr. Henness?
20                 And Mr. Henness will be out today.
21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you, George.
22                 Now, Edwin.
23                 MR. SLADE:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman,
24  Commissioners.
25                 Good morning, Mr. Mussetter.
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 1                 THE WITNESS:  Good morning.
 2
 3               CONTINUED CROSS-EXAMINATION
 4  BY MR. SLADE:
 5      Q.    Have you ever canoed a navigable river?
 6      A.    Yes.
 7                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Edwin, may I interrupt?
 8  It might help you just a little bit if you would pull
 9  the microphone closer to you.
10                 MR. SLADE:  Sure.
11                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  That will allow you to
12  relax a little bit and not have to bend over it.
13                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Not look like you're
14  jumping over the table.
15                 MR. SLADE:  Any other pointers?
16                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Nope.  I'll leave those
17  to Joy.  Please go ahead.  I'm sorry for interrupting.
18  BY MR. SLADE:
19      Q.    Which river was that that you canoed?
20      A.    The James River.
21      Q.    And are there any riffles or rapids in the
22  James River?
23      A.    No.
24      Q.    Are there any islands or sandbars?
25      A.    Yes, there are some islands.  There probably
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 1  are sandbars.  I don't recall specifically.  It's a
 2  very different river from the Gila, if that's what
 3  you're driving at.
 4      Q.    Have you ever encountered a beaver dam on a
 5  river?
 6      A.    Yes.
 7      Q.    And what did you do?
 8            Were you canoeing the river; were you boating
 9  the river?
10      A.    Yes.
11      Q.    And where was the beaver dam?
12      A.    It crossed -- probably to be more specific, I
13  wouldn't call it a river.  It's a stream, a small
14  stream.
15      Q.    And what did you do when you encountered the
16  beaver dam?
17      A.    Well, I got out of the canoe and carried it
18  around and got back in the canoe.
19      Q.    We touched on this a little yesterday, but
20  I'm not sure I got -- I understood your answer.  Is the
21  Colorado navigable?
22      A.    The Colorado below the mouth of the Gila
23  certainly is, has been deemed to be navigable, yes.
24      Q.    In your opinion, from Utah to Yuma, the
25  Colorado, is that a navigable river?
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 1      A.    From Utah --
 2      Q.    So the Arizona Colorado River.
 3      A.    I don't know the legal status of the entire
 4  reach.
 5      Q.    But in terms of your expertise as a
 6  hydrologist, as an expert boater, would you say the
 7  Colorado is navigable from Utah to Yuma?
 8      A.    I'm not certain that I would agree that all
 9  of that reach meets the federal standard for
10  navigability.
11      Q.    What about the state standard?
12      A.    My instructions are to apply the federal
13  standard, and it's my understanding that those are also
14  the instructions to the Commission; you know, the
15  federal standard is what controls.
16      Q.    And which sections would you say are
17  navigable or which are not?
18      A.    According to what standard?
19      Q.    The standards that you're using, federal
20  tests, state tests.
21      A.    Well, the short section that I showed the
22  image of in my presentation yesterday was deemed to be
23  navigable, and I agree that that reach is probably
24  navigable.
25      Q.    Okay, but I believe that was in Utah; is that
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 1  correct?
 2      A.    Yes, that is in Utah.
 3      Q.    So, again, in Arizona, I think you just said
 4  some sections of the Colorado are navigable.  Which
 5  sections would those be?
 6      A.    Well, again, I'm not sure.  I haven't studied
 7  the whole reach.  What you're really referring to is
 8  the Grand Canyon, and I'm not sure if that really meets
 9  the standard for the federal test of navigability.
10            Certainly we have commerce going on there
11  with recreational boating, but that -- you know, the
12  kinds of boats that can customarily or, you know, that
13  customarily were being used at the time of statehood
14  are not really suitable boats for that reach of the
15  river.  I would have to say it's probably not navigable
16  according to the federal standard.
17      Q.    How about the lower reach of the Colorado in
18  Arizona where steamboats were in use, would that part
19  be navigable?
20      A.    I think I already said that it's my
21  understanding that it has been deemed to be navigable.
22      Q.    How about the Grand Canyon to the Black
23  Canyon, are you familiar with that area?
24      A.    I'm not specifically familiar with that area.
25      Q.    What percent of the time is a river in a
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 1  flood state, a dryland river like Arizona's Gila?
 2      A.    Typically, a small percentage of the time.
 3      Q.    Less than 5 percent?
 4      A.    I would say most dryland rivers that would be
 5  the case.
 6      Q.    How does vegetation affect a channel in your
 7  eyes, as a hydrologist?  A lack of vegetation or extra
 8  vegetation, how does that affect a channel?
 9      A.    Vegetation affects a channel in many
10  different ways.  It tends to increase the hydraulic
11  roughness, so that tends to reduce the capacity, make
12  the velocity slower, the depth greater.  It also tends
13  to stabilize the channel so it doesn't have as much of
14  a tendency to erode laterally.
15      Q.    And when you talk about stabilize the
16  channel, are you talking about the low flow channel,
17  the main flow channel?
18      A.    I'm talking about wherever the vegetation is
19  growing.
20      Q.    Would you agree that vegetation can stabilize
21  then the low flow channel?
22      A.    It could.
23      Q.    Could you turn to Tab 20, please?  This is
24  Exhibit X025, Part 116, and this is Ross's 1923 USGS
25  Water Supply Paper 498.
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 1            Could you read the highlighted portion?
 2      A.    Yes.
 3            The title of the section is Channel in the
 4  flood plain.  Gila River when first seen by white men
 5  presented a very different aspect from that of today.
 6  (See Page 64 through 67.)  It had a well-defined
 7  channel with hard banks, on which cottonwoods and other
 8  green-leaved plants were growing.  The current was
 9  swift and deep enough even in comparatively dry
10  portions of the year to make fording difficult, except
11  at a few places, and to float a flat boat of some size.
12  Fish were plentiful enough to be depended on as food
13  throughout the year by a considerable number of
14  Indians.  Strangest of all to one who knows the
15  silt-laden waters of the present stream, the water of
16  Gila River is reported to have been clear and
17  sea-green.
18      Q.    Any reason to disagree with that account?
19      A.    I presume this is reported as Mr. Littlefield
20  did; it's depicting what people reported that they saw.
21  But, you know, you're pulling one page out of a large
22  document, and I don't really have the full context of
23  what they're talking about here, so...
24      Q.    Fair enough.
25            Could you turn to Tab 19, please?  And this
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 1  is also Ross's USGS Water Supply Paper 498,
 2  Exhibit X025, Part 116, Page 66.
 3            And could you read the highlighted portion,
 4  please?
 5      A.    Yes.
 6            More recent information is furnished by
 7  Mr. John Montgomery, a ranchman residing in Arlington,
 8  who has had many years' experience in southwestern
 9  Arizona.  He states that in the summer of 1889, when a
10  boy of 12, he was in camp near Powers Butte, on Gila
11  River.  At that time the river had a well-defined
12  channel with hard, sloping banks lined with cottonwoods
13  and bushes.  The water was clear, was 5 or 6 feet deep,
14  and contained many fish.  The grazing lands near the
15  river were in much better condition then than now.
16  Several varieties of grass then abundant have since
17  died out.  Mr. Montgomery attributes the change in the
18  character of the river largely to the practice of
19  cattlemen of burning the heavy brush that once covered
20  its banks in order to drive out wild cattle which had
21  sought shelter there.  This destroyed the natural
22  protection and left the soft silty soil exposed to
23  rapid erosion.  The disastrous floods of 1890 and 1891
24  did much to break down the river's confining banks,
25  partly filled the channel with sediment, and in general
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 1  interfered with the equilibrium that had been
 2  established.
 3      Q.    Any reason to disagree with that account?
 4      A.    Well, again, I assume this is the facts, a
 5  reporting of what this person read from the historic
 6  accounts.
 7      Q.    And you did reference Ross's 1923 paper in
 8  your report?
 9      A.    I did.
10      Q.    Were you here for Mr. Burtell's testimony?
11      A.    Most of it, I believe.
12      Q.    And were you here for Mr. Littlefield's
13  testimony?
14      A.    I was.
15      Q.    And would you agree that -- with
16  Mr. Littlefield's, and I think you just did, his
17  opinion that primary source information is generally
18  the most reliable in determining the condition of the
19  river?
20      A.    Well, I'm not a historian, but that appeals
21  to common sense, yes.
22      Q.    And as a professional hydrologist, a serious
23  recreational boater, if I might call you that, would
24  you agree that you can learn a lot about a river from
25  actually having boots on the ground?
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 1      A.    Sure.
 2      Q.    And you mentioned yesterday that you haven't
 3  done a boots-on-the-ground inspection of the Gila.  Do
 4  you know of any experts in this case that have done a
 5  boots-on-the-ground inspection of the Gila?
 6      A.    Well, apparently Mr. Fuller has done some.
 7      Q.    I would like to take a look at your slides,
 8  and I believe your newest version is Tab 28, which is
 9  Exhibit X026.  And if we could go to Page 6.
10            Is this the Mosquito Fork River?
11      A.    Yes, it is.
12      Q.    And would you say this part of the river is
13  navigable?
14      A.    Somehow I knew that question was coming.
15            This section of the river would be navigable
16  by small, shallow draft boats.
17      Q.    Is this a dryland river?
18      A.    This is not a dryland river.
19      Q.    If we could go to Slide 7.
20            And this is the Platte River; is that
21  correct?
22      A.    That's correct.
23      Q.    And that's a Midwestern river?
24      A.    It is.
25      Q.    Would you characterize this river as similar
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 1  to the Gila?
 2      A.    There are similarities between this river and
 3  the Gila.
 4      Q.    What are the similarities?
 5      A.    Well, the braiding character of it,
 6  primarily.
 7      Q.    So you would disagree with Graf's quote that
 8  we cited yesterday that said Midwestern rivers have
 9  differences from dryland rivers?
10      A.    I didn't say that, no.
11      Q.    Are we looking at the low flow or the flood
12  channel here?
13      A.    Well, that's -- the answer to that question
14  is not straightforward in this instance, because we
15  have to define what period of time we're talking about.
16            The area that's covered by -- that's within
17  the rough bounds of the white line roughly corresponds
18  to the present-day flood channel, although large floods
19  can get out into the overbank area.  But the historic
20  flood channel is much wider than what you see here.  In
21  fact, it goes off the page on the top for some
22  distance.
23      Q.    And you have a chart at the bottom of the
24  page.  Is that your chart?
25      A.    Yes.
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 1      Q.    And that shows the channel geometry in a
 2  cross section; is that correct?
 3      A.    Yes.  It shows the ground profile along that
 4  white line.
 5      Q.    Did you create a chart like this for the Gila
 6  at any point?
 7      A.    I did not.
 8      Q.    If we could turn to Slide 8, please.
 9            Which river is this?
10      A.    This is the Copper River.
11      Q.    And where is that located?
12      A.    In Alaska.
13      Q.    Is this a dryland river?
14      A.    No.
15      Q.    Is it navigable?
16      A.    I actually don't know the status of the
17  navigability determinations on this particular river.
18      Q.    Is it braided?
19      A.    Sure.
20      Q.    If we could turn to Slide 9.
21            And this is the Chulitna River of Alaska?
22      A.    That's correct.
23      Q.    Is this a dryland alluvial river?
24      A.    It is not a dryland river.
25      Q.    And was this photo taken from a helicopter or
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 1  on the ground?
 2      A.    It was taken from a helicopter.
 3      Q.    Were you in the helicopter?
 4      A.    I was.
 5      Q.    Is this a navigable river?
 6      A.    Again, I don't know the status of the
 7  navigability determination from a legal standpoint.  I
 8  suspect it would not be navigable.
 9      Q.    If we could turn to Slide 10, please.
10            Now, you said yesterday this is the only
11  photo that you have of the Gila; is that correct?
12      A.    No, I didn't say that.
13      Q.    Do you have other photos of the Gila?
14      A.    Yes.
15      Q.    But you didn't include them in your
16  presentation?
17      A.    I did not.
18      Q.    Why is that?
19      A.    Because they depict the Gila River as it is
20  today, and we're not talking about the Gila River as it
21  is today.
22      Q.    What about photos as the Gila River was
23  closer to statehood, do you have any of those photos?
24      A.    Well, I certainly have seen, I've read the
25  documents, I've read the other expert reports, I've
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 1  seen many of the photos that we've all seen in this
 2  proceeding.
 3      Q.    Why did you choose to put this photo in?
 4      A.    I just thought it was a good illustration of
 5  the braided character of this portion of the Gila
 6  River.
 7      Q.    When you did your flyover, what percent of
 8  the time would you say the Gila was braided?
 9      A.    It was braided the entire time that I was
10  doing the flyover.  I don't understand your question.
11      Q.    Was there a main low flow channel during your
12  flyover?
13      A.    In places, yes.
14      Q.    What percent of the time was there a main low
15  flow channel?
16      A.    At the risk of helping you, do you mean what
17  percentage of the distance?
18      Q.    Yes.
19      A.    I couldn't make an estimate of that.  I would
20  say a reasonable percentage.
21      Q.    Majority?
22      A.    I'm not sure I would agree with that.  I
23  would have to go back and study the photography more.
24      Q.    And has this part of the Gila been subject to
25  diversions?
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 1      A.    Yes.
 2      Q.    Is this below the Gillespie Dam?
 3      A.    Yes.
 4      Q.    And what time of year was this photo taken?
 5      A.    As I said yesterday, I believe it was
 6  November.  Might have been October.  I think it was
 7  November.
 8      Q.    Do you know the depth of the channels in this
 9  picture?
10      A.    I don't know the exact depth.  They're very
11  shallow, though.
12      Q.    How do you know they're very shallow?
13      A.    Pretty obvious from the photograph.
14      Q.    Can you explain?
15      A.    My understanding of the rivers.
16      Q.    Say that again?
17      A.    I said my understanding of rivers, the
18  character of rivers, and the topography that I can see
19  in this photograph, it's very shallow.
20      Q.    But you've no data to back that up?
21      A.    I didn't sit down and measure the depth here,
22  no.
23      Q.    And you didn't try to float it in a boat?
24      A.    No, I didn't try to float it in a boat.
25      Q.    Do you know how much flow is coming through
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 1  at this point, what the cfs number might be?
 2      A.    I don't know.
 3      Q.    If we could turn to Slide 11.
 4            Is this a quote from United States v. Utah?
 5      A.    Yes, it is.
 6      Q.    Are you familiar with what the case decided
 7  in regards to impediments like sandbars?  In other
 8  words, did they say anything else about sandbars and
 9  how they would view them regarding navigability?
10      A.    Well, I think in general it depends on the
11  circumstance.  Sandbars don't in and of themselves make
12  a river not navigable.  Some sandbars make it very
13  challenging.
14      Q.    I'm going to read from U.S. v. State of Utah,
15  283 U.S. 64, pin cite 86:  Quote, Recognizing the
16  difficulties which are thus created, the master is
17  plainly right in his conclusion that the mere fact of
18  the presence of such sandbars causing impediments to
19  navigation does not make a river nonnavigable.
20            That's essentially what you just said,
21  correct?
22      A.    That's fair.
23      Q.    If we could turn to Slide 12, please.
24            These are your river dynamics slides, and in
25  the second bullet point, the first paragraph, you talk
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 1  about the increased frequency of floods and then a
 2  braided channel.  How long does the braided channel
 3  last after a flood?
 4      A.    It can persist for an extended period of
 5  time.  Depends on the circumstances.
 6      Q.    And are you talking about there the flood
 7  channel?
 8      A.    I'm talking about the entire channel.
 9      Q.    And when the flood recedes, what happens?
10      A.    Well, the flow becomes shallower, some of the
11  braid channels consolidate, some of them become dry.
12      Q.    And they consolidate into what?
13      A.    Less channels.
14      Q.    A low flow main channel?
15      A.    In some cases.
16                 MR. SLADE:  That's it for me,
17  Dr. Littlefield.  Thanks.
18                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Mussetter.
19                 MR. SLADE:  Oh, Dr. Mussetter.  Excuse
20  me.  I'm looking at Littlefield.
21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Is there any other
22  examination, State Land Department?
23                 MS. HERNBRODE:  No, we're good.  Thank
24  you, sir.
25                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  And, Mr. Hyrcko, I
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 1  think you're next.
 2                 So nice of John to let you have that
 3  chair.
 4                 MR. HYRCKO:  Well, I prefer to sit on
 5  the left.  I'm blind in this eye, so I have to --
 6                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Hey, that's better when
 7  he's on your left.
 8                 MR. HELM:  He can exit quicker from this
 9  side than he can this side.
10                 MR. SPARKS:  That way you don't have to
11  look at John.
12                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  All right, we're going
13  to take a short break while you're getting set up.
14                 MR. HYRCKO:  Thank you.
15                 (A recess was taken from 9:31 a.m. to
16  9:37 a.m.)
17                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Are you going to do
18  this by yourself?
19                 MR. HYRCKO:  No, I think he'll be back.
20
21                     CROSS-EXAMINATION
22  BY MR. HYRCKO:
23      Q.    Good morning, Dr. Mussetter.  My name is
24  Chuck Hyrcko.  I'm an attorney representing Maricopa
25  County in this matter.
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 1      A.    Good morning.
 2      Q.    I'm not a hydrologist, but I'm going to ask
 3  you some questions, so if I'm not clear or if I use a
 4  term of art in your profession inaccurately, I would
 5  appreciate it if you would just ask me to clarify so
 6  that the record is clear and that we're communicating.
 7  Is that fair?
 8      A.    Sure.
 9      Q.    I understand that you haven't testified
10  previously or submitted any other reports to ANSAC for
11  any other river in Arizona at this point; is that
12  correct?
13      A.    No, that's not correct.
14      Q.    Which other rivers have you submitted reports
15  to ANSAC or testified on?
16      A.    The upper Salt.
17      Q.    The upper Salt?
18            And you testified yesterday that you did --
19  you have testified in other cases of navigability in
20  other states, correct?
21      A.    I have not actually testified in other cases.
22      Q.    Worked on other cases of navigability?
23      A.    Yes.
24      Q.    Is that title navigability or some other?
25      A.    Yes.
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 1      Q.    And that was -- you have -- I recorded two.
 2  One in North Carolina, the Yadkin River, is that one of
 3  them?
 4      A.    That's correct.
 5      Q.    And you are working for Alcoa on that case?
 6      A.    That's correct.
 7      Q.    Were you a proponent of navigability or an
 8  opponent of navigability?
 9      A.    An opponent of navigability.
10      Q.    And then the other case that I noted, you
11  worked on the PPL Montana case, correct?
12      A.    That's correct.
13      Q.    And in that case you worked for PPL Montana,
14  and they were an opponent of navigability as well?
15      A.    That's correct.
16      Q.    And then you also worked on -- the cases you
17  worked on in Alaska, were those for navigability as
18  well?
19      A.    There is only one navigability case in
20  Alaska.
21      Q.    And that's the Mosquito Fork?
22      A.    That's correct.
23      Q.    And you were working for the Department of
24  Justice?
25      A.    That's correct.
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 1      Q.    And were they the proponent of navigability?
 2      A.    They're the opponent.
 3      Q.    The Department of Justice is an opponent of
 4  navigability?
 5      A.    Yes.
 6      Q.    Can you tell me specifically what you did in
 7  each of those cases?
 8            Let's start with the Yadkin River.  What did
 9  you do, specifically, in that case?
10      A.    Well, similar to what I've done here, we
11  reviewed a large body of historical evidence,
12  historical mapping, did field trips to the river, a
13  field trip to the river, where we viewed the modern day
14  conditions of the river.  And then in that particular
15  case, actually did some modeling to try to understand
16  the hydraulic conditions in the river.
17      Q.    Is that all that you did on the Yadkin River?
18      A.    From a technical perspective, yes.
19      Q.    And you then testified; is that correct?
20      A.    No.
21      Q.    You did not.
22            And what about on the PPL Montana case, what
23  did you do in that case, specifically?
24      A.    Primarily reviewed documents and, again, did
25  field reconnaissance of the reaches that were in
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 1  question.
 2      Q.    Was that field reconnaissance on the ground,
 3  as was referred to earlier by the State's attorney?
 4      A.    Some on the ground and some aerial.
 5      Q.    So in both of those cases you did
 6  on-the-ground work?
 7      A.    Yes.
 8      Q.    How about in the Mosquito Fork case, what did
 9  you do specifically in that case?
10      A.    I have visited the area a few times.  I have
11  collected a significant amount of data.  I'm in the
12  process of analyzing data.  I've reviewed historical
13  documents.
14      Q.    Have you done any fieldwork in that case?
15      A.    Yes.
16      Q.    On the ground type fieldwork?
17      A.    Yes.
18      Q.    Did you do any modeling in your work here in
19  the Gila River?
20      A.    No.
21      Q.    And your only experience of the lower Gila
22  was an overflight that you did in November of 2013; is
23  that accurate?
24      A.    That's correct.
25      Q.    I'm going to ask you a little bit more about
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 1  that overflight when we get to the photographs, but
 2  we'll leave it there for now.
 3            Dr. Mussetter, as part of your educational
 4  training, are you trained in the scientific method?
 5      A.    Yes.
 6      Q.    And the foundation of the scientific method
 7  is formulation, testing and modification of hypotheses
 8  and measuring evidence against those hypotheses,
 9  correct?
10      A.    Yes.
11      Q.    Do you agree that in the scientific method
12  one doesn't posit a single alternative hypotheses;
13  rather, you propose various hypotheses and then set out
14  to locate evidence that will test those hypotheses; is
15  that accurate?
16      A.    That's a fair statement, yes.
17      Q.    Would you agree that the scientific method is
18  intended to be as objective as possible and to avoid
19  bias?
20      A.    Sure.
21      Q.    Did you do a scientific method in this case?
22      A.    Yes, I would say I did.
23      Q.    What were your hypotheses in this case?
24      A.    Well, one hypothesis would be that the Gila
25  River meets the standard of navigability.
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 1      Q.    And the alternative is --
 2      A.    It does not.
 3      Q.    -- it isn't navigable?
 4            So you have two hypotheses?
 5      A.    Yeah.
 6      Q.    And you mentioned yesterday, I believe, that
 7  you worked with or were familiar with the work that
 8  Dr. Schumm did in 2005; is that correct?
 9      A.    I was familiar with it, yes.
10      Q.    And so in your developing of hypotheses, you
11  started fresh; you didn't look at what Dr. Schumm did
12  and start from there and work forward?
13      A.    Well, I can't say that I started fresh.  I
14  certainly was aware of what he did.  He and I discussed
15  the evidence that he was looking at, his findings about
16  that evidence.  So I had that in my mind when I started
17  this.  But I also backed up and seriously asked myself
18  could I, with scientific integrity, argue that this
19  river meets the federal test for navigability.
20      Q.    So I'm going to ask you a little bit more
21  about Dr. Schumm's work, but I've got some more
22  generalized questions here first.
23            Since you're very familiar with the PPL
24  Montana case, as you said earlier, you actually worked
25  on that case for the opponent, why is it that you did
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 1  not consider the Gila River on a segment-by-segment
 2  basis, as is required by the PPL holding?
 3      A.    Well, as I said in some of my conversations
 4  yesterday, it's my opinion, based on all the evidence
 5  that I've seen to this point, that the Gila River
 6  through Arizona doesn't meet the federal test for
 7  navigability, and so it's unnecessary to break it into
 8  segments.
 9      Q.    So is it fair to say that you did the
10  analysis of the various segments and then decided it
11  was navigable, or did you look at the whole river,
12  decide it was navigable, and then decide that you
13  didn't need to break it into segments, just so that I
14  can understand it?
15                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Hyrcko, I'm not
16  quite -- did he decide that it was navigable, is that
17  the question you're asking?
18                 MR. HYRCKO:  I'm sorry, I must be asking
19  the wrong question.
20  BY MR. HYRCKO:
21      Q.    Okay.  The question I'm asking then is,
22  apparently very badly, is that when you decided -- when
23  you came up with -- you said that you did a scientific
24  process in this case, correct?
25      A.    Yes.
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 1      Q.    And you also said that you decided that based
 2  on your experience or what you saw, you didn't need to
 3  do any segment-by-segment analysis because the -- is
 4  that accurate?
 5      A.    Yes.
 6            But let me clarify that.  I mean I look at
 7  the river, different portions of the river as I study
 8  the information that's available.  So if that's what
 9  you mean by segmentation, yes, I consider there are --
10  the river has different characteristics all along its
11  length, and it's reasonable, depending on your purpose,
12  to break it into segments, depending on your purpose.
13            As I said, I didn't feel that I needed to
14  break it into segments in accordance with the
15  instructions in PPL Montana, because in my mind, the
16  entire reach that's in question here was not navigable
17  under its ordinary and natural condition at the date of
18  statehood, and so there's no reason to do that.
19      Q.    So in your opinion then, the PPL holding is
20  to first determine -- excuse me.
21            So in your opinion, the PPL holding doesn't
22  require you to do an independent analysis of each
23  segment; rather, you can look at the entire river first
24  and then -- I guess what I'm trying to get at here is,
25  you acknowledge there's some differences in the geology
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 1  of the river as it flows through Arizona, correct?
 2      A.    Yes.
 3      Q.    And one of those areas is bedrock-controlled,
 4  for instance, the Gila Box and the area downstream of
 5  San Carlos?
 6      A.    Yes.
 7      Q.    But you determined that -- and then there's
 8  other areas that are alluvial, correct?
 9      A.    Yes.
10      Q.    But in your opinion, the areas that were
11  bedrock and the areas that were alluvial were not
12  significantly different enough to do an analysis of
13  each of those areas and look at the historical evidence
14  for those specific areas?
15      A.    I didn't say they weren't significantly
16  different.  My conclusion is that the entire reach is
17  not navigable, and I don't need to break it into
18  segments.  I don't need to consider -- I certainly
19  consider the individual characteristics of different
20  portions of the river.  But to formally say, you know,
21  I have Segment 1 here and Segment 2 there, I don't need
22  to do that, because the whole thing is not navigable.
23      Q.    And that is largely based on the Kelvin gauge
24  data, correct?
25                 MR. SPARKS:  Pardon me.  Did you say
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 1  Calva or Kelvin?  There are two gauges.
 2                 MR. HYRCKO:  Kelvin.
 3                 MR. SPARKS:  With an E?
 4                 MR. HYRCKO:  K-E-L-V-I-N.
 5                 MR. SPARKS:  Thank you.  I'm sorry.
 6                 THE WITNESS:  Could you restate the
 7  question, please?
 8  BY MR. HYRCKO:
 9      Q.    And your opinions, at least in the work that
10  is in your presentation, is based largely on the flow
11  data from the Kelvin gauge site for the USGS, correct?
12      A.    Well, the Kelvin gauge data forms part of the
13  basis for my opinion.  I'm using the information from
14  that gauge to illustrate points about my understanding
15  of the behavior of the Gila River, the hydrologic
16  behavior of the Gila River.  Certainly it varies along
17  the reach, would be different at different gauges; but
18  the general characteristics are very similar.
19      Q.    You testified yesterday about what your idea
20  of what the term ordinary means, but it's not really
21  clear to me what you said.
22            Could you please define for me what you
23  understand the word ordinary to mean as it is used in
24  the Winkleman case?
25      A.    Well, it primarily refers to the condition --
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 1  in my reading of it, it primarily refers to the flow
 2  conditions that occur most of the time.  In other
 3  words, it excludes extreme floods and it excludes -- I
 4  intended to say excludes if I didn't.  It excludes
 5  extreme floods and it excludes severe drought.
 6      Q.    And when you did your evaluation of the river
 7  to determine its natural condition, did you evaluate it
 8  as a river that was untouched by civilization excluding
 9  any man-made diversions?
10      A.    I did the best I could, given the available
11  data, to understand what the river would have looked
12  like in the absence of those factors.
13      Q.    What time frame did you use as the standard
14  for this evaluation, or to put it another way, what is
15  your time period for untouched by civilization period
16  that would have existed at statehood but for human
17  intervention?
18      A.    Well, strictly speaking, it would be even
19  before the Hohokams were in the area.  But as is
20  described in the Winkleman case, and I understand that
21  that case strictly applies to the lower Salt River, but
22  the time frames that they discuss I think also equally
23  apply to the Gila River.  They said, well, the Native
24  American diversions had died out enough by the early
25  1800s, so that the early to, you know, perhaps up to
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 1  1850, 1860 in their mind would be representative of
 2  natural conditions.
 3      Q.    Is all the data that you looked at set out in
 4  your report?
 5      A.    No.
 6      Q.    What other data did you use that wasn't set
 7  out in your report?
 8      A.    Well, I looked at the data from the other
 9  gauges along the system.
10      Q.    Which other gauges?
11      A.    I would have to go back through my notes.
12  There's a gauge up at the head of Safford Valley that I
13  remember.  There's a gauge at Maricopa that has a
14  shorter period of record.  I looked some at the gauge
15  below Gillespie Dam.
16      Q.    So you looked at the Kelvin gauge data, the
17  Safford, and is that the head of Safford Valley?
18      A.    Yes.
19      Q.    Not the Calva Safford Valley?
20      A.    I probably also looked at the Calva gauge.  I
21  pulled most -- all of the gauge data that I could find.
22      Q.    And then you looked at the Maricopa data in
23  the region of Maricopa?
24      A.    Right.
25      Q.    And then Gillespie Dam.
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 1            What is your definition then of what is the
 2  natural and ordinary condition of the river on the date
 3  of statehood?
 4      A.    Well, it's what the river would have looked
 5  like -- specifically with respect to natural, it's what
 6  the river would have looked like on the date of
 7  statehood if we had not had the diversions and the
 8  other human impacts that have occurred along the reach.
 9      Q.    Did you evaluate the river in its ordinary
10  condition separately from the river in its natural
11  condition?  For example, floods are natural by
12  definition, but they're not ordinary.  So did you look
13  at the river separate from its natural condition, in
14  its ordinary condition?
15      A.    Well, I think what you're trying to do is get
16  me to segment the ordinary from the impact of the
17  floods, and as I said repeatedly yesterday, I believe
18  that during the very relatively short period of time
19  that a flood is occurring on the river, that probably
20  is excluded from the ordinary definition; but certainly
21  the effects of that on -- the long-term effects of that
22  on the river are part of the ordinary condition.  You
23  can't discount the floods.
24      Q.    So what's your basis for the long-term effect
25  of the floods being included in the ordinary condition
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 1  of the river?
 2      A.    I'm sorry, you'll have to restate the
 3  question.
 4      Q.    Yeah, that's not very well done.
 5            What is your basis for including the effects
 6  of floods in the ordinary condition of the river?  Is
 7  there any legal basis for that, or is that your
 8  personal decision?
 9      A.    Well, I'm not an attorney.  My job is to do
10  the best scientific job I can of understanding and
11  describing the character of the river.  And it's my
12  opinion, as is the opinion of other well-published
13  authors that you've heard about in these proceedings
14  many times, that these dryland rivers are very
15  flood-driven systems, and the characteristics are very
16  strongly related to the effects of the floods.
17      Q.    What elements must you consider when you
18  reach a conclusion on whether a river can be navigated?
19      A.    Well, I basically go back to the definitions
20  of navigability that start with the Daniel Ball test,
21  and that language is essentially repeated in the
22  Arizona Revised Statutes.  And it's been clarified in
23  PPL Montana.
24      Q.    And those elements are, if you can just spell
25  them out for me?
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 1      A.    Can it be used as a highway for commerce in
 2  its ordinary and natural condition.
 3      Q.    And evidently you determined the river is not
 4  susceptible to use as a highway of commerce.  How did
 5  you determine that?  How did you arrive at your opinion
 6  that the river was not susceptible for use as a highway
 7  of commerce?
 8      A.    By studying the physical characteristics of
 9  the river and matching that up with my understanding of
10  the types of watercraft that would be customarily used
11  around the date of statehood.
12      Q.    Did you include any of the analysis about the
13  types of watercraft used at or around the date of
14  statehood in your report?
15      A.    I didn't do quantitative analysis of that.
16      Q.    And did you then do qualitative analysis in
17  your report?
18      A.    Well, I certainly have read the historical
19  accounts.  I've, you know, listened to the testimony of
20  Mr. Littlefield and others about the types of boats,
21  and I, you know, matched that up with the character of
22  the river.
23      Q.    Just so that I understand, did you attend the
24  2005 hearings in this matter?
25      A.    I did not.
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 1      Q.    So when you heard Dr. Littlefield's
 2  testimony, that was just this past week, correct?
 3      A.    Yes.
 4      Q.    So how did that enter into your analysis of
 5  boating, the qualitative analysis?
 6      A.    Well, I read his report prior to my
 7  testimony, and I'm also aware of many of the historical
 8  accounts that he cited from other documents, reading of
 9  other documents, several of which I was questioned
10  about this morning, in fact.
11      Q.    Did you read his report before you wrote your
12  report?
13      A.    I read some of his earlier reports.
14      Q.    Did you read any other expert reports before
15  you wrote your report?
16      A.    Yes.
17      Q.    Which ones?
18      A.    Well, certainly Dr. Schumm's report.  I read,
19  I'm not sure all of, but much of the technical reports
20  that were submitted by Mr. Fuller and Stantec in the
21  earlier proceedings.
22      Q.    Did your determination whether the river was
23  susceptible for use as a highway of commerce require
24  that both trade and travel occur together or that trade
25  and travel must be commercial?
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 1      A.    According to the language of the Montana PPL,
 2  it must be a commercial reality.  So to me, that
 3  implies some correlation to being commercial, yes.
 4      Q.    Okay, so the answer is, yes, your definition
 5  of highway of commerce required that the activity be
 6  commercial in nature.
 7            How about that the trade and travel must be
 8  together?
 9      A.    I think that's a fuzzier question.  I don't
10  know that they need to necessarily be together.
11      Q.    So you could have travel, commercial travel,
12  occurring, in your opinion, you could have commercial
13  travel occurring, but it wouldn't necessarily have to
14  be commercial trade in order for a river to be
15  navigable?
16      A.    I think that's correct.
17      Q.    Does your determination whether the river was
18  used or susceptible to use as a highway require both
19  upstream and downstream travel?
20      A.    Not necessarily.
21      Q.    So your opinion then, that downstream travel
22  could be sufficient if a river otherwise met the
23  definition of navigability?
24      A.    It could.
25      Q.    Did your determination whether the river was


Coash & Coash, Inc.







GILA RIVER      VOL. VIII      08/20/2014 Page 1794


 1  susceptible to navigation require that a profitable
 2  commercial enterprise be conducted or capable of being
 3  conducted on the river?
 4      A.    I don't recall ever seeing language in any of
 5  the documents that I've read that would suggest it has
 6  to be profitable.
 7      Q.    In fact, many businesses aren't profitable,
 8  right?
 9      A.    Yes.
10      Q.    Did your determination of navigability
11  consider overland transportation in proximity to the
12  watercourse?
13      A.    Not really, no.
14      Q.    Yesterday you were asked some general
15  questions by the State's attorney, and I just had a
16  couple more, and I would like some clarifications of
17  what you said about...
18            How would you define the term floodplain?
19      A.    Floodplain is the area adjacent to the
20  channel that is inundated by flows under the current
21  hydrologic conditions.
22      Q.    And when you say it's inundated by flows,
23  it's inundated by floods?
24      A.    By flood flows.  It can be inundated by high
25  flows, yes.
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 1      Q.    And then how would you define the term low
 2  flow channel?
 3      A.    A small channel within the main channel that
 4  carries low discharges.
 5      Q.    So you just used the term main channel.  In
 6  your mind, is main channel synonymous with floodplain
 7  or flood channel?  I'm just trying to understand the
 8  terms.
 9      A.    It depends on the type of river we're talking
10  about.
11      Q.    Well, we're talking about the Gila River, so
12  let's limit it so Arizona's Gila River.
13      A.    Okay.
14      Q.    So in your mind then, is the floodplain
15  synonymous with the main channel?  I've heard you use
16  that term.
17      A.    Yeah.  What I've heard in this proceeding
18  referred to as the flood channel in many cases probably
19  does expand beyond what I would typically refer to as
20  the main channel.  But in a braided system like the
21  Gila River, that gets a little bit confused.  It's sort
22  of a fuzzy.  It's a matter of semantics, frankly.
23      Q.    But you would agree then that the low flow
24  channel is included within the main channel and the
25  flood channel?
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 1      A.    Sure.
 2      Q.    And the floodplain?
 3      A.    Well, the floodplain is separate from the
 4  main channel, in my mind.
 5      Q.    So just so that I'm clear, you've got the low
 6  flow channel, which I've heard the term thalweg used.
 7  I don't know if that's the same term that -- is that a
 8  term that you would use to refer to the low flow
 9  channel?
10      A.    I would not typically use that term, but I
11  understand what that means, and I think in most
12  people's minds it generally means the same thing.
13      Q.    You wouldn't use the term, is that just
14  because it's not in your profession, or you have a
15  different definition of what that means?
16      A.    I use the term thalweg, but I don't typically
17  say the thalweg channel.  The thalweg is the deepest
18  part across any cross section.  It refers to one point,
19  strictly speaking.
20      Q.    Fair enough.  So it's the -- if you're
21  looking, it's more of a point --
22      A.    Yes.
23      Q.    -- thalweg point, which would be included --
24  would it be included in the low flow channel, generally
25  speaking?
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 1      A.    Generally, it would, yes.
 2      Q.    And then so you have the low flow channel and
 3  then you have the -- which a narrow low flow channel,
 4  and then you have a broader main channel; is that
 5  accurate?
 6      A.    Well, the low flow channel typically would be
 7  narrower than the main channel, yes.
 8      Q.    And included within that main channel?
 9      A.    Yes.
10      Q.    And there might be other minor channels
11  within that main channel?
12      A.    Could be.
13      Q.    And those would be at different elevations
14  than the low flow channel?
15      A.    Could be.
16      Q.    Would the -- so you say could be, so are
17  there multiple low flow channels?
18      A.    There can be.
19      Q.    Is that a static condition?
20      A.    That depends on the time frame that you're
21  talking about.
22      Q.    Let's say is that static over the course of a
23  decade in Arizona, like in the Gila River?
24      A.    Most likely not, but it could be.
25      Q.    Would the water tend -- if you had more than
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 1  one low flow channel, would the water tend towards
 2  forming one channel over time?
 3      A.    Not necessarily.
 4      Q.    So -- we'll get back into that later on.
 5            How would you define the term compound
 6  channel?
 7      A.    A compound channel is a channel that has --
 8  what's the easiest way to say it -- different stages;
 9  has topography within the channel that becomes
10  inundated at different levels of flow.
11      Q.    So we can relate that to the context of the
12  prior definitions, does a compound channel have a low
13  flow channel, at least one low flow channel?
14      A.    Generally, yes.
15      Q.    And then you have higher channels within that
16  overall definition of compound?
17      A.    (Witness nodded.)
18      Q.    And does the compound -- I'm sorry.  Is that
19  a yes?
20      A.    That's correct, yeah.
21      Q.    And then the compound channel, would that be
22  how you could -- would a main channel be -- could it be
23  considered a compound channel if it indeed has a low
24  flow channel with other channels and elevations?
25      A.    Sure.
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 1      Q.    As a practical matter, how do you end up with
 2  multiple low flow channels?  Wouldn't they have to be
 3  at an identical elevation?
 4      A.    Not necessarily.
 5      Q.    So you could have a low flow channel at
 6  1 foot and then another low flow channel at 2 feet?
 7      A.    Well, I'm not prepared to put numbers to it.
 8  You would have to show me the specific situation.  But
 9  they can be at different elevations.
10      Q.    Yeah, I guess the question that -- the word
11  low flow channel seems to imply a single channel.  So
12  by -- you're saying that that definition does not
13  include -- it does not limit itself to a single
14  channel?
15      A.    It doesn't have to limit itself to a single
16  channel.  It depends on what you mean by low flow.
17      Q.    Fair enough.  So if I meant lowest flow or
18  median flow, or let's use the term lowest flow channel,
19  then you would have one channel, correct?
20      A.    I suppose in the limit, if you continue to
21  decrease the flow to virtually nothing, at some point
22  you're going to dry up all but one channel.
23      Q.    So by inference then, that you would have at
24  higher flows than that case you just described, water
25  would spill out of that channel into -- possibly spill
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 1  out into other parts of this compound channel?
 2      A.    Yes.
 3      Q.    Can you estimate the dimensions of an average
 4  sandbar in the Gila River?
 5      A.    Not at this time.
 6      Q.    And you said that when you did your
 7  overflight in November of 2013, you didn't put your
 8  feet on the ground and actually go measure sandbars or
 9  look at the sandbars that existed out there?
10      A.    I looked at them from the air.  I didn't get
11  down on the ground and look at them.
12      Q.    Are you able to estimate sandbars from a
13  helicopter, the dimensions of a sandbar?
14      A.    Roughly.
15      Q.    So but you didn't do that on this flight,
16  this past overflight that you did?
17      A.    My purpose was not to quantify the dimensions
18  of sandbars.
19      Q.    How about frequency of sandbars; do you
20  have -- can you estimate how frequently sandbars
21  appeared in the lower Gila River below the Salt River
22  confluence, but upstream from the Colorado confluence?
23      A.    Well, there's a little bit of a problem with
24  the questions that you're asking me, because in order
25  to clearly see it as a sandbar, you have to have enough
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 1  water in the river to be able to distinguish the
 2  topography and so on; and there wasn't.  It was
 3  basically dry, as the one picture we looked at earlier
 4  this morning was.  So the only way you could really do
 5  that is do a very detailed topographic survey.
 6      Q.    And again, you did not do that detailed
 7  topographic survey?
 8      A.    I did not.
 9      Q.    Do you know what the flow rate was on that
10  day you flew the lower Gila?
11      A.    I don't know.  Very low.
12      Q.    Is that the flow that passes through the
13  Gillespie Dam that isn't taken up by the Paloma Ranch
14  Canal, the flow --
15      A.    Well, the photo that I looked at with the
16  State's attorney earlier today, that was below
17  Gillespie Dam; and the answer is yes.
18      Q.    And you're aware that there's a diversion
19  upstream from there and just below the Gillespie Dam
20  for the Paloma Ranch?
21      A.    Yes.
22      Q.    And did you see it when you were out there?
23      A.    I probably did.  I don't specifically
24  remember it.
25      Q.    Continuing with the sandbars, would sandbars
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 1  have appeared more or less frequently in the Gila River
 2  than, say, in the Colorado?
 3      A.    Well, bed material characteristics are
 4  somewhat different in the Gila River than they are in
 5  the Colorado, so they would have different
 6  characteristics.  Whether less frequently -- there are
 7  different scales of sandbar, for one thing, so we
 8  can't -- you can't really generalize about that.  It
 9  depends on what scale of bedform feature you're talking
10  about.
11      Q.    Well, actually, I'm not talking about scale.
12  I'm talking about frequency.  And I understand there's
13  different flows and different bed materials, but in
14  your 34 years of experiences in this field, and based
15  on your study of the Gila River, would you say that
16  sandbars occurred on the Gila River, in its natural and
17  ordinary condition, more or less frequently than on the
18  Colorado River?
19      A.    Well, again, I know you're not talking about
20  scale, but when we talk about sandbars, we have to talk
21  about scale, because sandbars are basically a bedform
22  feature.  There are many different scales of bedforms,
23  and so the frequency of one type is different from the
24  frequency of others.  Whether -- and they're different
25  between the Gila River and the Colorado River partly
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 1  because of the characteristics of bed material and
 2  partly because of the hydrologic characteristics.
 3            So I couldn't say.  They would be different.
 4  Whether it's more or less frequent, I don't know.
 5      Q.    Fair enough.
 6            How about the frequency on the Verde River?
 7  The same questions related to the Verde River.  Do you
 8  have any opinion about the frequency of sandbars on the
 9  Gila River, and I'm meaning specifically from the
10  confluence with the Salt down to the Colorado, versus
11  the frequency of sandbars on the Verde River?
12      A.    Well, the Verde River is, by and large, a
13  gravel, cobble bed stream, so the frequency of sandbars
14  there is much different.
15      Q.    Less?
16      A.    I'm not sure I've ever actually seen a
17  sandbar on the Verde River.  I would have to go back
18  through my photos to see.
19      Q.    How about the Salt River?
20      A.    Could you restate the question again?
21      Q.    Would sandbars have appeared more or less
22  frequently on the lower Salt River versus the Gila
23  River downstream from the confluence with the Salt?
24  And maybe I -- I think I might have misspoke that,
25  misstated that question.
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 1            Would sandbars have appeared more or less
 2  frequently on the lower Salt than on the section of the
 3  Gila from the confluence with the Salt down to the
 4  Colorado?
 5      A.    Again, it depends on a variety of factors,
 6  including the bed material and the hydrologic
 7  conditions, and so on.  They're probably somewhat
 8  similar.  I couldn't quantify that at this time.  But
 9  the character of those two portions of the river are
10  somewhat similar, so they're probably not that
11  different.
12      Q.    Are you aware of any waterfalls in the
13  section of the Gila which is noted by the State as
14  being sections Segments 7 and 8, which is the -- are
15  you familiar with the segment numbers, so I can shorten
16  up the language a little bit?
17      A.    Generally.
18      Q.    Are you aware that the sections Segments 7
19  and 8 are the segments of the Gila River noted by the
20  State from the Salt River confluence down to the
21  Colorado?
22      A.    Yes, I'm aware of that.
23      Q.    So if I say Segments 7 and 8, you know what
24  I'm talking about?
25      A.    I do.
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 1      Q.    Are you aware of any waterfalls in Segments 7
 2  and 8 of the Gila?
 3      A.    I'm not aware of any waterfalls.
 4      Q.    Are you aware of any rapids in Segments 7 or
 5  8 of the Gila?
 6      A.    No.
 7      Q.    Are you aware of any beaver dams that
 8  completely span the Gila River, or any beaver dams for
 9  that matter, in Segments 7 or 8?
10      A.    No.
11      Q.    Did your client ask you to study the
12  San Pedro River?
13      A.    No.
14                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. -- Jeff, would it
15  be appropriate to take a break now?
16                 MR. HYRCKO:  Yes.
17                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We'll take a ten-minute
18  break.
19                 (A recess was taken from 10:15 a.m. to
20  10:26 a.m.)
21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  George, are we on?
22  BY MR. HYRCKO:
23      Q.    Dr. Mussetter, I just have a few questions
24  here.  You were present for Dr. -- or for Mr. Gookin's
25  testimony last time?
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 1      A.    Yes.
 2      Q.    And you answered some questions yesterday, I
 3  believe, about Mr. Gookin's n-values, and you testified
 4  that you thought Mr. Gookin's n-value was too low for
 5  the Gila River; is that correct?
 6      A.    That's correct.
 7      Q.    I believe you testified that you felt a more
 8  reasonable base value of 0.026 to 0.035 was reasonable,
 9  correct?
10      A.    That's a reasonable range, yes.
11      Q.    And what did you mean by the term base value?
12      A.    Well, that the base value is intended to
13  describe the hydraulic roughness associated with,
14  basically, the boundary friction on the bottom of the
15  channel, but there are other factors that can affect
16  the roughness as well, which are in most relationships
17  additive.
18      Q.    And they can be significantly additive,
19  correct?
20      A.    They can.
21      Q.    Based on your years of experience researching
22  the river, do you have an estimate of the n-value of
23  the river, of a final n-value of the river in the
24  segment downstream from the confluence of the Salt to
25  the Colorado River, Segments 7 and 8?
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 1      A.    It would vary depending on which portion of
 2  the reach you're in, particularly the amount of
 3  vegetation, the amount of irregularity in the channel,
 4  obstructions in the channel, that sort of thing.
 5      Q.    How would you come up with that n-value if
 6  you were tasked with doing that?
 7      A.    Well, the first thing I would try to do is
 8  get some data that would -- water surface elevation
 9  data that would allow me to calibrate either a model or
10  a hydraulic calculation to what was observed in the
11  field.
12            Absent that, then I would go back to
13  publications' relationships like the one that we
14  discussed yesterday, and select values based on the
15  characteristics of the river as described in those
16  relationships.  You know, most of them are developed
17  based on real data, and so we try to match up the river
18  that I'm working on with the character of the river
19  that those data were developed from.
20      Q.    And how would you do that for the natural and
21  ordinary condition of the river that existed at
22  statehood?
23      A.    Well, that would be challenging, because we
24  really don't know exactly what the river looked like
25  under its natural condition.
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 1      Q.    Did you attempt to do that in the modeling
 2  work that you did on the other navigability studies
 3  that you participated in?
 4      A.    Yes.
 5      Q.    And for the natural and ordinary condition of
 6  those rivers?
 7      A.    Yes.
 8      Q.    And you were able to do it there?
 9      A.    We were able to make estimates.
10      Q.    But you didn't do that for this report, for
11  this declaration?
12      A.    I did not do hydraulic calculations for this
13  issue.
14      Q.    And Mr. Gookin testified, I believe, that the
15  diversions of the Salt and Gila River and the
16  percolation of that diverted water into the groundwater
17  sped up the recovery of the Gila River channel.  Do you
18  agree with that statement?
19      A.    Could you read it again, please?
20      Q.    Mr. Gookin claimed that the diversions from
21  the Salt and Gila Rivers and the percolation of that
22  diverted water into the groundwater sped up the
23  recovery of the Gila River channel.
24            I believe he was questioned by Mr. McGinnis
25  and on redirect, and there was some discussion about
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 1  how that effect counteracts the effect of the
 2  diversions themselves.
 3            Do you agree with the conclusion that
 4  Mr. Gookin reached, or you don't -- did you hear that?
 5      A.    I'm not sure I know the full context of the
 6  question that you're asking me, so I'm not really sure
 7  I can give you an answer.
 8      Q.    Have you done any studies to that effect, on
 9  the effects of groundwater percolation and diversions?
10      A.    Yes.
11      Q.    And did you see any effects on the rebound of
12  river into their single-thread condition in those
13  studies that you did?
14      A.    The purpose of the studies that I'm thinking
15  of wasn't -- that wasn't the purpose.  So I can't
16  answer that question.
17      Q.    Fair enough.
18            I would like to just ask you a few questions
19  about your declaration.  Do you have a copy of that in
20  front of you?
21      A.    Yes, I do.
22      Q.    In the first section, the introduction,
23  define what you mean by the term independent assessment
24  in the first paragraph.
25      A.    I mean I pulled together the available
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 1  information and studied that information and made my
 2  own determination as to whether I thought the Gila
 3  River would be -- would fit the federal test of
 4  navigability.
 5      Q.    And the legal standard that you applied was
 6  the standard set out in Winkleman --
 7      A.    No.
 8      Q.    -- or which?
 9            Which legal standard did you use in your
10  independent assessment?
11      A.    Begins with the Daniel Ball test, and it was
12  clarified by the PPL Montana decision.  Those are the
13  primary ones.
14      Q.    In this paragraph you reference various
15  technical documents that you will subsequently refer
16  to.  Is this reference meaning every technical document
17  that you subsequently referred to, or does it mean
18  something else?
19      A.    Could you restate that again, please?
20      Q.    In this paragraph you refer to various
21  technical documents that you will subsequently refer
22  to.  I believe it's in the middle sentence.
23            It says, including various technical
24  documents that will be cited below.  Does this mean
25  every technical document you're -- I guess we have to
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 1  look at the first part of the sentence:  This
 2  assessment included review of the expert report from
 3  Schumm and testimony of Dr. Stanley Schumm regarding
 4  this matter, and independent review of additional
 5  relevant information, including various technical
 6  documents that will be cited below.
 7            This -- let me scratch that question.
 8            Are the page citation contained in your
 9  References appendix the extent of your reliance on
10  those references to support the statements for which
11  they were cited in the body of your report?
12      A.    In general, that's true.  Although, most of
13  those documents I've read the bulk of the document,
14  and, you know, when you read information, maybe you
15  don't specifically address it in the report, but it
16  does influence the way you think about the issue that
17  you're studying.  So I can't say that I didn't consider
18  anything outside the context of those pages.
19      Q.    You testified on your low-level overflight,
20  the purpose of that was to gain firsthand knowledge of
21  the present-day conditions of the river.  Why did you
22  need to evaluate the present-day conditions to
23  determine whether the river was navigable in its
24  natural and ordinary condition in 1912?
25      A.    Well, in the ideal world I would go back and
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 1  look at the natural condition; but I can't do that,
 2  so -- and I have to look at it as it is today.  And
 3  certainly the character of the river today tells us --
 4  gives us good information about what the river might
 5  have looked like in its natural condition.
 6      Q.    So your -- why did you end the flight where
 7  you did, 24 miles downstream from Gillespie?  Or, I'm
 8  sorry -- yeah, 24 miles downstream from Gillespie.
 9      A.    Basically, a time issue.
10      Q.    Was it important to gather that same present
11  knowledge both further downstream and upstream from
12  there?
13      A.    I think the part that I viewed gave me enough
14  information, coupled with the other available
15  information that I have, including aerial photographs
16  and other data that we've discussed.
17      Q.    And you used that for the other areas?
18      A.    I'm sorry?
19      Q.    So you used that other information to come up
20  with your conclusions about the other segments of the
21  Gila?
22      A.    Yes, I looked at all the available
23  information that I could that was relevant.
24      Q.    Did you use -- how did that overflight
25  influence your navigability determination?
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 1      A.    It just basically gave me the context so that
 2  I understood the general geography of the river,
 3  locations of things, what the adjacent topography is
 4  like, what the -- you know, how the geologic influences
 5  affect the character of the valley, general
 6  information.
 7      Q.    You would agree, though, that nothing related
 8  to the Gila River in its natural and ordinary
 9  condition, as those terms are applied in Winkleman, was
10  visible on that overflight?
11      A.    No, I wouldn't agree with that.
12      Q.    So you would say that in that overflight in
13  November of 2013, you were viewing the river in its
14  natural and ordinary condition?
15      A.    I didn't say that.
16      Q.    So what about that flight -- what did you see
17  on that that was related to the natural and ordinary
18  condition?
19      A.    Well, again, I answered that a few minutes
20  ago.  The overflight gives me a sense of the character
21  of the valley, the character of the materials that the
22  river flows through, some information about the
23  vegetation, although I'm sure at this time it's quite
24  different from what it was in its natural condition.
25  But it all puts the characteristics of the river into a
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 1  context.
 2      Q.    Would the Gillespie Dam have affected the
 3  morphology and conditions of the Gila River after it
 4  was built in 1921?
 5      A.    Yeah, certainly locally it would have.
 6      Q.    You're aware that the Winkleman case requires
 7  ANSAC to do a particularized assessment to determine
 8  whether a river or part of a river is navigable,
 9  correct?
10      A.    I would have to see the specific language
11  you're referring to.  I haven't memorized the Winkleman
12  decision.
13      Q.    Dr. Mussetter, would you read the Footnote 9
14  on Page 237 of the Winkleman decision?
15      A.    Yes.
16            In conducting the, quote, particularized
17  assessment, unquote, required to determine whether the
18  river was navigable, see Hassell -- and then it cites
19  the Arizona statutes -- ANSAC was required to make its
20  determination, quote, in writing with sufficient
21  documentation and detail to confirm the rationale and
22  basis for the determination.
23      Q.    So as you just said, you weren't aware that
24  that was in the Winkleman case?
25      A.    I have read that language before.  I just
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 1  simply didn't remember the details of it.
 2      Q.    What portions of your report fulfill that
 3  particularization requirement that ANSAC must address?
 4      A.    I think the entire report does.
 5      Q.    So the entire report is for the entire river,
 6  correct?
 7      A.    Yes.
 8      Q.    And it doesn't -- you said earlier you didn't
 9  do a segment-by-segment determination?
10      A.    No, I didn't say that.
11      Q.    Well, you said that you determined that
12  segment-by-segment analysis was not necessary because
13  you felt the entire river -- am I misstating your
14  testimony?
15      A.    Yes, you are.
16      Q.    Okay, what -- your testimony was, as I
17  understood it, was that you believe the entire river
18  was not navigable, correct?
19      A.    That's correct.
20      Q.    And that as such, you didn't need to do a
21  segment-by-segment determination?
22      A.    Well, I think we're talking past each other.
23  I didn't formally break the river down into segments in
24  accordance with the instructions in PPL Montana because
25  it's unnecessary.
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 1            But as I considered the characteristics of
 2  the river and whether or not it was navigable, I
 3  considered the characteristics of each individual
 4  section, or if you want to refer to it as segment,
 5  that's fine.  It has a different meaning in that
 6  context.  The river has variable characteristics along
 7  its length, and to the best of my ability, I considered
 8  all of those characteristics.
 9      Q.    And did you document the different
10  characteristics of the river in your declaration, or
11  the different sections?
12      A.    To some extent, I did, yes.
13      Q.    Where is that laid out?
14      A.    Well, the -- some of the graphics describe
15  different segments of the river, different sections of
16  the river; the Burkham plots, for example, the
17  Huckleberry plot, the mapping in Figures -- put my
18  glasses on -- 6, 7, 8.
19      Q.    Yeah, we'll get into those a little bit
20  later.  But just the Burkham plot and the Meko plot,
21  those are for the Safford Valley, correct?
22      A.    The Burkham plot I believe is, yes.
23      Q.    And what about the -- we're looking at
24  Figure 4 of your report on Page 9?
25      A.    Yes.
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 1      Q.    So does that data all relate to the Safford
 2  Valley?
 3      A.    The data relates to the Safford Valley, that
 4  gauge at the head of Safford Valley.
 5      Q.    In any of the navigability determinations
 6  that you've done previously, how many times has it been
 7  to determine natural and ordinary conditions of a river
 8  150 years after that condition existed?
 9      A.    None of them were 150 years after the
10  condition.
11      Q.    In your Qualifications section, you spent
12  time discussing your association with Dr. Schumm.  What
13  do you mean, you're generally familiar with his 2004
14  report.  Let me correct that; generally familiar with
15  the work that he did.
16      A.    We've talked about that already.  I had brief
17  discussions with him about what he was doing and what
18  he was finding.
19      Q.    But you didn't do any of the work with him or
20  for him?
21      A.    I did not.
22      Q.    On the Section 1.2 on Page 1 of your report,
23  you say based on my review of Dr. Schumm's report and
24  other background material.  What is that other
25  background material you're referring to?
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 1      A.    Well, first of all, the sentence doesn't say
 2  other background material.
 3      Q.    Thank you.  It says and background material.
 4  What background material is that referring to?
 5      A.    That particular clause refers to the
 6  background material that Dr. Schumm considered in
 7  preparing his report.
 8      Q.    Is that the same material referenced in
 9  yours, your declaration?
10      A.    Some of it is, yes.
11      Q.    I'm just trying to cut out questions here and
12  shorten it up.
13      A.    I'm in favor of that.
14      Q.    I believe you, in your report, in Opinion 1,
15  you state that portions of the river had a
16  single-thread channel in the mid 1800s until the early
17  1900s, correct?
18      A.    I did say that, yes.
19      Q.    And was that a perennial flow through those
20  segments?
21      A.    I think some of the historic accounts
22  indicate that there was perennial flow.
23      Q.    But you don't have any -- you didn't do any
24  studies to determine what that flow would have been,
25  correct?
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 1      A.    I did not try to quantify that flow.
 2      Q.    You testified yesterday that after
 3  significant flooding, assuming that the flow conditions
 4  revert to those existed before the flood, that the
 5  channel form would revert to the flood form in -- the
 6  form in existence before that flood; is that accurate?
 7      A.    Generally speaking, that's true.
 8      Q.    Why didn't the Gila River heal itself and
 9  revert to its prior form after the major floods of the
10  late 1800s and early 1900s?
11      A.    Because there wasn't enough flow to support
12  the processes that cause it to recover; but to some
13  extent, it did recover.
14      Q.    And your PowerPoint slides document the river
15  channel did narrow, correct?
16      A.    Yes.
17      Q.    In your Opinion No. 3 on Page 2, would you
18  agree that the Gila's present hydrologic conditions are
19  not the same as existed prior to the floods you
20  reference in Opinion 2?
21      A.    I'm sorry, I lost the question.  Could you
22  ask it again, please?
23      Q.    In Opinion No. 3 you state under present
24  hydrologic conditions.  Would you agree that they are
25  not the same hydrologic conditions that existed prior


Coash & Coash, Inc.







GILA RIVER      VOL. VIII      08/20/2014 Page 1820


 1  to the major floods of the late 1800s?
 2      A.    I'm not sure I'm understanding what you're
 3  asking me.
 4      Q.    I'll pass on that question.  I think we've
 5  got it covered.
 6            In Opinion No. 5, you mention a small boat?
 7      A.    Yes.
 8      Q.    What are the dimensions of the small boat
 9  that you reference there?
10      A.    I can't give you specific dimensions, but I'm
11  thinking of something like a canoe or a small skiff or
12  a rowboat or something of that sort.
13      Q.    How deep would the water need to be to use
14  that boat, in your mind?
15      A.    Depends on what you're using the boat for and
16  how loaded it is.
17      Q.    For navigability, for the navigability test?
18      A.    There's a lot more to the question of the
19  navigability test than just the depth of flow to float
20  the boat.
21      Q.    How about like on an expedition with a man
22  and his gear for five days; would that be included in
23  that definition of floating a small boat?
24      A.    It could, yes.
25      Q.    In this opinion you mention reconstructed
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 1  annual flow extending back to the 1600s, correct?
 2      A.    Correct.
 3      Q.    Do those records go back to before 1600?
 4      A.    The specific ones that I'm referring to here
 5  come from the Meko and Graybill study, and they do not.
 6      Q.    Fair enough.
 7            Does that Meko and Graybill work tell you
 8  what kind of channels were in existence in the Gila
 9  River before the arrival of Europeans in the 1800s?
10      A.    It tells us what -- their estimates of the
11  annual flow in the river.  It doesn't say anything
12  about the physical characteristics of the river.
13      Q.    And it also doesn't talk about -- it also
14  doesn't relate to the frequency of flooding, correct;
15  it's just whether it's a wet year or a dry year?
16      A.    Well, as I illustrate in the companion
17  figure, in most cases it does tell you something about
18  the flooding as well.
19      Q.    How does the -- never mind.
20            You mentioned unusually low -- unusually dry
21  conditions in that opinion as well.  Let me find the
22  language here.
23            Unusually low flows during the period of the
24  1850s to 1900s; is that correct?
25      A.    Well, I said the mid to late 1800s.
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 1      Q.    Is the 1850s mid of the 1800s?
 2      A.    Sure.
 3      Q.    Could the low flows that you talk about have
 4  been caused, at least in part, by the diversion of
 5  water from the Gila River?
 6      A.    In some cases they could have.
 7      Q.    And I believe you did touch on this earlier
 8  in your Opinion No. 6 there about the language
 9  significant segment.  How long would a segment have to
10  be before you would consider it navigable irrespective
11  of the conditions of the river?
12      A.    I can't give you a specific number, but it
13  has to be long enough to meet the commercial reality
14  part of the test.
15      Q.    So how long is that, Dr. Mussetter?  How long
16  would it take to be a commercial reality?
17      A.    It depends on the circumstances.  There isn't
18  a general answer to that question.
19      Q.    Could it be 1 mile?
20      A.    I'm not sure that would be long enough.
21      Q.    Is it -- how about 17 miles?
22      A.    Under some circumstances, I could see that
23  17 miles might be long enough.
24      Q.    Would you consider the segment from -- of the
25  section of the river of Segment 8 from the Colorado up
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 1  to Dome a significant enough segment for navigability
 2  determinations?
 3      A.    It may be.
 4      Q.    Turning to the Page 3 of your report, the
 5  table figure -- I'm sorry, Figure 1.  What form would
 6  the Gila have been before the flood of the 1800s began?
 7      A.    Well, actually, you would have had a variety
 8  of forms, depending on which portion of the channel
 9  you're discussing.  The overall form of what you all
10  have been referring to as the flood channel would be 5.
11  There would be parts of it that would be similar to
12  perhaps the 3b to 4 category.
13      Q.    So in the 3b to 4 category, let's say 3b,
14  would that type of channel have been navigable as
15  defined by Arizona state law?
16      A.    On the Gila River, that part of the channel,
17  in my opinion, would not have been navigable according
18  to the federal test.
19      Q.    Which part of the federal test disqualifies
20  that segment from being navigable if it's a form of 3b?
21      A.    As I've repeatedly testified here, the
22  character of that channel, it's small, it's too
23  shallow, it's too variable, the flows are too erratic.
24  It's, over certain periods of time, unstable.  And I
25  don't believe it meets the commercial reality part of
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 1  the test.
 2      Q.    Again, just checking off questions.
 3            In the first paragraph of Page 4, you talk
 4  about not being able to define the dominant discharge
 5  because the larger flood flows are more
 6  geomorphologically effective than the more frequently
 7  occurring flows.
 8            What does that mean?
 9      A.    It means that in the type of channel that we
10  have in the Gila River, it's, as I said early in the
11  paragraph, it's a nonequilibrium form.  So the form
12  that you see at any particular time is very strongly
13  affected by the flood, the previous flood history.  And
14  the flows that you see in the river don't, under normal
15  conditions, don't fill that whole part of the channel.
16  So you don't have a self-adjusted channel.  It blows it
17  out, and then over time it sort of slowly goes back to
18  some kind of a recovered channel, and then the floods
19  come again and it blows it out again.
20            As opposed to, I'll say, for example, a
21  Plains river, where you would have a well-defined
22  bankfull channel, where you can clearly define where
23  the banks are.  Under most flow conditions, most of the
24  bed of the channel is under water, and the banks are
25  fairly steep and well-defined, and then when you get a
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 1  flood, it spills out into the overbanks.
 2      Q.    Do you have any opinion -- and maybe I've
 3  asked you this before, but just want to make sure I
 4  did.  Do you have any opinion on what the natural and
 5  ordinary flows of the Gila River are in terms of flow
 6  rate?
 7      A.    I don't have a quantity, no.
 8      Q.    Turning to Page 5 of your report, I just have
 9  one question about that Burkham study.  Do you know how
10  long miles-wise the Burkham study covered in the
11  Safford Valley?
12      A.    I would have to go back to the document to be
13  sure.  I think it's probably on the order of 30 to
14  40 miles.
15      Q.    You also mentioned the Huckleberry study
16  (1993) in this section?
17      A.    Yes.
18      Q.    Did either Huckleberry or Burkham study the
19  river from its confluence with the Salt to the
20  Colorado?
21      A.    Certainly not in those studies at least.
22      Q.    Not in the studies that you cited here?
23      A.    Right.  Right.
24      Q.    In Section 2.2.1 the Gila River at and after
25  the Date of statehood on Page 6.  On Page 6 of your
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 1  report, Section 2.2.1, Gila River at and after the Date
 2  of statehood.  Do any of the studies that you rely on
 3  in that section show the -- let me back up.
 4            Do any of the studies that you reference in
 5  this section draw their conclusions regarding the
 6  condition of the Gila River in its natural and ordinary
 7  condition?
 8      A.    All of these studies were done based on
 9  information basically since the date of statehood, so
10  they don't explicitly try to describe what the river
11  looked liked in its ordinary and natural condition.
12      Q.    So the answer to that question is no?
13      A.    It's a qualified no, because there's a lot of
14  information in these studies that tell us things about
15  what the river most likely looked like under ordinary
16  and natural conditions.
17      Q.    But all the studies that were done since the
18  date of statehood were done when the river had already
19  been significantly diverted, correct?
20      A.    That's correct.
21      Q.    Turning to the Meko study reference on
22  Page 8, you used that reconstructed annual flows as --
23  in your analysis, correct?
24      A.    That's correct.
25      Q.    And I believe you testified that you -- that
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 1  is to determine the annual flows, but not the median
 2  flow or average daily flows, correct?
 3      A.    Well, to the extent that Meko's results
 4  correctly depict the annual runoff, you can use that to
 5  calculate what the average daily flow is.
 6      Q.    And that's simply dividing the flow by 365?
 7      A.    Essentially, with some conversion, yes.
 8      Q.    In this Figure No. 4 on Page 9, the Meko
 9  data, in this figure you're comparing the modeled data
10  to the measured data on the right of the -- on the
11  right side of the figure, correct?
12      A.    That's one purpose, yes.
13      Q.    But it is comparing modeled data to measured
14  data?
15      A.    Yes.
16      Q.    Did you also look at how the post-1900 gauge
17  data compared with the modeled data for the same years?
18      A.    I did look at that briefly, yes.
19      Q.    But you didn't put it in your report?
20      A.    I did not.
21      Q.    I have a few questions about your PowerPoint
22  presentation.  Do you have that with you?
23      A.    I do.
24      Q.    On Slide No. 5, that depicts a navigable
25  segment of the Colorado River, correct?
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 1      A.    That's my understanding, yes.
 2                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Now, Mr. Hyrcko, could
 3  you make sure we identify what it is you're talking
 4  about with him?
 5                 MR. HYRCKO:  Yes.
 6                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  For the record.
 7  BY MR. HYRCKO:
 8      Q.    All of the references are from X026, your
 9  PowerPoint presentation, and I'm going to be asking
10  questions about the numbered slides in that
11  presentation.
12                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.
13  BY MR. HYRCKO:
14      Q.    So on that Slide No. 5, that's -- how wide is
15  that channel in the image?
16      A.    I'm not sure of the exact width.  It's
17  probably a few hundred feet.
18      Q.    Do you know how deep it is?
19      A.    No, I don't.
20      Q.    Do you know how long the navigable segment is
21  there?
22      A.    I don't recall the length of it.  It's a few
23  tens of miles, as best I remember.
24      Q.    Do you know what the flow rate is depicted in
25  that photo?
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 1      A.    It's roughly 18,000 cubic feet per second.
 2      Q.    Is this river diverted for irrigation
 3  upstream from this segment?
 4      A.    There are diversions upstream from this
 5  point, yes.
 6      Q.    Are there any sandbars visible in this
 7  photograph?
 8      A.    I doubt any of the features you see there are
 9  sandbars.
10      Q.    Looking at the lower left-hand portion of the
11  river there, what would you say that is, looking at
12  this photograph?
13      A.    Well, there appears to be a riffle in that
14  area.
15      Q.    Is this the natural and ordinary condition of
16  that river?
17      A.    Not exactly.  I mean there certainly have
18  been human influences upstream from here that affect
19  the flow rate, but it's probably not far from its
20  ordinary and natural condition.
21      Q.    Turning to Slide 6 of that same exhibit,
22  X026, how wide is the channel depicted in this
23  photograph?
24      A.    It's probably on the order of 40 feet, 40 to
25  50 feet, maybe.
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 1      Q.    And how deep would you say that is?
 2      A.    It's highly variable.
 3      Q.    From what to what?
 4      A.    The maximum depths in the pools in some of
 5  those bends is probably on the order of 5 feet at
 6  least, 4 to 5 feet, perhaps even deeper.
 7      Q.    How long is the -- this is the Mosquito River
 8  in Alaska, correct?
 9      A.    That's correct.
10      Q.    And I believe you testified it's navigable?
11      A.    I didn't say that.
12      Q.    I understood you to say that this segment was
13  navigable.  I misunderstood?
14      A.    That determination has not been made.
15      Q.    Fair enough.
16            You said that this -- I believe you testified
17  that this segment would be navigable by small boats?
18      A.    Yes.
19      Q.    Would that be the same sort of small boats
20  you referenced as would be floatable on the Gila in the
21  1800s?
22      A.    There would be some overlap there, yes.
23      Q.    And in this photograph there's some
24  obstacles, correct, to navigation?
25      A.    There is some large woody debris in the
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 1  channel that I can see.
 2      Q.    And what else?
 3      A.    That's the only definite thing I can see that
 4  would be an obstacle.
 5      Q.    Are there sandbars depicted in the photo?
 6      A.    Yes.
 7      Q.    Turning to the Slide No. 7 of that same
 8  exhibit, X026, I believe you stated that the model
 9  below is 1,200 cfs?
10      A.    That's correct.
11      Q.    Is that the median flow for that river?
12      A.    It's close to the median flow.  I would have
13  to check the numbers exactly, but it's not far off from
14  that.
15      Q.    Higher or lower?
16      A.    I think it's probably on the high side.
17      Q.    I'm not exactly sure, but did you testify
18  what the flow rate was in that photo?
19      A.    I don't believe I did.
20      Q.    Do you have an estimate of what the flow rate
21  is in that?
22      A.    About 300 cfs.
23                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Excuse me.  I don't
24  have a copy of that in front of me, so what specific
25  figure are you referring to?  You already mentioned it,
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 1  but -- okay, identify it.  This is the what?
 2                 MR. HYRCKO:  This is the photograph of
 3  the braided --
 4                 COMMISSIONER HORTON:  That's the Platte.
 5                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  This is the Platte,
 6  okay.
 7                 MR. HYRCKO:  -- Platte River in
 8  Nebraska.
 9                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay, good.  Thank
10  you.
11                 MR. HYRCKO:  I apologize for not having
12  a PowerPoint for the Commissioners.
13                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  That's fine.
14  BY MR. HYRCKO:
15      Q.    Turning to Slide No. 10, which is titled
16  Channel Pattern IS Relevant to Navigability.  It's a
17  photograph of the braided reach of the Gila River below
18  Gillespie.  Is that what the Gila River looked like in
19  its natural and ordinary condition?
20      A.    I doubt it.
21      Q.    This was taken from your overflight in the
22  helicopter, correct?
23      A.    Yes.
24      Q.    How high up were you when you were flying
25  down there?
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 1      A.    I'm not sure.  Probably two to 300 feet,
 2  maybe four to 500.  I don't know exactly.  Fairly
 3  low elevation.
 4      Q.    Is this an image of a compound channel?
 5      A.    You could describe this as a compound
 6  channel, sure.
 7      Q.    And just for clarification, what date was
 8  that photograph taken?
 9      A.    October 29th, 2013.
10      Q.    I had down in November.  I'm glad we
11  clarified that.
12      A.    I wasn't sure.  I had forgotten that I had
13  the note here.
14      Q.    Thank you.
15            Turning to Slide No. 13 of that Exhibit X026,
16  it's titled Gila River at Kelvin Flows.  That has mean
17  daily and annual peak data, and it looks like
18  January '05 to January '09.  I assume that's 1905 to
19  2009, correct?
20      A.    That's correct.
21      Q.    The blue lines on that image, the vertical
22  blue lines show the max mean daily flow for the year,
23  correct?
24      A.    Yeah, the highest point on any of those
25  lines.  That's actually a continuous line that shows
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 1  all of the flows, but the highest point would be the
 2  maximum mean daily flow, yes.
 3      Q.    Right, it's cumulative.  I mean for that day
 4  it starts at whatever it was, but this is the maximum
 5  mean daily flow for that year.  I'm sorry, that is --
 6  let me straighten that out.
 7            That's the max mean daily flow for that
 8  entire year?
 9      A.    Well, there can be multiple peaks in there.
10  So if you were able to zoom in on the picture and see
11  year by year by year, you could pick out the maximum
12  flow, maximum mean daily flow from that.
13      Q.    And the dots above those blue lines, those
14  indicate the max flow peak flow for that year, correct?
15      A.    That's correct.
16      Q.    That first dot in the upper left-hand corner,
17  I believe that's -- what year is that for?
18      A.    1906.
19      Q.    And is that an estimated figure?
20      A.    I believe it is, yes.
21      Q.    Is it correct that the USGS didn't have a
22  gauge at Kelvin in 1906?
23      A.    I don't believe it had been formally
24  established yet.
25      Q.    In fact, they didn't have it until 1916,
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 1  correct?
 2      A.    I don't think that's correct.
 3      Q.    When did they -- what is the first date of
 4  the USGS data that you have?
 5      A.    I believe it's 1912.  I would have to go back
 6  and look at the records.  You see it.  It's the
 7  beginning of the blue lines there.
 8      Q.    Yes, you're correct.  It actually was 1911.
 9      A.    1911, yeah.
10      Q.    Sorry about that.
11            Does this flow data that's depicted here from
12  beginning in 1911 through 2009 represent the natural
13  and ordinary flow of the Gila River at Kelvin?
14      A.    There were diversions in place prior to the
15  start of this record, so it is modified.
16      Q.    Do you know when those diversions, the
17  upstream diversions, began?
18      A.    I think the earliest significant ones were
19  perhaps in the 1870s, in terms of the European man's
20  influence on the river.  There may have been other
21  smaller ones.
22      Q.    Upstream from this gauge, though?
23      A.    I believe so.  I would have to check that for
24  sure.  The late 1800s.
25      Q.    Looking at Slide No. 14 of that same exhibit,
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 1  which is a figure with months October to September on
 2  the bottom, and mean daily discharge in cfs on the left
 3  side.  Do you know when the Coolidge Dam was in
 4  operation?
 5      A.    I believe it was closed in November 1928.
 6      Q.    Do you know when it was dedicated?
 7      A.    I don't know that for sure.
 8      Q.    So 1928 is the -- so looking at this data,
 9  you have blue lines and orangey lines.  The blue line
10  is the before Coolidge Dam data set, correct?
11      A.    That's correct.
12      Q.    So we established that, or according to your
13  testimony, that data set ended in 1928?
14      A.    Yes.
15      Q.    And it began in 1911?
16      A.    Yes.
17      Q.    So the math there is how many years?
18      A.    I guess it would be 17, 18 years, inclusive.
19  I'm not -- I would have to go back and see exactly
20  which years.
21      Q.    So about 18 years of data?
22      A.    Roughly.
23      Q.    And then comparing that with the orange line,
24  that's everything since Coolidge Dam.  I'm sorry.
25  Yeah, since Coolidge Dam went into effect?
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 1      A.    That's correct.
 2      Q.    Until when?
 3      A.    I believe I used through water year 2013.  So
 4  it would be September 30th of last year.
 5      Q.    And so we're looking at somewhere about
 6  84 years of data?
 7      A.    That sounds close.
 8      Q.    Do you know how many large flow events
 9  occurred in the before Coolidge Dam data set?
10      A.    Well, we can see that in the previous figure
11  that we were talking about.  There were a number.
12      Q.    So according to your Slide 12, I counted six
13  flows that exceeded your 10-year peak.  We looked at
14  your Slide No. 12.  Would that be accurate?
15            How about we flip to the Slide 13.  I'm
16  sorry, I may have just misnumbered here.  Slide 13.
17      A.    I see 6 flows that were significantly larger
18  than the -- than what I depict here as the 10-year
19  peak, yes.  There are a couple of others that are just
20  slightly above the line as well.
21      Q.    So maybe as many as 8?
22      A.    Could be.
23      Q.    Irrespective of the effect of Coolidge Dam,
24  would you expect a graph depicting 18 data points
25  versus one depicting 84 data points to be smoother or
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 1  more dynamic?
 2      A.    You would probably expect the longer record
 3  to be smoother.
 4      Q.    And this figure does show that Coolidge Dam
 5  had an effect on the flow regime, correct?
 6      A.    Yes, I think it does show that.
 7      Q.    Looking at the median line for the blue,
 8  that's the lower blue line?
 9      A.    That's correct.
10      Q.    That, by my eye, appears to run between
11  100 cfs and 1,000 cfs for most of the year, correct?
12      A.    I think that's fair.
13      Q.    So even though we're looking at
14  post-diversion flow data, more than half the time, more
15  than 50 percent of the time pre-Coolidge Dam the flows
16  were between 100 and 1,000 cfs?
17      A.    Yes.
18      Q.    Turning to Slide No. 15, it's titled Annual
19  Flood Peaks:  Snowmelt and Monsoon.  This uses the same
20  USGS data set as the previous slides, correct?
21      A.    That's correct.
22      Q.    I believe you testified on direct that the
23  peaks and valleys of flows downstream from the Salt
24  River are similar, but different volumes, as what's
25  depicted in this image; is that accurate?
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 1      A.    I think that the seasonal pattern, the
 2  natural seasonal pattern, is similar, yes.
 3      Q.    What data do you rely on when you reach that
 4  conclusion?
 5      A.    Just my understanding of the hydrologic
 6  characteristics of the rivers in this area.
 7      Q.    So you didn't study the -- or did you study
 8  the Salt River flow data to come up with that
 9  conclusion?
10      A.    I have studied the Salt River flow data, yes.
11      Q.    And in coming up with the conclusion that you
12  testified to?
13      A.    I don't recall ever plotting it in exactly
14  this fashion.
15      Q.    Did you study the Salt River data for this
16  case?
17      A.    Not explicitly, no.
18      Q.    Looking at Slide No. 16 of your presentation,
19  X026, which is titled Similar Variability in Annual
20  Volume Pre- and Post-statehood, who is that -- this
21  figure depicts -- I think we already covered this, but
22  I just want to be clear.  This depicts the light blue
23  lines are the Meko and Graybill data?
24      A.    That's correct.
25      Q.    I think on the chart it says Reconstructed
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 1  (Meko and Graybill, 1972).  Did you actually mean 1995?
 2  I couldn't find a '72 reference in your references.
 3      A.    That's very possible.  '72 does not sound
 4  right.  I think I may have confused that with the
 5  Burkham paper when I typed the caption on that.
 6            It should be 1995, yes.
 7      Q.    This, as I believe we discussed earlier, this
 8  data is comparing a model data with measured data?
 9      A.    That's correct.
10      Q.    Isn't it true that when you mathematically
11  relate the tree ring width to runoff volume using a
12  regression, you get a damping effect on the runoff
13  volume for each year?
14      A.    I think that's probably true, yes.
15      Q.    And that's, by damping effect, it's the --
16  that eliminates some of the variance of the estimates,
17  correct?
18      A.    I think if we had real data for the period
19  that's shown with Meko and Graybill, my educated guess,
20  if you will, is, it would be much -- well, maybe I
21  shouldn't say much.  It would be more variable than
22  what you see in this plot.
23      Q.    Why did you not depict the modeled data for
24  the post-1900 on this figure?
25      A.    Because I had measured data for that period.


Coash & Coash, Inc.







GILA RIVER      VOL. VIII      08/20/2014 Page 1841


 1      Q.    So but you're comparing damped data with
 2  measured data that's not damped, correct?
 3      A.    Yes.  And my point is simply to show that
 4  there was significant -- according to their data, there
 5  was significant variability in the full records prior
 6  to the start of the systematic gauge record.  And as we
 7  just said, it's probably even more variable than what
 8  you see in this plot, but I have no way of quantifying
 9  that.
10      Q.    But in a sense, you're comparing apples to
11  oranges in this data, right?
12      A.    No.  For the purpose I used the plot, I think
13  it's a very valid comparison.
14      Q.    Turning to your figure Slide 17 of
15  Exhibit 26, Annual peak is correlated with annual
16  volume, it's -- the axes are Runoff Volume in acre-feet
17  and Annual Peak Discharge in cfs.
18            What years does this data depict?
19      A.    This is the period of record at the gauge.
20  It's all the data points.  So it would be 19 -- let me
21  just see.  Well, we would be starting in 1911, So 1911
22  to 1993.
23      Q.    Did you make this figure?
24      A.    Yes.
25      Q.    And this is the Kelvin data, correct?
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 1      A.    I believe this is actually the Safford gauge,
 2  and I think you remind me that I may have misspoke in
 3  my testimony yesterday.  It is not the Kelvin gauge.
 4  It is the gauge at Safford.
 5      Q.    Thank you.
 6            Does this data depict the runoff volume for a
 7  calendar year or for a water year?
 8      A.    Water year.
 9      Q.    For the Commission, what's the difference
10  between a calendar year and a water year?
11      A.    Yeah, the calendar years go from January
12  through December.  The water years start on the 1st of
13  October and go through the following September.
14      Q.    Looking at your Slide No. 18, it's titled
15  Flood-induced Changes in Channel Width, of
16  Exhibit X026.  The 1869 map at the top of that, the
17  plat map, shows level river bottom and a thin Gila
18  River, while the 1928 map shows a wide Gila River and
19  no level river bottom; is that correct?
20      A.    I don't see a level river bottom label in the
21  1928 figure, and it does show a wider flood channel.
22      Q.    Looking at the Slide No. 20, it's a similar
23  image.  It says Flood-induced Changes in Channel Width?
24      A.    Yes.
25      Q.    The bottom image there from 1915, that's
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 1  dated after that all-time record flood in 1906,
 2  correct?
 3      A.    Yes.
 4      Q.    So it's depicting the aftereffects of that
 5  record flood?
 6      A.    I would assume in part, yes.
 7      Q.    Turning to Slide No. 26, Summary of Opinions,
 8  which portions of the Gila had a single-thread channel
 9  that would float boats?
10      A.    I don't think we know that definitively.  We
11  simply know from the anecdotal evidence that there were
12  portions of the river that had that characteristic.
13      Q.    So your opinion that it would happen is based
14  on anecdotal records?
15      A.    Yes.
16      Q.    But you didn't do your own study?
17      A.    No.
18      Q.    Are any of the floods that occurred from 1895
19  to 1916 the ordinary condition of the Gila, meaning
20  more often than not?
21      A.    Could you rephrase the question, please?
22      Q.    Are any of the -- you have a second opinion:
23  From 1895 to 1916 you state large floods scoured
24  vegetation, et cetera.
25            Are any of the floods that occurred in that
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 1  period the ordinary condition of the Gila River?
 2      A.    Well, as we've discussed before, this
 3  specific period during when the flood is happening most
 4  likely falls outside the definition of ordinary.
 5      Q.    On Slide 27, the next slide, titled Summary
 6  of Opinions, you state that prior to mid 1800s large
 7  floods routinely occurred in the ordinary and natural
 8  condition of the river, correct?
 9      A.    Yes.
10      Q.    How often would a large flood have to be to
11  be routine and ordinary?
12      A.    I don't know that I can put a specific period
13  on that.  If it happens every 10 years, a 10-year
14  flood, perhaps, or greater.
15      Q.    What evidence do you have that the large
16  floods were routine and ordinary?
17      A.    Well, from the figures that we looked at
18  before, which would be the figures on Slide 16 and 17.
19  We see significant variability in the annual runoff,
20  and as we discussed, it's probably even more variable
21  than what is depicted in that figure.  And the slide on
22  Slide 17 shows that there's strong correlation between
23  the peak flows, in other words the flood regime, and
24  the annual runoff.  So the combination of those two
25  says to me that we certainly had periodic floods during
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 1  that time.
 2            In addition to that, there's good evidence
 3  that there hasn't been a systematic shift in the
 4  climate during that period of time, going back, you
 5  know, several centuries.  And there undoubtedly are
 6  changes in the watershed, but not of sufficient amount
 7  to completely change the flood regime.
 8            And so my overall conclusion is that the
 9  flood regime was probably very similar under ordinary
10  and natural conditions to what it is now.
11      Q.    You have no other evidence besides that Meko
12  and Graybill data, the predevelopment annual flows,
13  correct?
14      A.    That's the only quantification that I have.
15      Q.    How many cfs does it take to make something
16  into a large flood, in your mind?
17      A.    I don't have a number in my mind.
18      Q.    Do you have an estimate?
19      A.    Well, according to Slide 13, the one in
20  ten-year peak under the current regime is roughly
21  20, 22,000 cubic feet per second.  So I think something
22  in the range of 20 to 30,000.  From a geomorphic
23  perspective, it would have to be a flow that's big
24  enough to completely fill the channel or go out of bank
25  and have enough energy to cause changes in the channel.
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 1      Q.    I would like to show you a document that you
 2  cite as a reference that you relied on by
 3  Dr. Huckleberry, "Contrasting channel response to
 4  floods on the middle Gila River."
 5            Is that a document that you relied on in
 6  your -- reaching your declaration, in working, making
 7  your declaration?
 8                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. McGinnis, do you
 9  have something?
10                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Do you have copies for
11  the rest of us?  Is it an exhibit, or are you just
12  going to show it to him?  Did you print it out for
13  everybody?
14                 MR. HYRCKO:  I did not, but it's cited
15  by --
16                 MR. SLADE:  What's the date of the
17  paper?
18                 MR. HYRCKO:  1994, "Contrasting channel
19  response to floods on the middle Gila River," by Gary
20  Huckleberry, in Geology, Volume 22, Pages 1083 to 1086.
21                 THE WITNESS:  I did cite this, yes.
22                 MR. MCGINNIS:  It's not been submitted
23  as an exhibit and it's not before the Commission.  If
24  you want to ask about it, I guess that's okay.  But
25  it's not in the record.
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 1                 MR. HELM:  We'll put it in the record
 2  this afternoon.  How's that, Mark?
 3                 MR. HYRCKO:  Dr. Mussetter relied on
 4  that.
 5                 MR. SPARKS:  I actually noticed that
 6  he's supplying us with one now.
 7                 MR. HELM:  He can get one now.
 8                 MR. SPARKS:  Yeah, there you go.
 9                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, Mr. McGinnis,
10  would you clarify what you wanted to know, have done or
11  explain?
12                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Well, if he's asking him
13  about a document that none of the rest of us have
14  scene.  Maybe Dr. Mussetter has seen this.  We saw this
15  yesterday.  At least the State was nice enough to mail
16  it to me the day they used it.  We haven't even seen
17  this document.  There's no way for me to effectively
18  redirect him or even understand what the testimony is,
19  because I didn't hear about the document until today,
20  and he didn't even bring a copy.
21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Now, Mr. Hyrcko or
22  Mr. Helm, would you respond?
23                 MR. HYRCKO:  Yes.  The document was
24  relied upon by Dr. Mussetter in reaching his opinion.
25  He certainly is familiar with this document.  He said
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 1  as much moments ago.
 2                 I am just going to ask him to read a
 3  section from that document, and if Mr. McGinnis would
 4  like, I'll supply him with a photocopy of this after
 5  the fact, or he can look at this copy and redirect
 6  Dr. Mussetter to his heart's content.  But I think it's
 7  a fair question to ask him about references that he
 8  cites in his declaration.
 9                 MR. MCGINNIS:  And I don't have any
10  problem with him asking about it.  I just think the
11  rest of us are entitled to see a copy, if it's not
12  already been admitted as an exhibit, while he's asking.
13                 MS. HERNBRODE:  What was the date,
14  again, I'm sorry?
15                 MR. HYRCKO:  December of 1994.
16                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Jeff, how much more
17  time do you have in examination?
18                 MR. HYRCKO:  This is -- maybe one or two
19  questions.
20                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Will it be
21  possible for you to obtain copies for distribution
22  during the lunch period?
23                 MR. HYRCKO:  I imagine.  I don't know
24  where I would make copies here locally, but I imagine I
25  can find something and bring enough copies for
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 1  Mr. McGinnis and any other attorneys that would like to
 2  have a copy.
 3                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Just to try to speed
 4  things along, to the extent that the copy that
 5  Dr. Mussetter has is going to be available over the
 6  lunchtime, I can look at it and he can look at it, and
 7  maybe that solves the problem.
 8                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Are there any other
 9  attorneys who share Mr. McGinnis's concern regarding
10  this particular document?
11                 MR. SPARKS:  We do.
12                 MR. MCGINNIS:  I'll share it with
13  Mr. Sparks.
14                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I believe at least two
15  other hands have gone up.
16                 MR. HOOD:  I would like a copy, but I
17  don't want to hold things up.
18                 MS. MONTGOMERY:  Yeah, I would say that
19  as well.
20                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Mr. Chairman, we will
21  assist Maricopa County in this matter and bring copies
22  back after lunch.
23                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.  Will that
24  be satisfactory to the other counsel?
25                 MR. MCGINNIS:  It will for me.
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 1                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.
 2                 Please do not forget the Expendables
 3  Three and their trusty Sancho Panza.
 4                 COMMISSIONER HORTON:  What a very
 5  literate man, Don Quixote.
 6                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I'm sorry we
 7  interrupted you in that way, but please continue.
 8                 MR. HYRCKO:  Thank you.
 9  BY MR. HYRCKO:
10      Q.    Dr. Mussetter, could you please read the
11  section that's highlighted there, Historical Channel
12  Changes?
13      A.    Sure.
14            Historical records of floods and channel
15  changes on the middle Gila River indicate that the
16  river has not responded similarly to all large floods.
17  Between 1696 and 1891, both anecdotal evidence and
18  survey plats indicate that the study reach was
19  characterized by a single, narrow channel lined by tall
20  trees, citing (Rea, 1983).  This form was maintained
21  despite catastrophic floods in 1833 and 1868.  That
22  cites (Dobyns, 1981).  The first obvious bank erosion
23  and channel widening occurred in 1891 (Huckleberry,
24  93b), but it was not until the floods of 1905 that the
25  middle Gila River changed from a single, slightly
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 1  sinuous, narrow --
 2            Sorry.  Pardon me.  I'll slow down.  Let me
 3  start.
 4            But it was not until the floods of 1905 that
 5  the middle Gila River changed from a single, slightly
 6  sinuous, narrow channel to a wide, straight, braided
 7  channel.  A single metamorphosis occurred in the upper
 8  reach of the Gila River in the Safford Valley, Arizona,
 9  citing (Burkham, 1972).  Tree-ring evidence indicates
10  that the decade of 1905 to 1915 was probably the
11  wettest in 500 years in central Arizona, and that
12  refers to the Meko and Graybill document that I used in
13  my report.
14            Large floods in 1905, 1914 and 1916 resulted
15  in repeated bank cutting and maintenance of wide,
16  braided channel plan forms.  In 1928 the channel was
17  still wide (GLO survey notes; Table 1), but thereafter
18  drier conditions and the Coolidge Dam effectively
19  decreased the frequency of large floods passing through
20  the study reach.  The normally dry channel was subject
21  to episodic, relatively small stream-flow events that
22  helped to create and maintain a small, relatively
23  narrow and sinuous, low-flow channel within a wider
24  flood channel; i.e., a compound plan form (Graf, 1988).
25  It was not until 1983 that the middle Gila River
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 1  underwent another large flood.
 2      Q.    Thank you, Dr. Mussetter.  And this was a
 3  document that you relied on and reviewed in reaching
 4  your opinion?
 5      A.    It is.
 6      Q.    Dr. Mussetter, every channel change that you
 7  discuss in your report that resulted in the channel
 8  becoming braided was caused by a flood, true?
 9      A.    Would you say that again, please?
10      Q.    Every channel change that you discuss in your
11  report that resulted in the channel becoming braided
12  was caused by a flood, true?
13      A.    The general thesis of the discussion in my
14  report is that the floods are the primary driver of the
15  braiding, yes.
16                 MR. HYRCKO:  Nothing else.  Thank you.
17                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  That's all?
18                 Is there anyone else who wishes to ask
19  some questions of Dr. Mussetter?
20                 And, Mr. McGinnis, do you wish to do
21  this before lunch or after lunch?
22                 MR. MCGINNIS:  I think given the fact
23  that we saw a document that we haven't seen before, I
24  would like to have a chance to look at it and finish up
25  after lunch, if that's okay with you.
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 1                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Is there anyone
 2  else that would like to ask some questions of
 3  Dr. Mussetter that we can finish in five minutes?
 4                 I'm not trusting lawyers at their word.
 5  Then we will adjourn for lunch and we'll come back here
 6  at about, oh, quarter after 1:00.
 7                 (A lunch recess was taken from
 8  11:51 a.m. to 1:15 p.m.)
 9                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. McGinnis, please
10  begin.
11                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
12
13                   REDIRECT EXAMINATION
14  BY MR. MCGINNIS:
15      Q.    Dr. Mussetter, I have some questions to
16  follow up on some of the cross-examination that was
17  done with you the last day or so, okay?
18      A.    Okay.
19      Q.    Mr. Slade asked you some questions about your
20  boating experience, and he specifically asked you
21  whether you had ever come across a beaver dam.  Do you
22  recall that?
23      A.    I do.
24      Q.    Can you tell us where that was?
25      A.    It was on the upper Pennsylvania in Michigan.
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 1  It was a small stream.
 2      Q.    Do you remember the name of the stream?
 3      A.    I actually don't remember.
 4      Q.    And I think you said to him you came upon the
 5  beaver dam and you actually had to get out of the boat
 6  and carry the boat around the dam; is that right?
 7      A.    That's correct.
 8      Q.    Were you on a one-day trip or a several-day
 9  expedition at that point?
10      A.    I was just on a one-day trip.
11      Q.    How much gear did you have with you?
12      A.    Minimal.
13      Q.    If you had had five days worth of camping
14  gear with you, would you have had to unload the canoe
15  before you carried it?
16      A.    In this case I would have, yes.
17      Q.    If you had 500 pounds worth of beavers pelts,
18  would you have had to unload the canoe and go around
19  it?
20      A.    Yes.
21      Q.    Mr. Slade, I think it was Mr. Slade, asked
22  you some questions about --
23                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Excuse me.  Would the
24  record reflect that Mr. Hood has entered the room.
25                 MR. HOOD:  I saw everybody else walking
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 1  in at the same time, Mr. Chairman.
 2                 Pardon the interruption.
 3                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I'm sorry.  I'm sorry I
 4  interrupted you, Mr. McGinnis.
 5  BY MR. MCGINNIS:
 6      Q.    He also asked you some questions about your
 7  PowerPoint presentation, I believe, which was
 8  Exhibit X026.  And you don't need to go to it, because
 9  I think you'll probably remember it enough for this
10  question.  He asked you about Slide 8, which was a
11  picture of the Copper River in Alaska.
12      A.    Yes.
13      Q.    Do you recall that?
14      A.    Yes.
15      Q.    And you, I think, said that was a braided
16  river that could be navigable; is that right?
17      A.    Yes.
18      Q.    Do you have any idea what the magnitude of
19  flows is in the Copper River as compared to the Gila
20  River?
21      A.    Well, I actually tried to look that up.
22  There aren't any gauges in that vicinity, but it's a
23  very large river, so they're many times greater than
24  the flows in the Gila River.  Probably the flow in that
25  picture is as big as any of the recorded floods.
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 1      Q.    And I think maybe you testified on direct
 2  even, that a braided river could be navigable if there
 3  was a lot of water there?
 4      A.    Sure.
 5      Q.    Toward the end of your cross-examination with
 6  Mr. Hyrcko, he showed you a document from Huckleberry
 7  that's now been marked as Exhibit X034 "Contrasting
 8  channel response to floods on the middle Gila River,
 9  Arizona."  Do you recall seeing that?
10      A.    Yes.
11      Q.    And that was one of the documents that you
12  had cited in your report; is that right?
13      A.    That's correct.
14      Q.    Do you have a copy of that with you?
15      A.    Yes, I do.
16      Q.    Okay.  I want to ask you some questions just
17  about the first introduction part of it.
18            The first sentence after the introduction
19  says, Channel morphology in plan-view form in arid and
20  semi-arid stream systems is largely dependent on the
21  frequency and magnitude of large floods, with some
22  citations there.
23            Do you agree with that?
24      A.    Yes, I do.
25      Q.    Is that consistent with the opinion that
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 1  you've given the Commission in this case?
 2      A.    It is.
 3      Q.    The next sentence says, Consequently, such
 4  systems --
 5                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Mr. McGinnis, I'm
 6  sorry, point out where in the document you're talking
 7  about.
 8                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Reading right after the
 9  introduction, right in the introduction.  Do you see
10  that on the left-hand side of the first page --
11                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Yeah, I see that.
12                 MR. MCGINNIS:  -- it says Introduction?
13                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Yeah.
14                 MR. MCGINNIS:  I'm on the second
15  sentence now.
16                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Consequently?
17                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Yes, sir.
18  BY MR. MCGINNIS:
19      Q.    Consequently, such systems seldom maintain a
20  stable form at decadal to century time scale.
21            Did I read that right?
22      A.    You did.
23      Q.    What does it mean to seldom maintain a stable
24  form at decadal to century time scales?
25      A.    Means that over periods of tens of years, up
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 1  to a century, they showed dynamic behavior; they shift
 2  around, they change.
 3      Q.    Okay.  And the next sentence says, The Gila
 4  River in Arizona is an arid-region stream in which
 5  complex relation between floods and channel changes
 6  occurs.
 7            Did I read that right?
 8      A.    You did.
 9      Q.    Do you generally agree with that principle?
10      A.    Yes.
11      Q.    And then the next sentence says, Specific
12  hydroclimatic conditions favor the production of
13  catastrophic floods in the Gila River watershed.
14            Did I read that correctly?
15      A.    You did, and I agree with that.
16      Q.    And the last clause of that same sentence
17  says, but not all large floods result in the same
18  channel response.
19      A.    Yes.
20      Q.    Is that correct?
21      A.    That is correct.
22      Q.    Is that consistent with the opinion you've
23  given this Commission?
24      A.    It is.
25      Q.    You were asked some questions by both the
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 1  lawyers about the Winkleman case.  Do you recall that?
 2      A.    I do.
 3      Q.    And Winkleman is State of Arizona ex rel.
 4  Winkleman versus ANSAC.  Do you understand that to be
 5  that case?
 6      A.    Yes.
 7      Q.    Was that case decided in 2010?
 8      A.    I believe so.
 9      Q.    Is it your understanding that the Winkleman
10  case dealt with this Commission's findings on the upper
11  Salt River?
12      A.    Yes.
13      Q.    Do you know if the Winkleman case involved
14  any review of the Commission's findings on the Gila
15  River?
16      A.    I don't believe it did.
17      Q.    And is it your understanding that the report
18  on the lower Salt River that was at issue in Winkleman
19  was done in September of 2005; does that sound about
20  right?
21      A.    That does sound right.
22      Q.    And the report, the Commission's latest
23  report on the Gila River wasn't done until January
24  2009.
25      A.    That's correct.
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 1      Q.    And, in fact, the trial court decision in the
 2  lower Salt River case was about 2007; is that right?
 3      A.    That sounds right.
 4                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Okay, you guys, I'm
 5  trying to listen.
 6  BY MR. MCGINNIS:
 7      Q.    Okay, thank you.
 8            So do you know of any court decision that has
 9  considered or found invalid this Commission's January
10  2009 decision on the Gila River?
11      A.    I do not.
12      Q.    Yesterday afternoon Mr. Slade had pointed you
13  to a particular exhibit, and I didn't have it in front
14  of me and I'm not sure I'm going to get right which one
15  it was, but maybe you can understand from my
16  description.  And that was an exhibit where it was
17  talking about mapping methods on the GLO plats.  Do you
18  recall that?
19      A.    I do recall that.
20      Q.    Do you recall which exhibit that was, which
21  author it was?
22      A.    It was from Huckleberry 1996, I believe.
23      Q.    And he gave you a notebook with some tabs in
24  it --
25      A.    Yes.
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 1      Q.    -- that you were looking at, right?
 2      A.    Yes.
 3      Q.    And was that Huckleberry article one that you
 4  had cited in your report?
 5      A.    It is.
 6      Q.    Until yesterday, when was the last time you
 7  had read that Huckleberry article, if you can recall?
 8      A.    Nine months, six to nine months ago.
 9      Q.    And I never got a chance to see the notebook
10  that he handed you with the tabs in it, but on the tab
11  that he handed you, did that have the whole article, or
12  did it just have one page?
13      A.    I think it was just one or it might have
14  overlapped into two pages.  It was just a few pages,
15  though.
16      Q.    So that tab didn't have the whole article to
17  put the sentence he was reading to you in context,
18  right?
19      A.    It did not.
20      Q.    Have you had a chance since yesterday to look
21  back at that article and read the whole thing?
22      A.    I did go back and reread it.
23      Q.    And my impression of what the one sentence he
24  was having you read was along the lines of the mapping
25  methods that the GLO used had changed at some point.
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 1  Is that generally correct?
 2      A.    Well, sort of.  I think the two maps were
 3  made by different entities, but that the -- the
 4  procedure that -- the features that they were mapping
 5  might have changed somewhat.
 6      Q.    Okay.  And based upon your review of the
 7  entire article last night, is that your understanding?
 8      A.    I'm not really sure that that's what it says.
 9  I can see how it could be interpreted to mean what he
10  was implying by his questions, but I can also interpret
11  it other ways, so I'm not really sure that it -- all of
12  the differences you see in those maps are just strictly
13  because they map using different procedures.
14      Q.    And that interpretation is based upon a
15  review of the entire document, not just --
16      A.    That's correct.
17      Q.    -- one or two sentences he picked out for
18  you?
19      A.    That's correct.
20      Q.    Do you have a copy of your PowerPoint handy
21  that we can pull up electronically?
22      A.    I do.
23      Q.    Is it warming up, is that what we're waiting
24  for?
25      A.    Yeah, it's coming.


Coash & Coash, Inc.







GILA RIVER      VOL. VIII      08/20/2014 Page 1863


 1      Q.    Okay.  This is the PowerPoint that you
 2  presented, Exhibit X026; is that right?
 3      A.    Yes.
 4      Q.    And we talked about it at some length
 5  yesterday.
 6      A.    Yes.
 7      Q.    And we have it up on the screen.
 8            Can you flip over to or slide down to
 9  Slide 22?
10            And Mr. Slade referred you to two or three
11  different of these sets of diagrams, and I think this
12  was one of them.  And it was my impression, from what
13  his questions were, was he was trying to lead to the
14  conclusion that the difference between the two maps --
15  I guess there's three -- two maps on this slide was
16  maybe just based on the different mapping methods that
17  changed between 1883 and 1907.  Do you recall that
18  testimony?
19      A.    I do.
20      Q.    Was that your understanding of what he was
21  trying to show as well?
22      A.    That was also my impression.
23      Q.    And based upon your review of the document
24  you looked at last night, at this point you're not even
25  sure that there was a change in mapping methods; is
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 1  that right?
 2      A.    I'm not sure of that, yes.
 3      Q.    And let's assume for a minute, though, that
 4  his premise, if that's his premise and that that
 5  premise is correct, if there was a -- if the difference
 6  between these two photos in 1883 and 1907 was just
 7  based on mapping methods, wouldn't that mean that the
 8  river was essentially the same in both time periods?
 9      A.    Yes.  If his proposition was correct, then
10  using these mapping methods, you would see a wide,
11  braided channel as well, flood channel in the top
12  photo.
13      Q.    In other words, if you used the mapping
14  methods that were used for the 1907 map in 1883, you
15  would have had a broad channel as well?
16      A.    Yes.
17      Q.    Now, as between 1883 and 1907, which of those
18  two time frames do we know more precisely what the
19  river actually looked like?
20      A.    I would think the more current time frame,
21  1907.
22      Q.    And why is that?
23      A.    Well, because they were mapping in more
24  detail at that time.  It's closer to the present time.
25  We have more information about the river at that time,
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 1  more people were around.
 2      Q.    And we actually have seen in this case, in
 3  this week actually, photographs from 1907, roughly --
 4      A.    Yes.
 5      Q.    -- right?
 6            Dr. Littlefield had photographs of the river
 7  in 1905.  Do you recall those?
 8      A.    I do.
 9      Q.    He had photographs of the river in 1910, I
10  believe.  Do you recall those?
11      A.    I do.
12      Q.    Do you know of any photographs of the Gila
13  River in 1883 or earlier?
14      A.    I'm not aware of any.
15      Q.    So if the river was the same, if you're
16  assuming that Mr. Slade's premise is correct and the
17  difference in these two maps is just based on mapping
18  methods, and if the river was the same, and we know the
19  1907 was the most likely to be correct, wouldn't that
20  also mean that the river was broad and wide in 1883,
21  and it's just drawn differently because of the
22  different mapping methods?
23      A.    That could very well be the case.
24      Q.    And all the testimony that you've heard so
25  far in this case doesn't support that, does it?
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 1      A.    That's right.
 2      Q.    And as a matter of fact, the State itself has
 3  put on evidence to show that in the mid 1800s, up to
 4  the floods in the late 1800s, they've been trying to
 5  show that it was a single meandering channel lined with
 6  cottonwoods?
 7      A.    Yes.
 8      Q.    And that's kind of what this picture actually
 9  looks like in 1883, right?
10      A.    It's a single-thread channel for sure.
11      Q.    So if his premise was correct, then it is
12  contrary to all the evidence his own witness has put
13  on?
14      A.    Yes.
15      Q.    Well, let's sort of step back from fantasy
16  land then and ask you another question, and that is, is
17  his premise correct?  Is there any real dispute that
18  the Gila River widened between the late 1880s and
19  statehood?
20      A.    I don't think there's any disputes about
21  that.
22      Q.    And what's your basis for that thought?
23      A.    Well, there's several documents that I've
24  talked about in my testimony, the Burkham study, the
25  Huckleberry studies, other descriptions of how the
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 1  river responded to the flooding around the turn of the
 2  century.
 3      Q.    And as a matter of fact, this particular
 4  Commission has written a report that talks about how
 5  the river broadened -- widened and braided in the late
 6  1800s and early 1900s; is that right?
 7      A.    That's correct.
 8      Q.    Do you have a copy there on your computer of
 9  the January 27th, 2009 report from this Commission?
10      A.    I do.
11      Q.    Can you pull that up for us?
12            Okay, and this says, In the Matter of the
13  Navigability of the Gila River from the New Mexico
14  Border to the Confluence with the Colorado River,
15  Greenlee, Graham, Gila, Pinal, Maricopa and Yuma
16  Counties, Arizona.
17            Do you see that?
18      A.    Yes.
19                 MR. MCGINNIS:  And I've got -- if you
20  don't have it, I've got some extra hard copies, if
21  anybody wants one.  Judge, would the Commission like a
22  hard copy?
23                 This is without the attachments.
24                 Who else?
25                 And I've given the Commission hard
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 1  copies.  One left.
 2                 The 2009 report is a couple hundred
 3  pages long or longer.  The copies I've handed to the
 4  Commission, just for the record, does not include the
 5  voluminous attachments.  It's just the hard -- the
 6  actual body of the report, which I think goes up to
 7  Page 89, with the signatures of who the then
 8  Commissioners were.
 9  BY MR. MCGINNIS:
10      Q.    And I want to talk some with you about what
11  this Commission found and what evidence was before it
12  back in 2009 based upon the 2005 hearing.
13      A.    Okay.
14      Q.    Okay?  And you weren't at that hearing; is
15  that right?
16      A.    I was not.
17      Q.    Have you reviewed the transcript of that
18  hearing?
19      A.    I have reviewed portions of the transcript,
20  yes.
21      Q.    Let's turn to the next page, which is the
22  Table of Contents.  And you see down under Roman
23  numeral VII.G there's a section that's called Geology,
24  Geomorphology and Hydrology of the Gila River.  Do you
25  see that?
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 1      A.    I do see that.
 2      Q.    And that starts on Page 62?
 3      A.    Yes.
 4      Q.    Is it your understanding that that section
 5  summarizes the Commission's findings with respect to
 6  those scientific issues based on the evidence that was
 7  presented to it in 2005?
 8      A.    Yes, it is.
 9      Q.    Okay, let's go down to Page 62.  Okay,
10  Section 2, that's where subsection -- excuse me.
11  Page 62, that's where Subsection G starts, correct?
12      A.    Yes.
13      Q.    Okay, and I'm going to save you the burden of
14  reading, because we've got some reading to do, and I'm
15  going to try and start out by reading it to you and
16  have you agree with me whether I read it right or not.
17  Is that okay?
18      A.    Okay.
19      Q.    The last sentence of the first paragraph
20  there under G says, summarizing that paragraph, says,
21  Thus, the river has been described as extremely
22  erratic, unstable and unpredictable in its disposition.
23            Do you see that?
24      A.    I do see that.
25      Q.    Did I read that correctly?
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 1      A.    I believe so.
 2      Q.    So based upon the evidence before it at the
 3  2005 hearing, this Commission found in 2009 that the
 4  river was described as extremely erratic, unstable and
 5  unpredictable in its disposition?
 6      A.    Yes.
 7      Q.    Based upon the evidence that you reviewed
 8  from that prior hearing and the testimony and evidence
 9  you've seen in this hearing, would you agree with that
10  statement?
11      A.    I think that's a reasonable description.
12      Q.    Okay, let's go down to Page 64.  The first
13  sentence in the second full paragraph there says, The
14  flow of the river is difficult to characterize, partly
15  because there were few records kept until the 1880s to
16  1900.
17            Do you see that?
18      A.    I do.
19      Q.    Did I read that correctly?
20      A.    Yes.
21      Q.    Based upon your review of the evidence from
22  the 2005 hearing and the additional evidence and
23  testimony that you've seen in the last eight days of
24  this hearing, would you agree with that statement?
25      A.    Yes.  They are sparse to nonexistent prior to
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 1  that time frame.
 2      Q.    Let's go on down to Page 67 of the 2009
 3  Commission report, and beginning at the bottom of
 4  Page 67, there is a rather long paragraph that
 5  describes the Commission's understanding of the
 6  testimony and evidence presented by the Land Department
 7  in the 2005 hearing, specifically in the report that
 8  was updated in 2009 by Mr. Fuller.
 9            Is that your understanding of that paragraph?
10      A.    Yes.
11      Q.    So the bottom, that last paragraph there
12  says, The navigability study prepared by the Arizona
13  State Land Department and updated through June of 2003
14  by J.E. Fuller contains a detailed chapter on
15  historical geomorphology of the Gila River with
16  numerous quotes from Dr. Gary Huckleberry of the
17  Arizona Geological Survey.
18            Did I read that correctly?
19      A.    Yes.
20      Q.    And that's the same Mr. Fuller -- is it your
21  understanding that's the same Mr. Fuller who's
22  testified this week --
23      A.    Yes.
24      Q.    Last time.
25      A.    Last session, yes.
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 1      Q.    Mr. Huckleberry, are you familiar with him?
 2      A.    I'm familiar with his writings.
 3      Q.    And he wrote the document that we just looked
 4  at a few minutes ago, right?
 5      A.    He did.
 6      Q.    Is it your understanding that Mr. Huckleberry
 7  testified on behalf of the State Land Department in the
 8  2005 hearings that resulted in this 2009 decision?
 9      A.    Yes.
10      Q.    The next sentence says -- and this is the
11  Commission, again -- says, In the pioneer period, there
12  was, during a good deal of the time, a single channel
13  stream with moderate flow in the upper Gila Valley.
14            Did I read that correctly?
15      A.    Yes.
16      Q.    Is that your understanding of the facts?
17      A.    The anecdotal evidence seems to indicate
18  that.
19      Q.    And is that consistent with the opinion
20  you've given to the Commission in this hearing?
21      A.    It is.
22      Q.    The next sentence says, The large floods of
23  the 1890s and early 20th century changed the river
24  significantly, such that afterwards it showed a wide
25  sandy flood plain with several branching channels.
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 1            Did I read that correctly?
 2      A.    Yes.
 3      Q.    Is that consistent with the testimony you
 4  have given yesterday and today?
 5      A.    Yes.
 6      Q.    Do you think there's any dispute about
 7  whether the floods of the 1890s and early 20th century
 8  made the Gila River generally into a wide sandy
 9  floodplain with several braiding channels?
10      A.    I don't believe there is.
11      Q.    The next sentence says, The consecutive
12  floods would maintain the wide, braided conditions on
13  the alluvial reaches of the river.
14            Did I read that correctly?
15      A.    Yes.
16      Q.    Do you have any disagreement with that?
17      A.    No.
18      Q.    The next sentence says, The gauges and other
19  flow data show a relatively low, although consistent,
20  flow of this portion of the river.
21            Did I read that correctly?
22      A.    Yes.
23      Q.    Do you have any disagreement with that?
24      A.    No.
25      Q.    I'm going to skip down some because I don't
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 1  want to read every sentence in the whole 100-and-some
 2  pages.
 3            About halfway down the page there's a
 4  statement that says, Likewise, in this area -- and here
 5  they're talking about the area around Florence.  Yeah,
 6  the area around Florence in that sentence; middle Gila,
 7  I believe.
 8            Likewise, in this area, the floods of the
 9  1890s and early 1900s caused a great deal of channel
10  and bank cutting and transformed the Gila River into a
11  wide, braided channel with very little depth when it
12  did flow.
13            Did I read that correctly?
14      A.    Yes.
15      Q.    Is it your understanding that's a correct
16  statement?
17      A.    Yes.
18      Q.    Is that consistent with the testimony you've
19  given to the Commission the last two days?
20      A.    It is.
21      Q.    If you go down to the bottom of Page 68, the
22  Commission says, In summary, this report states; and
23  it's my understanding, and you can correct me if you
24  think I'm wrong --
25      A.    Wait.  Oh, I see it.
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 1      Q.    The very bottom of the page.
 2      A.    I see it.
 3      Q.    My understanding, they're talking about the
 4  report prepared for the State Land Department, updated
 5  by Mr. Fuller himself.  Is that your understanding?
 6      A.    Yes.
 7      Q.    If you flip over to the top of Page 69, this
 8  is the Commission from 2009 quoting a report prepared,
 9  at least in part, by Mr. Fuller in 2003; is that
10  correct?
11      A.    Yes.
12      Q.    Okay.  And that report was participated in by
13  Dr. Huckleberry, also, correct?
14      A.    That's my understanding.
15      Q.    The quote at the top of Page 69 says, The
16  Gila River is a classic example of a dryland river that
17  seldom seeks an equilibrium form.
18            Did I read that correctly?
19      A.    Yes.
20      Q.    Do you agree with that statement --
21      A.    Yes.
22      Q.    -- by Mr. Fuller?
23      A.    Yes.
24      Q.    Is that consistent with the testimony you've
25  given over the last two days?
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 1      A.    It is.
 2      Q.    There's some citations there, and then it
 3  says, Unlike rivers in humid regions that have more
 4  stable channels adjusted for more continuous stream
 5  flow with less variance in discharge, the dryland
 6  rivers are inherently more unstable and more prone to
 7  changes in channel configuration.
 8            Did I read that correctly?
 9      A.    You did.
10      Q.    Do you agree with that statement --
11      A.    Yes.
12      Q.    -- by Mr. Fuller?
13      A.    Yes.
14      Q.    Is that consistent with the testimony you've
15  given over the last two days?
16      A.    It is.
17      Q.    The next sentence says, In such unstable
18  fluvial systems, channel configuration depends much
19  upon the history of previous flood events.
20            Did I read that correctly?
21      A.    Yes.
22      Q.    Do you agree with that statement by
23  Mr. Fuller, quoted by this Commission in 2009?
24      A.    I do.
25      Q.    Is that consistent with your testimony in the
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 1  last two days?
 2      A.    It is.
 3      Q.    The next sentence says, Periods of high flood
 4  frequency are likely to correlate with periods of
 5  increased channel instability.
 6            Do you agree with that statement?
 7      A.    I do.
 8      Q.    Did I read it correctly?
 9      A.    Yes.
10      Q.    Is that consistent with the testimony you've
11  given to the Commission this week?
12      A.    Yes.
13      Q.    The next sentence says, Consequently channel
14  plan form and geometry of the lower Gila River in 1912
15  can also be characterized as mostly shallow and
16  braided.
17            Do you agree with that statement by
18  Mr. Fuller?
19      A.    I do.
20      Q.    Is that consistent with your testimony over
21  the last couple of days?
22      A.    It is.
23      Q.    The last sentence in that quote says, The
24  premise of this study is that the Gila River responds
25  to secular climatic variability by radical changes in
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 1  channel configuration and that periods of increased
 2  flood frequency correlate with unstable, braided
 3  channel conditions.
 4            Did I read that one correctly?
 5      A.    Almost.  You left out large flood frequency.
 6      Q.    I'm just checking to see if you're watching.
 7            Is that consistent with your testimony over
 8  the last couple days?
 9      A.    It is.
10      Q.    And do you agree with the statement by
11  Mr. Fuller, as quoted by the Commission in this 2009
12  report?
13      A.    I do agree with it.  I believe that actually
14  came from the Huckleberry document, but I agree with
15  it.
16      Q.    Huckleberry chapter in the report that was
17  signed by Mr. Fuller, prepared by Mr. Fuller; is that
18  correct?
19      A.    Yes.
20      Q.    And then the next sentence, and I'm not going
21  to go through and read it line by line, but the next
22  sentence talks about Mr. Huckleberry's testimony before
23  the Commission on November 17th, 2005; is that right?
24      A.    Yes.
25      Q.    Among other things, Dr. -- Mr. Huckleberry --
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 1  is it Mr. Huckleberry or Dr. Huckleberry?  Do you
 2  know?
 3      A.    I believe it's Mister.
 4      Q.    Okay.  Mr. Huckleberry stated that the Gila
 5  River was a very dynamic river because the discharge is
 6  so fluctuating and thus is similar to other rivers in
 7  dry lands and deserts.
 8            Is that what it says there?
 9      A.    It is.
10      Q.    And do you agree with that?
11      A.    I do.
12      Q.    Maybe I am going to read every sentence.
13            He stated that the character of the river had
14  been significantly changed by the very large floods,
15  particularly those in 1891, 1893, 1905 and 1916.
16            Is that correct?
17      A.    And, also, 1906.
18      Q.    And that's consistent with the testimony
19  you've given over the last couple of days?
20      A.    Yes.
21      Q.    And the rest of that page goes on to talk
22  about the statements that Mr. Huckleberry made in his
23  testimony to the Commission back on November 17th,
24  2005?
25      A.    Yes, it does.
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 1      Q.    And it's your understanding at that point he
 2  was testifying on behalf of the State Land Department
 3  itself; is that correct?
 4      A.    That's my understanding.
 5      Q.    So based upon your review of the Commission's
 6  report and the statement of the evidence that was
 7  presented back in 2005, including statements by
 8  Mr. Fuller and Dr. Huckleberry, Mr. Huckleberry, do you
 9  believe there's any reasonable dispute that the floods
10  in the late 1890s and early 1900s changed the channel
11  form of the Gila River?
12      A.    I think there's no dispute about that.
13      Q.    Do you think there's any reasonable
14  dispute of the fact that after those floods, in and
15  about the date of Arizona statehood, that the Gila
16  River, because of those floods, was a wide, braided
17  channel?
18      A.    I don't believe there's any dispute about
19  that.
20      Q.    And is that a big portion of what your
21  opinion has been today, those two things I just talked
22  about?  What your opinion has been over the last couple
23  of days, is that a big portion of what you're talking
24  about?
25      A.    Those are very important elements of my
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 1  opinion.
 2      Q.    And the other -- my understanding of the
 3  third element of your opinion is, based upon that and
 4  other evidence, you believe that the river was not
 5  navigable in its ordinary and natural condition?
 6      A.    That's correct.
 7      Q.    So if those are the three underpinnings,
 8  three main things you said in your testimony, the first
 9  two really have been agreed by the State's experts,
10  already found by the Commission, and also agreed to by
11  Dr. Huckleberry; is that right?
12      A.    That appears to be the case.
13      Q.    The last thing I want to deal with in this
14  report is, on Page 70 it starts talking about -- the
15  Commission there starts talking about Dr. Schumm.  And
16  we have had some discussion of Dr. Schumm over the last
17  couple days.  And he, I assume, also in this report --
18  excuse me.  This decision also shows that he agrees
19  with those two premises that we just talked about,
20  right?
21      A.    That's correct.
22      Q.    That there was a change in the channel and
23  that it was braided after the floods?
24      A.    That's correct.
25      Q.    Okay.  The only portion I want to refer you
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 1  to, in addition to that where it referred to
 2  Dr. Schumm, is, I think maybe it was in response to
 3  Mr. Slade's questioning yesterday.  It might have been
 4  Mr. Hyrcko today.  It all kind of blends together for
 5  me.  But one of them asked you, didn't Dr. Schumm just
 6  deal with the portion of the Gila River below the Salt
 7  River confluence.  Do you recall that?
 8      A.    I recall that question.
 9      Q.    And do you recall your answer was saying,
10  yeah, I think he did just deal with the lower portion
11  below the Salt River confluence?
12      A.    Yes.  I based that on the title of his
13  report.
14      Q.    And the title of his report probably leads to
15  that conclusion, in that it deals with the lower -- the
16  title says the lower Gila River; is that right?
17      A.    That's correct.
18      Q.    On Page 72 of the Commission's report,
19  there's some discussion, some quoted testimony by the
20  Commission, and testimony by Dr. Schumm, that would
21  seem to refute that conclusion; is that right?
22      A.    Yes.  He had information in his report that
23  applied, actually, to the middle reach of the Gila
24  upstream from the Salt River confluence.
25      Q.    And there on Page 72, they're quoting the


Coash & Coash, Inc.







GILA RIVER      VOL. VIII      08/20/2014 Page 1883


 1  transcript from the November 17th, 2005 hearing at
 2  Page 21.  I would like you to just read along with me
 3  and make sure I'm reading this right.  They're talking
 4  about his opinion that the river is nonnavigable.  And
 5  if you start at the question about two-thirds of the
 6  way down the page.  And it doesn't say who was asking
 7  the questions.
 8            And you said that's in regard to lower reach.
 9  Is that correct?
10            Do you see that question?
11      A.    I see that.
12      Q.    Okay.  And then Dr. Schumm's response is:
13            Well, that's the title of my report, but the
14  data and information that I had from Huckleberry and
15  Burkham show that the river was -- the entire river
16  increased in width during that time.  So my assumption
17  is it's wide, it's shallow, steep, braided river.  And
18  that type of river without the vast quantities of water
19  in the Nile and --
20            I'm not even going to say this next word
21  right.  Brahmaputra?  How do you say that?
22      A.    Brahmaputra.
23      Q.    -- Brahmaputra, would likely be unsusceptible
24  to navigation.
25            And then after a break the quote continues:


Coash & Coash, Inc.







GILA RIVER      VOL. VIII      08/20/2014 Page 1884


 1            So, Dr. Schumm, is it your opinion that the
 2  entire length of the Gila River through Arizona is
 3  non-navigable?  Answer:  I would have to say yes,
 4  that's my conclusion.
 5            Did I read that correctly?
 6      A.    You did.
 7      Q.    So based upon that testimony, quoted by the
 8  Commission itself in its report, is it your
 9  understanding that Dr. Schumm, in his testimony, dealt
10  with the entire Gila River and not just the portion
11  below the Salt River confluence?
12      A.    That's correct.
13      Q.    Okay.  Last question, I hope.
14            Is there anything that you've heard in the
15  testimony in June and the testimony over the last,
16  roughly, two and a half days this week that has changed
17  your conclusions and opinions as set forth in your
18  report?
19      A.    No.
20                 MR. MCGINNIS:  No more questions.
21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.
22                 Now, are there any other witnesses in
23  opposition?
24                 Oh, do you want to ask him some?
25                 MR. HELM:  I would beg permission of
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 1  the Commission to do this.  I realize that I
 2  sometimes engage in a folly of thinking that lawyers
 3  won't bring up stuff that they didn't use on direct
 4  when they get the privilege to do redirect, but I
 5  usually get proved wrong, and Mark has once again
 6  proven me wrong.
 7                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Excuse me, John, but
 8  are you bringing up something that didn't come up on
 9  direct or cross?
10                 MR. HELM:  I believe so.  I mean this
11  last flight through your 2005 report I don't recall
12  Mark ever bringing up on his direct.
13                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Everything I did in
14  redirect was tied directly to something they brought up
15  in cross.  Now, my redirect doesn't have to be within
16  the scope of my direct if they go outside the scope of
17  my direct in their cross.
18                 I thought I was pretty careful in
19  letting you know what portion of their cross I was
20  dealing with.  If you want to go back through that,
21  that's fine.  But there's no reason whatsoever for any
22  recross of this witness, and especially by a different
23  lawyer than the one who, from the same party, who
24  crossed him the first time.
25                 MR. HELM:  We never asked a question on
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 1  that report.  Now, I can't swear for --
 2                 MR. SLADE:  I didn't ask a question, nor
 3  did Dr. Mussetter cite that report in any of his
 4  documents.
 5                 MR. MCGINNIS:  That report was directly
 6  responsive to the questions from this gentleman,
 7  Mr. Slade, who seemed to be saying that the only thing
 8  that was different between those two maps was the
 9  difference in the mapping methods.
10                 And I went through that report to show
11  that not only Mr. Slade -- not only Dr. Mussetter --
12  what's your name -- Dr. Mussetter, but also Mr. Slade's
13  own expert to this Commission had testified to the same
14  thing that Mr. Slade was trying to disprove.
15                 MR. HELM:  In the real world, that
16  wouldn't be connected.
17                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. McGinnis, I agree
18  with you.
19                 Mr. Helm, proceed.
20                 MR. HELM:  Thank you.  I just have a
21  few.
22                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Will I have a chance to
23  re-redirect after he's done?
24                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. McGinnis, obviously
25  this chair is not going to restrict hardly anybody.
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 1                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Okay.
 2
 3                   RECROSS-EXAMINATION
 4  BY MR. HELM:
 5      Q.    I just want to talk to you about the report
 6  that you -- Mark just asked --
 7                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Oh, the chair would be
 8  most impressed if you would do it standing up, because
 9  that means it's not going to take very long.
10                 MR. HELM:  It won't.
11                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  No, go ahead and --
12                 MR. HELM:  No, for me, you can see.
13                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  -- sit down, John.  Sit
14  down, John.
15                 MR. HELM:  It's only four paragraphs.
16                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Sit down.  We're going
17  to be fine.
18                 MR. SPARKS:  Do you want me to hold your
19  notes up over here so you can see them?
20                 MR. HELM:  You couldn't read it.
21                 MR. SPARKS:  No, so you can see them.
22                 MR. HELM:  No, no, that's fine.  I do
23  better this way.
24  BY MR. HELM:
25      Q.    Now, regarding the Commission's 2005 report
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 1  that you've testified here to, as I get it, basically
 2  what you're saying is, I've read that report and my
 3  testimony is consistent with all of the things that are
 4  stated in that report?
 5      A.    In the section that deals with the geology
 6  and geomorphology of the river, I have read that in
 7  some detail, and my testimony is consistent with that.
 8      Q.    Is it fair to say that by no means -- well,
 9  let me back up one.
10            You didn't do any other scientific tests or
11  studies other than the ones that you've told us about
12  before redirect, correct?
13                 MR. MCGINNIS:  This is clearly outside
14  the scope of my questioning about the report.  If we're
15  going to go outside, outside, outside, we're going to
16  be here for several more days.  The questions of the
17  scientific study have nothing to do with what he said
18  he was just going to ask him about, which was the 2009
19  report.
20                 MR. HELM:  If I can get the rest of the
21  stuff out, it might, Mark.
22                 MR. MCGINNIS:  You just asked a
23  question, and I'm objecting to that question.
24                 MR. HELM:  I know you've got some
25  heartburn because you did a fairytale on it.  Let me
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 1  finish.
 2                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Excuse me.  This is the
 3  direction, okay?  Up here is where we talk.
 4                 MR. MCGINNIS:  I have no heartburn, by
 5  the way.
 6  BY MR. HELM:
 7      Q.    The question goes like this:  What we're
 8  getting to is, you didn't do the research, did you,
 9  Doctor, that was done to support the 2005 report from
10  the Commission?
11                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Dr. Mussetter.
12                 THE WITNESS:  I did not do that
13  research, no.
14  BY MR. HELM:
15      Q.    Okay.  Did you read all of that research?
16      A.    I couldn't say I read 100 percent of it, but
17  I read the bulk of it.
18      Q.    When you say the bulk, what do you mean by
19  the bulk?  Whose did you read?  Which of the witnesses'
20  research did you read?
21      A.    Well, clearly Dr. Schumm's.
22      Q.    Okay.
23      A.    I've been read several of Huckleberry's
24  papers.  I've read --
25      Q.    Did you read the paper or did you read the
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 1  primary work behind the paper?
 2      A.    I would have to go back through the details.
 3  I'm sure I read some of the primary work behind it as
 4  well.
 5      Q.    Okay.  And am I right you haven't done any
 6  independent research, other than what you've already
 7  told us about, rendering your other opinions?
 8      A.    We've been through that.  Yes.
 9      Q.    Did you read the entire transcript from the
10  2005 hearing?
11      A.    Not the entire transcript, no.
12      Q.    You weren't present for the 2005 hearing?
13      A.    I was not.
14      Q.    Okay.  Did you review every exhibit submitted
15  for the 2005 hearing?
16      A.    No.
17      Q.    And, lastly, Huckleberry and Burkham did not
18  study the entire Gila River in their reports, did they?
19      A.    That's true.
20                 MR. HELM:  All I have.
21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.
22                 Mr. McGinnis?
23                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Nothing worth responding
24  to there, Your Honor.
25                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Now, is there any other
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 1  evidence to be presented by a party who might be in
 2  opposition to a finding of navigability on the Gila?
 3                 (No response.)
 4                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  If not, then are we
 5  ready for rebuttal testimony?
 6                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Mr. Chairman, in the
 7  interest of time, the State has carefully reviewed what
 8  has happened in these last set of weeks, and we don't
 9  feel we need any rebuttal.
10                 However, if the Commission has any
11  questions of Mr. Fuller, we are happy to make him
12  available.
13                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Do you have any
14  questions for him?
15                 No.
16                 Jim?
17                 MR. HOOD:  Mr. Chairman, I just wanted
18  to remind you that there was some discussion about --
19  you got it.
20                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  You may show up late,
21  but you're on top of things.
22                 Do you have any questions for --
23                 MR. BREEDLOVE:  Commissioner Allen might
24  have some questions for Rich.
25                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Hood, would it be
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 1  possible --
 2                 Thank you, Dr. Mussetter.  We excuse
 3  you.
 4                 Would it be possible if we could have
 5  Mr. Burtell come back up?
 6                 MR. HOOD:  That sounds great.
 7                 MS. HERNBRODE:  I would like to reserve
 8  rebuttal at this point, I guess, Mr. Chairman.  I'm not
 9  sure what we're doing here, so...
10                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I'm about to explain.
11                 MS. HERNBRODE:  I apologize for jumping
12  ahead.
13                 MR. HOOD:  Just for Ms. Hernbrode, she
14  may not be aware.  This isn't -- I'm not going to be
15  asking Rich more questions, except perhaps in
16  follow-up.
17                 There was some questions by the
18  Commissioners that they didn't have a chance, so this
19  is their opportunity for that.  So barring follow-up, I
20  don't have any questions.
21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Oh, you're not?
22                 Mr. Burtell, are you ready to come up?
23                 MR. BURTELL:  Yes.
24                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  You're not going to
25  have to.
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 1                 You think the State surprises us.  Bill,
 2  you surprised us.
 3                 What had happened was, at the conclusion
 4  of Mr. Burtell's previous testimony, the chair
 5  inadvertently concluded the hearing without allowing
 6  Commissioners to ask some questions.  And there was a
 7  Commissioner who had a question or two, and we've
 8  decided not to ask those.  That's what we were going to
 9  do.
10                 Now, I understand that this kind of
11  concludes it for this part of the Gila River hearing.
12                 We are scheduled to be in Florence a
13  week from Friday, on August 29, at 11:00 a.m., to take
14  local testimony only with regards to the Gila.
15                 Is there any question about that?
16                 Mr. Sparks.
17                 MR. SPARKS:  Mr. Chairman, yes.  Will
18  the record remain open through the conclusion of the
19  hearing in Florence?
20                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Let me get to that in
21  just a moment.  Let me hear from -- was that what you
22  were asking?
23                 MR. HELM:  I'm just trying to figure out
24  the time frame for my bass fishing.
25                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Here's the
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 1  record situation:  The record will remain open until
 2  Monday, September 15, close of business, 5:00 p.m.
 3                 You've either entered that into your PDA
 4  or you've written it down in your scribble, I mean
 5  scrabble.  Anyway.
 6                 MR. SPARKS:  The scribble part refers to
 7  the fact that you can read upside down from 20 feet
 8  away.  That's really good.
 9                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  But I know who to look
10  at.  Notice I didn't even go that direction.
11                 MR. MEHNERT:  And I'll send the notice
12  out to the people who aren't here.
13                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Is there anything else
14  we need to take up today?
15                 Yes, John.
16                 MR. HELM:  Just to continue my
17  curiosity, in terms of when we're going to start
18  counting the 30 days that our memorandum is due, then
19  will that be 30 days after we get the -- or 10 days
20  after we get the transcript, will it be 10 days after
21  your hearing in Florence, assuming that the transcript
22  will have arrived by that period?  I'm just trying to
23  see what may help there.
24                 MS. HERNBRODE:  It won't have.
25                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Joy?
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 1                 MS. HERNBRODE:  We will not have a
 2  transcript by next Friday, I can guarantee you that.
 3                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We'll send out a notice
 4  as to when the briefing period will start.
 5                 Mr. McGinnis.
 6                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Just in terms of giving
 7  us one less thing for lawyers to fight out, again, I
 8  think it would be helpful if you put the dates of the
 9  briefing in about, you know, when the briefs are due,
10  so we don't fight out about what --
11                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Rather than number of
12  days?
13                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Yeah.
14                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We will do that.
15                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Sorry.  Can you remind
16  us?  I remember vaguely that there were perhaps some
17  page limitations.  I'm hoping that they will be quite
18  generous because, there was a lot --
19                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Let's ask Poncho.
20                 MR. BREEDLOVE:  Well, I thought we would
21  be consistent with what we've done in the past.
22                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  It will consistent with
23  what we've done in the past.
24                 MR. BREEDLOVE:  Which I believe was
25  20/30 and then unlimited for the findings of fact and
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 1  conclusions of law.
 2                 MR. MEHNERT:  Right.
 3                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Now, does that
 4  help at all?
 5                 We will give you number of days and date
 6  when due when we send it out, send out the notice.  It
 7  is 20 for opening, 30 for response, and then the
 8  proposed findings of fact, conclusions of law, and
 9  other items is an unlimited page.
10                 Was it the other way around?
11                 MR. HOOD:  My recollection on the Santa
12  Cruz, which was the most recent one we finished
13  briefing, I thought it was 20 and 10, which may be a
14  little too short for this.  But it was shorter.  I know
15  that the response memos were shorter than the --
16                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We don't like shorter
17  comments.
18                 MR. BREEDLOVE:  I think it was 30/20.
19                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Joe and I, we kind of
20  avoid those shorter comments.
21                 MR. BREEDLOVE:  I think it was 30/20.
22                 (The proceedings were interrupted by the
23  Court Reporter.)
24                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  It's not that important
25  to have this on the record.
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 1                 Okay, we will make it consistent.  When
 2  we send it out, it will be the same as for the Santa
 3  Cruz.  So if you want to go back and look at what the
 4  Santa Cruz was, it will be the same.
 5                 MS. HERNBRODE:  I'm sorry, Mr. Chairman.
 6  If you really are -- if it really is 20 and 10, I'm
 7  going to have to make a motion for more pages.
 8                 So I think we can agree with the 20/30,
 9  whichever way you flip it, or 30/20.  I might be able
10  to make that happen.  But I --
11                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Let's discuss this
12  then.  What is a reasonable number John?
13                 MR. HELM:  For statement of facts or for
14  briefing?
15                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Briefs.
16                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  For introduction.
17                 MR. HELM:  Oh, just the introductory
18  portion?  I can get it in 100 pages without any problem
19  at all.
20                 No, I mean, what do they give you, 30 at
21  the Court of Appeals these days?
22                 MR. HYRCKO:  It's word count.
23                 MR. HELM:  Word count.  How many words?
24                 MR. HYRCKO:  15,000.
25                 MR. HELM:  15,000 words?
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 1                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Then you have to get
 2  the word counter working.
 3                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Yeah, please don't do
 4  that.
 5                 MR. HELM:  30 pages then for opening and
 6  20 for close.
 7                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Yeah, but we've had a
 8  lot more evidence in this particular one than we did
 9  the Santa Cruz, haven't we?
10                 MR. BREEDLOVE:  Yes.
11                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. McGinnis.
12                 MR. MCGINNIS:  I guess some of that has
13  to do with whether you want us to do our proposed
14  findings with the opening brief or with the response
15  brief.
16                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Proposed findings are
17  not subject to a page limitation.
18                 MR. MCGINNIS:  I guess that was what I
19  was thinking, was that if -- frankly, if our opening
20  brief, if we can do our proposed findings at the same
21  time, cite to the proposed findings, it makes your
22  brief not quite so long.  But 30 pages, I think, is
23  that what you -- is that what John suggested?
24                 MR. HELM:  Yes.
25                 MR. MCGINNIS:  That should be fine.
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 1                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Let's just do 30 all
 2  the way along.  You've got 30 to open.  You've got 30
 3  to respond with.
 4                 MR. MCGINNIS:  And no limit on the
 5  findings and conclusions?
 6                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  No limit on the
 7  findings, the proposed.
 8                 MR. HELM:  And my suggestion there would
 9  be that after the second -- because while I doubt it,
10  Mark might say something that would make me change my
11  mind on one of the proposed findings and I wouldn't put
12  it in.
13                 MR. SPARKS:  Your Honor, I've known him
14  50 years.  He's never changed his mind.
15                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mark?
16                 MR. SPARKS:  John.
17                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  John, I've heard that.
18                 MR. HELM:  I know.
19                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  At any rate --
20                 MR. HELM:  I'm a hardhead.
21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  At any rate, if you
22  want to respond to something, you know, okay, so it's
23  going to be 30/30 is what it's going to be, and
24  proposed findings of fact, et cetera, that's unlimited.
25                 MR. HOOD:  And due with the response
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 1  memoranda, correct?
 2                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  You can do it when you
 3  want it --
 4                 MR. HOOD:  Okay.
 5                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  -- okay?
 6                 MR. SPARKS:  May we have posting as the
 7  time for posting is filing; in other words, posting
 8  with the U.S. Postal Service?
 9                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Yes.
10                 MR. SPARKS:  Thank you.
11                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  In other words, when
12  it's postmarked --
13                 MR. SPARKS:  Yeah, when it's postmarked.
14                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  -- is the same as being
15  received.
16                 MR. SPARKS:  Yes.  Well, at least filed.
17                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, filed.
18                 MR. SPARKS:  Yeah.
19                 MR. HELM:  I would --
20                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  You want it with the
21  response?
22                 MR. HELM:  No, I would like it like
23  10 days after, because honestly, I always hope that
24  somebody will say something and I'll take something out
25  of it, because in the responses I get, I might say, oh,
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 1  that's right, you know, and forget it.
 2                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Just making a quick
 3  snap decision, here's what we're going to do with
 4  regards to the proposed findings of fact and
 5  conclusions of law.  You will have 10 days after any
 6  filing of a proposed findings of fact and conclusions
 7  of law in which to respond, with a maximum of 10 pages.
 8                 Any other issues?
 9                 Go ahead, John.
10                 MR. HELM:  The only thing is, I wasn't
11  clear when -- the findings of facts are going to be due
12  with the response memorandum?
13                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  That's the latest they
14  can be filed.  If you want to file them before that,
15  you can.
16                 MR. HELM:  Okay.
17                 MR. BREEDLOVE:  That's consistent with
18  what we've done.
19                 MR. MEHNERT:  Yes.
20                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Any other items?
21                 Who's taking the rest of the donuts?
22  Oh, come on.  The security guard is going to have to
23  eat them now.
24                 MR. MEHNERT:  Who has young children?
25                 MR. BREEDLOVE:  That's the last thing I
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 1  need.
 2                 MR. MEHNERT:  Yeah, I know, more sugar.
 3                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Then we're in
 4  recess.
 5                 (The proceedings recessed at 2:03 p.m.)
 6
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 1            BE IT REMEMBERED that the above-entitled and
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 6  9:03 a.m. on the 20th day of August, 2014.
   
 7 
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 1      CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Well, we welcome you to
 2  day three of the hearing on the Gila River before the
 3  Navigable Streams Adjudication Commission, also known
 4  as Expendables 3.  Please keep that in mind.
 5      Mr. Slade, I believe you were continuing
 6  to examine Dr. Mussetter.
 7      MR. SLADE: That's right.
 8      CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Please begin.
 9      MR. MEHNERT: Do you want to do
10  rollcall?
11      CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Yes, might as well.
12      MR. MEHNERT: Okay.  Commissioner
13  Horton?
14      COMMISSIONER HORTON: Here.
15      MR. MEHNERT: Commissioner Allen?
16      COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Here.
17      MR. MEHNERT: Chairman Noble?
18      CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Here.
19      MR. MEHNERT: And Mr. Henness?
20      And Mr. Henness will be out today.
21      CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Thank you, George.
22      Now, Edwin.
23      MR. SLADE: Good morning, Mr. Chairman,
24  Commissioners.
25      Good morning, Mr. Mussetter.
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 1      THE WITNESS: Good morning.
 2  
 3      CONTINUED CROSS-EXAMINATION
 4      BY MR. SLADE: 
 5  Q.   Have you ever canoed a navigable river?
 6  A.   Yes.
 7        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Edwin, may I interrupt?
 8    It might help you just a little bit if you would pull
 9    the microphone closer to you.
10        MR. SLADE: Sure.
11        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: That will allow you to
12    relax a little bit and not have to bend over it.
13        MS. HERNBRODE: Not look like you're
14    jumping over the table.
15        MR. SLADE: Any other pointers?
16        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Nope.  I'll leave those
17    to Joy.  Please go ahead.  I'm sorry for interrupting.
18        BY MR. SLADE: 
19  Q.   Which river was that that you canoed?
20  A.   The James River.
21  Q.   And are there any riffles or rapids in the
22    James River?
23  A.   No.
24  Q.   Are there any islands or sandbars?
25  A.   Yes, there are some islands.  There probably
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 1    are sandbars.  I don't recall specifically.  It's a
 2    very different river from the Gila, if that's what
 3    you're driving at.
 4  Q.   Have you ever encountered a beaver dam on a
 5    river?
 6  A.   Yes.
 7  Q.   And what did you do?
 8        Were you canoeing the river; were you boating
 9    the river?
10  A.   Yes.
11  Q.   And where was the beaver dam?
12  A.   It crossed -- probably to be more specific, I
13    wouldn't call it a river.  It's a stream, a small
14    stream.
15  Q.   And what did you do when you encountered the
16    beaver dam?
17  A.   Well, I got out of the canoe and carried it
18    around and got back in the canoe.
19  Q.   We touched on this a little yesterday, but
20    I'm not sure I got -- I understood your answer.  Is the
21    Colorado navigable?
22  A.   The Colorado below the mouth of the Gila
23    certainly is, has been deemed to be navigable, yes.
24  Q.   In your opinion, from Utah to Yuma, the
25    Colorado, is that a navigable river?
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 1  A.   From Utah --
 2  Q.   So the Arizona Colorado River.
 3  A.   I don't know the legal status of the entire
 4    reach.
 5  Q.   But in terms of your expertise as a
 6    hydrologist, as an expert boater, would you say the
 7    Colorado is navigable from Utah to Yuma?
 8  A.   I'm not certain that I would agree that all
 9    of that reach meets the federal standard for
10    navigability.
11  Q.   What about the state standard?
12  A.   My instructions are to apply the federal
13    standard, and it's my understanding that those are also
14    the instructions to the Commission; you know, the
15    federal standard is what controls.
16  Q.   And which sections would you say are
17    navigable or which are not?
18  A.   According to what standard?
19  Q.   The standards that you're using, federal
20    tests, state tests.
21  A.   Well, the short section that I showed the
22    image of in my presentation yesterday was deemed to be
23    navigable, and I agree that that reach is probably
24    navigable.
25  Q.   Okay, but I believe that was in Utah; is that
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 1    correct?
 2  A.   Yes, that is in Utah.
 3  Q.   So, again, in Arizona, I think you just said
 4    some sections of the Colorado are navigable.  Which
 5    sections would those be?
 6  A.   Well, again, I'm not sure.  I haven't studied
 7    the whole reach.  What you're really referring to is
 8    the Grand Canyon, and I'm not sure if that really meets
 9    the standard for the federal test of navigability.
10        Certainly we have commerce going on there
11    with recreational boating, but that -- you know, the
12    kinds of boats that can customarily or, you know, that
13    customarily were being used at the time of statehood
14    are not really suitable boats for that reach of the
15    river.  I would have to say it's probably not navigable
16    according to the federal standard.
17  Q.   How about the lower reach of the Colorado in
18    Arizona where steamboats were in use, would that part
19    be navigable?
20  A.   I think I already said that it's my
21    understanding that it has been deemed to be navigable.
22  Q.   How about the Grand Canyon to the Black
23    Canyon, are you familiar with that area?
24  A.   I'm not specifically familiar with that area.
25  Q.   What percent of the time is a river in a
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 1    flood state, a dryland river like Arizona's Gila?
 2  A.   Typically, a small percentage of the time.
 3  Q.   Less than 5 percent?
 4  A.   I would say most dryland rivers that would be
 5    the case.
 6  Q.   How does vegetation affect a channel in your
 7    eyes, as a hydrologist?  A lack of vegetation or extra
 8    vegetation, how does that affect a channel?
 9  A.   Vegetation affects a channel in many
10    different ways.  It tends to increase the hydraulic
11    roughness, so that tends to reduce the capacity, make
12    the velocity slower, the depth greater.  It also tends
13    to stabilize the channel so it doesn't have as much of
14    a tendency to erode laterally.
15  Q.   And when you talk about stabilize the
16    channel, are you talking about the low flow channel,
17    the main flow channel?
18  A.   I'm talking about wherever the vegetation is
19    growing.
20  Q.   Would you agree that vegetation can stabilize
21    then the low flow channel?
22  A.   It could.
23  Q.   Could you turn to Tab 20, please?  This is
24    Exhibit X025, Part 116, and this is Ross's 1923 USGS
25    Water Supply Paper 498.
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 1        Could you read the highlighted portion?
 2  A.   Yes.
 3        The title of the section is Channel in the
 4    flood plain.  Gila River when first seen by white men
 5    presented a very different aspect from that of today.
 6    (See Page 64 through 67.)  It had a well-defined
 7    channel with hard banks, on which cottonwoods and other
 8    green-leaved plants were growing.  The current was
 9    swift and deep enough even in comparatively dry
10    portions of the year to make fording difficult, except
11    at a few places, and to float a flat boat of some size.
12    Fish were plentiful enough to be depended on as food
13    throughout the year by a considerable number of
14    Indians.  Strangest of all to one who knows the
15    silt-laden waters of the present stream, the water of
16    Gila River is reported to have been clear and
17    sea-green.
18  Q.   Any reason to disagree with that account?
19  A.   I presume this is reported as Mr. Littlefield
20    did; it's depicting what people reported that they saw.
21    But, you know, you're pulling one page out of a large
22    document, and I don't really have the full context of
23    what they're talking about here, so...
24  Q.   Fair enough.
25        Could you turn to Tab 19, please?  And this
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 1    is also Ross's USGS Water Supply Paper 498,
 2    Exhibit X025, Part 116, Page 66.
 3        And could you read the highlighted portion,
 4    please?
 5  A.   Yes.
 6        More recent information is furnished by
 7    Mr. John Montgomery, a ranchman residing in Arlington,
 8    who has had many years' experience in southwestern
 9    Arizona.  He states that in the summer of 1889, when a
10    boy of 12, he was in camp near Powers Butte, on Gila
11    River.  At that time the river had a well-defined
12    channel with hard, sloping banks lined with cottonwoods
13    and bushes.  The water was clear, was 5 or 6 feet deep,
14    and contained many fish.  The grazing lands near the
15    river were in much better condition then than now.
16    Several varieties of grass then abundant have since
17    died out.  Mr. Montgomery attributes the change in the
18    character of the river largely to the practice of
19    cattlemen of burning the heavy brush that once covered
20    its banks in order to drive out wild cattle which had
21    sought shelter there.  This destroyed the natural
22    protection and left the soft silty soil exposed to
23    rapid erosion.  The disastrous floods of 1890 and 1891
24    did much to break down the river's confining banks,
25    partly filled the channel with sediment, and in general
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 1    interfered with the equilibrium that had been
 2    established.
 3  Q.   Any reason to disagree with that account?
 4  A.   Well, again, I assume this is the facts, a
 5    reporting of what this person read from the historic
 6    accounts.
 7  Q.   And you did reference Ross's 1923 paper in
 8    your report?
 9  A.   I did.
10  Q.   Were you here for Mr. Burtell's testimony?
11  A.   Most of it, I believe.
12  Q.   And were you here for Mr. Littlefield's
13    testimony?
14  A.   I was.
15  Q.   And would you agree that -- with
16    Mr. Littlefield's, and I think you just did, his
17    opinion that primary source information is generally
18    the most reliable in determining the condition of the
19    river?
20  A.   Well, I'm not a historian, but that appeals
21    to common sense, yes.
22  Q.   And as a professional hydrologist, a serious
23    recreational boater, if I might call you that, would
24    you agree that you can learn a lot about a river from
25    actually having boots on the ground?
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 1  A.   Sure.
 2  Q.   And you mentioned yesterday that you haven't
 3    done a boots-on-the-ground inspection of the Gila.  Do
 4    you know of any experts in this case that have done a
 5    boots-on-the-ground inspection of the Gila?
 6  A.   Well, apparently Mr. Fuller has done some.
 7  Q.   I would like to take a look at your slides,
 8    and I believe your newest version is Tab 28, which is
 9    Exhibit X026.  And if we could go to Page 6.
10        Is this the Mosquito Fork River?
11  A.   Yes, it is.
12  Q.   And would you say this part of the river is
13    navigable?
14  A.   Somehow I knew that question was coming.
15        This section of the river would be navigable
16    by small, shallow draft boats.
17  Q.   Is this a dryland river?
18  A.   This is not a dryland river.
19  Q.   If we could go to Slide 7.
20        And this is the Platte River; is that
21    correct?
22  A.   That's correct.
23  Q.   And that's a Midwestern river?
24  A.   It is.
25  Q.   Would you characterize this river as similar
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 1    to the Gila?
 2  A.   There are similarities between this river and
 3    the Gila.
 4  Q.   What are the similarities?
 5  A.   Well, the braiding character of it,
 6    primarily.
 7  Q.   So you would disagree with Graf's quote that
 8    we cited yesterday that said Midwestern rivers have
 9    differences from dryland rivers?
10  A.   I didn't say that, no.
11  Q.   Are we looking at the low flow or the flood
12    channel here?
13  A.   Well, that's -- the answer to that question
14    is not straightforward in this instance, because we
15    have to define what period of time we're talking about.
16        The area that's covered by -- that's within
17    the rough bounds of the white line roughly corresponds
18    to the present-day flood channel, although large floods
19    can get out into the overbank area.  But the historic
20    flood channel is much wider than what you see here.  In
21    fact, it goes off the page on the top for some
22    distance.
23  Q.   And you have a chart at the bottom of the
24    page.  Is that your chart?
25  A.   Yes.
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 1  Q.   And that shows the channel geometry in a
 2    cross section; is that correct?
 3  A.   Yes.  It shows the ground profile along that
 4    white line.
 5  Q.   Did you create a chart like this for the Gila
 6    at any point?
 7  A.   I did not.
 8  Q.   If we could turn to Slide 8, please.
 9        Which river is this?
10  A.   This is the Copper River.
11  Q.   And where is that located?
12  A.   In Alaska.
13  Q.   Is this a dryland river?
14  A.   No.
15  Q.   Is it navigable?
16  A.   I actually don't know the status of the
17    navigability determinations on this particular river.
18  Q.   Is it braided?
19  A.   Sure.
20  Q.   If we could turn to Slide 9.
21        And this is the Chulitna River of Alaska?
22  A.   That's correct.
23  Q.   Is this a dryland alluvial river?
24  A.   It is not a dryland river.
25  Q.   And was this photo taken from a helicopter or
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 1    on the ground?
 2  A.   It was taken from a helicopter.
 3  Q.   Were you in the helicopter?
 4  A.   I was.
 5  Q.   Is this a navigable river?
 6  A.   Again, I don't know the status of the
 7    navigability determination from a legal standpoint.  I
 8    suspect it would not be navigable.
 9  Q.   If we could turn to Slide 10, please.
10        Now, you said yesterday this is the only
11    photo that you have of the Gila; is that correct?
12  A.   No, I didn't say that.
13  Q.   Do you have other photos of the Gila?
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   But you didn't include them in your
16    presentation?
17  A.   I did not.
18  Q.   Why is that?
19  A.   Because they depict the Gila River as it is
20    today, and we're not talking about the Gila River as it
21    is today.
22  Q.   What about photos as the Gila River was
23    closer to statehood, do you have any of those photos?
24  A.   Well, I certainly have seen, I've read the
25    documents, I've read the other expert reports, I've
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 1    seen many of the photos that we've all seen in this
 2    proceeding.
 3  Q.   Why did you choose to put this photo in?
 4  A.   I just thought it was a good illustration of
 5    the braided character of this portion of the Gila
 6    River.
 7  Q.   When you did your flyover, what percent of
 8    the time would you say the Gila was braided?
 9  A.   It was braided the entire time that I was
10    doing the flyover.  I don't understand your question.
11  Q.   Was there a main low flow channel during your
12    flyover?
13  A.   In places, yes.
14  Q.   What percent of the time was there a main low
15    flow channel?
16  A.   At the risk of helping you, do you mean what
17    percentage of the distance?
18  Q.   Yes.
19  A.   I couldn't make an estimate of that.  I would
20    say a reasonable percentage.
21  Q.   Majority?
22  A.   I'm not sure I would agree with that.  I
23    would have to go back and study the photography more.
24  Q.   And has this part of the Gila been subject to
25    diversions?
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 1  A.   Yes.
 2  Q.   Is this below the Gillespie Dam?
 3  A.   Yes.
 4  Q.   And what time of year was this photo taken?
 5  A.   As I said yesterday, I believe it was
 6    November.  Might have been October.  I think it was
 7    November.
 8  Q.   Do you know the depth of the channels in this
 9    picture?
10  A.   I don't know the exact depth.  They're very
11    shallow, though.
12  Q.   How do you know they're very shallow?
13  A.   Pretty obvious from the photograph.
14  Q.   Can you explain?
15  A.   My understanding of the rivers.
16  Q.   Say that again?
17  A.   I said my understanding of rivers, the
18    character of rivers, and the topography that I can see
19    in this photograph, it's very shallow.
20  Q.   But you've no data to back that up?
21  A.   I didn't sit down and measure the depth here,
22    no.
23  Q.   And you didn't try to float it in a boat?
24  A.   No, I didn't try to float it in a boat.
25  Q.   Do you know how much flow is coming through
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 1    at this point, what the cfs number might be?
 2  A.   I don't know.
 3  Q.   If we could turn to Slide 11.
 4        Is this a quote from United States v. Utah?
 5  A.   Yes, it is.
 6  Q.   Are you familiar with what the case decided
 7    in regards to impediments like sandbars?  In other
 8    words, did they say anything else about sandbars and
 9    how they would view them regarding navigability?
10  A.   Well, I think in general it depends on the
11    circumstance.  Sandbars don't in and of themselves make
12    a river not navigable.  Some sandbars make it very
13    challenging.
14  Q.   I'm going to read from U.S. v. State of Utah,
15    283 U.S. 64, pin cite 86:  Quote, Recognizing the
16    difficulties which are thus created, the master is
17    plainly right in his conclusion that the mere fact of
18    the presence of such sandbars causing impediments to
19    navigation does not make a river nonnavigable.
20        That's essentially what you just said,
21    correct?
22  A.   That's fair.
23  Q.   If we could turn to Slide 12, please.
24        These are your river dynamics slides, and in
25    the second bullet point, the first paragraph, you talk
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 1    about the increased frequency of floods and then a
 2    braided channel.  How long does the braided channel
 3    last after a flood?
 4  A.   It can persist for an extended period of
 5    time.  Depends on the circumstances.
 6  Q.   And are you talking about there the flood
 7    channel?
 8  A.   I'm talking about the entire channel.
 9  Q.   And when the flood recedes, what happens?
10  A.   Well, the flow becomes shallower, some of the
11    braid channels consolidate, some of them become dry.
12  Q.   And they consolidate into what?
13  A.   Less channels.
14  Q.   A low flow main channel?
15  A.   In some cases.
16        MR. SLADE: That's it for me,
17    Dr. Littlefield.  Thanks.
18        MS. HERNBRODE: Mussetter.
19        MR. SLADE: Oh, Dr. Mussetter.  Excuse
20    me.  I'm looking at Littlefield.
21        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Is there any other
22    examination, State Land Department?
23        MS. HERNBRODE: No, we're good.  Thank
24    you, sir.
25        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: And, Mr. Hyrcko, I
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 1    think you're next.
 2        So nice of John to let you have that
 3    chair.
 4        MR. HYRCKO: Well, I prefer to sit on
 5    the left.  I'm blind in this eye, so I have to --
 6        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Hey, that's better when
 7    he's on your left.
 8        MR. HELM: He can exit quicker from this
 9    side than he can this side.
10        MR. SPARKS: That way you don't have to
11    look at John.
12        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: All right, we're going
13    to take a short break while you're getting set up.
14        MR. HYRCKO: Thank you.
15        (A recess was taken from 9:31 a.m. to
16        9:37 a.m.)
17        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Are you going to do
18    this by yourself?
19        MR. HYRCKO: No, I think he'll be back.
20    
21        CROSS-EXAMINATION
22        BY MR. HYRCKO: 
23  Q.   Good morning, Dr. Mussetter.  My name is
24    Chuck Hyrcko.  I'm an attorney representing Maricopa
25    County in this matter.
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 1  A.   Good morning.
 2  Q.   I'm not a hydrologist, but I'm going to ask
 3    you some questions, so if I'm not clear or if I use a
 4    term of art in your profession inaccurately, I would
 5    appreciate it if you would just ask me to clarify so
 6    that the record is clear and that we're communicating.
 7    Is that fair?
 8  A.   Sure.
 9  Q.   I understand that you haven't testified
10    previously or submitted any other reports to ANSAC for
11    any other river in Arizona at this point; is that
12    correct?
13  A.   No, that's not correct.
14  Q.   Which other rivers have you submitted reports
15    to ANSAC or testified on?
16  A.   The upper Salt.
17  Q.   The upper Salt?
18        And you testified yesterday that you did --
19    you have testified in other cases of navigability in
20    other states, correct?
21  A.   I have not actually testified in other cases.
22  Q.   Worked on other cases of navigability?
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   Is that title navigability or some other?
25  A.   Yes.
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 1  Q.   And that was -- you have -- I recorded two.
 2    One in North Carolina, the Yadkin River, is that one of
 3    them?
 4  A.   That's correct.
 5  Q.   And you are working for Alcoa on that case?
 6  A.   That's correct.
 7  Q.   Were you a proponent of navigability or an
 8    opponent of navigability?
 9  A.   An opponent of navigability.
10  Q.   And then the other case that I noted, you
11    worked on the PPL Montana case, correct?
12  A.   That's correct.
13  Q.   And in that case you worked for PPL Montana,
14    and they were an opponent of navigability as well?
15  A.   That's correct.
16  Q.   And then you also worked on -- the cases you
17    worked on in Alaska, were those for navigability as
18    well?
19  A.   There is only one navigability case in
20    Alaska.
21  Q.   And that's the Mosquito Fork?
22  A.   That's correct.
23  Q.   And you were working for the Department of
24    Justice?
25  A.   That's correct.
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 1  Q.   And were they the proponent of navigability?
 2  A.   They're the opponent.
 3  Q.   The Department of Justice is an opponent of
 4    navigability?
 5  A.   Yes.
 6  Q.   Can you tell me specifically what you did in
 7    each of those cases?
 8        Let's start with the Yadkin River.  What did
 9    you do, specifically, in that case?
10  A.   Well, similar to what I've done here, we
11    reviewed a large body of historical evidence,
12    historical mapping, did field trips to the river, a
13    field trip to the river, where we viewed the modern day
14    conditions of the river.  And then in that particular
15    case, actually did some modeling to try to understand
16    the hydraulic conditions in the river.
17  Q.   Is that all that you did on the Yadkin River?
18  A.   From a technical perspective, yes.
19  Q.   And you then testified; is that correct?
20  A.   No.
21  Q.   You did not.
22        And what about on the PPL Montana case, what
23    did you do in that case, specifically?
24  A.   Primarily reviewed documents and, again, did
25    field reconnaissance of the reaches that were in
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 1    question.
 2  Q.   Was that field reconnaissance on the ground,
 3    as was referred to earlier by the State's attorney?
 4  A.   Some on the ground and some aerial.
 5  Q.   So in both of those cases you did
 6    on-the-ground work?
 7  A.   Yes.
 8  Q.   How about in the Mosquito Fork case, what did
 9    you do specifically in that case?
10  A.   I have visited the area a few times.  I have
11    collected a significant amount of data.  I'm in the
12    process of analyzing data.  I've reviewed historical
13    documents.
14  Q.   Have you done any fieldwork in that case?
15  A.   Yes.
16  Q.   On the ground type fieldwork?
17  A.   Yes.
18  Q.   Did you do any modeling in your work here in
19    the Gila River?
20  A.   No.
21  Q.   And your only experience of the lower Gila
22    was an overflight that you did in November of 2013; is
23    that accurate?
24  A.   That's correct.
25  Q.   I'm going to ask you a little bit more about
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 1    that overflight when we get to the photographs, but
 2    we'll leave it there for now.
 3        Dr. Mussetter, as part of your educational
 4    training, are you trained in the scientific method?
 5  A.   Yes.
 6  Q.   And the foundation of the scientific method
 7    is formulation, testing and modification of hypotheses
 8    and measuring evidence against those hypotheses,
 9    correct?
10  A.   Yes.
11  Q.   Do you agree that in the scientific method
12    one doesn't posit a single alternative hypotheses;
13    rather, you propose various hypotheses and then set out
14    to locate evidence that will test those hypotheses; is
15    that accurate?
16  A.   That's a fair statement, yes.
17  Q.   Would you agree that the scientific method is
18    intended to be as objective as possible and to avoid
19    bias?
20  A.   Sure.
21  Q.   Did you do a scientific method in this case?
22  A.   Yes, I would say I did.
23  Q.   What were your hypotheses in this case?
24  A.   Well, one hypothesis would be that the Gila
25    River meets the standard of navigability.
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 1  Q.   And the alternative is --
 2  A.   It does not.
 3  Q.   -- it isn't navigable?
 4        So you have two hypotheses?
 5  A.   Yeah.
 6  Q.   And you mentioned yesterday, I believe, that
 7    you worked with or were familiar with the work that
 8    Dr. Schumm did in 2005; is that correct?
 9  A.   I was familiar with it, yes.
10  Q.   And so in your developing of hypotheses, you
11    started fresh; you didn't look at what Dr. Schumm did
12    and start from there and work forward?
13  A.   Well, I can't say that I started fresh.  I
14    certainly was aware of what he did.  He and I discussed
15    the evidence that he was looking at, his findings about
16    that evidence.  So I had that in my mind when I started
17    this.  But I also backed up and seriously asked myself
18    could I, with scientific integrity, argue that this
19    river meets the federal test for navigability.
20  Q.   So I'm going to ask you a little bit more
21    about Dr. Schumm's work, but I've got some more
22    generalized questions here first.
23        Since you're very familiar with the PPL
24    Montana case, as you said earlier, you actually worked
25    on that case for the opponent, why is it that you did
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 1    not consider the Gila River on a segment-by-segment
 2    basis, as is required by the PPL holding?
 3  A.   Well, as I said in some of my conversations
 4    yesterday, it's my opinion, based on all the evidence
 5    that I've seen to this point, that the Gila River
 6    through Arizona doesn't meet the federal test for
 7    navigability, and so it's unnecessary to break it into
 8    segments.
 9  Q.   So is it fair to say that you did the
10    analysis of the various segments and then decided it
11    was navigable, or did you look at the whole river,
12    decide it was navigable, and then decide that you
13    didn't need to break it into segments, just so that I
14    can understand it?
15        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Hyrcko, I'm not
16    quite -- did he decide that it was navigable, is that
17    the question you're asking?
18        MR. HYRCKO: I'm sorry, I must be asking
19    the wrong question.
20        BY MR. HYRCKO: 
21  Q.   Okay.  The question I'm asking then is,
22    apparently very badly, is that when you decided -- when
23    you came up with -- you said that you did a scientific
24    process in this case, correct?
25  A.   Yes.
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 1  Q.   And you also said that you decided that based
 2    on your experience or what you saw, you didn't need to
 3    do any segment-by-segment analysis because the -- is
 4    that accurate?
 5  A.   Yes.
 6        But let me clarify that.  I mean I look at
 7    the river, different portions of the river as I study
 8    the information that's available.  So if that's what
 9    you mean by segmentation, yes, I consider there are --
10    the river has different characteristics all along its
11    length, and it's reasonable, depending on your purpose,
12    to break it into segments, depending on your purpose.
13        As I said, I didn't feel that I needed to
14    break it into segments in accordance with the
15    instructions in PPL Montana, because in my mind, the
16    entire reach that's in question here was not navigable
17    under its ordinary and natural condition at the date of
18    statehood, and so there's no reason to do that.
19  Q.   So in your opinion then, the PPL holding is
20    to first determine -- excuse me.
21        So in your opinion, the PPL holding doesn't
22    require you to do an independent analysis of each
23    segment; rather, you can look at the entire river first
24    and then -- I guess what I'm trying to get at here is,
25    you acknowledge there's some differences in the geology
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 1    of the river as it flows through Arizona, correct?
 2  A.   Yes.
 3  Q.   And one of those areas is bedrock-controlled,
 4    for instance, the Gila Box and the area downstream of
 5    San Carlos?
 6  A.   Yes.
 7  Q.   But you determined that -- and then there's
 8    other areas that are alluvial, correct?
 9  A.   Yes.
10  Q.   But in your opinion, the areas that were
11    bedrock and the areas that were alluvial were not
12    significantly different enough to do an analysis of
13    each of those areas and look at the historical evidence
14    for those specific areas?
15  A.   I didn't say they weren't significantly
16    different.  My conclusion is that the entire reach is
17    not navigable, and I don't need to break it into
18    segments.  I don't need to consider -- I certainly
19    consider the individual characteristics of different
20    portions of the river.  But to formally say, you know,
21    I have Segment 1 here and Segment 2 there, I don't need
22    to do that, because the whole thing is not navigable.
23  Q.   And that is largely based on the Kelvin gauge
24    data, correct?
25        MR. SPARKS: Pardon me.  Did you say
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 1    Calva or Kelvin?  There are two gauges.
 2        MR. HYRCKO: Kelvin.
 3        MR. SPARKS: With an E?
 4        MR. HYRCKO: K-E-L-V-I-N.
 5        MR. SPARKS: Thank you.  I'm sorry.
 6        THE WITNESS: Could you restate the
 7    question, please?
 8        BY MR. HYRCKO: 
 9  Q.   And your opinions, at least in the work that
10    is in your presentation, is based largely on the flow
11    data from the Kelvin gauge site for the USGS, correct?
12  A.   Well, the Kelvin gauge data forms part of the
13    basis for my opinion.  I'm using the information from
14    that gauge to illustrate points about my understanding
15    of the behavior of the Gila River, the hydrologic
16    behavior of the Gila River.  Certainly it varies along
17    the reach, would be different at different gauges; but
18    the general characteristics are very similar.
19  Q.   You testified yesterday about what your idea
20    of what the term ordinary means, but it's not really
21    clear to me what you said.
22        Could you please define for me what you
23    understand the word ordinary to mean as it is used in
24    the Winkleman case?
25  A.   Well, it primarily refers to the condition --


www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ


Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com


(8) Pages 1783 - 1786







In the Matter of the Navigability of the Gila River 
03-007-NAV


Transcript of Proceedings, Vol. VIII
August 20, 2014


GILA RIVER      VOL. VIII      08/20/2014 Page 1787


 1    in my reading of it, it primarily refers to the flow
 2    conditions that occur most of the time.  In other
 3    words, it excludes extreme floods and it excludes -- I
 4    intended to say excludes if I didn't.  It excludes
 5    extreme floods and it excludes severe drought.
 6  Q.   And when you did your evaluation of the river
 7    to determine its natural condition, did you evaluate it
 8    as a river that was untouched by civilization excluding
 9    any man-made diversions?
10  A.   I did the best I could, given the available
11    data, to understand what the river would have looked
12    like in the absence of those factors.
13  Q.   What time frame did you use as the standard
14    for this evaluation, or to put it another way, what is
15    your time period for untouched by civilization period
16    that would have existed at statehood but for human
17    intervention?
18  A.   Well, strictly speaking, it would be even
19    before the Hohokams were in the area.  But as is
20    described in the Winkleman case, and I understand that
21    that case strictly applies to the lower Salt River, but
22    the time frames that they discuss I think also equally
23    apply to the Gila River.  They said, well, the Native
24    American diversions had died out enough by the early
25    1800s, so that the early to, you know, perhaps up to
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 1    1850, 1860 in their mind would be representative of
 2    natural conditions.
 3  Q.   Is all the data that you looked at set out in
 4    your report?
 5  A.   No.
 6  Q.   What other data did you use that wasn't set
 7    out in your report?
 8  A.   Well, I looked at the data from the other
 9    gauges along the system.
10  Q.   Which other gauges?
11  A.   I would have to go back through my notes.
12    There's a gauge up at the head of Safford Valley that I
13    remember.  There's a gauge at Maricopa that has a
14    shorter period of record.  I looked some at the gauge
15    below Gillespie Dam.
16  Q.   So you looked at the Kelvin gauge data, the
17    Safford, and is that the head of Safford Valley?
18  A.   Yes.
19  Q.   Not the Calva Safford Valley?
20  A.   I probably also looked at the Calva gauge.  I
21    pulled most -- all of the gauge data that I could find.
22  Q.   And then you looked at the Maricopa data in
23    the region of Maricopa?
24  A.   Right.
25  Q.   And then Gillespie Dam.
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 1        What is your definition then of what is the
 2    natural and ordinary condition of the river on the date
 3    of statehood?
 4  A.   Well, it's what the river would have looked
 5    like -- specifically with respect to natural, it's what
 6    the river would have looked like on the date of
 7    statehood if we had not had the diversions and the
 8    other human impacts that have occurred along the reach.
 9  Q.   Did you evaluate the river in its ordinary
10    condition separately from the river in its natural
11    condition?  For example, floods are natural by
12    definition, but they're not ordinary.  So did you look
13    at the river separate from its natural condition, in
14    its ordinary condition?
15  A.   Well, I think what you're trying to do is get
16    me to segment the ordinary from the impact of the
17    floods, and as I said repeatedly yesterday, I believe
18    that during the very relatively short period of time
19    that a flood is occurring on the river, that probably
20    is excluded from the ordinary definition; but certainly
21    the effects of that on -- the long-term effects of that
22    on the river are part of the ordinary condition.  You
23    can't discount the floods.
24  Q.   So what's your basis for the long-term effect
25    of the floods being included in the ordinary condition
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 1    of the river?
 2  A.   I'm sorry, you'll have to restate the
 3    question.
 4  Q.   Yeah, that's not very well done.
 5        What is your basis for including the effects
 6    of floods in the ordinary condition of the river?  Is
 7    there any legal basis for that, or is that your
 8    personal decision?
 9  A.   Well, I'm not an attorney.  My job is to do
10    the best scientific job I can of understanding and
11    describing the character of the river.  And it's my
12    opinion, as is the opinion of other well-published
13    authors that you've heard about in these proceedings
14    many times, that these dryland rivers are very
15    flood-driven systems, and the characteristics are very
16    strongly related to the effects of the floods.
17  Q.   What elements must you consider when you
18    reach a conclusion on whether a river can be navigated?
19  A.   Well, I basically go back to the definitions
20    of navigability that start with the Daniel Ball test,
21    and that language is essentially repeated in the
22    Arizona Revised Statutes.  And it's been clarified in
23    PPL Montana.
24  Q.   And those elements are, if you can just spell
25    them out for me?
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 1  A.   Can it be used as a highway for commerce in
 2    its ordinary and natural condition.
 3  Q.   And evidently you determined the river is not
 4    susceptible to use as a highway of commerce.  How did
 5    you determine that?  How did you arrive at your opinion
 6    that the river was not susceptible for use as a highway
 7    of commerce?
 8  A.   By studying the physical characteristics of
 9    the river and matching that up with my understanding of
10    the types of watercraft that would be customarily used
11    around the date of statehood.
12  Q.   Did you include any of the analysis about the
13    types of watercraft used at or around the date of
14    statehood in your report?
15  A.   I didn't do quantitative analysis of that.
16  Q.   And did you then do qualitative analysis in
17    your report?
18  A.   Well, I certainly have read the historical
19    accounts.  I've, you know, listened to the testimony of
20    Mr. Littlefield and others about the types of boats,
21    and I, you know, matched that up with the character of
22    the river.
23  Q.   Just so that I understand, did you attend the
24    2005 hearings in this matter?
25  A.   I did not.
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 1  Q.   So when you heard Dr. Littlefield's
 2    testimony, that was just this past week, correct?
 3  A.   Yes.
 4  Q.   So how did that enter into your analysis of
 5    boating, the qualitative analysis?
 6  A.   Well, I read his report prior to my
 7    testimony, and I'm also aware of many of the historical
 8    accounts that he cited from other documents, reading of
 9    other documents, several of which I was questioned
10    about this morning, in fact.
11  Q.   Did you read his report before you wrote your
12    report?
13  A.   I read some of his earlier reports.
14  Q.   Did you read any other expert reports before
15    you wrote your report?
16  A.   Yes.
17  Q.   Which ones?
18  A.   Well, certainly Dr. Schumm's report.  I read,
19    I'm not sure all of, but much of the technical reports
20    that were submitted by Mr. Fuller and Stantec in the
21    earlier proceedings.
22  Q.   Did your determination whether the river was
23    susceptible for use as a highway of commerce require
24    that both trade and travel occur together or that trade
25    and travel must be commercial?
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 1  A.   According to the language of the Montana PPL,
 2    it must be a commercial reality.  So to me, that
 3    implies some correlation to being commercial, yes.
 4  Q.   Okay, so the answer is, yes, your definition
 5    of highway of commerce required that the activity be
 6    commercial in nature.
 7        How about that the trade and travel must be
 8    together?
 9  A.   I think that's a fuzzier question.  I don't
10    know that they need to necessarily be together.
11  Q.   So you could have travel, commercial travel,
12    occurring, in your opinion, you could have commercial
13    travel occurring, but it wouldn't necessarily have to
14    be commercial trade in order for a river to be
15    navigable?
16  A.   I think that's correct.
17  Q.   Does your determination whether the river was
18    used or susceptible to use as a highway require both
19    upstream and downstream travel?
20  A.   Not necessarily.
21  Q.   So your opinion then, that downstream travel
22    could be sufficient if a river otherwise met the
23    definition of navigability?
24  A.   It could.
25  Q.   Did your determination whether the river was
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 1    susceptible to navigation require that a profitable
 2    commercial enterprise be conducted or capable of being
 3    conducted on the river?
 4  A.   I don't recall ever seeing language in any of
 5    the documents that I've read that would suggest it has
 6    to be profitable.
 7  Q.   In fact, many businesses aren't profitable,
 8    right?
 9  A.   Yes.
10  Q.   Did your determination of navigability
11    consider overland transportation in proximity to the
12    watercourse?
13  A.   Not really, no.
14  Q.   Yesterday you were asked some general
15    questions by the State's attorney, and I just had a
16    couple more, and I would like some clarifications of
17    what you said about...
18        How would you define the term floodplain?
19  A.   Floodplain is the area adjacent to the
20    channel that is inundated by flows under the current
21    hydrologic conditions.
22  Q.   And when you say it's inundated by flows,
23    it's inundated by floods?
24  A.   By flood flows.  It can be inundated by high
25    flows, yes.
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 1  Q.   And then how would you define the term low
 2    flow channel?
 3  A.   A small channel within the main channel that
 4    carries low discharges.
 5  Q.   So you just used the term main channel.  In
 6    your mind, is main channel synonymous with floodplain
 7    or flood channel?  I'm just trying to understand the
 8    terms.
 9  A.   It depends on the type of river we're talking
10    about.
11  Q.   Well, we're talking about the Gila River, so
12    let's limit it so Arizona's Gila River.
13  A.   Okay.
14  Q.   So in your mind then, is the floodplain
15    synonymous with the main channel?  I've heard you use
16    that term.
17  A.   Yeah.  What I've heard in this proceeding
18    referred to as the flood channel in many cases probably
19    does expand beyond what I would typically refer to as
20    the main channel.  But in a braided system like the
21    Gila River, that gets a little bit confused.  It's sort
22    of a fuzzy.  It's a matter of semantics, frankly.
23  Q.   But you would agree then that the low flow
24    channel is included within the main channel and the
25    flood channel?
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 1  A.   Sure.
 2  Q.   And the floodplain?
 3  A.   Well, the floodplain is separate from the
 4    main channel, in my mind.
 5  Q.   So just so that I'm clear, you've got the low
 6    flow channel, which I've heard the term thalweg used.
 7    I don't know if that's the same term that -- is that a
 8    term that you would use to refer to the low flow
 9    channel?
10  A.   I would not typically use that term, but I
11    understand what that means, and I think in most
12    people's minds it generally means the same thing.
13  Q.   You wouldn't use the term, is that just
14    because it's not in your profession, or you have a
15    different definition of what that means?
16  A.   I use the term thalweg, but I don't typically
17    say the thalweg channel.  The thalweg is the deepest
18    part across any cross section.  It refers to one point,
19    strictly speaking.
20  Q.   Fair enough.  So it's the -- if you're
21    looking, it's more of a point --
22  A.   Yes.
23  Q.   -- thalweg point, which would be included --
24    would it be included in the low flow channel, generally
25    speaking?
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 1  A.   Generally, it would, yes.
 2  Q.   And then so you have the low flow channel and
 3    then you have the -- which a narrow low flow channel,
 4    and then you have a broader main channel; is that
 5    accurate?
 6  A.   Well, the low flow channel typically would be
 7    narrower than the main channel, yes.
 8  Q.   And included within that main channel?
 9  A.   Yes.
10  Q.   And there might be other minor channels
11    within that main channel?
12  A.   Could be.
13  Q.   And those would be at different elevations
14    than the low flow channel?
15  A.   Could be.
16  Q.   Would the -- so you say could be, so are
17    there multiple low flow channels?
18  A.   There can be.
19  Q.   Is that a static condition?
20  A.   That depends on the time frame that you're
21    talking about.
22  Q.   Let's say is that static over the course of a
23    decade in Arizona, like in the Gila River?
24  A.   Most likely not, but it could be.
25  Q.   Would the water tend -- if you had more than
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 1    one low flow channel, would the water tend towards
 2    forming one channel over time?
 3  A.   Not necessarily.
 4  Q.   So -- we'll get back into that later on.
 5        How would you define the term compound
 6    channel?
 7  A.   A compound channel is a channel that has --
 8    what's the easiest way to say it -- different stages;
 9    has topography within the channel that becomes
10    inundated at different levels of flow.
11  Q.   So we can relate that to the context of the
12    prior definitions, does a compound channel have a low
13    flow channel, at least one low flow channel?
14  A.   Generally, yes.
15  Q.   And then you have higher channels within that
16    overall definition of compound?
17  A.   (Witness nodded.)
18  Q.   And does the compound -- I'm sorry.  Is that
19    a yes?
20  A.   That's correct, yeah.
21  Q.   And then the compound channel, would that be
22    how you could -- would a main channel be -- could it be
23    considered a compound channel if it indeed has a low
24    flow channel with other channels and elevations?
25  A.   Sure.


www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ


Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com


(11) Pages 1795 - 1798







In the Matter of the Navigability of the Gila River 
03-007-NAV


Transcript of Proceedings, Vol. VIII
August 20, 2014


GILA RIVER      VOL. VIII      08/20/2014 Page 1799


 1  Q.   As a practical matter, how do you end up with
 2    multiple low flow channels?  Wouldn't they have to be
 3    at an identical elevation?
 4  A.   Not necessarily.
 5  Q.   So you could have a low flow channel at
 6    1 foot and then another low flow channel at 2 feet?
 7  A.   Well, I'm not prepared to put numbers to it.
 8    You would have to show me the specific situation.  But
 9    they can be at different elevations.
10  Q.   Yeah, I guess the question that -- the word
11    low flow channel seems to imply a single channel.  So
12    by -- you're saying that that definition does not
13    include -- it does not limit itself to a single
14    channel?
15  A.   It doesn't have to limit itself to a single
16    channel.  It depends on what you mean by low flow.
17  Q.   Fair enough.  So if I meant lowest flow or
18    median flow, or let's use the term lowest flow channel,
19    then you would have one channel, correct?
20  A.   I suppose in the limit, if you continue to
21    decrease the flow to virtually nothing, at some point
22    you're going to dry up all but one channel.
23  Q.   So by inference then, that you would have at
24    higher flows than that case you just described, water
25    would spill out of that channel into -- possibly spill
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 1    out into other parts of this compound channel?
 2  A.   Yes.
 3  Q.   Can you estimate the dimensions of an average
 4    sandbar in the Gila River?
 5  A.   Not at this time.
 6  Q.   And you said that when you did your
 7    overflight in November of 2013, you didn't put your
 8    feet on the ground and actually go measure sandbars or
 9    look at the sandbars that existed out there?
10  A.   I looked at them from the air.  I didn't get
11    down on the ground and look at them.
12  Q.   Are you able to estimate sandbars from a
13    helicopter, the dimensions of a sandbar?
14  A.   Roughly.
15  Q.   So but you didn't do that on this flight,
16    this past overflight that you did?
17  A.   My purpose was not to quantify the dimensions
18    of sandbars.
19  Q.   How about frequency of sandbars; do you
20    have -- can you estimate how frequently sandbars
21    appeared in the lower Gila River below the Salt River
22    confluence, but upstream from the Colorado confluence?
23  A.   Well, there's a little bit of a problem with
24    the questions that you're asking me, because in order
25    to clearly see it as a sandbar, you have to have enough
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 1    water in the river to be able to distinguish the
 2    topography and so on; and there wasn't.  It was
 3    basically dry, as the one picture we looked at earlier
 4    this morning was.  So the only way you could really do
 5    that is do a very detailed topographic survey.
 6  Q.   And again, you did not do that detailed
 7    topographic survey?
 8  A.   I did not.
 9  Q.   Do you know what the flow rate was on that
10    day you flew the lower Gila?
11  A.   I don't know.  Very low.
12  Q.   Is that the flow that passes through the
13    Gillespie Dam that isn't taken up by the Paloma Ranch
14    Canal, the flow --
15  A.   Well, the photo that I looked at with the
16    State's attorney earlier today, that was below
17    Gillespie Dam; and the answer is yes.
18  Q.   And you're aware that there's a diversion
19    upstream from there and just below the Gillespie Dam
20    for the Paloma Ranch?
21  A.   Yes.
22  Q.   And did you see it when you were out there?
23  A.   I probably did.  I don't specifically
24    remember it.
25  Q.   Continuing with the sandbars, would sandbars
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 1    have appeared more or less frequently in the Gila River
 2    than, say, in the Colorado?
 3  A.   Well, bed material characteristics are
 4    somewhat different in the Gila River than they are in
 5    the Colorado, so they would have different
 6    characteristics.  Whether less frequently -- there are
 7    different scales of sandbar, for one thing, so we
 8    can't -- you can't really generalize about that.  It
 9    depends on what scale of bedform feature you're talking
10    about.
11  Q.   Well, actually, I'm not talking about scale.
12    I'm talking about frequency.  And I understand there's
13    different flows and different bed materials, but in
14    your 34 years of experiences in this field, and based
15    on your study of the Gila River, would you say that
16    sandbars occurred on the Gila River, in its natural and
17    ordinary condition, more or less frequently than on the
18    Colorado River?
19  A.   Well, again, I know you're not talking about
20    scale, but when we talk about sandbars, we have to talk
21    about scale, because sandbars are basically a bedform
22    feature.  There are many different scales of bedforms,
23    and so the frequency of one type is different from the
24    frequency of others.  Whether -- and they're different
25    between the Gila River and the Colorado River partly
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 1    because of the characteristics of bed material and
 2    partly because of the hydrologic characteristics.
 3        So I couldn't say.  They would be different.
 4    Whether it's more or less frequent, I don't know.
 5  Q.   Fair enough.
 6        How about the frequency on the Verde River?
 7    The same questions related to the Verde River.  Do you
 8    have any opinion about the frequency of sandbars on the
 9    Gila River, and I'm meaning specifically from the
10    confluence with the Salt down to the Colorado, versus
11    the frequency of sandbars on the Verde River?
12  A.   Well, the Verde River is, by and large, a
13    gravel, cobble bed stream, so the frequency of sandbars
14    there is much different.
15  Q.   Less?
16  A.   I'm not sure I've ever actually seen a
17    sandbar on the Verde River.  I would have to go back
18    through my photos to see.
19  Q.   How about the Salt River?
20  A.   Could you restate the question again?
21  Q.   Would sandbars have appeared more or less
22    frequently on the lower Salt River versus the Gila
23    River downstream from the confluence with the Salt?
24    And maybe I -- I think I might have misspoke that,
25    misstated that question.
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 1        Would sandbars have appeared more or less
 2    frequently on the lower Salt than on the section of the
 3    Gila from the confluence with the Salt down to the
 4    Colorado?
 5  A.   Again, it depends on a variety of factors,
 6    including the bed material and the hydrologic
 7    conditions, and so on.  They're probably somewhat
 8    similar.  I couldn't quantify that at this time.  But
 9    the character of those two portions of the river are
10    somewhat similar, so they're probably not that
11    different.
12  Q.   Are you aware of any waterfalls in the
13    section of the Gila which is noted by the State as
14    being sections Segments 7 and 8, which is the -- are
15    you familiar with the segment numbers, so I can shorten
16    up the language a little bit?
17  A.   Generally.
18  Q.   Are you aware that the sections Segments 7
19    and 8 are the segments of the Gila River noted by the
20    State from the Salt River confluence down to the
21    Colorado?
22  A.   Yes, I'm aware of that.
23  Q.   So if I say Segments 7 and 8, you know what
24    I'm talking about?
25  A.   I do.
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 1  Q.   Are you aware of any waterfalls in Segments 7
 2    and 8 of the Gila?
 3  A.   I'm not aware of any waterfalls.
 4  Q.   Are you aware of any rapids in Segments 7 or
 5    8 of the Gila?
 6  A.   No.
 7  Q.   Are you aware of any beaver dams that
 8    completely span the Gila River, or any beaver dams for
 9    that matter, in Segments 7 or 8?
10  A.   No.
11  Q.   Did your client ask you to study the
12    San Pedro River?
13  A.   No.
14        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. -- Jeff, would it
15    be appropriate to take a break now?
16        MR. HYRCKO: Yes.
17        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: We'll take a ten-minute
18    break.
19        (A recess was taken from 10:15 a.m. to
20        10:26 a.m.)
21        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: George, are we on?
22        BY MR. HYRCKO: 
23  Q.   Dr. Mussetter, I just have a few questions
24    here.  You were present for Dr. -- or for Mr. Gookin's
25    testimony last time?
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 1  A.   Yes.
 2  Q.   And you answered some questions yesterday, I
 3    believe, about Mr. Gookin's n-values, and you testified
 4    that you thought Mr. Gookin's n-value was too low for
 5    the Gila River; is that correct?
 6  A.   That's correct.
 7  Q.   I believe you testified that you felt a more
 8    reasonable base value of 0.026 to 0.035 was reasonable,
 9    correct?
10  A.   That's a reasonable range, yes.
11  Q.   And what did you mean by the term base value?
12  A.   Well, that the base value is intended to
13    describe the hydraulic roughness associated with,
14    basically, the boundary friction on the bottom of the
15    channel, but there are other factors that can affect
16    the roughness as well, which are in most relationships
17    additive.
18  Q.   And they can be significantly additive,
19    correct?
20  A.   They can.
21  Q.   Based on your years of experience researching
22    the river, do you have an estimate of the n-value of
23    the river, of a final n-value of the river in the
24    segment downstream from the confluence of the Salt to
25    the Colorado River, Segments 7 and 8?


www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ


Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com


(13) Pages 1803 - 1806







In the Matter of the Navigability of the Gila River 
03-007-NAV


Transcript of Proceedings, Vol. VIII
August 20, 2014


GILA RIVER      VOL. VIII      08/20/2014 Page 1807


 1  A.   It would vary depending on which portion of
 2    the reach you're in, particularly the amount of
 3    vegetation, the amount of irregularity in the channel,
 4    obstructions in the channel, that sort of thing.
 5  Q.   How would you come up with that n-value if
 6    you were tasked with doing that?
 7  A.   Well, the first thing I would try to do is
 8    get some data that would -- water surface elevation
 9    data that would allow me to calibrate either a model or
10    a hydraulic calculation to what was observed in the
11    field.
12        Absent that, then I would go back to
13    publications' relationships like the one that we
14    discussed yesterday, and select values based on the
15    characteristics of the river as described in those
16    relationships.  You know, most of them are developed
17    based on real data, and so we try to match up the river
18    that I'm working on with the character of the river
19    that those data were developed from.
20  Q.   And how would you do that for the natural and
21    ordinary condition of the river that existed at
22    statehood?
23  A.   Well, that would be challenging, because we
24    really don't know exactly what the river looked like
25    under its natural condition.
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 1  Q.   Did you attempt to do that in the modeling
 2    work that you did on the other navigability studies
 3    that you participated in?
 4  A.   Yes.
 5  Q.   And for the natural and ordinary condition of
 6    those rivers?
 7  A.   Yes.
 8  Q.   And you were able to do it there?
 9  A.   We were able to make estimates.
10  Q.   But you didn't do that for this report, for
11    this declaration?
12  A.   I did not do hydraulic calculations for this
13    issue.
14  Q.   And Mr. Gookin testified, I believe, that the
15    diversions of the Salt and Gila River and the
16    percolation of that diverted water into the groundwater
17    sped up the recovery of the Gila River channel.  Do you
18    agree with that statement?
19  A.   Could you read it again, please?
20  Q.   Mr. Gookin claimed that the diversions from
21    the Salt and Gila Rivers and the percolation of that
22    diverted water into the groundwater sped up the
23    recovery of the Gila River channel.
24        I believe he was questioned by Mr. McGinnis
25    and on redirect, and there was some discussion about
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 1    how that effect counteracts the effect of the
 2    diversions themselves.
 3        Do you agree with the conclusion that
 4    Mr. Gookin reached, or you don't -- did you hear that?
 5  A.   I'm not sure I know the full context of the
 6    question that you're asking me, so I'm not really sure
 7    I can give you an answer.
 8  Q.   Have you done any studies to that effect, on
 9    the effects of groundwater percolation and diversions?
10  A.   Yes.
11  Q.   And did you see any effects on the rebound of
12    river into their single-thread condition in those
13    studies that you did?
14  A.   The purpose of the studies that I'm thinking
15    of wasn't -- that wasn't the purpose.  So I can't
16    answer that question.
17  Q.   Fair enough.
18        I would like to just ask you a few questions
19    about your declaration.  Do you have a copy of that in
20    front of you?
21  A.   Yes, I do.
22  Q.   In the first section, the introduction,
23    define what you mean by the term independent assessment
24    in the first paragraph.
25  A.   I mean I pulled together the available
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 1    information and studied that information and made my
 2    own determination as to whether I thought the Gila
 3    River would be -- would fit the federal test of
 4    navigability.
 5  Q.   And the legal standard that you applied was
 6    the standard set out in Winkleman --
 7  A.   No.
 8  Q.   -- or which?
 9        Which legal standard did you use in your
10    independent assessment?
11  A.   Begins with the Daniel Ball test, and it was
12    clarified by the PPL Montana decision.  Those are the
13    primary ones.
14  Q.   In this paragraph you reference various
15    technical documents that you will subsequently refer
16    to.  Is this reference meaning every technical document
17    that you subsequently referred to, or does it mean
18    something else?
19  A.   Could you restate that again, please?
20  Q.   In this paragraph you refer to various
21    technical documents that you will subsequently refer
22    to.  I believe it's in the middle sentence.
23        It says, including various technical
24    documents that will be cited below.  Does this mean
25    every technical document you're -- I guess we have to
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 1    look at the first part of the sentence:  This
 2    assessment included review of the expert report from
 3    Schumm and testimony of Dr. Stanley Schumm regarding
 4    this matter, and independent review of additional
 5    relevant information, including various technical
 6    documents that will be cited below.
 7        This -- let me scratch that question.
 8        Are the page citation contained in your
 9    References appendix the extent of your reliance on
10    those references to support the statements for which
11    they were cited in the body of your report?
12  A.   In general, that's true.  Although, most of
13    those documents I've read the bulk of the document,
14    and, you know, when you read information, maybe you
15    don't specifically address it in the report, but it
16    does influence the way you think about the issue that
17    you're studying.  So I can't say that I didn't consider
18    anything outside the context of those pages.
19  Q.   You testified on your low-level overflight,
20    the purpose of that was to gain firsthand knowledge of
21    the present-day conditions of the river.  Why did you
22    need to evaluate the present-day conditions to
23    determine whether the river was navigable in its
24    natural and ordinary condition in 1912?
25  A.   Well, in the ideal world I would go back and
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 1    look at the natural condition; but I can't do that,
 2    so -- and I have to look at it as it is today.  And
 3    certainly the character of the river today tells us --
 4    gives us good information about what the river might
 5    have looked like in its natural condition.
 6  Q.   So your -- why did you end the flight where
 7    you did, 24 miles downstream from Gillespie?  Or, I'm
 8    sorry -- yeah, 24 miles downstream from Gillespie.
 9  A.   Basically, a time issue.
10  Q.   Was it important to gather that same present
11    knowledge both further downstream and upstream from
12    there?
13  A.   I think the part that I viewed gave me enough
14    information, coupled with the other available
15    information that I have, including aerial photographs
16    and other data that we've discussed.
17  Q.   And you used that for the other areas?
18  A.   I'm sorry?
19  Q.   So you used that other information to come up
20    with your conclusions about the other segments of the
21    Gila?
22  A.   Yes, I looked at all the available
23    information that I could that was relevant.
24  Q.   Did you use -- how did that overflight
25    influence your navigability determination?
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 1  A.   It just basically gave me the context so that
 2    I understood the general geography of the river,
 3    locations of things, what the adjacent topography is
 4    like, what the -- you know, how the geologic influences
 5    affect the character of the valley, general
 6    information.
 7  Q.   You would agree, though, that nothing related
 8    to the Gila River in its natural and ordinary
 9    condition, as those terms are applied in Winkleman, was
10    visible on that overflight?
11  A.   No, I wouldn't agree with that.
12  Q.   So you would say that in that overflight in
13    November of 2013, you were viewing the river in its
14    natural and ordinary condition?
15  A.   I didn't say that.
16  Q.   So what about that flight -- what did you see
17    on that that was related to the natural and ordinary
18    condition?
19  A.   Well, again, I answered that a few minutes
20    ago.  The overflight gives me a sense of the character
21    of the valley, the character of the materials that the
22    river flows through, some information about the
23    vegetation, although I'm sure at this time it's quite
24    different from what it was in its natural condition.
25    But it all puts the characteristics of the river into a
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 1    context.
 2  Q.   Would the Gillespie Dam have affected the
 3    morphology and conditions of the Gila River after it
 4    was built in 1921?
 5  A.   Yeah, certainly locally it would have.
 6  Q.   You're aware that the Winkleman case requires
 7    ANSAC to do a particularized assessment to determine
 8    whether a river or part of a river is navigable,
 9    correct?
10  A.   I would have to see the specific language
11    you're referring to.  I haven't memorized the Winkleman
12    decision.
13  Q.   Dr. Mussetter, would you read the Footnote 9
14    on Page 237 of the Winkleman decision?
15  A.   Yes.
16        In conducting the, quote, particularized
17    assessment, unquote, required to determine whether the
18    river was navigable, see Hassell -- and then it cites
19    the Arizona statutes -- ANSAC was required to make its
20    determination, quote, in writing with sufficient
21    documentation and detail to confirm the rationale and
22    basis for the determination.
23  Q.   So as you just said, you weren't aware that
24    that was in the Winkleman case?
25  A.   I have read that language before.  I just
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 1    simply didn't remember the details of it.
 2  Q.   What portions of your report fulfill that
 3    particularization requirement that ANSAC must address?
 4  A.   I think the entire report does.
 5  Q.   So the entire report is for the entire river,
 6    correct?
 7  A.   Yes.
 8  Q.   And it doesn't -- you said earlier you didn't
 9    do a segment-by-segment determination?
10  A.   No, I didn't say that.
11  Q.   Well, you said that you determined that
12    segment-by-segment analysis was not necessary because
13    you felt the entire river -- am I misstating your
14    testimony?
15  A.   Yes, you are.
16  Q.   Okay, what -- your testimony was, as I
17    understood it, was that you believe the entire river
18    was not navigable, correct?
19  A.   That's correct.
20  Q.   And that as such, you didn't need to do a
21    segment-by-segment determination?
22  A.   Well, I think we're talking past each other.
23    I didn't formally break the river down into segments in
24    accordance with the instructions in PPL Montana because
25    it's unnecessary.
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 1        But as I considered the characteristics of
 2    the river and whether or not it was navigable, I
 3    considered the characteristics of each individual
 4    section, or if you want to refer to it as segment,
 5    that's fine.  It has a different meaning in that
 6    context.  The river has variable characteristics along
 7    its length, and to the best of my ability, I considered
 8    all of those characteristics.
 9  Q.   And did you document the different
10    characteristics of the river in your declaration, or
11    the different sections?
12  A.   To some extent, I did, yes.
13  Q.   Where is that laid out?
14  A.   Well, the -- some of the graphics describe
15    different segments of the river, different sections of
16    the river; the Burkham plots, for example, the
17    Huckleberry plot, the mapping in Figures -- put my
18    glasses on -- 6, 7, 8.
19  Q.   Yeah, we'll get into those a little bit
20    later.  But just the Burkham plot and the Meko plot,
21    those are for the Safford Valley, correct?
22  A.   The Burkham plot I believe is, yes.
23  Q.   And what about the -- we're looking at
24    Figure 4 of your report on Page 9?
25  A.   Yes.
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 1  Q.   So does that data all relate to the Safford
 2    Valley?
 3  A.   The data relates to the Safford Valley, that
 4    gauge at the head of Safford Valley.
 5  Q.   In any of the navigability determinations
 6    that you've done previously, how many times has it been
 7    to determine natural and ordinary conditions of a river
 8    150 years after that condition existed?
 9  A.   None of them were 150 years after the
10    condition.
11  Q.   In your Qualifications section, you spent
12    time discussing your association with Dr. Schumm.  What
13    do you mean, you're generally familiar with his 2004
14    report.  Let me correct that; generally familiar with
15    the work that he did.
16  A.   We've talked about that already.  I had brief
17    discussions with him about what he was doing and what
18    he was finding.
19  Q.   But you didn't do any of the work with him or
20    for him?
21  A.   I did not.
22  Q.   On the Section 1.2 on Page 1 of your report,
23    you say based on my review of Dr. Schumm's report and
24    other background material.  What is that other
25    background material you're referring to?


www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ


GILA RIVER      VOL. VIII      08/20/2014 Page 1818


 1  A.   Well, first of all, the sentence doesn't say
 2    other background material.
 3  Q.   Thank you.  It says and background material.
 4    What background material is that referring to?
 5  A.   That particular clause refers to the
 6    background material that Dr. Schumm considered in
 7    preparing his report.
 8  Q.   Is that the same material referenced in
 9    yours, your declaration?
10  A.   Some of it is, yes.
11  Q.   I'm just trying to cut out questions here and
12    shorten it up.
13  A.   I'm in favor of that.
14  Q.   I believe you, in your report, in Opinion 1,
15    you state that portions of the river had a
16    single-thread channel in the mid 1800s until the early
17    1900s, correct?
18  A.   I did say that, yes.
19  Q.   And was that a perennial flow through those
20    segments?
21  A.   I think some of the historic accounts
22    indicate that there was perennial flow.
23  Q.   But you don't have any -- you didn't do any
24    studies to determine what that flow would have been,
25    correct?
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 1  A.   I did not try to quantify that flow.
 2  Q.   You testified yesterday that after
 3    significant flooding, assuming that the flow conditions
 4    revert to those existed before the flood, that the
 5    channel form would revert to the flood form in -- the
 6    form in existence before that flood; is that accurate?
 7  A.   Generally speaking, that's true.
 8  Q.   Why didn't the Gila River heal itself and
 9    revert to its prior form after the major floods of the
10    late 1800s and early 1900s?
11  A.   Because there wasn't enough flow to support
12    the processes that cause it to recover; but to some
13    extent, it did recover.
14  Q.   And your PowerPoint slides document the river
15    channel did narrow, correct?
16  A.   Yes.
17  Q.   In your Opinion No. 3 on Page 2, would you
18    agree that the Gila's present hydrologic conditions are
19    not the same as existed prior to the floods you
20    reference in Opinion 2?
21  A.   I'm sorry, I lost the question.  Could you
22    ask it again, please?
23  Q.   In Opinion No. 3 you state under present
24    hydrologic conditions.  Would you agree that they are
25    not the same hydrologic conditions that existed prior
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 1    to the major floods of the late 1800s?
 2  A.   I'm not sure I'm understanding what you're
 3    asking me.
 4  Q.   I'll pass on that question.  I think we've
 5    got it covered.
 6        In Opinion No. 5, you mention a small boat?
 7  A.   Yes.
 8  Q.   What are the dimensions of the small boat
 9    that you reference there?
10  A.   I can't give you specific dimensions, but I'm
11    thinking of something like a canoe or a small skiff or
12    a rowboat or something of that sort.
13  Q.   How deep would the water need to be to use
14    that boat, in your mind?
15  A.   Depends on what you're using the boat for and
16    how loaded it is.
17  Q.   For navigability, for the navigability test?
18  A.   There's a lot more to the question of the
19    navigability test than just the depth of flow to float
20    the boat.
21  Q.   How about like on an expedition with a man
22    and his gear for five days; would that be included in
23    that definition of floating a small boat?
24  A.   It could, yes.
25  Q.   In this opinion you mention reconstructed
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 1    annual flow extending back to the 1600s, correct?
 2  A.   Correct.
 3  Q.   Do those records go back to before 1600?
 4  A.   The specific ones that I'm referring to here
 5    come from the Meko and Graybill study, and they do not.
 6  Q.   Fair enough.
 7        Does that Meko and Graybill work tell you
 8    what kind of channels were in existence in the Gila
 9    River before the arrival of Europeans in the 1800s?
10  A.   It tells us what -- their estimates of the
11    annual flow in the river.  It doesn't say anything
12    about the physical characteristics of the river.
13  Q.   And it also doesn't talk about -- it also
14    doesn't relate to the frequency of flooding, correct;
15    it's just whether it's a wet year or a dry year?
16  A.   Well, as I illustrate in the companion
17    figure, in most cases it does tell you something about
18    the flooding as well.
19  Q.   How does the -- never mind.
20        You mentioned unusually low -- unusually dry
21    conditions in that opinion as well.  Let me find the
22    language here.
23        Unusually low flows during the period of the
24    1850s to 1900s; is that correct?
25  A.   Well, I said the mid to late 1800s.
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 1  Q.   Is the 1850s mid of the 1800s?
 2  A.   Sure.
 3  Q.   Could the low flows that you talk about have
 4    been caused, at least in part, by the diversion of
 5    water from the Gila River?
 6  A.   In some cases they could have.
 7  Q.   And I believe you did touch on this earlier
 8    in your Opinion No. 6 there about the language
 9    significant segment.  How long would a segment have to
10    be before you would consider it navigable irrespective
11    of the conditions of the river?
12  A.   I can't give you a specific number, but it
13    has to be long enough to meet the commercial reality
14    part of the test.
15  Q.   So how long is that, Dr. Mussetter?  How long
16    would it take to be a commercial reality?
17  A.   It depends on the circumstances.  There isn't
18    a general answer to that question.
19  Q.   Could it be 1 mile?
20  A.   I'm not sure that would be long enough.
21  Q.   Is it -- how about 17 miles?
22  A.   Under some circumstances, I could see that
23    17 miles might be long enough.
24  Q.   Would you consider the segment from -- of the
25    section of the river of Segment 8 from the Colorado up
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 1    to Dome a significant enough segment for navigability
 2    determinations?
 3  A.   It may be.
 4  Q.   Turning to the Page 3 of your report, the
 5    table figure -- I'm sorry, Figure 1.  What form would
 6    the Gila have been before the flood of the 1800s began?
 7  A.   Well, actually, you would have had a variety
 8    of forms, depending on which portion of the channel
 9    you're discussing.  The overall form of what you all
10    have been referring to as the flood channel would be 5.
11    There would be parts of it that would be similar to
12    perhaps the 3b to 4 category.
13  Q.   So in the 3b to 4 category, let's say 3b,
14    would that type of channel have been navigable as
15    defined by Arizona state law?
16  A.   On the Gila River, that part of the channel,
17    in my opinion, would not have been navigable according
18    to the federal test.
19  Q.   Which part of the federal test disqualifies
20    that segment from being navigable if it's a form of 3b?
21  A.   As I've repeatedly testified here, the
22    character of that channel, it's small, it's too
23    shallow, it's too variable, the flows are too erratic.
24    It's, over certain periods of time, unstable.  And I
25    don't believe it meets the commercial reality part of
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 1    the test.
 2  Q.   Again, just checking off questions.
 3        In the first paragraph of Page 4, you talk
 4    about not being able to define the dominant discharge
 5    because the larger flood flows are more
 6    geomorphologically effective than the more frequently
 7    occurring flows.
 8        What does that mean?
 9  A.   It means that in the type of channel that we
10    have in the Gila River, it's, as I said early in the
11    paragraph, it's a nonequilibrium form.  So the form
12    that you see at any particular time is very strongly
13    affected by the flood, the previous flood history.  And
14    the flows that you see in the river don't, under normal
15    conditions, don't fill that whole part of the channel.
16    So you don't have a self-adjusted channel.  It blows it
17    out, and then over time it sort of slowly goes back to
18    some kind of a recovered channel, and then the floods
19    come again and it blows it out again.
20        As opposed to, I'll say, for example, a
21    Plains river, where you would have a well-defined
22    bankfull channel, where you can clearly define where
23    the banks are.  Under most flow conditions, most of the
24    bed of the channel is under water, and the banks are
25    fairly steep and well-defined, and then when you get a
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 1    flood, it spills out into the overbanks.
 2  Q.   Do you have any opinion -- and maybe I've
 3    asked you this before, but just want to make sure I
 4    did.  Do you have any opinion on what the natural and
 5    ordinary flows of the Gila River are in terms of flow
 6    rate?
 7  A.   I don't have a quantity, no.
 8  Q.   Turning to Page 5 of your report, I just have
 9    one question about that Burkham study.  Do you know how
10    long miles-wise the Burkham study covered in the
11    Safford Valley?
12  A.   I would have to go back to the document to be
13    sure.  I think it's probably on the order of 30 to
14    40 miles.
15  Q.   You also mentioned the Huckleberry study
16    (1993) in this section?
17  A.   Yes.
18  Q.   Did either Huckleberry or Burkham study the
19    river from its confluence with the Salt to the
20    Colorado?
21  A.   Certainly not in those studies at least.
22  Q.   Not in the studies that you cited here?
23  A.   Right.  Right.
24  Q.   In Section 2.2.1 the Gila River at and after
25    the Date of statehood on Page 6.  On Page 6 of your
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 1    report, Section 2.2.1, Gila River at and after the Date
 2    of statehood.  Do any of the studies that you rely on
 3    in that section show the -- let me back up.
 4        Do any of the studies that you reference in
 5    this section draw their conclusions regarding the
 6    condition of the Gila River in its natural and ordinary
 7    condition?
 8  A.   All of these studies were done based on
 9    information basically since the date of statehood, so
10    they don't explicitly try to describe what the river
11    looked liked in its ordinary and natural condition.
12  Q.   So the answer to that question is no?
13  A.   It's a qualified no, because there's a lot of
14    information in these studies that tell us things about
15    what the river most likely looked like under ordinary
16    and natural conditions.
17  Q.   But all the studies that were done since the
18    date of statehood were done when the river had already
19    been significantly diverted, correct?
20  A.   That's correct.
21  Q.   Turning to the Meko study reference on
22    Page 8, you used that reconstructed annual flows as --
23    in your analysis, correct?
24  A.   That's correct.
25  Q.   And I believe you testified that you -- that
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 1    is to determine the annual flows, but not the median
 2    flow or average daily flows, correct?
 3  A.   Well, to the extent that Meko's results
 4    correctly depict the annual runoff, you can use that to
 5    calculate what the average daily flow is.
 6  Q.   And that's simply dividing the flow by 365?
 7  A.   Essentially, with some conversion, yes.
 8  Q.   In this Figure No. 4 on Page 9, the Meko
 9    data, in this figure you're comparing the modeled data
10    to the measured data on the right of the -- on the
11    right side of the figure, correct?
12  A.   That's one purpose, yes.
13  Q.   But it is comparing modeled data to measured
14    data?
15  A.   Yes.
16  Q.   Did you also look at how the post-1900 gauge
17    data compared with the modeled data for the same years?
18  A.   I did look at that briefly, yes.
19  Q.   But you didn't put it in your report?
20  A.   I did not.
21  Q.   I have a few questions about your PowerPoint
22    presentation.  Do you have that with you?
23  A.   I do.
24  Q.   On Slide No. 5, that depicts a navigable
25    segment of the Colorado River, correct?
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 1  A.   That's my understanding, yes.
 2        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Now, Mr. Hyrcko, could
 3    you make sure we identify what it is you're talking
 4    about with him?
 5        MR. HYRCKO: Yes.
 6        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay.  For the record.
 7        BY MR. HYRCKO: 
 8  Q.   All of the references are from X026, your
 9    PowerPoint presentation, and I'm going to be asking
10    questions about the numbered slides in that
11    presentation.
12        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Thank you.
13        BY MR. HYRCKO: 
14  Q.   So on that Slide No. 5, that's -- how wide is
15    that channel in the image?
16  A.   I'm not sure of the exact width.  It's
17    probably a few hundred feet.
18  Q.   Do you know how deep it is?
19  A.   No, I don't.
20  Q.   Do you know how long the navigable segment is
21    there?
22  A.   I don't recall the length of it.  It's a few
23    tens of miles, as best I remember.
24  Q.   Do you know what the flow rate is depicted in
25    that photo?
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 1  A.   It's roughly 18,000 cubic feet per second.
 2  Q.   Is this river diverted for irrigation
 3    upstream from this segment?
 4  A.   There are diversions upstream from this
 5    point, yes.
 6  Q.   Are there any sandbars visible in this
 7    photograph?
 8  A.   I doubt any of the features you see there are
 9    sandbars.
10  Q.   Looking at the lower left-hand portion of the
11    river there, what would you say that is, looking at
12    this photograph?
13  A.   Well, there appears to be a riffle in that
14    area.
15  Q.   Is this the natural and ordinary condition of
16    that river?
17  A.   Not exactly.  I mean there certainly have
18    been human influences upstream from here that affect
19    the flow rate, but it's probably not far from its
20    ordinary and natural condition.
21  Q.   Turning to Slide 6 of that same exhibit,
22    X026, how wide is the channel depicted in this
23    photograph?
24  A.   It's probably on the order of 40 feet, 40 to
25    50 feet, maybe.
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 1  Q.   And how deep would you say that is?
 2  A.   It's highly variable.
 3  Q.   From what to what?
 4  A.   The maximum depths in the pools in some of
 5    those bends is probably on the order of 5 feet at
 6    least, 4 to 5 feet, perhaps even deeper.
 7  Q.   How long is the -- this is the Mosquito River
 8    in Alaska, correct?
 9  A.   That's correct.
10  Q.   And I believe you testified it's navigable?
11  A.   I didn't say that.
12  Q.   I understood you to say that this segment was
13    navigable.  I misunderstood?
14  A.   That determination has not been made.
15  Q.   Fair enough.
16        You said that this -- I believe you testified
17    that this segment would be navigable by small boats?
18  A.   Yes.
19  Q.   Would that be the same sort of small boats
20    you referenced as would be floatable on the Gila in the
21    1800s?
22  A.   There would be some overlap there, yes.
23  Q.   And in this photograph there's some
24    obstacles, correct, to navigation?
25  A.   There is some large woody debris in the
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 1    channel that I can see.
 2  Q.   And what else?
 3  A.   That's the only definite thing I can see that
 4    would be an obstacle.
 5  Q.   Are there sandbars depicted in the photo?
 6  A.   Yes.
 7  Q.   Turning to the Slide No. 7 of that same
 8    exhibit, X026, I believe you stated that the model
 9    below is 1,200 cfs?
10  A.   That's correct.
11  Q.   Is that the median flow for that river?
12  A.   It's close to the median flow.  I would have
13    to check the numbers exactly, but it's not far off from
14    that.
15  Q.   Higher or lower?
16  A.   I think it's probably on the high side.
17  Q.   I'm not exactly sure, but did you testify
18    what the flow rate was in that photo?
19  A.   I don't believe I did.
20  Q.   Do you have an estimate of what the flow rate
21    is in that?
22  A.   About 300 cfs.
23        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Excuse me.  I don't
24    have a copy of that in front of me, so what specific
25    figure are you referring to?  You already mentioned it,
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 1    but -- okay, identify it.  This is the what?
 2        MR. HYRCKO: This is the photograph of
 3    the braided --
 4        COMMISSIONER HORTON: That's the Platte.
 5        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: This is the Platte,
 6    okay.
 7        MR. HYRCKO: -- Platte River in
 8    Nebraska.
 9        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Okay, good.  Thank
10    you.
11        MR. HYRCKO: I apologize for not having
12    a PowerPoint for the Commissioners.
13        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: That's fine.
14        BY MR. HYRCKO: 
15  Q.   Turning to Slide No. 10, which is titled
16    Channel Pattern IS Relevant to Navigability.  It's a
17    photograph of the braided reach of the Gila River below
18    Gillespie.  Is that what the Gila River looked like in
19    its natural and ordinary condition?
20  A.   I doubt it.
21  Q.   This was taken from your overflight in the
22    helicopter, correct?
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   How high up were you when you were flying
25    down there?
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 1  A.   I'm not sure.  Probably two to 300 feet,
 2    maybe four to 500.  I don't know exactly.  Fairly
 3    low elevation.
 4  Q.   Is this an image of a compound channel?
 5  A.   You could describe this as a compound
 6    channel, sure.
 7  Q.   And just for clarification, what date was
 8    that photograph taken?
 9  A.   October 29th, 2013.
10  Q.   I had down in November.  I'm glad we
11    clarified that.
12  A.   I wasn't sure.  I had forgotten that I had
13    the note here.
14  Q.   Thank you.
15        Turning to Slide No. 13 of that Exhibit X026,
16    it's titled Gila River at Kelvin Flows.  That has mean
17    daily and annual peak data, and it looks like
18    January '05 to January '09.  I assume that's 1905 to
19    2009, correct?
20  A.   That's correct.
21  Q.   The blue lines on that image, the vertical
22    blue lines show the max mean daily flow for the year,
23    correct?
24  A.   Yeah, the highest point on any of those
25    lines.  That's actually a continuous line that shows
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 1    all of the flows, but the highest point would be the
 2    maximum mean daily flow, yes.
 3  Q.   Right, it's cumulative.  I mean for that day
 4    it starts at whatever it was, but this is the maximum
 5    mean daily flow for that year.  I'm sorry, that is --
 6    let me straighten that out.
 7        That's the max mean daily flow for that
 8    entire year?
 9  A.   Well, there can be multiple peaks in there.
10    So if you were able to zoom in on the picture and see
11    year by year by year, you could pick out the maximum
12    flow, maximum mean daily flow from that.
13  Q.   And the dots above those blue lines, those
14    indicate the max flow peak flow for that year, correct?
15  A.   That's correct.
16  Q.   That first dot in the upper left-hand corner,
17    I believe that's -- what year is that for?
18  A.   1906.
19  Q.   And is that an estimated figure?
20  A.   I believe it is, yes.
21  Q.   Is it correct that the USGS didn't have a
22    gauge at Kelvin in 1906?
23  A.   I don't believe it had been formally
24    established yet.
25  Q.   In fact, they didn't have it until 1916,
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 1    correct?
 2  A.   I don't think that's correct.
 3  Q.   When did they -- what is the first date of
 4    the USGS data that you have?
 5  A.   I believe it's 1912.  I would have to go back
 6    and look at the records.  You see it.  It's the
 7    beginning of the blue lines there.
 8  Q.   Yes, you're correct.  It actually was 1911.
 9  A.   1911, yeah.
10  Q.   Sorry about that.
11        Does this flow data that's depicted here from
12    beginning in 1911 through 2009 represent the natural
13    and ordinary flow of the Gila River at Kelvin?
14  A.   There were diversions in place prior to the
15    start of this record, so it is modified.
16  Q.   Do you know when those diversions, the
17    upstream diversions, began?
18  A.   I think the earliest significant ones were
19    perhaps in the 1870s, in terms of the European man's
20    influence on the river.  There may have been other
21    smaller ones.
22  Q.   Upstream from this gauge, though?
23  A.   I believe so.  I would have to check that for
24    sure.  The late 1800s.
25  Q.   Looking at Slide No. 14 of that same exhibit,
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 1    which is a figure with months October to September on
 2    the bottom, and mean daily discharge in cfs on the left
 3    side.  Do you know when the Coolidge Dam was in
 4    operation?
 5  A.   I believe it was closed in November 1928.
 6  Q.   Do you know when it was dedicated?
 7  A.   I don't know that for sure.
 8  Q.   So 1928 is the -- so looking at this data,
 9    you have blue lines and orangey lines.  The blue line
10    is the before Coolidge Dam data set, correct?
11  A.   That's correct.
12  Q.   So we established that, or according to your
13    testimony, that data set ended in 1928?
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   And it began in 1911?
16  A.   Yes.
17  Q.   So the math there is how many years?
18  A.   I guess it would be 17, 18 years, inclusive.
19    I'm not -- I would have to go back and see exactly
20    which years.
21  Q.   So about 18 years of data?
22  A.   Roughly.
23  Q.   And then comparing that with the orange line,
24    that's everything since Coolidge Dam.  I'm sorry.
25    Yeah, since Coolidge Dam went into effect?
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 1  A.   That's correct.
 2  Q.   Until when?
 3  A.   I believe I used through water year 2013.  So
 4    it would be September 30th of last year.
 5  Q.   And so we're looking at somewhere about
 6    84 years of data?
 7  A.   That sounds close.
 8  Q.   Do you know how many large flow events
 9    occurred in the before Coolidge Dam data set?
10  A.   Well, we can see that in the previous figure
11    that we were talking about.  There were a number.
12  Q.   So according to your Slide 12, I counted six
13    flows that exceeded your 10-year peak.  We looked at
14    your Slide No. 12.  Would that be accurate?
15        How about we flip to the Slide 13.  I'm
16    sorry, I may have just misnumbered here.  Slide 13.
17  A.   I see 6 flows that were significantly larger
18    than the -- than what I depict here as the 10-year
19    peak, yes.  There are a couple of others that are just
20    slightly above the line as well.
21  Q.   So maybe as many as 8?
22  A.   Could be.
23  Q.   Irrespective of the effect of Coolidge Dam,
24    would you expect a graph depicting 18 data points
25    versus one depicting 84 data points to be smoother or
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 1    more dynamic?
 2  A.   You would probably expect the longer record
 3    to be smoother.
 4  Q.   And this figure does show that Coolidge Dam
 5    had an effect on the flow regime, correct?
 6  A.   Yes, I think it does show that.
 7  Q.   Looking at the median line for the blue,
 8    that's the lower blue line?
 9  A.   That's correct.
10  Q.   That, by my eye, appears to run between
11    100 cfs and 1,000 cfs for most of the year, correct?
12  A.   I think that's fair.
13  Q.   So even though we're looking at
14    post-diversion flow data, more than half the time, more
15    than 50 percent of the time pre-Coolidge Dam the flows
16    were between 100 and 1,000 cfs?
17  A.   Yes.
18  Q.   Turning to Slide No. 15, it's titled Annual
19    Flood Peaks:  Snowmelt and Monsoon.  This uses the same
20    USGS data set as the previous slides, correct?
21  A.   That's correct.
22  Q.   I believe you testified on direct that the
23    peaks and valleys of flows downstream from the Salt
24    River are similar, but different volumes, as what's
25    depicted in this image; is that accurate?
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 1  A.   I think that the seasonal pattern, the
 2    natural seasonal pattern, is similar, yes.
 3  Q.   What data do you rely on when you reach that
 4    conclusion?
 5  A.   Just my understanding of the hydrologic
 6    characteristics of the rivers in this area.
 7  Q.   So you didn't study the -- or did you study
 8    the Salt River flow data to come up with that
 9    conclusion?
10  A.   I have studied the Salt River flow data, yes.
11  Q.   And in coming up with the conclusion that you
12    testified to?
13  A.   I don't recall ever plotting it in exactly
14    this fashion.
15  Q.   Did you study the Salt River data for this
16    case?
17  A.   Not explicitly, no.
18  Q.   Looking at Slide No. 16 of your presentation,
19    X026, which is titled Similar Variability in Annual
20    Volume Pre- and Post-statehood, who is that -- this
21    figure depicts -- I think we already covered this, but
22    I just want to be clear.  This depicts the light blue
23    lines are the Meko and Graybill data?
24  A.   That's correct.
25  Q.   I think on the chart it says Reconstructed
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 1    (Meko and Graybill, 1972).  Did you actually mean 1995?
 2    I couldn't find a '72 reference in your references.
 3  A.   That's very possible.  '72 does not sound
 4    right.  I think I may have confused that with the
 5    Burkham paper when I typed the caption on that.
 6        It should be 1995, yes.
 7  Q.   This, as I believe we discussed earlier, this
 8    data is comparing a model data with measured data?
 9  A.   That's correct.
10  Q.   Isn't it true that when you mathematically
11    relate the tree ring width to runoff volume using a
12    regression, you get a damping effect on the runoff
13    volume for each year?
14  A.   I think that's probably true, yes.
15  Q.   And that's, by damping effect, it's the --
16    that eliminates some of the variance of the estimates,
17    correct?
18  A.   I think if we had real data for the period
19    that's shown with Meko and Graybill, my educated guess,
20    if you will, is, it would be much -- well, maybe I
21    shouldn't say much.  It would be more variable than
22    what you see in this plot.
23  Q.   Why did you not depict the modeled data for
24    the post-1900 on this figure?
25  A.   Because I had measured data for that period.
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 1  Q.   So but you're comparing damped data with
 2    measured data that's not damped, correct?
 3  A.   Yes.  And my point is simply to show that
 4    there was significant -- according to their data, there
 5    was significant variability in the full records prior
 6    to the start of the systematic gauge record.  And as we
 7    just said, it's probably even more variable than what
 8    you see in this plot, but I have no way of quantifying
 9    that.
10  Q.   But in a sense, you're comparing apples to
11    oranges in this data, right?
12  A.   No.  For the purpose I used the plot, I think
13    it's a very valid comparison.
14  Q.   Turning to your figure Slide 17 of
15    Exhibit 26, Annual peak is correlated with annual
16    volume, it's -- the axes are Runoff Volume in acre-feet
17    and Annual Peak Discharge in cfs.
18        What years does this data depict?
19  A.   This is the period of record at the gauge.
20    It's all the data points.  So it would be 19 -- let me
21    just see.  Well, we would be starting in 1911, So 1911
22    to 1993.
23  Q.   Did you make this figure?
24  A.   Yes.
25  Q.   And this is the Kelvin data, correct?
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 1  A.   I believe this is actually the Safford gauge,
 2    and I think you remind me that I may have misspoke in
 3    my testimony yesterday.  It is not the Kelvin gauge.
 4    It is the gauge at Safford.
 5  Q.   Thank you.
 6        Does this data depict the runoff volume for a
 7    calendar year or for a water year?
 8  A.   Water year.
 9  Q.   For the Commission, what's the difference
10    between a calendar year and a water year?
11  A.   Yeah, the calendar years go from January
12    through December.  The water years start on the 1st of
13    October and go through the following September.
14  Q.   Looking at your Slide No. 18, it's titled
15    Flood-induced Changes in Channel Width, of
16    Exhibit X026.  The 1869 map at the top of that, the
17    plat map, shows level river bottom and a thin Gila
18    River, while the 1928 map shows a wide Gila River and
19    no level river bottom; is that correct?
20  A.   I don't see a level river bottom label in the
21    1928 figure, and it does show a wider flood channel.
22  Q.   Looking at the Slide No. 20, it's a similar
23    image.  It says Flood-induced Changes in Channel Width?
24  A.   Yes.
25  Q.   The bottom image there from 1915, that's


www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ


Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com


(22) Pages 1839 - 1842







In the Matter of the Navigability of the Gila River 
03-007-NAV


Transcript of Proceedings, Vol. VIII
August 20, 2014


GILA RIVER      VOL. VIII      08/20/2014 Page 1843


 1    dated after that all-time record flood in 1906,
 2    correct?
 3  A.   Yes.
 4  Q.   So it's depicting the aftereffects of that
 5    record flood?
 6  A.   I would assume in part, yes.
 7  Q.   Turning to Slide No. 26, Summary of Opinions,
 8    which portions of the Gila had a single-thread channel
 9    that would float boats?
10  A.   I don't think we know that definitively.  We
11    simply know from the anecdotal evidence that there were
12    portions of the river that had that characteristic.
13  Q.   So your opinion that it would happen is based
14    on anecdotal records?
15  A.   Yes.
16  Q.   But you didn't do your own study?
17  A.   No.
18  Q.   Are any of the floods that occurred from 1895
19    to 1916 the ordinary condition of the Gila, meaning
20    more often than not?
21  A.   Could you rephrase the question, please?
22  Q.   Are any of the -- you have a second opinion:
23    From 1895 to 1916 you state large floods scoured
24    vegetation, et cetera.
25        Are any of the floods that occurred in that
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 1    period the ordinary condition of the Gila River?
 2  A.   Well, as we've discussed before, this
 3    specific period during when the flood is happening most
 4    likely falls outside the definition of ordinary.
 5  Q.   On Slide 27, the next slide, titled Summary
 6    of Opinions, you state that prior to mid 1800s large
 7    floods routinely occurred in the ordinary and natural
 8    condition of the river, correct?
 9  A.   Yes.
10  Q.   How often would a large flood have to be to
11    be routine and ordinary?
12  A.   I don't know that I can put a specific period
13    on that.  If it happens every 10 years, a 10-year
14    flood, perhaps, or greater.
15  Q.   What evidence do you have that the large
16    floods were routine and ordinary?
17  A.   Well, from the figures that we looked at
18    before, which would be the figures on Slide 16 and 17.
19    We see significant variability in the annual runoff,
20    and as we discussed, it's probably even more variable
21    than what is depicted in that figure.  And the slide on
22    Slide 17 shows that there's strong correlation between
23    the peak flows, in other words the flood regime, and
24    the annual runoff.  So the combination of those two
25    says to me that we certainly had periodic floods during
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 1    that time.
 2        In addition to that, there's good evidence
 3    that there hasn't been a systematic shift in the
 4    climate during that period of time, going back, you
 5    know, several centuries.  And there undoubtedly are
 6    changes in the watershed, but not of sufficient amount
 7    to completely change the flood regime.
 8        And so my overall conclusion is that the
 9    flood regime was probably very similar under ordinary
10    and natural conditions to what it is now.
11  Q.   You have no other evidence besides that Meko
12    and Graybill data, the predevelopment annual flows,
13    correct?
14  A.   That's the only quantification that I have.
15  Q.   How many cfs does it take to make something
16    into a large flood, in your mind?
17  A.   I don't have a number in my mind.
18  Q.   Do you have an estimate?
19  A.   Well, according to Slide 13, the one in
20    ten-year peak under the current regime is roughly
21    20, 22,000 cubic feet per second.  So I think something
22    in the range of 20 to 30,000.  From a geomorphic
23    perspective, it would have to be a flow that's big
24    enough to completely fill the channel or go out of bank
25    and have enough energy to cause changes in the channel.
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 1  Q.   I would like to show you a document that you
 2    cite as a reference that you relied on by
 3    Dr. Huckleberry, "Contrasting channel response to
 4    floods on the middle Gila River."
 5        Is that a document that you relied on in
 6    your -- reaching your declaration, in working, making
 7    your declaration?
 8        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. McGinnis, do you
 9    have something?
10        MR. MCGINNIS: Do you have copies for
11    the rest of us?  Is it an exhibit, or are you just
12    going to show it to him?  Did you print it out for
13    everybody?
14        MR. HYRCKO: I did not, but it's cited
15    by --
16        MR. SLADE: What's the date of the
17    paper?
18        MR. HYRCKO: 1994, "Contrasting channel
19    response to floods on the middle Gila River," by Gary
20    Huckleberry, in Geology, Volume 22, Pages 1083 to 1086.
21        THE WITNESS: I did cite this, yes.
22        MR. MCGINNIS: It's not been submitted
23    as an exhibit and it's not before the Commission.  If
24    you want to ask about it, I guess that's okay.  But
25    it's not in the record.
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 1        MR. HELM: We'll put it in the record
 2    this afternoon.  How's that, Mark?
 3        MR. HYRCKO: Dr. Mussetter relied on
 4    that.
 5        MR. SPARKS: I actually noticed that
 6    he's supplying us with one now.
 7        MR. HELM: He can get one now.
 8        MR. SPARKS: Yeah, there you go.
 9        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay, Mr. McGinnis,
10    would you clarify what you wanted to know, have done or
11    explain?
12        MR. MCGINNIS: Well, if he's asking him
13    about a document that none of the rest of us have
14    scene.  Maybe Dr. Mussetter has seen this.  We saw this
15    yesterday.  At least the State was nice enough to mail
16    it to me the day they used it.  We haven't even seen
17    this document.  There's no way for me to effectively
18    redirect him or even understand what the testimony is,
19    because I didn't hear about the document until today,
20    and he didn't even bring a copy.
21        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Now, Mr. Hyrcko or
22    Mr. Helm, would you respond?
23        MR. HYRCKO: Yes.  The document was
24    relied upon by Dr. Mussetter in reaching his opinion.
25    He certainly is familiar with this document.  He said
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 1    as much moments ago.
 2        I am just going to ask him to read a
 3    section from that document, and if Mr. McGinnis would
 4    like, I'll supply him with a photocopy of this after
 5    the fact, or he can look at this copy and redirect
 6    Dr. Mussetter to his heart's content.  But I think it's
 7    a fair question to ask him about references that he
 8    cites in his declaration.
 9        MR. MCGINNIS: And I don't have any
10    problem with him asking about it.  I just think the
11    rest of us are entitled to see a copy, if it's not
12    already been admitted as an exhibit, while he's asking.
13        MS. HERNBRODE: What was the date,
14    again, I'm sorry?
15        MR. HYRCKO: December of 1994.
16        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Jeff, how much more
17    time do you have in examination?
18        MR. HYRCKO: This is -- maybe one or two
19    questions.
20        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay.  Will it be
21    possible for you to obtain copies for distribution
22    during the lunch period?
23        MR. HYRCKO: I imagine.  I don't know
24    where I would make copies here locally, but I imagine I
25    can find something and bring enough copies for
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 1    Mr. McGinnis and any other attorneys that would like to
 2    have a copy.
 3        MR. MCGINNIS: Just to try to speed
 4    things along, to the extent that the copy that
 5    Dr. Mussetter has is going to be available over the
 6    lunchtime, I can look at it and he can look at it, and
 7    maybe that solves the problem.
 8        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Are there any other
 9    attorneys who share Mr. McGinnis's concern regarding
10    this particular document?
11        MR. SPARKS: We do.
12        MR. MCGINNIS: I'll share it with
13    Mr. Sparks.
14        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: I believe at least two
15    other hands have gone up.
16        MR. HOOD: I would like a copy, but I
17    don't want to hold things up.
18        MS. MONTGOMERY: Yeah, I would say that
19    as well.
20        MS. HERNBRODE: Mr. Chairman, we will
21    assist Maricopa County in this matter and bring copies
22    back after lunch.
23        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Thank you.  Will that
24    be satisfactory to the other counsel?
25        MR. MCGINNIS: It will for me.
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 1        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay.
 2        Please do not forget the Expendables
 3    Three and their trusty Sancho Panza.
 4        COMMISSIONER HORTON: What a very
 5    literate man, Don Quixote.
 6        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: I'm sorry we
 7    interrupted you in that way, but please continue.
 8        MR. HYRCKO: Thank you.
 9        BY MR. HYRCKO: 
10  Q.   Dr. Mussetter, could you please read the
11    section that's highlighted there, Historical Channel
12    Changes?
13  A.   Sure.
14        Historical records of floods and channel
15    changes on the middle Gila River indicate that the
16    river has not responded similarly to all large floods.
17    Between 1696 and 1891, both anecdotal evidence and
18    survey plats indicate that the study reach was
19    characterized by a single, narrow channel lined by tall
20    trees, citing (Rea, 1983).  This form was maintained
21    despite catastrophic floods in 1833 and 1868.  That
22    cites (Dobyns, 1981).  The first obvious bank erosion
23    and channel widening occurred in 1891 (Huckleberry,
24    93b), but it was not until the floods of 1905 that the
25    middle Gila River changed from a single, slightly
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 1    sinuous, narrow --
 2        Sorry.  Pardon me.  I'll slow down.  Let me
 3    start.
 4        But it was not until the floods of 1905 that
 5    the middle Gila River changed from a single, slightly
 6    sinuous, narrow channel to a wide, straight, braided
 7    channel.  A single metamorphosis occurred in the upper
 8    reach of the Gila River in the Safford Valley, Arizona,
 9    citing (Burkham, 1972).  Tree-ring evidence indicates
10    that the decade of 1905 to 1915 was probably the
11    wettest in 500 years in central Arizona, and that
12    refers to the Meko and Graybill document that I used in
13    my report.
14        Large floods in 1905, 1914 and 1916 resulted
15    in repeated bank cutting and maintenance of wide,
16    braided channel plan forms.  In 1928 the channel was
17    still wide (GLO survey notes; Table 1), but thereafter
18    drier conditions and the Coolidge Dam effectively
19    decreased the frequency of large floods passing through
20    the study reach.  The normally dry channel was subject
21    to episodic, relatively small stream-flow events that
22    helped to create and maintain a small, relatively
23    narrow and sinuous, low-flow channel within a wider
24    flood channel; i.e., a compound plan form (Graf, 1988).
25    It was not until 1983 that the middle Gila River
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 1    underwent another large flood.
 2  Q.   Thank you, Dr. Mussetter.  And this was a
 3    document that you relied on and reviewed in reaching
 4    your opinion?
 5  A.   It is.
 6  Q.   Dr. Mussetter, every channel change that you
 7    discuss in your report that resulted in the channel
 8    becoming braided was caused by a flood, true?
 9  A.   Would you say that again, please?
10  Q.   Every channel change that you discuss in your
11    report that resulted in the channel becoming braided
12    was caused by a flood, true?
13  A.   The general thesis of the discussion in my
14    report is that the floods are the primary driver of the
15    braiding, yes.
16        MR. HYRCKO: Nothing else.  Thank you.
17        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: That's all?
18        Is there anyone else who wishes to ask
19    some questions of Dr. Mussetter?
20        And, Mr. McGinnis, do you wish to do
21    this before lunch or after lunch?
22        MR. MCGINNIS: I think given the fact
23    that we saw a document that we haven't seen before, I
24    would like to have a chance to look at it and finish up
25    after lunch, if that's okay with you.
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 1        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay.  Is there anyone
 2    else that would like to ask some questions of
 3    Dr. Mussetter that we can finish in five minutes?
 4        I'm not trusting lawyers at their word.
 5    Then we will adjourn for lunch and we'll come back here
 6    at about, oh, quarter after 1:00.
 7        (A lunch recess was taken from
 8        11:51 a.m. to 1:15 p.m.)
 9        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. McGinnis, please
10    begin.
11        MR. MCGINNIS: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
12    
13        REDIRECT EXAMINATION
14        BY MR. MCGINNIS: 
15  Q.   Dr. Mussetter, I have some questions to
16    follow up on some of the cross-examination that was
17    done with you the last day or so, okay?
18  A.   Okay.
19  Q.   Mr. Slade asked you some questions about your
20    boating experience, and he specifically asked you
21    whether you had ever come across a beaver dam.  Do you
22    recall that?
23  A.   I do.
24  Q.   Can you tell us where that was?
25  A.   It was on the upper Pennsylvania in Michigan.
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 1    It was a small stream.
 2  Q.   Do you remember the name of the stream?
 3  A.   I actually don't remember.
 4  Q.   And I think you said to him you came upon the
 5    beaver dam and you actually had to get out of the boat
 6    and carry the boat around the dam; is that right?
 7  A.   That's correct.
 8  Q.   Were you on a one-day trip or a several-day
 9    expedition at that point?
10  A.   I was just on a one-day trip.
11  Q.   How much gear did you have with you?
12  A.   Minimal.
13  Q.   If you had had five days worth of camping
14    gear with you, would you have had to unload the canoe
15    before you carried it?
16  A.   In this case I would have, yes.
17  Q.   If you had 500 pounds worth of beavers pelts,
18    would you have had to unload the canoe and go around
19    it?
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   Mr. Slade, I think it was Mr. Slade, asked
22    you some questions about --
23        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Excuse me.  Would the
24    record reflect that Mr. Hood has entered the room.
25        MR. HOOD: I saw everybody else walking
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 1    in at the same time, Mr. Chairman.
 2        Pardon the interruption.
 3        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: I'm sorry.  I'm sorry I
 4    interrupted you, Mr. McGinnis.
 5        BY MR. MCGINNIS: 
 6  Q.   He also asked you some questions about your
 7    PowerPoint presentation, I believe, which was
 8    Exhibit X026.  And you don't need to go to it, because
 9    I think you'll probably remember it enough for this
10    question.  He asked you about Slide 8, which was a
11    picture of the Copper River in Alaska.
12  A.   Yes.
13  Q.   Do you recall that?
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   And you, I think, said that was a braided
16    river that could be navigable; is that right?
17  A.   Yes.
18  Q.   Do you have any idea what the magnitude of
19    flows is in the Copper River as compared to the Gila
20    River?
21  A.   Well, I actually tried to look that up.
22    There aren't any gauges in that vicinity, but it's a
23    very large river, so they're many times greater than
24    the flows in the Gila River.  Probably the flow in that
25    picture is as big as any of the recorded floods.
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 1  Q.   And I think maybe you testified on direct
 2    even, that a braided river could be navigable if there
 3    was a lot of water there?
 4  A.   Sure.
 5  Q.   Toward the end of your cross-examination with
 6    Mr. Hyrcko, he showed you a document from Huckleberry
 7    that's now been marked as Exhibit X034 "Contrasting
 8    channel response to floods on the middle Gila River,
 9    Arizona."  Do you recall seeing that?
10  A.   Yes.
11  Q.   And that was one of the documents that you
12    had cited in your report; is that right?
13  A.   That's correct.
14  Q.   Do you have a copy of that with you?
15  A.   Yes, I do.
16  Q.   Okay.  I want to ask you some questions just
17    about the first introduction part of it.
18        The first sentence after the introduction
19    says, Channel morphology in plan-view form in arid and
20    semi-arid stream systems is largely dependent on the
21    frequency and magnitude of large floods, with some
22    citations there.
23        Do you agree with that?
24  A.   Yes, I do.
25  Q.   Is that consistent with the opinion that
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 1    you've given the Commission in this case?
 2  A.   It is.
 3  Q.   The next sentence says, Consequently, such
 4    systems --
 5        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Mr. McGinnis, I'm
 6    sorry, point out where in the document you're talking
 7    about.
 8        MR. MCGINNIS: Reading right after the
 9    introduction, right in the introduction.  Do you see
10    that on the left-hand side of the first page --
11        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Yeah, I see that.
12        MR. MCGINNIS: -- it says Introduction?
13        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Yeah.
14        MR. MCGINNIS: I'm on the second
15    sentence now.
16        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Consequently?
17        MR. MCGINNIS: Yes, sir.
18        BY MR. MCGINNIS: 
19  Q.   Consequently, such systems seldom maintain a
20    stable form at decadal to century time scale.
21        Did I read that right?
22  A.   You did.
23  Q.   What does it mean to seldom maintain a stable
24    form at decadal to century time scales?
25  A.   Means that over periods of tens of years, up
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 1    to a century, they showed dynamic behavior; they shift
 2    around, they change.
 3  Q.   Okay.  And the next sentence says, The Gila
 4    River in Arizona is an arid-region stream in which
 5    complex relation between floods and channel changes
 6    occurs.
 7        Did I read that right?
 8  A.   You did.
 9  Q.   Do you generally agree with that principle?
10  A.   Yes.
11  Q.   And then the next sentence says, Specific
12    hydroclimatic conditions favor the production of
13    catastrophic floods in the Gila River watershed.
14        Did I read that correctly?
15  A.   You did, and I agree with that.
16  Q.   And the last clause of that same sentence
17    says, but not all large floods result in the same
18    channel response.
19  A.   Yes.
20  Q.   Is that correct?
21  A.   That is correct.
22  Q.   Is that consistent with the opinion you've
23    given this Commission?
24  A.   It is.
25  Q.   You were asked some questions by both the
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 1    lawyers about the Winkleman case.  Do you recall that?
 2  A.   I do.
 3  Q.   And Winkleman is State of Arizona ex rel.
 4    Winkleman versus ANSAC.  Do you understand that to be
 5    that case?
 6  A.   Yes.
 7  Q.   Was that case decided in 2010?
 8  A.   I believe so.
 9  Q.   Is it your understanding that the Winkleman
10    case dealt with this Commission's findings on the upper
11    Salt River?
12  A.   Yes.
13  Q.   Do you know if the Winkleman case involved
14    any review of the Commission's findings on the Gila
15    River?
16  A.   I don't believe it did.
17  Q.   And is it your understanding that the report
18    on the lower Salt River that was at issue in Winkleman
19    was done in September of 2005; does that sound about
20    right?
21  A.   That does sound right.
22  Q.   And the report, the Commission's latest
23    report on the Gila River wasn't done until January
24    2009.
25  A.   That's correct.
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 1  Q.   And, in fact, the trial court decision in the
 2    lower Salt River case was about 2007; is that right?
 3  A.   That sounds right.
 4        MR. MCGINNIS: Okay, you guys, I'm
 5    trying to listen.
 6        BY MR. MCGINNIS: 
 7  Q.   Okay, thank you.
 8        So do you know of any court decision that has
 9    considered or found invalid this Commission's January
10    2009 decision on the Gila River?
11  A.   I do not.
12  Q.   Yesterday afternoon Mr. Slade had pointed you
13    to a particular exhibit, and I didn't have it in front
14    of me and I'm not sure I'm going to get right which one
15    it was, but maybe you can understand from my
16    description.  And that was an exhibit where it was
17    talking about mapping methods on the GLO plats.  Do you
18    recall that?
19  A.   I do recall that.
20  Q.   Do you recall which exhibit that was, which
21    author it was?
22  A.   It was from Huckleberry 1996, I believe.
23  Q.   And he gave you a notebook with some tabs in
24    it --
25  A.   Yes.
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 1  Q.   -- that you were looking at, right?
 2  A.   Yes.
 3  Q.   And was that Huckleberry article one that you
 4    had cited in your report?
 5  A.   It is.
 6  Q.   Until yesterday, when was the last time you
 7    had read that Huckleberry article, if you can recall?
 8  A.   Nine months, six to nine months ago.
 9  Q.   And I never got a chance to see the notebook
10    that he handed you with the tabs in it, but on the tab
11    that he handed you, did that have the whole article, or
12    did it just have one page?
13  A.   I think it was just one or it might have
14    overlapped into two pages.  It was just a few pages,
15    though.
16  Q.   So that tab didn't have the whole article to
17    put the sentence he was reading to you in context,
18    right?
19  A.   It did not.
20  Q.   Have you had a chance since yesterday to look
21    back at that article and read the whole thing?
22  A.   I did go back and reread it.
23  Q.   And my impression of what the one sentence he
24    was having you read was along the lines of the mapping
25    methods that the GLO used had changed at some point.
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 1    Is that generally correct?
 2  A.   Well, sort of.  I think the two maps were
 3    made by different entities, but that the -- the
 4    procedure that -- the features that they were mapping
 5    might have changed somewhat.
 6  Q.   Okay.  And based upon your review of the
 7    entire article last night, is that your understanding?
 8  A.   I'm not really sure that that's what it says.
 9    I can see how it could be interpreted to mean what he
10    was implying by his questions, but I can also interpret
11    it other ways, so I'm not really sure that it -- all of
12    the differences you see in those maps are just strictly
13    because they map using different procedures.
14  Q.   And that interpretation is based upon a
15    review of the entire document, not just --
16  A.   That's correct.
17  Q.   -- one or two sentences he picked out for
18    you?
19  A.   That's correct.
20  Q.   Do you have a copy of your PowerPoint handy
21    that we can pull up electronically?
22  A.   I do.
23  Q.   Is it warming up, is that what we're waiting
24    for?
25  A.   Yeah, it's coming.


www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ


Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com


(27) Pages 1859 - 1862







In the Matter of the Navigability of the Gila River 
03-007-NAV


Transcript of Proceedings, Vol. VIII
August 20, 2014


GILA RIVER      VOL. VIII      08/20/2014 Page 1863


 1  Q.   Okay.  This is the PowerPoint that you
 2    presented, Exhibit X026; is that right?
 3  A.   Yes.
 4  Q.   And we talked about it at some length
 5    yesterday.
 6  A.   Yes.
 7  Q.   And we have it up on the screen.
 8        Can you flip over to or slide down to
 9    Slide 22?
10        And Mr. Slade referred you to two or three
11    different of these sets of diagrams, and I think this
12    was one of them.  And it was my impression, from what
13    his questions were, was he was trying to lead to the
14    conclusion that the difference between the two maps --
15    I guess there's three -- two maps on this slide was
16    maybe just based on the different mapping methods that
17    changed between 1883 and 1907.  Do you recall that
18    testimony?
19  A.   I do.
20  Q.   Was that your understanding of what he was
21    trying to show as well?
22  A.   That was also my impression.
23  Q.   And based upon your review of the document
24    you looked at last night, at this point you're not even
25    sure that there was a change in mapping methods; is
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 1    that right?
 2  A.   I'm not sure of that, yes.
 3  Q.   And let's assume for a minute, though, that
 4    his premise, if that's his premise and that that
 5    premise is correct, if there was a -- if the difference
 6    between these two photos in 1883 and 1907 was just
 7    based on mapping methods, wouldn't that mean that the
 8    river was essentially the same in both time periods?
 9  A.   Yes.  If his proposition was correct, then
10    using these mapping methods, you would see a wide,
11    braided channel as well, flood channel in the top
12    photo.
13  Q.   In other words, if you used the mapping
14    methods that were used for the 1907 map in 1883, you
15    would have had a broad channel as well?
16  A.   Yes.
17  Q.   Now, as between 1883 and 1907, which of those
18    two time frames do we know more precisely what the
19    river actually looked like?
20  A.   I would think the more current time frame,
21    1907.
22  Q.   And why is that?
23  A.   Well, because they were mapping in more
24    detail at that time.  It's closer to the present time.
25    We have more information about the river at that time,
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 1    more people were around.
 2  Q.   And we actually have seen in this case, in
 3    this week actually, photographs from 1907, roughly --
 4  A.   Yes.
 5  Q.   -- right?
 6        Dr. Littlefield had photographs of the river
 7    in 1905.  Do you recall those?
 8  A.   I do.
 9  Q.   He had photographs of the river in 1910, I
10    believe.  Do you recall those?
11  A.   I do.
12  Q.   Do you know of any photographs of the Gila
13    River in 1883 or earlier?
14  A.   I'm not aware of any.
15  Q.   So if the river was the same, if you're
16    assuming that Mr. Slade's premise is correct and the
17    difference in these two maps is just based on mapping
18    methods, and if the river was the same, and we know the
19    1907 was the most likely to be correct, wouldn't that
20    also mean that the river was broad and wide in 1883,
21    and it's just drawn differently because of the
22    different mapping methods?
23  A.   That could very well be the case.
24  Q.   And all the testimony that you've heard so
25    far in this case doesn't support that, does it?


www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ


GILA RIVER      VOL. VIII      08/20/2014 Page 1866


 1  A.   That's right.
 2  Q.   And as a matter of fact, the State itself has
 3    put on evidence to show that in the mid 1800s, up to
 4    the floods in the late 1800s, they've been trying to
 5    show that it was a single meandering channel lined with
 6    cottonwoods?
 7  A.   Yes.
 8  Q.   And that's kind of what this picture actually
 9    looks like in 1883, right?
10  A.   It's a single-thread channel for sure.
11  Q.   So if his premise was correct, then it is
12    contrary to all the evidence his own witness has put
13    on?
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   Well, let's sort of step back from fantasy
16    land then and ask you another question, and that is, is
17    his premise correct?  Is there any real dispute that
18    the Gila River widened between the late 1880s and
19    statehood?
20  A.   I don't think there's any disputes about
21    that.
22  Q.   And what's your basis for that thought?
23  A.   Well, there's several documents that I've
24    talked about in my testimony, the Burkham study, the
25    Huckleberry studies, other descriptions of how the
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 1    river responded to the flooding around the turn of the
 2    century.
 3  Q.   And as a matter of fact, this particular
 4    Commission has written a report that talks about how
 5    the river broadened -- widened and braided in the late
 6    1800s and early 1900s; is that right?
 7  A.   That's correct.
 8  Q.   Do you have a copy there on your computer of
 9    the January 27th, 2009 report from this Commission?
10  A.   I do.
11  Q.   Can you pull that up for us?
12        Okay, and this says, In the Matter of the
13    Navigability of the Gila River from the New Mexico
14    Border to the Confluence with the Colorado River,
15    Greenlee, Graham, Gila, Pinal, Maricopa and Yuma
16    Counties, Arizona.
17        Do you see that?
18  A.   Yes.
19        MR. MCGINNIS: And I've got -- if you
20    don't have it, I've got some extra hard copies, if
21    anybody wants one.  Judge, would the Commission like a
22    hard copy?
23        This is without the attachments.
24        Who else?
25        And I've given the Commission hard
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 1    copies.  One left.
 2        The 2009 report is a couple hundred
 3    pages long or longer.  The copies I've handed to the
 4    Commission, just for the record, does not include the
 5    voluminous attachments.  It's just the hard -- the
 6    actual body of the report, which I think goes up to
 7    Page 89, with the signatures of who the then
 8    Commissioners were.
 9        BY MR. MCGINNIS: 
10  Q.   And I want to talk some with you about what
11    this Commission found and what evidence was before it
12    back in 2009 based upon the 2005 hearing.
13  A.   Okay.
14  Q.   Okay?  And you weren't at that hearing; is
15    that right?
16  A.   I was not.
17  Q.   Have you reviewed the transcript of that
18    hearing?
19  A.   I have reviewed portions of the transcript,
20    yes.
21  Q.   Let's turn to the next page, which is the
22    Table of Contents.  And you see down under Roman
23    numeral VII.G there's a section that's called Geology,
24    Geomorphology and Hydrology of the Gila River.  Do you
25    see that?


www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ


GILA RIVER      VOL. VIII      08/20/2014 Page 1869


 1  A.   I do see that.
 2  Q.   And that starts on Page 62?
 3  A.   Yes.
 4  Q.   Is it your understanding that that section
 5    summarizes the Commission's findings with respect to
 6    those scientific issues based on the evidence that was
 7    presented to it in 2005?
 8  A.   Yes, it is.
 9  Q.   Okay, let's go down to Page 62.  Okay,
10    Section 2, that's where subsection -- excuse me.
11    Page 62, that's where Subsection G starts, correct?
12  A.   Yes.
13  Q.   Okay, and I'm going to save you the burden of
14    reading, because we've got some reading to do, and I'm
15    going to try and start out by reading it to you and
16    have you agree with me whether I read it right or not.
17    Is that okay?
18  A.   Okay.
19  Q.   The last sentence of the first paragraph
20    there under G says, summarizing that paragraph, says,
21    Thus, the river has been described as extremely
22    erratic, unstable and unpredictable in its disposition.
23        Do you see that?
24  A.   I do see that.
25  Q.   Did I read that correctly?
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 1  A.   I believe so.
 2  Q.   So based upon the evidence before it at the
 3    2005 hearing, this Commission found in 2009 that the
 4    river was described as extremely erratic, unstable and
 5    unpredictable in its disposition?
 6  A.   Yes.
 7  Q.   Based upon the evidence that you reviewed
 8    from that prior hearing and the testimony and evidence
 9    you've seen in this hearing, would you agree with that
10    statement?
11  A.   I think that's a reasonable description.
12  Q.   Okay, let's go down to Page 64.  The first
13    sentence in the second full paragraph there says, The
14    flow of the river is difficult to characterize, partly
15    because there were few records kept until the 1880s to
16    1900.
17        Do you see that?
18  A.   I do.
19  Q.   Did I read that correctly?
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   Based upon your review of the evidence from
22    the 2005 hearing and the additional evidence and
23    testimony that you've seen in the last eight days of
24    this hearing, would you agree with that statement?
25  A.   Yes.  They are sparse to nonexistent prior to
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 1    that time frame.
 2  Q.   Let's go on down to Page 67 of the 2009
 3    Commission report, and beginning at the bottom of
 4    Page 67, there is a rather long paragraph that
 5    describes the Commission's understanding of the
 6    testimony and evidence presented by the Land Department
 7    in the 2005 hearing, specifically in the report that
 8    was updated in 2009 by Mr. Fuller.
 9        Is that your understanding of that paragraph?
10  A.   Yes.
11  Q.   So the bottom, that last paragraph there
12    says, The navigability study prepared by the Arizona
13    State Land Department and updated through June of 2003
14    by J.E. Fuller contains a detailed chapter on
15    historical geomorphology of the Gila River with
16    numerous quotes from Dr. Gary Huckleberry of the
17    Arizona Geological Survey.
18        Did I read that correctly?
19  A.   Yes.
20  Q.   And that's the same Mr. Fuller -- is it your
21    understanding that's the same Mr. Fuller who's
22    testified this week --
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   Last time.
25  A.   Last session, yes.
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 1  Q.   Mr. Huckleberry, are you familiar with him?
 2  A.   I'm familiar with his writings.
 3  Q.   And he wrote the document that we just looked
 4    at a few minutes ago, right?
 5  A.   He did.
 6  Q.   Is it your understanding that Mr. Huckleberry
 7    testified on behalf of the State Land Department in the
 8    2005 hearings that resulted in this 2009 decision?
 9  A.   Yes.
10  Q.   The next sentence says -- and this is the
11    Commission, again -- says, In the pioneer period, there
12    was, during a good deal of the time, a single channel
13    stream with moderate flow in the upper Gila Valley.
14        Did I read that correctly?
15  A.   Yes.
16  Q.   Is that your understanding of the facts?
17  A.   The anecdotal evidence seems to indicate
18    that.
19  Q.   And is that consistent with the opinion
20    you've given to the Commission in this hearing?
21  A.   It is.
22  Q.   The next sentence says, The large floods of
23    the 1890s and early 20th century changed the river
24    significantly, such that afterwards it showed a wide
25    sandy flood plain with several branching channels.
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 1        Did I read that correctly?
 2  A.   Yes.
 3  Q.   Is that consistent with the testimony you
 4    have given yesterday and today?
 5  A.   Yes.
 6  Q.   Do you think there's any dispute about
 7    whether the floods of the 1890s and early 20th century
 8    made the Gila River generally into a wide sandy
 9    floodplain with several braiding channels?
10  A.   I don't believe there is.
11  Q.   The next sentence says, The consecutive
12    floods would maintain the wide, braided conditions on
13    the alluvial reaches of the river.
14        Did I read that correctly?
15  A.   Yes.
16  Q.   Do you have any disagreement with that?
17  A.   No.
18  Q.   The next sentence says, The gauges and other
19    flow data show a relatively low, although consistent,
20    flow of this portion of the river.
21        Did I read that correctly?
22  A.   Yes.
23  Q.   Do you have any disagreement with that?
24  A.   No.
25  Q.   I'm going to skip down some because I don't
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 1    want to read every sentence in the whole 100-and-some
 2    pages.
 3        About halfway down the page there's a
 4    statement that says, Likewise, in this area -- and here
 5    they're talking about the area around Florence.  Yeah,
 6    the area around Florence in that sentence; middle Gila,
 7    I believe.
 8        Likewise, in this area, the floods of the
 9    1890s and early 1900s caused a great deal of channel
10    and bank cutting and transformed the Gila River into a
11    wide, braided channel with very little depth when it
12    did flow.
13        Did I read that correctly?
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   Is it your understanding that's a correct
16    statement?
17  A.   Yes.
18  Q.   Is that consistent with the testimony you've
19    given to the Commission the last two days?
20  A.   It is.
21  Q.   If you go down to the bottom of Page 68, the
22    Commission says, In summary, this report states; and
23    it's my understanding, and you can correct me if you
24    think I'm wrong --
25  A.   Wait.  Oh, I see it.


www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ


Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com


(30) Pages 1871 - 1874







In the Matter of the Navigability of the Gila River 
03-007-NAV


Transcript of Proceedings, Vol. VIII
August 20, 2014


GILA RIVER      VOL. VIII      08/20/2014 Page 1875


 1  Q.   The very bottom of the page.
 2  A.   I see it.
 3  Q.   My understanding, they're talking about the
 4    report prepared for the State Land Department, updated
 5    by Mr. Fuller himself.  Is that your understanding?
 6  A.   Yes.
 7  Q.   If you flip over to the top of Page 69, this
 8    is the Commission from 2009 quoting a report prepared,
 9    at least in part, by Mr. Fuller in 2003; is that
10    correct?
11  A.   Yes.
12  Q.   Okay.  And that report was participated in by
13    Dr. Huckleberry, also, correct?
14  A.   That's my understanding.
15  Q.   The quote at the top of Page 69 says, The
16    Gila River is a classic example of a dryland river that
17    seldom seeks an equilibrium form.
18        Did I read that correctly?
19  A.   Yes.
20  Q.   Do you agree with that statement --
21  A.   Yes.
22  Q.   -- by Mr. Fuller?
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   Is that consistent with the testimony you've
25    given over the last two days?
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 1  A.   It is.
 2  Q.   There's some citations there, and then it
 3    says, Unlike rivers in humid regions that have more
 4    stable channels adjusted for more continuous stream
 5    flow with less variance in discharge, the dryland
 6    rivers are inherently more unstable and more prone to
 7    changes in channel configuration.
 8        Did I read that correctly?
 9  A.   You did.
10  Q.   Do you agree with that statement --
11  A.   Yes.
12  Q.   -- by Mr. Fuller?
13  A.   Yes.
14  Q.   Is that consistent with the testimony you've
15    given over the last two days?
16  A.   It is.
17  Q.   The next sentence says, In such unstable
18    fluvial systems, channel configuration depends much
19    upon the history of previous flood events.
20        Did I read that correctly?
21  A.   Yes.
22  Q.   Do you agree with that statement by
23    Mr. Fuller, quoted by this Commission in 2009?
24  A.   I do.
25  Q.   Is that consistent with your testimony in the


www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ


GILA RIVER      VOL. VIII      08/20/2014 Page 1877


 1    last two days?
 2  A.   It is.
 3  Q.   The next sentence says, Periods of high flood
 4    frequency are likely to correlate with periods of
 5    increased channel instability.
 6        Do you agree with that statement?
 7  A.   I do.
 8  Q.   Did I read it correctly?
 9  A.   Yes.
10  Q.   Is that consistent with the testimony you've
11    given to the Commission this week?
12  A.   Yes.
13  Q.   The next sentence says, Consequently channel
14    plan form and geometry of the lower Gila River in 1912
15    can also be characterized as mostly shallow and
16    braided.
17        Do you agree with that statement by
18    Mr. Fuller?
19  A.   I do.
20  Q.   Is that consistent with your testimony over
21    the last couple of days?
22  A.   It is.
23  Q.   The last sentence in that quote says, The
24    premise of this study is that the Gila River responds
25    to secular climatic variability by radical changes in
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 1    channel configuration and that periods of increased
 2    flood frequency correlate with unstable, braided
 3    channel conditions.
 4        Did I read that one correctly?
 5  A.   Almost.  You left out large flood frequency.
 6  Q.   I'm just checking to see if you're watching.
 7        Is that consistent with your testimony over
 8    the last couple days?
 9  A.   It is.
10  Q.   And do you agree with the statement by
11    Mr. Fuller, as quoted by the Commission in this 2009
12    report?
13  A.   I do agree with it.  I believe that actually
14    came from the Huckleberry document, but I agree with
15    it.
16  Q.   Huckleberry chapter in the report that was
17    signed by Mr. Fuller, prepared by Mr. Fuller; is that
18    correct?
19  A.   Yes.
20  Q.   And then the next sentence, and I'm not going
21    to go through and read it line by line, but the next
22    sentence talks about Mr. Huckleberry's testimony before
23    the Commission on November 17th, 2005; is that right?
24  A.   Yes.
25  Q.   Among other things, Dr. -- Mr. Huckleberry --
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 1    is it Mr. Huckleberry or Dr. Huckleberry?  Do you
 2    know?
 3  A.   I believe it's Mister.
 4  Q.   Okay.  Mr. Huckleberry stated that the Gila
 5    River was a very dynamic river because the discharge is
 6    so fluctuating and thus is similar to other rivers in
 7    dry lands and deserts.
 8        Is that what it says there?
 9  A.   It is.
10  Q.   And do you agree with that?
11  A.   I do.
12  Q.   Maybe I am going to read every sentence.
13        He stated that the character of the river had
14    been significantly changed by the very large floods,
15    particularly those in 1891, 1893, 1905 and 1916.
16        Is that correct?
17  A.   And, also, 1906.
18  Q.   And that's consistent with the testimony
19    you've given over the last couple of days?
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   And the rest of that page goes on to talk
22    about the statements that Mr. Huckleberry made in his
23    testimony to the Commission back on November 17th,
24    2005?
25  A.   Yes, it does.
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 1  Q.   And it's your understanding at that point he
 2    was testifying on behalf of the State Land Department
 3    itself; is that correct?
 4  A.   That's my understanding.
 5  Q.   So based upon your review of the Commission's
 6    report and the statement of the evidence that was
 7    presented back in 2005, including statements by
 8    Mr. Fuller and Dr. Huckleberry, Mr. Huckleberry, do you
 9    believe there's any reasonable dispute that the floods
10    in the late 1890s and early 1900s changed the channel
11    form of the Gila River?
12  A.   I think there's no dispute about that.
13  Q.   Do you think there's any reasonable
14    dispute of the fact that after those floods, in and
15    about the date of Arizona statehood, that the Gila
16    River, because of those floods, was a wide, braided
17    channel?
18  A.   I don't believe there's any dispute about
19    that.
20  Q.   And is that a big portion of what your
21    opinion has been today, those two things I just talked
22    about?  What your opinion has been over the last couple
23    of days, is that a big portion of what you're talking
24    about?
25  A.   Those are very important elements of my
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 1    opinion.
 2  Q.   And the other -- my understanding of the
 3    third element of your opinion is, based upon that and
 4    other evidence, you believe that the river was not
 5    navigable in its ordinary and natural condition?
 6  A.   That's correct.
 7  Q.   So if those are the three underpinnings,
 8    three main things you said in your testimony, the first
 9    two really have been agreed by the State's experts,
10    already found by the Commission, and also agreed to by
11    Dr. Huckleberry; is that right?
12  A.   That appears to be the case.
13  Q.   The last thing I want to deal with in this
14    report is, on Page 70 it starts talking about -- the
15    Commission there starts talking about Dr. Schumm.  And
16    we have had some discussion of Dr. Schumm over the last
17    couple days.  And he, I assume, also in this report --
18    excuse me.  This decision also shows that he agrees
19    with those two premises that we just talked about,
20    right?
21  A.   That's correct.
22  Q.   That there was a change in the channel and
23    that it was braided after the floods?
24  A.   That's correct.
25  Q.   Okay.  The only portion I want to refer you
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 1    to, in addition to that where it referred to
 2    Dr. Schumm, is, I think maybe it was in response to
 3    Mr. Slade's questioning yesterday.  It might have been
 4    Mr. Hyrcko today.  It all kind of blends together for
 5    me.  But one of them asked you, didn't Dr. Schumm just
 6    deal with the portion of the Gila River below the Salt
 7    River confluence.  Do you recall that?
 8  A.   I recall that question.
 9  Q.   And do you recall your answer was saying,
10    yeah, I think he did just deal with the lower portion
11    below the Salt River confluence?
12  A.   Yes.  I based that on the title of his
13    report.
14  Q.   And the title of his report probably leads to
15    that conclusion, in that it deals with the lower -- the
16    title says the lower Gila River; is that right?
17  A.   That's correct.
18  Q.   On Page 72 of the Commission's report,
19    there's some discussion, some quoted testimony by the
20    Commission, and testimony by Dr. Schumm, that would
21    seem to refute that conclusion; is that right?
22  A.   Yes.  He had information in his report that
23    applied, actually, to the middle reach of the Gila
24    upstream from the Salt River confluence.
25  Q.   And there on Page 72, they're quoting the
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 1    transcript from the November 17th, 2005 hearing at
 2    Page 21.  I would like you to just read along with me
 3    and make sure I'm reading this right.  They're talking
 4    about his opinion that the river is nonnavigable.  And
 5    if you start at the question about two-thirds of the
 6    way down the page.  And it doesn't say who was asking
 7    the questions.
 8        And you said that's in regard to lower reach.
 9    Is that correct?
10        Do you see that question?
11  A.   I see that.
12  Q.   Okay.  And then Dr. Schumm's response is:
13        Well, that's the title of my report, but the
14    data and information that I had from Huckleberry and
15    Burkham show that the river was -- the entire river
16    increased in width during that time.  So my assumption
17    is it's wide, it's shallow, steep, braided river.  And
18    that type of river without the vast quantities of water
19    in the Nile and --
20        I'm not even going to say this next word
21    right.  Brahmaputra?  How do you say that?
22  A.   Brahmaputra.
23  Q.   -- Brahmaputra, would likely be unsusceptible
24    to navigation.
25        And then after a break the quote continues:
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 1        So, Dr. Schumm, is it your opinion that the
 2    entire length of the Gila River through Arizona is
 3    non-navigable?  Answer:  I would have to say yes,
 4    that's my conclusion.
 5        Did I read that correctly?
 6  A.   You did.
 7  Q.   So based upon that testimony, quoted by the
 8    Commission itself in its report, is it your
 9    understanding that Dr. Schumm, in his testimony, dealt
10    with the entire Gila River and not just the portion
11    below the Salt River confluence?
12  A.   That's correct.
13  Q.   Okay.  Last question, I hope.
14        Is there anything that you've heard in the
15    testimony in June and the testimony over the last,
16    roughly, two and a half days this week that has changed
17    your conclusions and opinions as set forth in your
18    report?
19  A.   No.
20        MR. MCGINNIS: No more questions.
21        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Thank you.
22        Now, are there any other witnesses in
23    opposition?
24        Oh, do you want to ask him some?
25        MR. HELM: I would beg permission of
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 1    the Commission to do this.  I realize that I
 2    sometimes engage in a folly of thinking that lawyers
 3    won't bring up stuff that they didn't use on direct
 4    when they get the privilege to do redirect, but I
 5    usually get proved wrong, and Mark has once again
 6    proven me wrong.
 7        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Excuse me, John, but
 8    are you bringing up something that didn't come up on
 9    direct or cross?
10        MR. HELM: I believe so.  I mean this
11    last flight through your 2005 report I don't recall
12    Mark ever bringing up on his direct.
13        MR. MCGINNIS: Everything I did in
14    redirect was tied directly to something they brought up
15    in cross.  Now, my redirect doesn't have to be within
16    the scope of my direct if they go outside the scope of
17    my direct in their cross.
18        I thought I was pretty careful in
19    letting you know what portion of their cross I was
20    dealing with.  If you want to go back through that,
21    that's fine.  But there's no reason whatsoever for any
22    recross of this witness, and especially by a different
23    lawyer than the one who, from the same party, who
24    crossed him the first time.
25        MR. HELM: We never asked a question on
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 1    that report.  Now, I can't swear for --
 2        MR. SLADE: I didn't ask a question, nor
 3    did Dr. Mussetter cite that report in any of his
 4    documents.
 5        MR. MCGINNIS: That report was directly
 6    responsive to the questions from this gentleman,
 7    Mr. Slade, who seemed to be saying that the only thing
 8    that was different between those two maps was the
 9    difference in the mapping methods.
10        And I went through that report to show
11    that not only Mr. Slade -- not only Dr. Mussetter --
12    what's your name -- Dr. Mussetter, but also Mr. Slade's
13    own expert to this Commission had testified to the same
14    thing that Mr. Slade was trying to disprove.
15        MR. HELM: In the real world, that
16    wouldn't be connected.
17        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. McGinnis, I agree
18    with you.
19        Mr. Helm, proceed.
20        MR. HELM: Thank you.  I just have a
21    few.
22        MR. MCGINNIS: Will I have a chance to
23    re-redirect after he's done?
24        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. McGinnis, obviously
25    this chair is not going to restrict hardly anybody.
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 1        MR. MCGINNIS: Okay.
 2    
 3        RECROSS-EXAMINATION
 4        BY MR. HELM: 
 5  Q.   I just want to talk to you about the report
 6    that you -- Mark just asked --
 7        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Oh, the chair would be
 8    most impressed if you would do it standing up, because
 9    that means it's not going to take very long.
10        MR. HELM: It won't.
11        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: No, go ahead and --
12        MR. HELM: No, for me, you can see.
13        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: -- sit down, John.  Sit
14    down, John.
15        MR. HELM: It's only four paragraphs.
16        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Sit down.  We're going
17    to be fine.
18        MR. SPARKS: Do you want me to hold your
19    notes up over here so you can see them?
20        MR. HELM: You couldn't read it.
21        MR. SPARKS: No, so you can see them.
22        MR. HELM: No, no, that's fine.  I do
23    better this way.
24        BY MR. HELM: 
25  Q.   Now, regarding the Commission's 2005 report
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 1    that you've testified here to, as I get it, basically
 2    what you're saying is, I've read that report and my
 3    testimony is consistent with all of the things that are
 4    stated in that report?
 5  A.   In the section that deals with the geology
 6    and geomorphology of the river, I have read that in
 7    some detail, and my testimony is consistent with that.
 8  Q.   Is it fair to say that by no means -- well,
 9    let me back up one.
10        You didn't do any other scientific tests or
11    studies other than the ones that you've told us about
12    before redirect, correct?
13        MR. MCGINNIS: This is clearly outside
14    the scope of my questioning about the report.  If we're
15    going to go outside, outside, outside, we're going to
16    be here for several more days.  The questions of the
17    scientific study have nothing to do with what he said
18    he was just going to ask him about, which was the 2009
19    report.
20        MR. HELM: If I can get the rest of the
21    stuff out, it might, Mark.
22        MR. MCGINNIS: You just asked a
23    question, and I'm objecting to that question.
24        MR. HELM: I know you've got some
25    heartburn because you did a fairytale on it.  Let me
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 1    finish.
 2        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Excuse me.  This is the
 3    direction, okay?  Up here is where we talk.
 4        MR. MCGINNIS: I have no heartburn, by
 5    the way.
 6        BY MR. HELM: 
 7  Q.   The question goes like this:  What we're
 8    getting to is, you didn't do the research, did you,
 9    Doctor, that was done to support the 2005 report from
10    the Commission?
11        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Dr. Mussetter.
12        THE WITNESS: I did not do that
13    research, no.
14        BY MR. HELM: 
15  Q.   Okay.  Did you read all of that research?
16  A.   I couldn't say I read 100 percent of it, but
17    I read the bulk of it.
18  Q.   When you say the bulk, what do you mean by
19    the bulk?  Whose did you read?  Which of the witnesses'
20    research did you read?
21  A.   Well, clearly Dr. Schumm's.
22  Q.   Okay.
23  A.   I've been read several of Huckleberry's
24    papers.  I've read --
25  Q.   Did you read the paper or did you read the
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 1    primary work behind the paper?
 2  A.   I would have to go back through the details.
 3    I'm sure I read some of the primary work behind it as
 4    well.
 5  Q.   Okay.  And am I right you haven't done any
 6    independent research, other than what you've already
 7    told us about, rendering your other opinions?
 8  A.   We've been through that.  Yes.
 9  Q.   Did you read the entire transcript from the
10    2005 hearing?
11  A.   Not the entire transcript, no.
12  Q.   You weren't present for the 2005 hearing?
13  A.   I was not.
14  Q.   Okay.  Did you review every exhibit submitted
15    for the 2005 hearing?
16  A.   No.
17  Q.   And, lastly, Huckleberry and Burkham did not
18    study the entire Gila River in their reports, did they?
19  A.   That's true.
20        MR. HELM: All I have.
21        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Thank you.
22        Mr. McGinnis?
23        MR. MCGINNIS: Nothing worth responding
24    to there, Your Honor.
25        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Now, is there any other
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 1    evidence to be presented by a party who might be in
 2    opposition to a finding of navigability on the Gila?
 3        (No response.)
 4        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: If not, then are we
 5    ready for rebuttal testimony?
 6        MS. HERNBRODE: Mr. Chairman, in the
 7    interest of time, the State has carefully reviewed what
 8    has happened in these last set of weeks, and we don't
 9    feel we need any rebuttal.
10        However, if the Commission has any
11    questions of Mr. Fuller, we are happy to make him
12    available.
13        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Do you have any
14    questions for him?
15        No.
16        Jim?
17        MR. HOOD: Mr. Chairman, I just wanted
18    to remind you that there was some discussion about --
19    you got it.
20        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: You may show up late,
21    but you're on top of things.
22        Do you have any questions for --
23        MR. BREEDLOVE: Commissioner Allen might
24    have some questions for Rich.
25        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Hood, would it be
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 1    possible --
 2        Thank you, Dr. Mussetter.  We excuse
 3    you.
 4        Would it be possible if we could have
 5    Mr. Burtell come back up?
 6        MR. HOOD: That sounds great.
 7        MS. HERNBRODE: I would like to reserve
 8    rebuttal at this point, I guess, Mr. Chairman.  I'm not
 9    sure what we're doing here, so...
10        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: I'm about to explain.
11        MS. HERNBRODE: I apologize for jumping
12    ahead.
13        MR. HOOD: Just for Ms. Hernbrode, she
14    may not be aware.  This isn't -- I'm not going to be
15    asking Rich more questions, except perhaps in
16    follow-up.
17        There was some questions by the
18    Commissioners that they didn't have a chance, so this
19    is their opportunity for that.  So barring follow-up, I
20    don't have any questions.
21        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Oh, you're not?
22        Mr. Burtell, are you ready to come up?
23        MR. BURTELL: Yes.
24        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: You're not going to
25    have to.
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 1        You think the State surprises us.  Bill,
 2    you surprised us.
 3        What had happened was, at the conclusion
 4    of Mr. Burtell's previous testimony, the chair
 5    inadvertently concluded the hearing without allowing
 6    Commissioners to ask some questions.  And there was a
 7    Commissioner who had a question or two, and we've
 8    decided not to ask those.  That's what we were going to
 9    do.
10        Now, I understand that this kind of
11    concludes it for this part of the Gila River hearing.
12        We are scheduled to be in Florence a
13    week from Friday, on August 29, at 11:00 a.m., to take
14    local testimony only with regards to the Gila.
15        Is there any question about that?
16        Mr. Sparks.
17        MR. SPARKS: Mr. Chairman, yes.  Will
18    the record remain open through the conclusion of the
19    hearing in Florence?
20        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Let me get to that in
21    just a moment.  Let me hear from -- was that what you
22    were asking?
23        MR. HELM: I'm just trying to figure out
24    the time frame for my bass fishing.
25        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay.  Here's the
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 1    record situation:  The record will remain open until
 2    Monday, September 15, close of business, 5:00 p.m.
 3        You've either entered that into your PDA
 4    or you've written it down in your scribble, I mean
 5    scrabble.  Anyway.
 6        MR. SPARKS: The scribble part refers to
 7    the fact that you can read upside down from 20 feet
 8    away.  That's really good.
 9        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: But I know who to look
10    at.  Notice I didn't even go that direction.
11        MR. MEHNERT: And I'll send the notice
12    out to the people who aren't here.
13        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Is there anything else
14    we need to take up today?
15        Yes, John.
16        MR. HELM: Just to continue my
17    curiosity, in terms of when we're going to start
18    counting the 30 days that our memorandum is due, then
19    will that be 30 days after we get the -- or 10 days
20    after we get the transcript, will it be 10 days after
21    your hearing in Florence, assuming that the transcript
22    will have arrived by that period?  I'm just trying to
23    see what may help there.
24        MS. HERNBRODE: It won't have.
25        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Joy?


www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ


Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com


(35) Pages 1891 - 1894







In the Matter of the Navigability of the Gila River 
03-007-NAV


Transcript of Proceedings, Vol. VIII
August 20, 2014


GILA RIVER      VOL. VIII      08/20/2014 Page 1895


 1        MS. HERNBRODE: We will not have a
 2    transcript by next Friday, I can guarantee you that.
 3        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: We'll send out a notice
 4    as to when the briefing period will start.
 5        Mr. McGinnis.
 6        MR. MCGINNIS: Just in terms of giving
 7    us one less thing for lawyers to fight out, again, I
 8    think it would be helpful if you put the dates of the
 9    briefing in about, you know, when the briefs are due,
10    so we don't fight out about what --
11        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Rather than number of
12    days?
13        MR. MCGINNIS: Yeah.
14        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: We will do that.
15        MS. HERNBRODE: Sorry.  Can you remind
16    us?  I remember vaguely that there were perhaps some
17    page limitations.  I'm hoping that they will be quite
18    generous because, there was a lot --
19        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Let's ask Poncho.
20        MR. BREEDLOVE: Well, I thought we would
21    be consistent with what we've done in the past.
22        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: It will consistent with
23    what we've done in the past.
24        MR. BREEDLOVE: Which I believe was
25    20/30 and then unlimited for the findings of fact and
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 1    conclusions of law.
 2        MR. MEHNERT: Right.
 3        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay.  Now, does that
 4    help at all?
 5        We will give you number of days and date
 6    when due when we send it out, send out the notice.  It
 7    is 20 for opening, 30 for response, and then the
 8    proposed findings of fact, conclusions of law, and
 9    other items is an unlimited page.
10        Was it the other way around?
11        MR. HOOD: My recollection on the Santa
12    Cruz, which was the most recent one we finished
13    briefing, I thought it was 20 and 10, which may be a
14    little too short for this.  But it was shorter.  I know
15    that the response memos were shorter than the --
16        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: We don't like shorter
17    comments.
18        MR. BREEDLOVE: I think it was 30/20.
19        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Joe and I, we kind of
20    avoid those shorter comments.
21        MR. BREEDLOVE: I think it was 30/20.
22        (The proceedings were interrupted by the
23    Court Reporter.)
24        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: It's not that important
25    to have this on the record.
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 1        Okay, we will make it consistent.  When
 2    we send it out, it will be the same as for the Santa
 3    Cruz.  So if you want to go back and look at what the
 4    Santa Cruz was, it will be the same.
 5        MS. HERNBRODE: I'm sorry, Mr. Chairman.
 6    If you really are -- if it really is 20 and 10, I'm
 7    going to have to make a motion for more pages.
 8        So I think we can agree with the 20/30,
 9    whichever way you flip it, or 30/20.  I might be able
10    to make that happen.  But I --
11        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Let's discuss this
12    then.  What is a reasonable number John?
13        MR. HELM: For statement of facts or for
14    briefing?
15        MS. HERNBRODE: Briefs.
16        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: For introduction.
17        MR. HELM: Oh, just the introductory
18    portion?  I can get it in 100 pages without any problem
19    at all.
20        No, I mean, what do they give you, 30 at
21    the Court of Appeals these days?
22        MR. HYRCKO: It's word count.
23        MR. HELM: Word count.  How many words?
24        MR. HYRCKO: 15,000.
25        MR. HELM: 15,000 words?
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 1        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Then you have to get
 2    the word counter working.
 3        MS. HERNBRODE: Yeah, please don't do
 4    that.
 5        MR. HELM: 30 pages then for opening and
 6    20 for close.
 7        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Yeah, but we've had a
 8    lot more evidence in this particular one than we did
 9    the Santa Cruz, haven't we?
10        MR. BREEDLOVE: Yes.
11        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. McGinnis.
12        MR. MCGINNIS: I guess some of that has
13    to do with whether you want us to do our proposed
14    findings with the opening brief or with the response
15    brief.
16        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Proposed findings are
17    not subject to a page limitation.
18        MR. MCGINNIS: I guess that was what I
19    was thinking, was that if -- frankly, if our opening
20    brief, if we can do our proposed findings at the same
21    time, cite to the proposed findings, it makes your
22    brief not quite so long.  But 30 pages, I think, is
23    that what you -- is that what John suggested?
24        MR. HELM: Yes.
25        MR. MCGINNIS: That should be fine.
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 1        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Let's just do 30 all
 2    the way along.  You've got 30 to open.  You've got 30
 3    to respond with.
 4        MR. MCGINNIS: And no limit on the
 5    findings and conclusions?
 6        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: No limit on the
 7    findings, the proposed.
 8        MR. HELM: And my suggestion there would
 9    be that after the second -- because while I doubt it,
10    Mark might say something that would make me change my
11    mind on one of the proposed findings and I wouldn't put
12    it in.
13        MR. SPARKS: Your Honor, I've known him
14    50 years.  He's never changed his mind.
15        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mark?
16        MR. SPARKS: John.
17        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: John, I've heard that.
18        MR. HELM: I know.
19        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: At any rate --
20        MR. HELM: I'm a hardhead.
21        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: At any rate, if you
22    want to respond to something, you know, okay, so it's
23    going to be 30/30 is what it's going to be, and
24    proposed findings of fact, et cetera, that's unlimited.
25        MR. HOOD: And due with the response
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 1    memoranda, correct?
 2        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: You can do it when you
 3    want it --
 4        MR. HOOD: Okay.
 5        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: -- okay?
 6        MR. SPARKS: May we have posting as the
 7    time for posting is filing; in other words, posting
 8    with the U.S. Postal Service?
 9        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Yes.
10        MR. SPARKS: Thank you.
11        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: In other words, when
12    it's postmarked --
13        MR. SPARKS: Yeah, when it's postmarked.
14        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: -- is the same as being
15    received.
16        MR. SPARKS: Yes.  Well, at least filed.
17        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay, filed.
18        MR. SPARKS: Yeah.
19        MR. HELM: I would --
20        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: You want it with the
21    response?
22        MR. HELM: No, I would like it like
23    10 days after, because honestly, I always hope that
24    somebody will say something and I'll take something out
25    of it, because in the responses I get, I might say, oh,
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 1    that's right, you know, and forget it.
 2        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Just making a quick
 3    snap decision, here's what we're going to do with
 4    regards to the proposed findings of fact and
 5    conclusions of law.  You will have 10 days after any
 6    filing of a proposed findings of fact and conclusions
 7    of law in which to respond, with a maximum of 10 pages.
 8        Any other issues?
 9        Go ahead, John.
10        MR. HELM: The only thing is, I wasn't
11    clear when -- the findings of facts are going to be due
12    with the response memorandum?
13        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: That's the latest they
14    can be filed.  If you want to file them before that,
15    you can.
16        MR. HELM: Okay.
17        MR. BREEDLOVE: That's consistent with
18    what we've done.
19        MR. MEHNERT: Yes.
20        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Any other items?
21        Who's taking the rest of the donuts?
22    Oh, come on.  The security guard is going to have to
23    eat them now.
24        MR. MEHNERT: Who has young children?
25        MR. BREEDLOVE: That's the last thing I
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 1    need.
 2        MR. MEHNERT: Yeah, I know, more sugar.
 3        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay.  Then we're in
 4    recess.
 5        (The proceedings recessed at 2:03 p.m.)
 6    
 7    
 8    
 9    
10    
11    
12    
13    
14    
15    
16    
17    
18    
19    
20    
21    
22    
23    
24    
25    
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 1                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Well, we welcome you to
  


 2   day three of the hearing on the Gila River before the
  


 3   Navigable Streams Adjudication Commission, also known
  


 4   as Expendables 3.  Please keep that in mind.
  


 5                  Mr. Slade, I believe you were continuing
  


 6   to examine Dr. Mussetter.
  


 7                  MR. SLADE:  That's right.
  


 8                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Please begin.
  


 9                  MR. MEHNERT:  Do you want to do
  


10   rollcall?
  


11                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Yes, might as well.
  


12                  MR. MEHNERT:  Okay.  Commissioner
  


13   Horton?
  


14                  COMMISSIONER HORTON:  Here.
  


15                  MR. MEHNERT:  Commissioner Allen?
  


16                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Here.
  


17                  MR. MEHNERT:  Chairman Noble?
  


18                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Here.
  


19                  MR. MEHNERT:  And Mr. Henness?
  


20                  And Mr. Henness will be out today.
  


21                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you, George.
  


22                  Now, Edwin.
  


23                  MR. SLADE:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman,
  


24   Commissioners.
  


25                  Good morning, Mr. Mussetter.
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 1                  THE WITNESS:  Good morning.
  


 2
  


 3                CONTINUED CROSS-EXAMINATION
  


 4   BY MR. SLADE:
  


 5       Q.    Have you ever canoed a navigable river?
  


 6       A.    Yes.
  


 7                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Edwin, may I interrupt?
  


 8   It might help you just a little bit if you would pull
  


 9   the microphone closer to you.
  


10                  MR. SLADE:  Sure.
  


11                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  That will allow you to
  


12   relax a little bit and not have to bend over it.
  


13                  MS. HERNBRODE:  Not look like you're
  


14   jumping over the table.
  


15                  MR. SLADE:  Any other pointers?
  


16                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Nope.  I'll leave those
  


17   to Joy.  Please go ahead.  I'm sorry for interrupting.
  


18   BY MR. SLADE:
  


19       Q.    Which river was that that you canoed?
  


20       A.    The James River.
  


21       Q.    And are there any riffles or rapids in the
  


22   James River?
  


23       A.    No.
  


24       Q.    Are there any islands or sandbars?
  


25       A.    Yes, there are some islands.  There probably
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 1   are sandbars.  I don't recall specifically.  It's a
  


 2   very different river from the Gila, if that's what
  


 3   you're driving at.
  


 4       Q.    Have you ever encountered a beaver dam on a
  


 5   river?
  


 6       A.    Yes.
  


 7       Q.    And what did you do?
  


 8             Were you canoeing the river; were you boating
  


 9   the river?
  


10       A.    Yes.
  


11       Q.    And where was the beaver dam?
  


12       A.    It crossed -- probably to be more specific, I
  


13   wouldn't call it a river.  It's a stream, a small
  


14   stream.
  


15       Q.    And what did you do when you encountered the
  


16   beaver dam?
  


17       A.    Well, I got out of the canoe and carried it
  


18   around and got back in the canoe.
  


19       Q.    We touched on this a little yesterday, but
  


20   I'm not sure I got -- I understood your answer.  Is the
  


21   Colorado navigable?
  


22       A.    The Colorado below the mouth of the Gila
  


23   certainly is, has been deemed to be navigable, yes.
  


24       Q.    In your opinion, from Utah to Yuma, the
  


25   Colorado, is that a navigable river?
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 1       A.    From Utah --
  


 2       Q.    So the Arizona Colorado River.
  


 3       A.    I don't know the legal status of the entire
  


 4   reach.
  


 5       Q.    But in terms of your expertise as a
  


 6   hydrologist, as an expert boater, would you say the
  


 7   Colorado is navigable from Utah to Yuma?
  


 8       A.    I'm not certain that I would agree that all
  


 9   of that reach meets the federal standard for
  


10   navigability.
  


11       Q.    What about the state standard?
  


12       A.    My instructions are to apply the federal
  


13   standard, and it's my understanding that those are also
  


14   the instructions to the Commission; you know, the
  


15   federal standard is what controls.
  


16       Q.    And which sections would you say are
  


17   navigable or which are not?
  


18       A.    According to what standard?
  


19       Q.    The standards that you're using, federal
  


20   tests, state tests.
  


21       A.    Well, the short section that I showed the
  


22   image of in my presentation yesterday was deemed to be
  


23   navigable, and I agree that that reach is probably
  


24   navigable.
  


25       Q.    Okay, but I believe that was in Utah; is that
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 1   correct?
  


 2       A.    Yes, that is in Utah.
  


 3       Q.    So, again, in Arizona, I think you just said
  


 4   some sections of the Colorado are navigable.  Which
  


 5   sections would those be?
  


 6       A.    Well, again, I'm not sure.  I haven't studied
  


 7   the whole reach.  What you're really referring to is
  


 8   the Grand Canyon, and I'm not sure if that really meets
  


 9   the standard for the federal test of navigability.
  


10             Certainly we have commerce going on there
  


11   with recreational boating, but that -- you know, the
  


12   kinds of boats that can customarily or, you know, that
  


13   customarily were being used at the time of statehood
  


14   are not really suitable boats for that reach of the
  


15   river.  I would have to say it's probably not navigable
  


16   according to the federal standard.
  


17       Q.    How about the lower reach of the Colorado in
  


18   Arizona where steamboats were in use, would that part
  


19   be navigable?
  


20       A.    I think I already said that it's my
  


21   understanding that it has been deemed to be navigable.
  


22       Q.    How about the Grand Canyon to the Black
  


23   Canyon, are you familiar with that area?
  


24       A.    I'm not specifically familiar with that area.
  


25       Q.    What percent of the time is a river in a
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 1   flood state, a dryland river like Arizona's Gila?
  


 2       A.    Typically, a small percentage of the time.
  


 3       Q.    Less than 5 percent?
  


 4       A.    I would say most dryland rivers that would be
  


 5   the case.
  


 6       Q.    How does vegetation affect a channel in your
  


 7   eyes, as a hydrologist?  A lack of vegetation or extra
  


 8   vegetation, how does that affect a channel?
  


 9       A.    Vegetation affects a channel in many
  


10   different ways.  It tends to increase the hydraulic
  


11   roughness, so that tends to reduce the capacity, make
  


12   the velocity slower, the depth greater.  It also tends
  


13   to stabilize the channel so it doesn't have as much of
  


14   a tendency to erode laterally.
  


15       Q.    And when you talk about stabilize the
  


16   channel, are you talking about the low flow channel,
  


17   the main flow channel?
  


18       A.    I'm talking about wherever the vegetation is
  


19   growing.
  


20       Q.    Would you agree that vegetation can stabilize
  


21   then the low flow channel?
  


22       A.    It could.
  


23       Q.    Could you turn to Tab 20, please?  This is
  


24   Exhibit X025, Part 116, and this is Ross's 1923 USGS
  


25   Water Supply Paper 498.
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 1             Could you read the highlighted portion?
  


 2       A.    Yes.
  


 3             The title of the section is Channel in the
  


 4   flood plain.  Gila River when first seen by white men
  


 5   presented a very different aspect from that of today.
  


 6   (See Page 64 through 67.)  It had a well-defined
  


 7   channel with hard banks, on which cottonwoods and other
  


 8   green-leaved plants were growing.  The current was
  


 9   swift and deep enough even in comparatively dry
  


10   portions of the year to make fording difficult, except
  


11   at a few places, and to float a flat boat of some size.
  


12   Fish were plentiful enough to be depended on as food
  


13   throughout the year by a considerable number of
  


14   Indians.  Strangest of all to one who knows the
  


15   silt-laden waters of the present stream, the water of
  


16   Gila River is reported to have been clear and
  


17   sea-green.
  


18       Q.    Any reason to disagree with that account?
  


19       A.    I presume this is reported as Mr. Littlefield
  


20   did; it's depicting what people reported that they saw.
  


21   But, you know, you're pulling one page out of a large
  


22   document, and I don't really have the full context of
  


23   what they're talking about here, so...
  


24       Q.    Fair enough.
  


25             Could you turn to Tab 19, please?  And this
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 1   is also Ross's USGS Water Supply Paper 498,
  


 2   Exhibit X025, Part 116, Page 66.
  


 3             And could you read the highlighted portion,
  


 4   please?
  


 5       A.    Yes.
  


 6             More recent information is furnished by
  


 7   Mr. John Montgomery, a ranchman residing in Arlington,
  


 8   who has had many years' experience in southwestern
  


 9   Arizona.  He states that in the summer of 1889, when a
  


10   boy of 12, he was in camp near Powers Butte, on Gila
  


11   River.  At that time the river had a well-defined
  


12   channel with hard, sloping banks lined with cottonwoods
  


13   and bushes.  The water was clear, was 5 or 6 feet deep,
  


14   and contained many fish.  The grazing lands near the
  


15   river were in much better condition then than now.
  


16   Several varieties of grass then abundant have since
  


17   died out.  Mr. Montgomery attributes the change in the
  


18   character of the river largely to the practice of
  


19   cattlemen of burning the heavy brush that once covered
  


20   its banks in order to drive out wild cattle which had
  


21   sought shelter there.  This destroyed the natural
  


22   protection and left the soft silty soil exposed to
  


23   rapid erosion.  The disastrous floods of 1890 and 1891
  


24   did much to break down the river's confining banks,
  


25   partly filled the channel with sediment, and in general
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 1   interfered with the equilibrium that had been
  


 2   established.
  


 3       Q.    Any reason to disagree with that account?
  


 4       A.    Well, again, I assume this is the facts, a
  


 5   reporting of what this person read from the historic
  


 6   accounts.
  


 7       Q.    And you did reference Ross's 1923 paper in
  


 8   your report?
  


 9       A.    I did.
  


10       Q.    Were you here for Mr. Burtell's testimony?
  


11       A.    Most of it, I believe.
  


12       Q.    And were you here for Mr. Littlefield's
  


13   testimony?
  


14       A.    I was.
  


15       Q.    And would you agree that -- with
  


16   Mr. Littlefield's, and I think you just did, his
  


17   opinion that primary source information is generally
  


18   the most reliable in determining the condition of the
  


19   river?
  


20       A.    Well, I'm not a historian, but that appeals
  


21   to common sense, yes.
  


22       Q.    And as a professional hydrologist, a serious
  


23   recreational boater, if I might call you that, would
  


24   you agree that you can learn a lot about a river from
  


25   actually having boots on the ground?
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 1       A.    Sure.
  


 2       Q.    And you mentioned yesterday that you haven't
  


 3   done a boots-on-the-ground inspection of the Gila.  Do
  


 4   you know of any experts in this case that have done a
  


 5   boots-on-the-ground inspection of the Gila?
  


 6       A.    Well, apparently Mr. Fuller has done some.
  


 7       Q.    I would like to take a look at your slides,
  


 8   and I believe your newest version is Tab 28, which is
  


 9   Exhibit X026.  And if we could go to Page 6.
  


10             Is this the Mosquito Fork River?
  


11       A.    Yes, it is.
  


12       Q.    And would you say this part of the river is
  


13   navigable?
  


14       A.    Somehow I knew that question was coming.
  


15             This section of the river would be navigable
  


16   by small, shallow draft boats.
  


17       Q.    Is this a dryland river?
  


18       A.    This is not a dryland river.
  


19       Q.    If we could go to Slide 7.
  


20             And this is the Platte River; is that
  


21   correct?
  


22       A.    That's correct.
  


23       Q.    And that's a Midwestern river?
  


24       A.    It is.
  


25       Q.    Would you characterize this river as similar
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 1   to the Gila?
  


 2       A.    There are similarities between this river and
  


 3   the Gila.
  


 4       Q.    What are the similarities?
  


 5       A.    Well, the braiding character of it,
  


 6   primarily.
  


 7       Q.    So you would disagree with Graf's quote that
  


 8   we cited yesterday that said Midwestern rivers have
  


 9   differences from dryland rivers?
  


10       A.    I didn't say that, no.
  


11       Q.    Are we looking at the low flow or the flood
  


12   channel here?
  


13       A.    Well, that's -- the answer to that question
  


14   is not straightforward in this instance, because we
  


15   have to define what period of time we're talking about.
  


16             The area that's covered by -- that's within
  


17   the rough bounds of the white line roughly corresponds
  


18   to the present-day flood channel, although large floods
  


19   can get out into the overbank area.  But the historic
  


20   flood channel is much wider than what you see here.  In
  


21   fact, it goes off the page on the top for some
  


22   distance.
  


23       Q.    And you have a chart at the bottom of the
  


24   page.  Is that your chart?
  


25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    And that shows the channel geometry in a
  


 2   cross section; is that correct?
  


 3       A.    Yes.  It shows the ground profile along that
  


 4   white line.
  


 5       Q.    Did you create a chart like this for the Gila
  


 6   at any point?
  


 7       A.    I did not.
  


 8       Q.    If we could turn to Slide 8, please.
  


 9             Which river is this?
  


10       A.    This is the Copper River.
  


11       Q.    And where is that located?
  


12       A.    In Alaska.
  


13       Q.    Is this a dryland river?
  


14       A.    No.
  


15       Q.    Is it navigable?
  


16       A.    I actually don't know the status of the
  


17   navigability determinations on this particular river.
  


18       Q.    Is it braided?
  


19       A.    Sure.
  


20       Q.    If we could turn to Slide 9.
  


21             And this is the Chulitna River of Alaska?
  


22       A.    That's correct.
  


23       Q.    Is this a dryland alluvial river?
  


24       A.    It is not a dryland river.
  


25       Q.    And was this photo taken from a helicopter or
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 1   on the ground?
  


 2       A.    It was taken from a helicopter.
  


 3       Q.    Were you in the helicopter?
  


 4       A.    I was.
  


 5       Q.    Is this a navigable river?
  


 6       A.    Again, I don't know the status of the
  


 7   navigability determination from a legal standpoint.  I
  


 8   suspect it would not be navigable.
  


 9       Q.    If we could turn to Slide 10, please.
  


10             Now, you said yesterday this is the only
  


11   photo that you have of the Gila; is that correct?
  


12       A.    No, I didn't say that.
  


13       Q.    Do you have other photos of the Gila?
  


14       A.    Yes.
  


15       Q.    But you didn't include them in your
  


16   presentation?
  


17       A.    I did not.
  


18       Q.    Why is that?
  


19       A.    Because they depict the Gila River as it is
  


20   today, and we're not talking about the Gila River as it
  


21   is today.
  


22       Q.    What about photos as the Gila River was
  


23   closer to statehood, do you have any of those photos?
  


24       A.    Well, I certainly have seen, I've read the
  


25   documents, I've read the other expert reports, I've
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 1   seen many of the photos that we've all seen in this
  


 2   proceeding.
  


 3       Q.    Why did you choose to put this photo in?
  


 4       A.    I just thought it was a good illustration of
  


 5   the braided character of this portion of the Gila
  


 6   River.
  


 7       Q.    When you did your flyover, what percent of
  


 8   the time would you say the Gila was braided?
  


 9       A.    It was braided the entire time that I was
  


10   doing the flyover.  I don't understand your question.
  


11       Q.    Was there a main low flow channel during your
  


12   flyover?
  


13       A.    In places, yes.
  


14       Q.    What percent of the time was there a main low
  


15   flow channel?
  


16       A.    At the risk of helping you, do you mean what
  


17   percentage of the distance?
  


18       Q.    Yes.
  


19       A.    I couldn't make an estimate of that.  I would
  


20   say a reasonable percentage.
  


21       Q.    Majority?
  


22       A.    I'm not sure I would agree with that.  I
  


23   would have to go back and study the photography more.
  


24       Q.    And has this part of the Gila been subject to
  


25   diversions?
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 1       A.    Yes.
  


 2       Q.    Is this below the Gillespie Dam?
  


 3       A.    Yes.
  


 4       Q.    And what time of year was this photo taken?
  


 5       A.    As I said yesterday, I believe it was
  


 6   November.  Might have been October.  I think it was
  


 7   November.
  


 8       Q.    Do you know the depth of the channels in this
  


 9   picture?
  


10       A.    I don't know the exact depth.  They're very
  


11   shallow, though.
  


12       Q.    How do you know they're very shallow?
  


13       A.    Pretty obvious from the photograph.
  


14       Q.    Can you explain?
  


15       A.    My understanding of the rivers.
  


16       Q.    Say that again?
  


17       A.    I said my understanding of rivers, the
  


18   character of rivers, and the topography that I can see
  


19   in this photograph, it's very shallow.
  


20       Q.    But you've no data to back that up?
  


21       A.    I didn't sit down and measure the depth here,
  


22   no.
  


23       Q.    And you didn't try to float it in a boat?
  


24       A.    No, I didn't try to float it in a boat.
  


25       Q.    Do you know how much flow is coming through
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 1   at this point, what the cfs number might be?
  


 2       A.    I don't know.
  


 3       Q.    If we could turn to Slide 11.
  


 4             Is this a quote from United States v. Utah?
  


 5       A.    Yes, it is.
  


 6       Q.    Are you familiar with what the case decided
  


 7   in regards to impediments like sandbars?  In other
  


 8   words, did they say anything else about sandbars and
  


 9   how they would view them regarding navigability?
  


10       A.    Well, I think in general it depends on the
  


11   circumstance.  Sandbars don't in and of themselves make
  


12   a river not navigable.  Some sandbars make it very
  


13   challenging.
  


14       Q.    I'm going to read from U.S. v. State of Utah,
  


15   283 U.S. 64, pin cite 86:  Quote, Recognizing the
  


16   difficulties which are thus created, the master is
  


17   plainly right in his conclusion that the mere fact of
  


18   the presence of such sandbars causing impediments to
  


19   navigation does not make a river nonnavigable.
  


20             That's essentially what you just said,
  


21   correct?
  


22       A.    That's fair.
  


23       Q.    If we could turn to Slide 12, please.
  


24             These are your river dynamics slides, and in
  


25   the second bullet point, the first paragraph, you talk


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







Transcript of Proceedings, Vol. VIII - August 20, 2014 1775


  


 1   about the increased frequency of floods and then a
  


 2   braided channel.  How long does the braided channel
  


 3   last after a flood?
  


 4       A.    It can persist for an extended period of
  


 5   time.  Depends on the circumstances.
  


 6       Q.    And are you talking about there the flood
  


 7   channel?
  


 8       A.    I'm talking about the entire channel.
  


 9       Q.    And when the flood recedes, what happens?
  


10       A.    Well, the flow becomes shallower, some of the
  


11   braid channels consolidate, some of them become dry.
  


12       Q.    And they consolidate into what?
  


13       A.    Less channels.
  


14       Q.    A low flow main channel?
  


15       A.    In some cases.
  


16                  MR. SLADE:  That's it for me,
  


17   Dr. Littlefield.  Thanks.
  


18                  MS. HERNBRODE:  Mussetter.
  


19                  MR. SLADE:  Oh, Dr. Mussetter.  Excuse
  


20   me.  I'm looking at Littlefield.
  


21                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Is there any other
  


22   examination, State Land Department?
  


23                  MS. HERNBRODE:  No, we're good.  Thank
  


24   you, sir.
  


25                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  And, Mr. Hyrcko, I


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







Transcript of Proceedings, Vol. VIII - August 20, 2014 1776


  


 1   think you're next.
  


 2                  So nice of John to let you have that
  


 3   chair.
  


 4                  MR. HYRCKO:  Well, I prefer to sit on
  


 5   the left.  I'm blind in this eye, so I have to --
  


 6                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Hey, that's better when
  


 7   he's on your left.
  


 8                  MR. HELM:  He can exit quicker from this
  


 9   side than he can this side.
  


10                  MR. SPARKS:  That way you don't have to
  


11   look at John.
  


12                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  All right, we're going
  


13   to take a short break while you're getting set up.
  


14                  MR. HYRCKO:  Thank you.
  


15                  (A recess was taken from 9:31 a.m. to
  


16   9:37 a.m.)
  


17                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Are you going to do
  


18   this by yourself?
  


19                  MR. HYRCKO:  No, I think he'll be back.
  


20
  


21                      CROSS-EXAMINATION
  


22   BY MR. HYRCKO:
  


23       Q.    Good morning, Dr. Mussetter.  My name is
  


24   Chuck Hyrcko.  I'm an attorney representing Maricopa
  


25   County in this matter.
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 1       A.    Good morning.
  


 2       Q.    I'm not a hydrologist, but I'm going to ask
  


 3   you some questions, so if I'm not clear or if I use a
  


 4   term of art in your profession inaccurately, I would
  


 5   appreciate it if you would just ask me to clarify so
  


 6   that the record is clear and that we're communicating.
  


 7   Is that fair?
  


 8       A.    Sure.
  


 9       Q.    I understand that you haven't testified
  


10   previously or submitted any other reports to ANSAC for
  


11   any other river in Arizona at this point; is that
  


12   correct?
  


13       A.    No, that's not correct.
  


14       Q.    Which other rivers have you submitted reports
  


15   to ANSAC or testified on?
  


16       A.    The upper Salt.
  


17       Q.    The upper Salt?
  


18             And you testified yesterday that you did --
  


19   you have testified in other cases of navigability in
  


20   other states, correct?
  


21       A.    I have not actually testified in other cases.
  


22       Q.    Worked on other cases of navigability?
  


23       A.    Yes.
  


24       Q.    Is that title navigability or some other?
  


25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    And that was -- you have -- I recorded two.
  


 2   One in North Carolina, the Yadkin River, is that one of
  


 3   them?
  


 4       A.    That's correct.
  


 5       Q.    And you are working for Alcoa on that case?
  


 6       A.    That's correct.
  


 7       Q.    Were you a proponent of navigability or an
  


 8   opponent of navigability?
  


 9       A.    An opponent of navigability.
  


10       Q.    And then the other case that I noted, you
  


11   worked on the PPL Montana case, correct?
  


12       A.    That's correct.
  


13       Q.    And in that case you worked for PPL Montana,
  


14   and they were an opponent of navigability as well?
  


15       A.    That's correct.
  


16       Q.    And then you also worked on -- the cases you
  


17   worked on in Alaska, were those for navigability as
  


18   well?
  


19       A.    There is only one navigability case in
  


20   Alaska.
  


21       Q.    And that's the Mosquito Fork?
  


22       A.    That's correct.
  


23       Q.    And you were working for the Department of
  


24   Justice?
  


25       A.    That's correct.
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 1       Q.    And were they the proponent of navigability?
  


 2       A.    They're the opponent.
  


 3       Q.    The Department of Justice is an opponent of
  


 4   navigability?
  


 5       A.    Yes.
  


 6       Q.    Can you tell me specifically what you did in
  


 7   each of those cases?
  


 8             Let's start with the Yadkin River.  What did
  


 9   you do, specifically, in that case?
  


10       A.    Well, similar to what I've done here, we
  


11   reviewed a large body of historical evidence,
  


12   historical mapping, did field trips to the river, a
  


13   field trip to the river, where we viewed the modern day
  


14   conditions of the river.  And then in that particular
  


15   case, actually did some modeling to try to understand
  


16   the hydraulic conditions in the river.
  


17       Q.    Is that all that you did on the Yadkin River?
  


18       A.    From a technical perspective, yes.
  


19       Q.    And you then testified; is that correct?
  


20       A.    No.
  


21       Q.    You did not.
  


22             And what about on the PPL Montana case, what
  


23   did you do in that case, specifically?
  


24       A.    Primarily reviewed documents and, again, did
  


25   field reconnaissance of the reaches that were in
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 1   question.
  


 2       Q.    Was that field reconnaissance on the ground,
  


 3   as was referred to earlier by the State's attorney?
  


 4       A.    Some on the ground and some aerial.
  


 5       Q.    So in both of those cases you did
  


 6   on-the-ground work?
  


 7       A.    Yes.
  


 8       Q.    How about in the Mosquito Fork case, what did
  


 9   you do specifically in that case?
  


10       A.    I have visited the area a few times.  I have
  


11   collected a significant amount of data.  I'm in the
  


12   process of analyzing data.  I've reviewed historical
  


13   documents.
  


14       Q.    Have you done any fieldwork in that case?
  


15       A.    Yes.
  


16       Q.    On the ground type fieldwork?
  


17       A.    Yes.
  


18       Q.    Did you do any modeling in your work here in
  


19   the Gila River?
  


20       A.    No.
  


21       Q.    And your only experience of the lower Gila
  


22   was an overflight that you did in November of 2013; is
  


23   that accurate?
  


24       A.    That's correct.
  


25       Q.    I'm going to ask you a little bit more about
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 1   that overflight when we get to the photographs, but
  


 2   we'll leave it there for now.
  


 3             Dr. Mussetter, as part of your educational
  


 4   training, are you trained in the scientific method?
  


 5       A.    Yes.
  


 6       Q.    And the foundation of the scientific method
  


 7   is formulation, testing and modification of hypotheses
  


 8   and measuring evidence against those hypotheses,
  


 9   correct?
  


10       A.    Yes.
  


11       Q.    Do you agree that in the scientific method
  


12   one doesn't posit a single alternative hypotheses;
  


13   rather, you propose various hypotheses and then set out
  


14   to locate evidence that will test those hypotheses; is
  


15   that accurate?
  


16       A.    That's a fair statement, yes.
  


17       Q.    Would you agree that the scientific method is
  


18   intended to be as objective as possible and to avoid
  


19   bias?
  


20       A.    Sure.
  


21       Q.    Did you do a scientific method in this case?
  


22       A.    Yes, I would say I did.
  


23       Q.    What were your hypotheses in this case?
  


24       A.    Well, one hypothesis would be that the Gila
  


25   River meets the standard of navigability.
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 1       Q.    And the alternative is --
  


 2       A.    It does not.
  


 3       Q.    -- it isn't navigable?
  


 4             So you have two hypotheses?
  


 5       A.    Yeah.
  


 6       Q.    And you mentioned yesterday, I believe, that
  


 7   you worked with or were familiar with the work that
  


 8   Dr. Schumm did in 2005; is that correct?
  


 9       A.    I was familiar with it, yes.
  


10       Q.    And so in your developing of hypotheses, you
  


11   started fresh; you didn't look at what Dr. Schumm did
  


12   and start from there and work forward?
  


13       A.    Well, I can't say that I started fresh.  I
  


14   certainly was aware of what he did.  He and I discussed
  


15   the evidence that he was looking at, his findings about
  


16   that evidence.  So I had that in my mind when I started
  


17   this.  But I also backed up and seriously asked myself
  


18   could I, with scientific integrity, argue that this
  


19   river meets the federal test for navigability.
  


20       Q.    So I'm going to ask you a little bit more
  


21   about Dr. Schumm's work, but I've got some more
  


22   generalized questions here first.
  


23             Since you're very familiar with the PPL
  


24   Montana case, as you said earlier, you actually worked
  


25   on that case for the opponent, why is it that you did
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 1   not consider the Gila River on a segment-by-segment
  


 2   basis, as is required by the PPL holding?
  


 3       A.    Well, as I said in some of my conversations
  


 4   yesterday, it's my opinion, based on all the evidence
  


 5   that I've seen to this point, that the Gila River
  


 6   through Arizona doesn't meet the federal test for
  


 7   navigability, and so it's unnecessary to break it into
  


 8   segments.
  


 9       Q.    So is it fair to say that you did the
  


10   analysis of the various segments and then decided it
  


11   was navigable, or did you look at the whole river,
  


12   decide it was navigable, and then decide that you
  


13   didn't need to break it into segments, just so that I
  


14   can understand it?
  


15                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Hyrcko, I'm not
  


16   quite -- did he decide that it was navigable, is that
  


17   the question you're asking?
  


18                  MR. HYRCKO:  I'm sorry, I must be asking
  


19   the wrong question.
  


20   BY MR. HYRCKO:
  


21       Q.    Okay.  The question I'm asking then is,
  


22   apparently very badly, is that when you decided -- when
  


23   you came up with -- you said that you did a scientific
  


24   process in this case, correct?
  


25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    And you also said that you decided that based
  


 2   on your experience or what you saw, you didn't need to
  


 3   do any segment-by-segment analysis because the -- is
  


 4   that accurate?
  


 5       A.    Yes.
  


 6             But let me clarify that.  I mean I look at
  


 7   the river, different portions of the river as I study
  


 8   the information that's available.  So if that's what
  


 9   you mean by segmentation, yes, I consider there are --
  


10   the river has different characteristics all along its
  


11   length, and it's reasonable, depending on your purpose,
  


12   to break it into segments, depending on your purpose.
  


13             As I said, I didn't feel that I needed to
  


14   break it into segments in accordance with the
  


15   instructions in PPL Montana, because in my mind, the
  


16   entire reach that's in question here was not navigable
  


17   under its ordinary and natural condition at the date of
  


18   statehood, and so there's no reason to do that.
  


19       Q.    So in your opinion then, the PPL holding is
  


20   to first determine -- excuse me.
  


21             So in your opinion, the PPL holding doesn't
  


22   require you to do an independent analysis of each
  


23   segment; rather, you can look at the entire river first
  


24   and then -- I guess what I'm trying to get at here is,
  


25   you acknowledge there's some differences in the geology
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 1   of the river as it flows through Arizona, correct?
  


 2       A.    Yes.
  


 3       Q.    And one of those areas is bedrock-controlled,
  


 4   for instance, the Gila Box and the area downstream of
  


 5   San Carlos?
  


 6       A.    Yes.
  


 7       Q.    But you determined that -- and then there's
  


 8   other areas that are alluvial, correct?
  


 9       A.    Yes.
  


10       Q.    But in your opinion, the areas that were
  


11   bedrock and the areas that were alluvial were not
  


12   significantly different enough to do an analysis of
  


13   each of those areas and look at the historical evidence
  


14   for those specific areas?
  


15       A.    I didn't say they weren't significantly
  


16   different.  My conclusion is that the entire reach is
  


17   not navigable, and I don't need to break it into
  


18   segments.  I don't need to consider -- I certainly
  


19   consider the individual characteristics of different
  


20   portions of the river.  But to formally say, you know,
  


21   I have Segment 1 here and Segment 2 there, I don't need
  


22   to do that, because the whole thing is not navigable.
  


23       Q.    And that is largely based on the Kelvin gauge
  


24   data, correct?
  


25                  MR. SPARKS:  Pardon me.  Did you say


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







Transcript of Proceedings, Vol. VIII - August 20, 2014 1786


  


 1   Calva or Kelvin?  There are two gauges.
  


 2                  MR. HYRCKO:  Kelvin.
  


 3                  MR. SPARKS:  With an E?
  


 4                  MR. HYRCKO:  K-E-L-V-I-N.
  


 5                  MR. SPARKS:  Thank you.  I'm sorry.
  


 6                  THE WITNESS:  Could you restate the
  


 7   question, please?
  


 8   BY MR. HYRCKO:
  


 9       Q.    And your opinions, at least in the work that
  


10   is in your presentation, is based largely on the flow
  


11   data from the Kelvin gauge site for the USGS, correct?
  


12       A.    Well, the Kelvin gauge data forms part of the
  


13   basis for my opinion.  I'm using the information from
  


14   that gauge to illustrate points about my understanding
  


15   of the behavior of the Gila River, the hydrologic
  


16   behavior of the Gila River.  Certainly it varies along
  


17   the reach, would be different at different gauges; but
  


18   the general characteristics are very similar.
  


19       Q.    You testified yesterday about what your idea
  


20   of what the term ordinary means, but it's not really
  


21   clear to me what you said.
  


22             Could you please define for me what you
  


23   understand the word ordinary to mean as it is used in
  


24   the Winkleman case?
  


25       A.    Well, it primarily refers to the condition --
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 1   in my reading of it, it primarily refers to the flow
  


 2   conditions that occur most of the time.  In other
  


 3   words, it excludes extreme floods and it excludes -- I
  


 4   intended to say excludes if I didn't.  It excludes
  


 5   extreme floods and it excludes severe drought.
  


 6       Q.    And when you did your evaluation of the river
  


 7   to determine its natural condition, did you evaluate it
  


 8   as a river that was untouched by civilization excluding
  


 9   any man-made diversions?
  


10       A.    I did the best I could, given the available
  


11   data, to understand what the river would have looked
  


12   like in the absence of those factors.
  


13       Q.    What time frame did you use as the standard
  


14   for this evaluation, or to put it another way, what is
  


15   your time period for untouched by civilization period
  


16   that would have existed at statehood but for human
  


17   intervention?
  


18       A.    Well, strictly speaking, it would be even
  


19   before the Hohokams were in the area.  But as is
  


20   described in the Winkleman case, and I understand that
  


21   that case strictly applies to the lower Salt River, but
  


22   the time frames that they discuss I think also equally
  


23   apply to the Gila River.  They said, well, the Native
  


24   American diversions had died out enough by the early
  


25   1800s, so that the early to, you know, perhaps up to
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 1   1850, 1860 in their mind would be representative of
  


 2   natural conditions.
  


 3       Q.    Is all the data that you looked at set out in
  


 4   your report?
  


 5       A.    No.
  


 6       Q.    What other data did you use that wasn't set
  


 7   out in your report?
  


 8       A.    Well, I looked at the data from the other
  


 9   gauges along the system.
  


10       Q.    Which other gauges?
  


11       A.    I would have to go back through my notes.
  


12   There's a gauge up at the head of Safford Valley that I
  


13   remember.  There's a gauge at Maricopa that has a
  


14   shorter period of record.  I looked some at the gauge
  


15   below Gillespie Dam.
  


16       Q.    So you looked at the Kelvin gauge data, the
  


17   Safford, and is that the head of Safford Valley?
  


18       A.    Yes.
  


19       Q.    Not the Calva Safford Valley?
  


20       A.    I probably also looked at the Calva gauge.  I
  


21   pulled most -- all of the gauge data that I could find.
  


22       Q.    And then you looked at the Maricopa data in
  


23   the region of Maricopa?
  


24       A.    Right.
  


25       Q.    And then Gillespie Dam.
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 1             What is your definition then of what is the
  


 2   natural and ordinary condition of the river on the date
  


 3   of statehood?
  


 4       A.    Well, it's what the river would have looked
  


 5   like -- specifically with respect to natural, it's what
  


 6   the river would have looked like on the date of
  


 7   statehood if we had not had the diversions and the
  


 8   other human impacts that have occurred along the reach.
  


 9       Q.    Did you evaluate the river in its ordinary
  


10   condition separately from the river in its natural
  


11   condition?  For example, floods are natural by
  


12   definition, but they're not ordinary.  So did you look
  


13   at the river separate from its natural condition, in
  


14   its ordinary condition?
  


15       A.    Well, I think what you're trying to do is get
  


16   me to segment the ordinary from the impact of the
  


17   floods, and as I said repeatedly yesterday, I believe
  


18   that during the very relatively short period of time
  


19   that a flood is occurring on the river, that probably
  


20   is excluded from the ordinary definition; but certainly
  


21   the effects of that on -- the long-term effects of that
  


22   on the river are part of the ordinary condition.  You
  


23   can't discount the floods.
  


24       Q.    So what's your basis for the long-term effect
  


25   of the floods being included in the ordinary condition
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 1   of the river?
  


 2       A.    I'm sorry, you'll have to restate the
  


 3   question.
  


 4       Q.    Yeah, that's not very well done.
  


 5             What is your basis for including the effects
  


 6   of floods in the ordinary condition of the river?  Is
  


 7   there any legal basis for that, or is that your
  


 8   personal decision?
  


 9       A.    Well, I'm not an attorney.  My job is to do
  


10   the best scientific job I can of understanding and
  


11   describing the character of the river.  And it's my
  


12   opinion, as is the opinion of other well-published
  


13   authors that you've heard about in these proceedings
  


14   many times, that these dryland rivers are very
  


15   flood-driven systems, and the characteristics are very
  


16   strongly related to the effects of the floods.
  


17       Q.    What elements must you consider when you
  


18   reach a conclusion on whether a river can be navigated?
  


19       A.    Well, I basically go back to the definitions
  


20   of navigability that start with the Daniel Ball test,
  


21   and that language is essentially repeated in the
  


22   Arizona Revised Statutes.  And it's been clarified in
  


23   PPL Montana.
  


24       Q.    And those elements are, if you can just spell
  


25   them out for me?
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 1       A.    Can it be used as a highway for commerce in
  


 2   its ordinary and natural condition.
  


 3       Q.    And evidently you determined the river is not
  


 4   susceptible to use as a highway of commerce.  How did
  


 5   you determine that?  How did you arrive at your opinion
  


 6   that the river was not susceptible for use as a highway
  


 7   of commerce?
  


 8       A.    By studying the physical characteristics of
  


 9   the river and matching that up with my understanding of
  


10   the types of watercraft that would be customarily used
  


11   around the date of statehood.
  


12       Q.    Did you include any of the analysis about the
  


13   types of watercraft used at or around the date of
  


14   statehood in your report?
  


15       A.    I didn't do quantitative analysis of that.
  


16       Q.    And did you then do qualitative analysis in
  


17   your report?
  


18       A.    Well, I certainly have read the historical
  


19   accounts.  I've, you know, listened to the testimony of
  


20   Mr. Littlefield and others about the types of boats,
  


21   and I, you know, matched that up with the character of
  


22   the river.
  


23       Q.    Just so that I understand, did you attend the
  


24   2005 hearings in this matter?
  


25       A.    I did not.
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 1       Q.    So when you heard Dr. Littlefield's
  


 2   testimony, that was just this past week, correct?
  


 3       A.    Yes.
  


 4       Q.    So how did that enter into your analysis of
  


 5   boating, the qualitative analysis?
  


 6       A.    Well, I read his report prior to my
  


 7   testimony, and I'm also aware of many of the historical
  


 8   accounts that he cited from other documents, reading of
  


 9   other documents, several of which I was questioned
  


10   about this morning, in fact.
  


11       Q.    Did you read his report before you wrote your
  


12   report?
  


13       A.    I read some of his earlier reports.
  


14       Q.    Did you read any other expert reports before
  


15   you wrote your report?
  


16       A.    Yes.
  


17       Q.    Which ones?
  


18       A.    Well, certainly Dr. Schumm's report.  I read,
  


19   I'm not sure all of, but much of the technical reports
  


20   that were submitted by Mr. Fuller and Stantec in the
  


21   earlier proceedings.
  


22       Q.    Did your determination whether the river was
  


23   susceptible for use as a highway of commerce require
  


24   that both trade and travel occur together or that trade
  


25   and travel must be commercial?
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 1       A.    According to the language of the Montana PPL,
  


 2   it must be a commercial reality.  So to me, that
  


 3   implies some correlation to being commercial, yes.
  


 4       Q.    Okay, so the answer is, yes, your definition
  


 5   of highway of commerce required that the activity be
  


 6   commercial in nature.
  


 7             How about that the trade and travel must be
  


 8   together?
  


 9       A.    I think that's a fuzzier question.  I don't
  


10   know that they need to necessarily be together.
  


11       Q.    So you could have travel, commercial travel,
  


12   occurring, in your opinion, you could have commercial
  


13   travel occurring, but it wouldn't necessarily have to
  


14   be commercial trade in order for a river to be
  


15   navigable?
  


16       A.    I think that's correct.
  


17       Q.    Does your determination whether the river was
  


18   used or susceptible to use as a highway require both
  


19   upstream and downstream travel?
  


20       A.    Not necessarily.
  


21       Q.    So your opinion then, that downstream travel
  


22   could be sufficient if a river otherwise met the
  


23   definition of navigability?
  


24       A.    It could.
  


25       Q.    Did your determination whether the river was
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 1   susceptible to navigation require that a profitable
  


 2   commercial enterprise be conducted or capable of being
  


 3   conducted on the river?
  


 4       A.    I don't recall ever seeing language in any of
  


 5   the documents that I've read that would suggest it has
  


 6   to be profitable.
  


 7       Q.    In fact, many businesses aren't profitable,
  


 8   right?
  


 9       A.    Yes.
  


10       Q.    Did your determination of navigability
  


11   consider overland transportation in proximity to the
  


12   watercourse?
  


13       A.    Not really, no.
  


14       Q.    Yesterday you were asked some general
  


15   questions by the State's attorney, and I just had a
  


16   couple more, and I would like some clarifications of
  


17   what you said about...
  


18             How would you define the term floodplain?
  


19       A.    Floodplain is the area adjacent to the
  


20   channel that is inundated by flows under the current
  


21   hydrologic conditions.
  


22       Q.    And when you say it's inundated by flows,
  


23   it's inundated by floods?
  


24       A.    By flood flows.  It can be inundated by high
  


25   flows, yes.
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 1       Q.    And then how would you define the term low
  


 2   flow channel?
  


 3       A.    A small channel within the main channel that
  


 4   carries low discharges.
  


 5       Q.    So you just used the term main channel.  In
  


 6   your mind, is main channel synonymous with floodplain
  


 7   or flood channel?  I'm just trying to understand the
  


 8   terms.
  


 9       A.    It depends on the type of river we're talking
  


10   about.
  


11       Q.    Well, we're talking about the Gila River, so
  


12   let's limit it so Arizona's Gila River.
  


13       A.    Okay.
  


14       Q.    So in your mind then, is the floodplain
  


15   synonymous with the main channel?  I've heard you use
  


16   that term.
  


17       A.    Yeah.  What I've heard in this proceeding
  


18   referred to as the flood channel in many cases probably
  


19   does expand beyond what I would typically refer to as
  


20   the main channel.  But in a braided system like the
  


21   Gila River, that gets a little bit confused.  It's sort
  


22   of a fuzzy.  It's a matter of semantics, frankly.
  


23       Q.    But you would agree then that the low flow
  


24   channel is included within the main channel and the
  


25   flood channel?
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 1       A.    Sure.
  


 2       Q.    And the floodplain?
  


 3       A.    Well, the floodplain is separate from the
  


 4   main channel, in my mind.
  


 5       Q.    So just so that I'm clear, you've got the low
  


 6   flow channel, which I've heard the term thalweg used.
  


 7   I don't know if that's the same term that -- is that a
  


 8   term that you would use to refer to the low flow
  


 9   channel?
  


10       A.    I would not typically use that term, but I
  


11   understand what that means, and I think in most
  


12   people's minds it generally means the same thing.
  


13       Q.    You wouldn't use the term, is that just
  


14   because it's not in your profession, or you have a
  


15   different definition of what that means?
  


16       A.    I use the term thalweg, but I don't typically
  


17   say the thalweg channel.  The thalweg is the deepest
  


18   part across any cross section.  It refers to one point,
  


19   strictly speaking.
  


20       Q.    Fair enough.  So it's the -- if you're
  


21   looking, it's more of a point --
  


22       A.    Yes.
  


23       Q.    -- thalweg point, which would be included --
  


24   would it be included in the low flow channel, generally
  


25   speaking?
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 1       A.    Generally, it would, yes.
  


 2       Q.    And then so you have the low flow channel and
  


 3   then you have the -- which a narrow low flow channel,
  


 4   and then you have a broader main channel; is that
  


 5   accurate?
  


 6       A.    Well, the low flow channel typically would be
  


 7   narrower than the main channel, yes.
  


 8       Q.    And included within that main channel?
  


 9       A.    Yes.
  


10       Q.    And there might be other minor channels
  


11   within that main channel?
  


12       A.    Could be.
  


13       Q.    And those would be at different elevations
  


14   than the low flow channel?
  


15       A.    Could be.
  


16       Q.    Would the -- so you say could be, so are
  


17   there multiple low flow channels?
  


18       A.    There can be.
  


19       Q.    Is that a static condition?
  


20       A.    That depends on the time frame that you're
  


21   talking about.
  


22       Q.    Let's say is that static over the course of a
  


23   decade in Arizona, like in the Gila River?
  


24       A.    Most likely not, but it could be.
  


25       Q.    Would the water tend -- if you had more than
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 1   one low flow channel, would the water tend towards
  


 2   forming one channel over time?
  


 3       A.    Not necessarily.
  


 4       Q.    So -- we'll get back into that later on.
  


 5             How would you define the term compound
  


 6   channel?
  


 7       A.    A compound channel is a channel that has --
  


 8   what's the easiest way to say it -- different stages;
  


 9   has topography within the channel that becomes
  


10   inundated at different levels of flow.
  


11       Q.    So we can relate that to the context of the
  


12   prior definitions, does a compound channel have a low
  


13   flow channel, at least one low flow channel?
  


14       A.    Generally, yes.
  


15       Q.    And then you have higher channels within that
  


16   overall definition of compound?
  


17       A.    (Witness nodded.)
  


18       Q.    And does the compound -- I'm sorry.  Is that
  


19   a yes?
  


20       A.    That's correct, yeah.
  


21       Q.    And then the compound channel, would that be
  


22   how you could -- would a main channel be -- could it be
  


23   considered a compound channel if it indeed has a low
  


24   flow channel with other channels and elevations?
  


25       A.    Sure.
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 1       Q.    As a practical matter, how do you end up with
  


 2   multiple low flow channels?  Wouldn't they have to be
  


 3   at an identical elevation?
  


 4       A.    Not necessarily.
  


 5       Q.    So you could have a low flow channel at
  


 6   1 foot and then another low flow channel at 2 feet?
  


 7       A.    Well, I'm not prepared to put numbers to it.
  


 8   You would have to show me the specific situation.  But
  


 9   they can be at different elevations.
  


10       Q.    Yeah, I guess the question that -- the word
  


11   low flow channel seems to imply a single channel.  So
  


12   by -- you're saying that that definition does not
  


13   include -- it does not limit itself to a single
  


14   channel?
  


15       A.    It doesn't have to limit itself to a single
  


16   channel.  It depends on what you mean by low flow.
  


17       Q.    Fair enough.  So if I meant lowest flow or
  


18   median flow, or let's use the term lowest flow channel,
  


19   then you would have one channel, correct?
  


20       A.    I suppose in the limit, if you continue to
  


21   decrease the flow to virtually nothing, at some point
  


22   you're going to dry up all but one channel.
  


23       Q.    So by inference then, that you would have at
  


24   higher flows than that case you just described, water
  


25   would spill out of that channel into -- possibly spill
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 1   out into other parts of this compound channel?
  


 2       A.    Yes.
  


 3       Q.    Can you estimate the dimensions of an average
  


 4   sandbar in the Gila River?
  


 5       A.    Not at this time.
  


 6       Q.    And you said that when you did your
  


 7   overflight in November of 2013, you didn't put your
  


 8   feet on the ground and actually go measure sandbars or
  


 9   look at the sandbars that existed out there?
  


10       A.    I looked at them from the air.  I didn't get
  


11   down on the ground and look at them.
  


12       Q.    Are you able to estimate sandbars from a
  


13   helicopter, the dimensions of a sandbar?
  


14       A.    Roughly.
  


15       Q.    So but you didn't do that on this flight,
  


16   this past overflight that you did?
  


17       A.    My purpose was not to quantify the dimensions
  


18   of sandbars.
  


19       Q.    How about frequency of sandbars; do you
  


20   have -- can you estimate how frequently sandbars
  


21   appeared in the lower Gila River below the Salt River
  


22   confluence, but upstream from the Colorado confluence?
  


23       A.    Well, there's a little bit of a problem with
  


24   the questions that you're asking me, because in order
  


25   to clearly see it as a sandbar, you have to have enough
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 1   water in the river to be able to distinguish the
  


 2   topography and so on; and there wasn't.  It was
  


 3   basically dry, as the one picture we looked at earlier
  


 4   this morning was.  So the only way you could really do
  


 5   that is do a very detailed topographic survey.
  


 6       Q.    And again, you did not do that detailed
  


 7   topographic survey?
  


 8       A.    I did not.
  


 9       Q.    Do you know what the flow rate was on that
  


10   day you flew the lower Gila?
  


11       A.    I don't know.  Very low.
  


12       Q.    Is that the flow that passes through the
  


13   Gillespie Dam that isn't taken up by the Paloma Ranch
  


14   Canal, the flow --
  


15       A.    Well, the photo that I looked at with the
  


16   State's attorney earlier today, that was below
  


17   Gillespie Dam; and the answer is yes.
  


18       Q.    And you're aware that there's a diversion
  


19   upstream from there and just below the Gillespie Dam
  


20   for the Paloma Ranch?
  


21       A.    Yes.
  


22       Q.    And did you see it when you were out there?
  


23       A.    I probably did.  I don't specifically
  


24   remember it.
  


25       Q.    Continuing with the sandbars, would sandbars


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







Transcript of Proceedings, Vol. VIII - August 20, 2014 1802


  


 1   have appeared more or less frequently in the Gila River
  


 2   than, say, in the Colorado?
  


 3       A.    Well, bed material characteristics are
  


 4   somewhat different in the Gila River than they are in
  


 5   the Colorado, so they would have different
  


 6   characteristics.  Whether less frequently -- there are
  


 7   different scales of sandbar, for one thing, so we
  


 8   can't -- you can't really generalize about that.  It
  


 9   depends on what scale of bedform feature you're talking
  


10   about.
  


11       Q.    Well, actually, I'm not talking about scale.
  


12   I'm talking about frequency.  And I understand there's
  


13   different flows and different bed materials, but in
  


14   your 34 years of experiences in this field, and based
  


15   on your study of the Gila River, would you say that
  


16   sandbars occurred on the Gila River, in its natural and
  


17   ordinary condition, more or less frequently than on the
  


18   Colorado River?
  


19       A.    Well, again, I know you're not talking about
  


20   scale, but when we talk about sandbars, we have to talk
  


21   about scale, because sandbars are basically a bedform
  


22   feature.  There are many different scales of bedforms,
  


23   and so the frequency of one type is different from the
  


24   frequency of others.  Whether -- and they're different
  


25   between the Gila River and the Colorado River partly
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 1   because of the characteristics of bed material and
  


 2   partly because of the hydrologic characteristics.
  


 3             So I couldn't say.  They would be different.
  


 4   Whether it's more or less frequent, I don't know.
  


 5       Q.    Fair enough.
  


 6             How about the frequency on the Verde River?
  


 7   The same questions related to the Verde River.  Do you
  


 8   have any opinion about the frequency of sandbars on the
  


 9   Gila River, and I'm meaning specifically from the
  


10   confluence with the Salt down to the Colorado, versus
  


11   the frequency of sandbars on the Verde River?
  


12       A.    Well, the Verde River is, by and large, a
  


13   gravel, cobble bed stream, so the frequency of sandbars
  


14   there is much different.
  


15       Q.    Less?
  


16       A.    I'm not sure I've ever actually seen a
  


17   sandbar on the Verde River.  I would have to go back
  


18   through my photos to see.
  


19       Q.    How about the Salt River?
  


20       A.    Could you restate the question again?
  


21       Q.    Would sandbars have appeared more or less
  


22   frequently on the lower Salt River versus the Gila
  


23   River downstream from the confluence with the Salt?
  


24   And maybe I -- I think I might have misspoke that,
  


25   misstated that question.
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 1             Would sandbars have appeared more or less
  


 2   frequently on the lower Salt than on the section of the
  


 3   Gila from the confluence with the Salt down to the
  


 4   Colorado?
  


 5       A.    Again, it depends on a variety of factors,
  


 6   including the bed material and the hydrologic
  


 7   conditions, and so on.  They're probably somewhat
  


 8   similar.  I couldn't quantify that at this time.  But
  


 9   the character of those two portions of the river are
  


10   somewhat similar, so they're probably not that
  


11   different.
  


12       Q.    Are you aware of any waterfalls in the
  


13   section of the Gila which is noted by the State as
  


14   being sections Segments 7 and 8, which is the -- are
  


15   you familiar with the segment numbers, so I can shorten
  


16   up the language a little bit?
  


17       A.    Generally.
  


18       Q.    Are you aware that the sections Segments 7
  


19   and 8 are the segments of the Gila River noted by the
  


20   State from the Salt River confluence down to the
  


21   Colorado?
  


22       A.    Yes, I'm aware of that.
  


23       Q.    So if I say Segments 7 and 8, you know what
  


24   I'm talking about?
  


25       A.    I do.
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 1       Q.    Are you aware of any waterfalls in Segments 7
  


 2   and 8 of the Gila?
  


 3       A.    I'm not aware of any waterfalls.
  


 4       Q.    Are you aware of any rapids in Segments 7 or
  


 5   8 of the Gila?
  


 6       A.    No.
  


 7       Q.    Are you aware of any beaver dams that
  


 8   completely span the Gila River, or any beaver dams for
  


 9   that matter, in Segments 7 or 8?
  


10       A.    No.
  


11       Q.    Did your client ask you to study the
  


12   San Pedro River?
  


13       A.    No.
  


14                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. -- Jeff, would it
  


15   be appropriate to take a break now?
  


16                  MR. HYRCKO:  Yes.
  


17                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We'll take a ten-minute
  


18   break.
  


19                  (A recess was taken from 10:15 a.m. to
  


20   10:26 a.m.)
  


21                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  George, are we on?
  


22   BY MR. HYRCKO:
  


23       Q.    Dr. Mussetter, I just have a few questions
  


24   here.  You were present for Dr. -- or for Mr. Gookin's
  


25   testimony last time?
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 1       A.    Yes.
  


 2       Q.    And you answered some questions yesterday, I
  


 3   believe, about Mr. Gookin's n-values, and you testified
  


 4   that you thought Mr. Gookin's n-value was too low for
  


 5   the Gila River; is that correct?
  


 6       A.    That's correct.
  


 7       Q.    I believe you testified that you felt a more
  


 8   reasonable base value of 0.026 to 0.035 was reasonable,
  


 9   correct?
  


10       A.    That's a reasonable range, yes.
  


11       Q.    And what did you mean by the term base value?
  


12       A.    Well, that the base value is intended to
  


13   describe the hydraulic roughness associated with,
  


14   basically, the boundary friction on the bottom of the
  


15   channel, but there are other factors that can affect
  


16   the roughness as well, which are in most relationships
  


17   additive.
  


18       Q.    And they can be significantly additive,
  


19   correct?
  


20       A.    They can.
  


21       Q.    Based on your years of experience researching
  


22   the river, do you have an estimate of the n-value of
  


23   the river, of a final n-value of the river in the
  


24   segment downstream from the confluence of the Salt to
  


25   the Colorado River, Segments 7 and 8?
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 1       A.    It would vary depending on which portion of
  


 2   the reach you're in, particularly the amount of
  


 3   vegetation, the amount of irregularity in the channel,
  


 4   obstructions in the channel, that sort of thing.
  


 5       Q.    How would you come up with that n-value if
  


 6   you were tasked with doing that?
  


 7       A.    Well, the first thing I would try to do is
  


 8   get some data that would -- water surface elevation
  


 9   data that would allow me to calibrate either a model or
  


10   a hydraulic calculation to what was observed in the
  


11   field.
  


12             Absent that, then I would go back to
  


13   publications' relationships like the one that we
  


14   discussed yesterday, and select values based on the
  


15   characteristics of the river as described in those
  


16   relationships.  You know, most of them are developed
  


17   based on real data, and so we try to match up the river
  


18   that I'm working on with the character of the river
  


19   that those data were developed from.
  


20       Q.    And how would you do that for the natural and
  


21   ordinary condition of the river that existed at
  


22   statehood?
  


23       A.    Well, that would be challenging, because we
  


24   really don't know exactly what the river looked like
  


25   under its natural condition.
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 1       Q.    Did you attempt to do that in the modeling
  


 2   work that you did on the other navigability studies
  


 3   that you participated in?
  


 4       A.    Yes.
  


 5       Q.    And for the natural and ordinary condition of
  


 6   those rivers?
  


 7       A.    Yes.
  


 8       Q.    And you were able to do it there?
  


 9       A.    We were able to make estimates.
  


10       Q.    But you didn't do that for this report, for
  


11   this declaration?
  


12       A.    I did not do hydraulic calculations for this
  


13   issue.
  


14       Q.    And Mr. Gookin testified, I believe, that the
  


15   diversions of the Salt and Gila River and the
  


16   percolation of that diverted water into the groundwater
  


17   sped up the recovery of the Gila River channel.  Do you
  


18   agree with that statement?
  


19       A.    Could you read it again, please?
  


20       Q.    Mr. Gookin claimed that the diversions from
  


21   the Salt and Gila Rivers and the percolation of that
  


22   diverted water into the groundwater sped up the
  


23   recovery of the Gila River channel.
  


24             I believe he was questioned by Mr. McGinnis
  


25   and on redirect, and there was some discussion about
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 1   how that effect counteracts the effect of the
  


 2   diversions themselves.
  


 3             Do you agree with the conclusion that
  


 4   Mr. Gookin reached, or you don't -- did you hear that?
  


 5       A.    I'm not sure I know the full context of the
  


 6   question that you're asking me, so I'm not really sure
  


 7   I can give you an answer.
  


 8       Q.    Have you done any studies to that effect, on
  


 9   the effects of groundwater percolation and diversions?
  


10       A.    Yes.
  


11       Q.    And did you see any effects on the rebound of
  


12   river into their single-thread condition in those
  


13   studies that you did?
  


14       A.    The purpose of the studies that I'm thinking
  


15   of wasn't -- that wasn't the purpose.  So I can't
  


16   answer that question.
  


17       Q.    Fair enough.
  


18             I would like to just ask you a few questions
  


19   about your declaration.  Do you have a copy of that in
  


20   front of you?
  


21       A.    Yes, I do.
  


22       Q.    In the first section, the introduction,
  


23   define what you mean by the term independent assessment
  


24   in the first paragraph.
  


25       A.    I mean I pulled together the available
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 1   information and studied that information and made my
  


 2   own determination as to whether I thought the Gila
  


 3   River would be -- would fit the federal test of
  


 4   navigability.
  


 5       Q.    And the legal standard that you applied was
  


 6   the standard set out in Winkleman --
  


 7       A.    No.
  


 8       Q.    -- or which?
  


 9             Which legal standard did you use in your
  


10   independent assessment?
  


11       A.    Begins with the Daniel Ball test, and it was
  


12   clarified by the PPL Montana decision.  Those are the
  


13   primary ones.
  


14       Q.    In this paragraph you reference various
  


15   technical documents that you will subsequently refer
  


16   to.  Is this reference meaning every technical document
  


17   that you subsequently referred to, or does it mean
  


18   something else?
  


19       A.    Could you restate that again, please?
  


20       Q.    In this paragraph you refer to various
  


21   technical documents that you will subsequently refer
  


22   to.  I believe it's in the middle sentence.
  


23             It says, including various technical
  


24   documents that will be cited below.  Does this mean
  


25   every technical document you're -- I guess we have to
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 1   look at the first part of the sentence:  This
  


 2   assessment included review of the expert report from
  


 3   Schumm and testimony of Dr. Stanley Schumm regarding
  


 4   this matter, and independent review of additional
  


 5   relevant information, including various technical
  


 6   documents that will be cited below.
  


 7             This -- let me scratch that question.
  


 8             Are the page citation contained in your
  


 9   References appendix the extent of your reliance on
  


10   those references to support the statements for which
  


11   they were cited in the body of your report?
  


12       A.    In general, that's true.  Although, most of
  


13   those documents I've read the bulk of the document,
  


14   and, you know, when you read information, maybe you
  


15   don't specifically address it in the report, but it
  


16   does influence the way you think about the issue that
  


17   you're studying.  So I can't say that I didn't consider
  


18   anything outside the context of those pages.
  


19       Q.    You testified on your low-level overflight,
  


20   the purpose of that was to gain firsthand knowledge of
  


21   the present-day conditions of the river.  Why did you
  


22   need to evaluate the present-day conditions to
  


23   determine whether the river was navigable in its
  


24   natural and ordinary condition in 1912?
  


25       A.    Well, in the ideal world I would go back and
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 1   look at the natural condition; but I can't do that,
  


 2   so -- and I have to look at it as it is today.  And
  


 3   certainly the character of the river today tells us --
  


 4   gives us good information about what the river might
  


 5   have looked like in its natural condition.
  


 6       Q.    So your -- why did you end the flight where
  


 7   you did, 24 miles downstream from Gillespie?  Or, I'm
  


 8   sorry -- yeah, 24 miles downstream from Gillespie.
  


 9       A.    Basically, a time issue.
  


10       Q.    Was it important to gather that same present
  


11   knowledge both further downstream and upstream from
  


12   there?
  


13       A.    I think the part that I viewed gave me enough
  


14   information, coupled with the other available
  


15   information that I have, including aerial photographs
  


16   and other data that we've discussed.
  


17       Q.    And you used that for the other areas?
  


18       A.    I'm sorry?
  


19       Q.    So you used that other information to come up
  


20   with your conclusions about the other segments of the
  


21   Gila?
  


22       A.    Yes, I looked at all the available
  


23   information that I could that was relevant.
  


24       Q.    Did you use -- how did that overflight
  


25   influence your navigability determination?
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 1       A.    It just basically gave me the context so that
  


 2   I understood the general geography of the river,
  


 3   locations of things, what the adjacent topography is
  


 4   like, what the -- you know, how the geologic influences
  


 5   affect the character of the valley, general
  


 6   information.
  


 7       Q.    You would agree, though, that nothing related
  


 8   to the Gila River in its natural and ordinary
  


 9   condition, as those terms are applied in Winkleman, was
  


10   visible on that overflight?
  


11       A.    No, I wouldn't agree with that.
  


12       Q.    So you would say that in that overflight in
  


13   November of 2013, you were viewing the river in its
  


14   natural and ordinary condition?
  


15       A.    I didn't say that.
  


16       Q.    So what about that flight -- what did you see
  


17   on that that was related to the natural and ordinary
  


18   condition?
  


19       A.    Well, again, I answered that a few minutes
  


20   ago.  The overflight gives me a sense of the character
  


21   of the valley, the character of the materials that the
  


22   river flows through, some information about the
  


23   vegetation, although I'm sure at this time it's quite
  


24   different from what it was in its natural condition.
  


25   But it all puts the characteristics of the river into a
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 1   context.
  


 2       Q.    Would the Gillespie Dam have affected the
  


 3   morphology and conditions of the Gila River after it
  


 4   was built in 1921?
  


 5       A.    Yeah, certainly locally it would have.
  


 6       Q.    You're aware that the Winkleman case requires
  


 7   ANSAC to do a particularized assessment to determine
  


 8   whether a river or part of a river is navigable,
  


 9   correct?
  


10       A.    I would have to see the specific language
  


11   you're referring to.  I haven't memorized the Winkleman
  


12   decision.
  


13       Q.    Dr. Mussetter, would you read the Footnote 9
  


14   on Page 237 of the Winkleman decision?
  


15       A.    Yes.
  


16             In conducting the, quote, particularized
  


17   assessment, unquote, required to determine whether the
  


18   river was navigable, see Hassell -- and then it cites
  


19   the Arizona statutes -- ANSAC was required to make its
  


20   determination, quote, in writing with sufficient
  


21   documentation and detail to confirm the rationale and
  


22   basis for the determination.
  


23       Q.    So as you just said, you weren't aware that
  


24   that was in the Winkleman case?
  


25       A.    I have read that language before.  I just
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 1   simply didn't remember the details of it.
  


 2       Q.    What portions of your report fulfill that
  


 3   particularization requirement that ANSAC must address?
  


 4       A.    I think the entire report does.
  


 5       Q.    So the entire report is for the entire river,
  


 6   correct?
  


 7       A.    Yes.
  


 8       Q.    And it doesn't -- you said earlier you didn't
  


 9   do a segment-by-segment determination?
  


10       A.    No, I didn't say that.
  


11       Q.    Well, you said that you determined that
  


12   segment-by-segment analysis was not necessary because
  


13   you felt the entire river -- am I misstating your
  


14   testimony?
  


15       A.    Yes, you are.
  


16       Q.    Okay, what -- your testimony was, as I
  


17   understood it, was that you believe the entire river
  


18   was not navigable, correct?
  


19       A.    That's correct.
  


20       Q.    And that as such, you didn't need to do a
  


21   segment-by-segment determination?
  


22       A.    Well, I think we're talking past each other.
  


23   I didn't formally break the river down into segments in
  


24   accordance with the instructions in PPL Montana because
  


25   it's unnecessary.
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 1             But as I considered the characteristics of
  


 2   the river and whether or not it was navigable, I
  


 3   considered the characteristics of each individual
  


 4   section, or if you want to refer to it as segment,
  


 5   that's fine.  It has a different meaning in that
  


 6   context.  The river has variable characteristics along
  


 7   its length, and to the best of my ability, I considered
  


 8   all of those characteristics.
  


 9       Q.    And did you document the different
  


10   characteristics of the river in your declaration, or
  


11   the different sections?
  


12       A.    To some extent, I did, yes.
  


13       Q.    Where is that laid out?
  


14       A.    Well, the -- some of the graphics describe
  


15   different segments of the river, different sections of
  


16   the river; the Burkham plots, for example, the
  


17   Huckleberry plot, the mapping in Figures -- put my
  


18   glasses on -- 6, 7, 8.
  


19       Q.    Yeah, we'll get into those a little bit
  


20   later.  But just the Burkham plot and the Meko plot,
  


21   those are for the Safford Valley, correct?
  


22       A.    The Burkham plot I believe is, yes.
  


23       Q.    And what about the -- we're looking at
  


24   Figure 4 of your report on Page 9?
  


25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    So does that data all relate to the Safford
  


 2   Valley?
  


 3       A.    The data relates to the Safford Valley, that
  


 4   gauge at the head of Safford Valley.
  


 5       Q.    In any of the navigability determinations
  


 6   that you've done previously, how many times has it been
  


 7   to determine natural and ordinary conditions of a river
  


 8   150 years after that condition existed?
  


 9       A.    None of them were 150 years after the
  


10   condition.
  


11       Q.    In your Qualifications section, you spent
  


12   time discussing your association with Dr. Schumm.  What
  


13   do you mean, you're generally familiar with his 2004
  


14   report.  Let me correct that; generally familiar with
  


15   the work that he did.
  


16       A.    We've talked about that already.  I had brief
  


17   discussions with him about what he was doing and what
  


18   he was finding.
  


19       Q.    But you didn't do any of the work with him or
  


20   for him?
  


21       A.    I did not.
  


22       Q.    On the Section 1.2 on Page 1 of your report,
  


23   you say based on my review of Dr. Schumm's report and
  


24   other background material.  What is that other
  


25   background material you're referring to?
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 1       A.    Well, first of all, the sentence doesn't say
  


 2   other background material.
  


 3       Q.    Thank you.  It says and background material.
  


 4   What background material is that referring to?
  


 5       A.    That particular clause refers to the
  


 6   background material that Dr. Schumm considered in
  


 7   preparing his report.
  


 8       Q.    Is that the same material referenced in
  


 9   yours, your declaration?
  


10       A.    Some of it is, yes.
  


11       Q.    I'm just trying to cut out questions here and
  


12   shorten it up.
  


13       A.    I'm in favor of that.
  


14       Q.    I believe you, in your report, in Opinion 1,
  


15   you state that portions of the river had a
  


16   single-thread channel in the mid 1800s until the early
  


17   1900s, correct?
  


18       A.    I did say that, yes.
  


19       Q.    And was that a perennial flow through those
  


20   segments?
  


21       A.    I think some of the historic accounts
  


22   indicate that there was perennial flow.
  


23       Q.    But you don't have any -- you didn't do any
  


24   studies to determine what that flow would have been,
  


25   correct?
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 1       A.    I did not try to quantify that flow.
  


 2       Q.    You testified yesterday that after
  


 3   significant flooding, assuming that the flow conditions
  


 4   revert to those existed before the flood, that the
  


 5   channel form would revert to the flood form in -- the
  


 6   form in existence before that flood; is that accurate?
  


 7       A.    Generally speaking, that's true.
  


 8       Q.    Why didn't the Gila River heal itself and
  


 9   revert to its prior form after the major floods of the
  


10   late 1800s and early 1900s?
  


11       A.    Because there wasn't enough flow to support
  


12   the processes that cause it to recover; but to some
  


13   extent, it did recover.
  


14       Q.    And your PowerPoint slides document the river
  


15   channel did narrow, correct?
  


16       A.    Yes.
  


17       Q.    In your Opinion No. 3 on Page 2, would you
  


18   agree that the Gila's present hydrologic conditions are
  


19   not the same as existed prior to the floods you
  


20   reference in Opinion 2?
  


21       A.    I'm sorry, I lost the question.  Could you
  


22   ask it again, please?
  


23       Q.    In Opinion No. 3 you state under present
  


24   hydrologic conditions.  Would you agree that they are
  


25   not the same hydrologic conditions that existed prior
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 1   to the major floods of the late 1800s?
  


 2       A.    I'm not sure I'm understanding what you're
  


 3   asking me.
  


 4       Q.    I'll pass on that question.  I think we've
  


 5   got it covered.
  


 6             In Opinion No. 5, you mention a small boat?
  


 7       A.    Yes.
  


 8       Q.    What are the dimensions of the small boat
  


 9   that you reference there?
  


10       A.    I can't give you specific dimensions, but I'm
  


11   thinking of something like a canoe or a small skiff or
  


12   a rowboat or something of that sort.
  


13       Q.    How deep would the water need to be to use
  


14   that boat, in your mind?
  


15       A.    Depends on what you're using the boat for and
  


16   how loaded it is.
  


17       Q.    For navigability, for the navigability test?
  


18       A.    There's a lot more to the question of the
  


19   navigability test than just the depth of flow to float
  


20   the boat.
  


21       Q.    How about like on an expedition with a man
  


22   and his gear for five days; would that be included in
  


23   that definition of floating a small boat?
  


24       A.    It could, yes.
  


25       Q.    In this opinion you mention reconstructed
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 1   annual flow extending back to the 1600s, correct?
  


 2       A.    Correct.
  


 3       Q.    Do those records go back to before 1600?
  


 4       A.    The specific ones that I'm referring to here
  


 5   come from the Meko and Graybill study, and they do not.
  


 6       Q.    Fair enough.
  


 7             Does that Meko and Graybill work tell you
  


 8   what kind of channels were in existence in the Gila
  


 9   River before the arrival of Europeans in the 1800s?
  


10       A.    It tells us what -- their estimates of the
  


11   annual flow in the river.  It doesn't say anything
  


12   about the physical characteristics of the river.
  


13       Q.    And it also doesn't talk about -- it also
  


14   doesn't relate to the frequency of flooding, correct;
  


15   it's just whether it's a wet year or a dry year?
  


16       A.    Well, as I illustrate in the companion
  


17   figure, in most cases it does tell you something about
  


18   the flooding as well.
  


19       Q.    How does the -- never mind.
  


20             You mentioned unusually low -- unusually dry
  


21   conditions in that opinion as well.  Let me find the
  


22   language here.
  


23             Unusually low flows during the period of the
  


24   1850s to 1900s; is that correct?
  


25       A.    Well, I said the mid to late 1800s.
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 1       Q.    Is the 1850s mid of the 1800s?
  


 2       A.    Sure.
  


 3       Q.    Could the low flows that you talk about have
  


 4   been caused, at least in part, by the diversion of
  


 5   water from the Gila River?
  


 6       A.    In some cases they could have.
  


 7       Q.    And I believe you did touch on this earlier
  


 8   in your Opinion No. 6 there about the language
  


 9   significant segment.  How long would a segment have to
  


10   be before you would consider it navigable irrespective
  


11   of the conditions of the river?
  


12       A.    I can't give you a specific number, but it
  


13   has to be long enough to meet the commercial reality
  


14   part of the test.
  


15       Q.    So how long is that, Dr. Mussetter?  How long
  


16   would it take to be a commercial reality?
  


17       A.    It depends on the circumstances.  There isn't
  


18   a general answer to that question.
  


19       Q.    Could it be 1 mile?
  


20       A.    I'm not sure that would be long enough.
  


21       Q.    Is it -- how about 17 miles?
  


22       A.    Under some circumstances, I could see that
  


23   17 miles might be long enough.
  


24       Q.    Would you consider the segment from -- of the
  


25   section of the river of Segment 8 from the Colorado up
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 1   to Dome a significant enough segment for navigability
  


 2   determinations?
  


 3       A.    It may be.
  


 4       Q.    Turning to the Page 3 of your report, the
  


 5   table figure -- I'm sorry, Figure 1.  What form would
  


 6   the Gila have been before the flood of the 1800s began?
  


 7       A.    Well, actually, you would have had a variety
  


 8   of forms, depending on which portion of the channel
  


 9   you're discussing.  The overall form of what you all
  


10   have been referring to as the flood channel would be 5.
  


11   There would be parts of it that would be similar to
  


12   perhaps the 3b to 4 category.
  


13       Q.    So in the 3b to 4 category, let's say 3b,
  


14   would that type of channel have been navigable as
  


15   defined by Arizona state law?
  


16       A.    On the Gila River, that part of the channel,
  


17   in my opinion, would not have been navigable according
  


18   to the federal test.
  


19       Q.    Which part of the federal test disqualifies
  


20   that segment from being navigable if it's a form of 3b?
  


21       A.    As I've repeatedly testified here, the
  


22   character of that channel, it's small, it's too
  


23   shallow, it's too variable, the flows are too erratic.
  


24   It's, over certain periods of time, unstable.  And I
  


25   don't believe it meets the commercial reality part of
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 1   the test.
  


 2       Q.    Again, just checking off questions.
  


 3             In the first paragraph of Page 4, you talk
  


 4   about not being able to define the dominant discharge
  


 5   because the larger flood flows are more
  


 6   geomorphologically effective than the more frequently
  


 7   occurring flows.
  


 8             What does that mean?
  


 9       A.    It means that in the type of channel that we
  


10   have in the Gila River, it's, as I said early in the
  


11   paragraph, it's a nonequilibrium form.  So the form
  


12   that you see at any particular time is very strongly
  


13   affected by the flood, the previous flood history.  And
  


14   the flows that you see in the river don't, under normal
  


15   conditions, don't fill that whole part of the channel.
  


16   So you don't have a self-adjusted channel.  It blows it
  


17   out, and then over time it sort of slowly goes back to
  


18   some kind of a recovered channel, and then the floods
  


19   come again and it blows it out again.
  


20             As opposed to, I'll say, for example, a
  


21   Plains river, where you would have a well-defined
  


22   bankfull channel, where you can clearly define where
  


23   the banks are.  Under most flow conditions, most of the
  


24   bed of the channel is under water, and the banks are
  


25   fairly steep and well-defined, and then when you get a
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 1   flood, it spills out into the overbanks.
  


 2       Q.    Do you have any opinion -- and maybe I've
  


 3   asked you this before, but just want to make sure I
  


 4   did.  Do you have any opinion on what the natural and
  


 5   ordinary flows of the Gila River are in terms of flow
  


 6   rate?
  


 7       A.    I don't have a quantity, no.
  


 8       Q.    Turning to Page 5 of your report, I just have
  


 9   one question about that Burkham study.  Do you know how
  


10   long miles-wise the Burkham study covered in the
  


11   Safford Valley?
  


12       A.    I would have to go back to the document to be
  


13   sure.  I think it's probably on the order of 30 to
  


14   40 miles.
  


15       Q.    You also mentioned the Huckleberry study
  


16   (1993) in this section?
  


17       A.    Yes.
  


18       Q.    Did either Huckleberry or Burkham study the
  


19   river from its confluence with the Salt to the
  


20   Colorado?
  


21       A.    Certainly not in those studies at least.
  


22       Q.    Not in the studies that you cited here?
  


23       A.    Right.  Right.
  


24       Q.    In Section 2.2.1 the Gila River at and after
  


25   the Date of statehood on Page 6.  On Page 6 of your
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 1   report, Section 2.2.1, Gila River at and after the Date
  


 2   of statehood.  Do any of the studies that you rely on
  


 3   in that section show the -- let me back up.
  


 4             Do any of the studies that you reference in
  


 5   this section draw their conclusions regarding the
  


 6   condition of the Gila River in its natural and ordinary
  


 7   condition?
  


 8       A.    All of these studies were done based on
  


 9   information basically since the date of statehood, so
  


10   they don't explicitly try to describe what the river
  


11   looked liked in its ordinary and natural condition.
  


12       Q.    So the answer to that question is no?
  


13       A.    It's a qualified no, because there's a lot of
  


14   information in these studies that tell us things about
  


15   what the river most likely looked like under ordinary
  


16   and natural conditions.
  


17       Q.    But all the studies that were done since the
  


18   date of statehood were done when the river had already
  


19   been significantly diverted, correct?
  


20       A.    That's correct.
  


21       Q.    Turning to the Meko study reference on
  


22   Page 8, you used that reconstructed annual flows as --
  


23   in your analysis, correct?
  


24       A.    That's correct.
  


25       Q.    And I believe you testified that you -- that
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 1   is to determine the annual flows, but not the median
  


 2   flow or average daily flows, correct?
  


 3       A.    Well, to the extent that Meko's results
  


 4   correctly depict the annual runoff, you can use that to
  


 5   calculate what the average daily flow is.
  


 6       Q.    And that's simply dividing the flow by 365?
  


 7       A.    Essentially, with some conversion, yes.
  


 8       Q.    In this Figure No. 4 on Page 9, the Meko
  


 9   data, in this figure you're comparing the modeled data
  


10   to the measured data on the right of the -- on the
  


11   right side of the figure, correct?
  


12       A.    That's one purpose, yes.
  


13       Q.    But it is comparing modeled data to measured
  


14   data?
  


15       A.    Yes.
  


16       Q.    Did you also look at how the post-1900 gauge
  


17   data compared with the modeled data for the same years?
  


18       A.    I did look at that briefly, yes.
  


19       Q.    But you didn't put it in your report?
  


20       A.    I did not.
  


21       Q.    I have a few questions about your PowerPoint
  


22   presentation.  Do you have that with you?
  


23       A.    I do.
  


24       Q.    On Slide No. 5, that depicts a navigable
  


25   segment of the Colorado River, correct?
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 1       A.    That's my understanding, yes.
  


 2                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Now, Mr. Hyrcko, could
  


 3   you make sure we identify what it is you're talking
  


 4   about with him?
  


 5                  MR. HYRCKO:  Yes.
  


 6                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  For the record.
  


 7   BY MR. HYRCKO:
  


 8       Q.    All of the references are from X026, your
  


 9   PowerPoint presentation, and I'm going to be asking
  


10   questions about the numbered slides in that
  


11   presentation.
  


12                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.
  


13   BY MR. HYRCKO:
  


14       Q.    So on that Slide No. 5, that's -- how wide is
  


15   that channel in the image?
  


16       A.    I'm not sure of the exact width.  It's
  


17   probably a few hundred feet.
  


18       Q.    Do you know how deep it is?
  


19       A.    No, I don't.
  


20       Q.    Do you know how long the navigable segment is
  


21   there?
  


22       A.    I don't recall the length of it.  It's a few
  


23   tens of miles, as best I remember.
  


24       Q.    Do you know what the flow rate is depicted in
  


25   that photo?
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 1       A.    It's roughly 18,000 cubic feet per second.
  


 2       Q.    Is this river diverted for irrigation
  


 3   upstream from this segment?
  


 4       A.    There are diversions upstream from this
  


 5   point, yes.
  


 6       Q.    Are there any sandbars visible in this
  


 7   photograph?
  


 8       A.    I doubt any of the features you see there are
  


 9   sandbars.
  


10       Q.    Looking at the lower left-hand portion of the
  


11   river there, what would you say that is, looking at
  


12   this photograph?
  


13       A.    Well, there appears to be a riffle in that
  


14   area.
  


15       Q.    Is this the natural and ordinary condition of
  


16   that river?
  


17       A.    Not exactly.  I mean there certainly have
  


18   been human influences upstream from here that affect
  


19   the flow rate, but it's probably not far from its
  


20   ordinary and natural condition.
  


21       Q.    Turning to Slide 6 of that same exhibit,
  


22   X026, how wide is the channel depicted in this
  


23   photograph?
  


24       A.    It's probably on the order of 40 feet, 40 to
  


25   50 feet, maybe.
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 1       Q.    And how deep would you say that is?
  


 2       A.    It's highly variable.
  


 3       Q.    From what to what?
  


 4       A.    The maximum depths in the pools in some of
  


 5   those bends is probably on the order of 5 feet at
  


 6   least, 4 to 5 feet, perhaps even deeper.
  


 7       Q.    How long is the -- this is the Mosquito River
  


 8   in Alaska, correct?
  


 9       A.    That's correct.
  


10       Q.    And I believe you testified it's navigable?
  


11       A.    I didn't say that.
  


12       Q.    I understood you to say that this segment was
  


13   navigable.  I misunderstood?
  


14       A.    That determination has not been made.
  


15       Q.    Fair enough.
  


16             You said that this -- I believe you testified
  


17   that this segment would be navigable by small boats?
  


18       A.    Yes.
  


19       Q.    Would that be the same sort of small boats
  


20   you referenced as would be floatable on the Gila in the
  


21   1800s?
  


22       A.    There would be some overlap there, yes.
  


23       Q.    And in this photograph there's some
  


24   obstacles, correct, to navigation?
  


25       A.    There is some large woody debris in the
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 1   channel that I can see.
  


 2       Q.    And what else?
  


 3       A.    That's the only definite thing I can see that
  


 4   would be an obstacle.
  


 5       Q.    Are there sandbars depicted in the photo?
  


 6       A.    Yes.
  


 7       Q.    Turning to the Slide No. 7 of that same
  


 8   exhibit, X026, I believe you stated that the model
  


 9   below is 1,200 cfs?
  


10       A.    That's correct.
  


11       Q.    Is that the median flow for that river?
  


12       A.    It's close to the median flow.  I would have
  


13   to check the numbers exactly, but it's not far off from
  


14   that.
  


15       Q.    Higher or lower?
  


16       A.    I think it's probably on the high side.
  


17       Q.    I'm not exactly sure, but did you testify
  


18   what the flow rate was in that photo?
  


19       A.    I don't believe I did.
  


20       Q.    Do you have an estimate of what the flow rate
  


21   is in that?
  


22       A.    About 300 cfs.
  


23                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Excuse me.  I don't
  


24   have a copy of that in front of me, so what specific
  


25   figure are you referring to?  You already mentioned it,
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 1   but -- okay, identify it.  This is the what?
  


 2                  MR. HYRCKO:  This is the photograph of
  


 3   the braided --
  


 4                  COMMISSIONER HORTON:  That's the Platte.
  


 5                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  This is the Platte,
  


 6   okay.
  


 7                  MR. HYRCKO:  -- Platte River in
  


 8   Nebraska.
  


 9                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay, good.  Thank
  


10   you.
  


11                  MR. HYRCKO:  I apologize for not having
  


12   a PowerPoint for the Commissioners.
  


13                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  That's fine.
  


14   BY MR. HYRCKO:
  


15       Q.    Turning to Slide No. 10, which is titled
  


16   Channel Pattern IS Relevant to Navigability.  It's a
  


17   photograph of the braided reach of the Gila River below
  


18   Gillespie.  Is that what the Gila River looked like in
  


19   its natural and ordinary condition?
  


20       A.    I doubt it.
  


21       Q.    This was taken from your overflight in the
  


22   helicopter, correct?
  


23       A.    Yes.
  


24       Q.    How high up were you when you were flying
  


25   down there?
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 1       A.    I'm not sure.  Probably two to 300 feet,
  


 2   maybe four to 500.  I don't know exactly.  Fairly
  


 3   low elevation.
  


 4       Q.    Is this an image of a compound channel?
  


 5       A.    You could describe this as a compound
  


 6   channel, sure.
  


 7       Q.    And just for clarification, what date was
  


 8   that photograph taken?
  


 9       A.    October 29th, 2013.
  


10       Q.    I had down in November.  I'm glad we
  


11   clarified that.
  


12       A.    I wasn't sure.  I had forgotten that I had
  


13   the note here.
  


14       Q.    Thank you.
  


15             Turning to Slide No. 13 of that Exhibit X026,
  


16   it's titled Gila River at Kelvin Flows.  That has mean
  


17   daily and annual peak data, and it looks like
  


18   January '05 to January '09.  I assume that's 1905 to
  


19   2009, correct?
  


20       A.    That's correct.
  


21       Q.    The blue lines on that image, the vertical
  


22   blue lines show the max mean daily flow for the year,
  


23   correct?
  


24       A.    Yeah, the highest point on any of those
  


25   lines.  That's actually a continuous line that shows
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 1   all of the flows, but the highest point would be the
  


 2   maximum mean daily flow, yes.
  


 3       Q.    Right, it's cumulative.  I mean for that day
  


 4   it starts at whatever it was, but this is the maximum
  


 5   mean daily flow for that year.  I'm sorry, that is --
  


 6   let me straighten that out.
  


 7             That's the max mean daily flow for that
  


 8   entire year?
  


 9       A.    Well, there can be multiple peaks in there.
  


10   So if you were able to zoom in on the picture and see
  


11   year by year by year, you could pick out the maximum
  


12   flow, maximum mean daily flow from that.
  


13       Q.    And the dots above those blue lines, those
  


14   indicate the max flow peak flow for that year, correct?
  


15       A.    That's correct.
  


16       Q.    That first dot in the upper left-hand corner,
  


17   I believe that's -- what year is that for?
  


18       A.    1906.
  


19       Q.    And is that an estimated figure?
  


20       A.    I believe it is, yes.
  


21       Q.    Is it correct that the USGS didn't have a
  


22   gauge at Kelvin in 1906?
  


23       A.    I don't believe it had been formally
  


24   established yet.
  


25       Q.    In fact, they didn't have it until 1916,
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 1   correct?
  


 2       A.    I don't think that's correct.
  


 3       Q.    When did they -- what is the first date of
  


 4   the USGS data that you have?
  


 5       A.    I believe it's 1912.  I would have to go back
  


 6   and look at the records.  You see it.  It's the
  


 7   beginning of the blue lines there.
  


 8       Q.    Yes, you're correct.  It actually was 1911.
  


 9       A.    1911, yeah.
  


10       Q.    Sorry about that.
  


11             Does this flow data that's depicted here from
  


12   beginning in 1911 through 2009 represent the natural
  


13   and ordinary flow of the Gila River at Kelvin?
  


14       A.    There were diversions in place prior to the
  


15   start of this record, so it is modified.
  


16       Q.    Do you know when those diversions, the
  


17   upstream diversions, began?
  


18       A.    I think the earliest significant ones were
  


19   perhaps in the 1870s, in terms of the European man's
  


20   influence on the river.  There may have been other
  


21   smaller ones.
  


22       Q.    Upstream from this gauge, though?
  


23       A.    I believe so.  I would have to check that for
  


24   sure.  The late 1800s.
  


25       Q.    Looking at Slide No. 14 of that same exhibit,
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 1   which is a figure with months October to September on
  


 2   the bottom, and mean daily discharge in cfs on the left
  


 3   side.  Do you know when the Coolidge Dam was in
  


 4   operation?
  


 5       A.    I believe it was closed in November 1928.
  


 6       Q.    Do you know when it was dedicated?
  


 7       A.    I don't know that for sure.
  


 8       Q.    So 1928 is the -- so looking at this data,
  


 9   you have blue lines and orangey lines.  The blue line
  


10   is the before Coolidge Dam data set, correct?
  


11       A.    That's correct.
  


12       Q.    So we established that, or according to your
  


13   testimony, that data set ended in 1928?
  


14       A.    Yes.
  


15       Q.    And it began in 1911?
  


16       A.    Yes.
  


17       Q.    So the math there is how many years?
  


18       A.    I guess it would be 17, 18 years, inclusive.
  


19   I'm not -- I would have to go back and see exactly
  


20   which years.
  


21       Q.    So about 18 years of data?
  


22       A.    Roughly.
  


23       Q.    And then comparing that with the orange line,
  


24   that's everything since Coolidge Dam.  I'm sorry.
  


25   Yeah, since Coolidge Dam went into effect?
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 1       A.    That's correct.
  


 2       Q.    Until when?
  


 3       A.    I believe I used through water year 2013.  So
  


 4   it would be September 30th of last year.
  


 5       Q.    And so we're looking at somewhere about
  


 6   84 years of data?
  


 7       A.    That sounds close.
  


 8       Q.    Do you know how many large flow events
  


 9   occurred in the before Coolidge Dam data set?
  


10       A.    Well, we can see that in the previous figure
  


11   that we were talking about.  There were a number.
  


12       Q.    So according to your Slide 12, I counted six
  


13   flows that exceeded your 10-year peak.  We looked at
  


14   your Slide No. 12.  Would that be accurate?
  


15             How about we flip to the Slide 13.  I'm
  


16   sorry, I may have just misnumbered here.  Slide 13.
  


17       A.    I see 6 flows that were significantly larger
  


18   than the -- than what I depict here as the 10-year
  


19   peak, yes.  There are a couple of others that are just
  


20   slightly above the line as well.
  


21       Q.    So maybe as many as 8?
  


22       A.    Could be.
  


23       Q.    Irrespective of the effect of Coolidge Dam,
  


24   would you expect a graph depicting 18 data points
  


25   versus one depicting 84 data points to be smoother or
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 1   more dynamic?
  


 2       A.    You would probably expect the longer record
  


 3   to be smoother.
  


 4       Q.    And this figure does show that Coolidge Dam
  


 5   had an effect on the flow regime, correct?
  


 6       A.    Yes, I think it does show that.
  


 7       Q.    Looking at the median line for the blue,
  


 8   that's the lower blue line?
  


 9       A.    That's correct.
  


10       Q.    That, by my eye, appears to run between
  


11   100 cfs and 1,000 cfs for most of the year, correct?
  


12       A.    I think that's fair.
  


13       Q.    So even though we're looking at
  


14   post-diversion flow data, more than half the time, more
  


15   than 50 percent of the time pre-Coolidge Dam the flows
  


16   were between 100 and 1,000 cfs?
  


17       A.    Yes.
  


18       Q.    Turning to Slide No. 15, it's titled Annual
  


19   Flood Peaks:  Snowmelt and Monsoon.  This uses the same
  


20   USGS data set as the previous slides, correct?
  


21       A.    That's correct.
  


22       Q.    I believe you testified on direct that the
  


23   peaks and valleys of flows downstream from the Salt
  


24   River are similar, but different volumes, as what's
  


25   depicted in this image; is that accurate?
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 1       A.    I think that the seasonal pattern, the
  


 2   natural seasonal pattern, is similar, yes.
  


 3       Q.    What data do you rely on when you reach that
  


 4   conclusion?
  


 5       A.    Just my understanding of the hydrologic
  


 6   characteristics of the rivers in this area.
  


 7       Q.    So you didn't study the -- or did you study
  


 8   the Salt River flow data to come up with that
  


 9   conclusion?
  


10       A.    I have studied the Salt River flow data, yes.
  


11       Q.    And in coming up with the conclusion that you
  


12   testified to?
  


13       A.    I don't recall ever plotting it in exactly
  


14   this fashion.
  


15       Q.    Did you study the Salt River data for this
  


16   case?
  


17       A.    Not explicitly, no.
  


18       Q.    Looking at Slide No. 16 of your presentation,
  


19   X026, which is titled Similar Variability in Annual
  


20   Volume Pre- and Post-statehood, who is that -- this
  


21   figure depicts -- I think we already covered this, but
  


22   I just want to be clear.  This depicts the light blue
  


23   lines are the Meko and Graybill data?
  


24       A.    That's correct.
  


25       Q.    I think on the chart it says Reconstructed
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 1   (Meko and Graybill, 1972).  Did you actually mean 1995?
  


 2   I couldn't find a '72 reference in your references.
  


 3       A.    That's very possible.  '72 does not sound
  


 4   right.  I think I may have confused that with the
  


 5   Burkham paper when I typed the caption on that.
  


 6             It should be 1995, yes.
  


 7       Q.    This, as I believe we discussed earlier, this
  


 8   data is comparing a model data with measured data?
  


 9       A.    That's correct.
  


10       Q.    Isn't it true that when you mathematically
  


11   relate the tree ring width to runoff volume using a
  


12   regression, you get a damping effect on the runoff
  


13   volume for each year?
  


14       A.    I think that's probably true, yes.
  


15       Q.    And that's, by damping effect, it's the --
  


16   that eliminates some of the variance of the estimates,
  


17   correct?
  


18       A.    I think if we had real data for the period
  


19   that's shown with Meko and Graybill, my educated guess,
  


20   if you will, is, it would be much -- well, maybe I
  


21   shouldn't say much.  It would be more variable than
  


22   what you see in this plot.
  


23       Q.    Why did you not depict the modeled data for
  


24   the post-1900 on this figure?
  


25       A.    Because I had measured data for that period.
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 1       Q.    So but you're comparing damped data with
  


 2   measured data that's not damped, correct?
  


 3       A.    Yes.  And my point is simply to show that
  


 4   there was significant -- according to their data, there
  


 5   was significant variability in the full records prior
  


 6   to the start of the systematic gauge record.  And as we
  


 7   just said, it's probably even more variable than what
  


 8   you see in this plot, but I have no way of quantifying
  


 9   that.
  


10       Q.    But in a sense, you're comparing apples to
  


11   oranges in this data, right?
  


12       A.    No.  For the purpose I used the plot, I think
  


13   it's a very valid comparison.
  


14       Q.    Turning to your figure Slide 17 of
  


15   Exhibit 26, Annual peak is correlated with annual
  


16   volume, it's -- the axes are Runoff Volume in acre-feet
  


17   and Annual Peak Discharge in cfs.
  


18             What years does this data depict?
  


19       A.    This is the period of record at the gauge.
  


20   It's all the data points.  So it would be 19 -- let me
  


21   just see.  Well, we would be starting in 1911, So 1911
  


22   to 1993.
  


23       Q.    Did you make this figure?
  


24       A.    Yes.
  


25       Q.    And this is the Kelvin data, correct?
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 1       A.    I believe this is actually the Safford gauge,
  


 2   and I think you remind me that I may have misspoke in
  


 3   my testimony yesterday.  It is not the Kelvin gauge.
  


 4   It is the gauge at Safford.
  


 5       Q.    Thank you.
  


 6             Does this data depict the runoff volume for a
  


 7   calendar year or for a water year?
  


 8       A.    Water year.
  


 9       Q.    For the Commission, what's the difference
  


10   between a calendar year and a water year?
  


11       A.    Yeah, the calendar years go from January
  


12   through December.  The water years start on the 1st of
  


13   October and go through the following September.
  


14       Q.    Looking at your Slide No. 18, it's titled
  


15   Flood-induced Changes in Channel Width, of
  


16   Exhibit X026.  The 1869 map at the top of that, the
  


17   plat map, shows level river bottom and a thin Gila
  


18   River, while the 1928 map shows a wide Gila River and
  


19   no level river bottom; is that correct?
  


20       A.    I don't see a level river bottom label in the
  


21   1928 figure, and it does show a wider flood channel.
  


22       Q.    Looking at the Slide No. 20, it's a similar
  


23   image.  It says Flood-induced Changes in Channel Width?
  


24       A.    Yes.
  


25       Q.    The bottom image there from 1915, that's
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 1   dated after that all-time record flood in 1906,
  


 2   correct?
  


 3       A.    Yes.
  


 4       Q.    So it's depicting the aftereffects of that
  


 5   record flood?
  


 6       A.    I would assume in part, yes.
  


 7       Q.    Turning to Slide No. 26, Summary of Opinions,
  


 8   which portions of the Gila had a single-thread channel
  


 9   that would float boats?
  


10       A.    I don't think we know that definitively.  We
  


11   simply know from the anecdotal evidence that there were
  


12   portions of the river that had that characteristic.
  


13       Q.    So your opinion that it would happen is based
  


14   on anecdotal records?
  


15       A.    Yes.
  


16       Q.    But you didn't do your own study?
  


17       A.    No.
  


18       Q.    Are any of the floods that occurred from 1895
  


19   to 1916 the ordinary condition of the Gila, meaning
  


20   more often than not?
  


21       A.    Could you rephrase the question, please?
  


22       Q.    Are any of the -- you have a second opinion:
  


23   From 1895 to 1916 you state large floods scoured
  


24   vegetation, et cetera.
  


25             Are any of the floods that occurred in that


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







Transcript of Proceedings, Vol. VIII - August 20, 2014 1844


  


 1   period the ordinary condition of the Gila River?
  


 2       A.    Well, as we've discussed before, this
  


 3   specific period during when the flood is happening most
  


 4   likely falls outside the definition of ordinary.
  


 5       Q.    On Slide 27, the next slide, titled Summary
  


 6   of Opinions, you state that prior to mid 1800s large
  


 7   floods routinely occurred in the ordinary and natural
  


 8   condition of the river, correct?
  


 9       A.    Yes.
  


10       Q.    How often would a large flood have to be to
  


11   be routine and ordinary?
  


12       A.    I don't know that I can put a specific period
  


13   on that.  If it happens every 10 years, a 10-year
  


14   flood, perhaps, or greater.
  


15       Q.    What evidence do you have that the large
  


16   floods were routine and ordinary?
  


17       A.    Well, from the figures that we looked at
  


18   before, which would be the figures on Slide 16 and 17.
  


19   We see significant variability in the annual runoff,
  


20   and as we discussed, it's probably even more variable
  


21   than what is depicted in that figure.  And the slide on
  


22   Slide 17 shows that there's strong correlation between
  


23   the peak flows, in other words the flood regime, and
  


24   the annual runoff.  So the combination of those two
  


25   says to me that we certainly had periodic floods during
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 1   that time.
  


 2             In addition to that, there's good evidence
  


 3   that there hasn't been a systematic shift in the
  


 4   climate during that period of time, going back, you
  


 5   know, several centuries.  And there undoubtedly are
  


 6   changes in the watershed, but not of sufficient amount
  


 7   to completely change the flood regime.
  


 8             And so my overall conclusion is that the
  


 9   flood regime was probably very similar under ordinary
  


10   and natural conditions to what it is now.
  


11       Q.    You have no other evidence besides that Meko
  


12   and Graybill data, the predevelopment annual flows,
  


13   correct?
  


14       A.    That's the only quantification that I have.
  


15       Q.    How many cfs does it take to make something
  


16   into a large flood, in your mind?
  


17       A.    I don't have a number in my mind.
  


18       Q.    Do you have an estimate?
  


19       A.    Well, according to Slide 13, the one in
  


20   ten-year peak under the current regime is roughly
  


21   20, 22,000 cubic feet per second.  So I think something
  


22   in the range of 20 to 30,000.  From a geomorphic
  


23   perspective, it would have to be a flow that's big
  


24   enough to completely fill the channel or go out of bank
  


25   and have enough energy to cause changes in the channel.
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 1       Q.    I would like to show you a document that you
  


 2   cite as a reference that you relied on by
  


 3   Dr. Huckleberry, "Contrasting channel response to
  


 4   floods on the middle Gila River."
  


 5             Is that a document that you relied on in
  


 6   your -- reaching your declaration, in working, making
  


 7   your declaration?
  


 8                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. McGinnis, do you
  


 9   have something?
  


10                  MR. MCGINNIS:  Do you have copies for
  


11   the rest of us?  Is it an exhibit, or are you just
  


12   going to show it to him?  Did you print it out for
  


13   everybody?
  


14                  MR. HYRCKO:  I did not, but it's cited
  


15   by --
  


16                  MR. SLADE:  What's the date of the
  


17   paper?
  


18                  MR. HYRCKO:  1994, "Contrasting channel
  


19   response to floods on the middle Gila River," by Gary
  


20   Huckleberry, in Geology, Volume 22, Pages 1083 to 1086.
  


21                  THE WITNESS:  I did cite this, yes.
  


22                  MR. MCGINNIS:  It's not been submitted
  


23   as an exhibit and it's not before the Commission.  If
  


24   you want to ask about it, I guess that's okay.  But
  


25   it's not in the record.
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 1                  MR. HELM:  We'll put it in the record
  


 2   this afternoon.  How's that, Mark?
  


 3                  MR. HYRCKO:  Dr. Mussetter relied on
  


 4   that.
  


 5                  MR. SPARKS:  I actually noticed that
  


 6   he's supplying us with one now.
  


 7                  MR. HELM:  He can get one now.
  


 8                  MR. SPARKS:  Yeah, there you go.
  


 9                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, Mr. McGinnis,
  


10   would you clarify what you wanted to know, have done or
  


11   explain?
  


12                  MR. MCGINNIS:  Well, if he's asking him
  


13   about a document that none of the rest of us have
  


14   scene.  Maybe Dr. Mussetter has seen this.  We saw this
  


15   yesterday.  At least the State was nice enough to mail
  


16   it to me the day they used it.  We haven't even seen
  


17   this document.  There's no way for me to effectively
  


18   redirect him or even understand what the testimony is,
  


19   because I didn't hear about the document until today,
  


20   and he didn't even bring a copy.
  


21                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Now, Mr. Hyrcko or
  


22   Mr. Helm, would you respond?
  


23                  MR. HYRCKO:  Yes.  The document was
  


24   relied upon by Dr. Mussetter in reaching his opinion.
  


25   He certainly is familiar with this document.  He said


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







Transcript of Proceedings, Vol. VIII - August 20, 2014 1848


  


 1   as much moments ago.
  


 2                  I am just going to ask him to read a
  


 3   section from that document, and if Mr. McGinnis would
  


 4   like, I'll supply him with a photocopy of this after
  


 5   the fact, or he can look at this copy and redirect
  


 6   Dr. Mussetter to his heart's content.  But I think it's
  


 7   a fair question to ask him about references that he
  


 8   cites in his declaration.
  


 9                  MR. MCGINNIS:  And I don't have any
  


10   problem with him asking about it.  I just think the
  


11   rest of us are entitled to see a copy, if it's not
  


12   already been admitted as an exhibit, while he's asking.
  


13                  MS. HERNBRODE:  What was the date,
  


14   again, I'm sorry?
  


15                  MR. HYRCKO:  December of 1994.
  


16                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Jeff, how much more
  


17   time do you have in examination?
  


18                  MR. HYRCKO:  This is -- maybe one or two
  


19   questions.
  


20                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Will it be
  


21   possible for you to obtain copies for distribution
  


22   during the lunch period?
  


23                  MR. HYRCKO:  I imagine.  I don't know
  


24   where I would make copies here locally, but I imagine I
  


25   can find something and bring enough copies for
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 1   Mr. McGinnis and any other attorneys that would like to
  


 2   have a copy.
  


 3                  MR. MCGINNIS:  Just to try to speed
  


 4   things along, to the extent that the copy that
  


 5   Dr. Mussetter has is going to be available over the
  


 6   lunchtime, I can look at it and he can look at it, and
  


 7   maybe that solves the problem.
  


 8                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Are there any other
  


 9   attorneys who share Mr. McGinnis's concern regarding
  


10   this particular document?
  


11                  MR. SPARKS:  We do.
  


12                  MR. MCGINNIS:  I'll share it with
  


13   Mr. Sparks.
  


14                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I believe at least two
  


15   other hands have gone up.
  


16                  MR. HOOD:  I would like a copy, but I
  


17   don't want to hold things up.
  


18                  MS. MONTGOMERY:  Yeah, I would say that
  


19   as well.
  


20                  MS. HERNBRODE:  Mr. Chairman, we will
  


21   assist Maricopa County in this matter and bring copies
  


22   back after lunch.
  


23                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.  Will that
  


24   be satisfactory to the other counsel?
  


25                  MR. MCGINNIS:  It will for me.
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 1                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.
  


 2                  Please do not forget the Expendables
  


 3   Three and their trusty Sancho Panza.
  


 4                  COMMISSIONER HORTON:  What a very
  


 5   literate man, Don Quixote.
  


 6                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I'm sorry we
  


 7   interrupted you in that way, but please continue.
  


 8                  MR. HYRCKO:  Thank you.
  


 9   BY MR. HYRCKO:
  


10       Q.    Dr. Mussetter, could you please read the
  


11   section that's highlighted there, Historical Channel
  


12   Changes?
  


13       A.    Sure.
  


14             Historical records of floods and channel
  


15   changes on the middle Gila River indicate that the
  


16   river has not responded similarly to all large floods.
  


17   Between 1696 and 1891, both anecdotal evidence and
  


18   survey plats indicate that the study reach was
  


19   characterized by a single, narrow channel lined by tall
  


20   trees, citing (Rea, 1983).  This form was maintained
  


21   despite catastrophic floods in 1833 and 1868.  That
  


22   cites (Dobyns, 1981).  The first obvious bank erosion
  


23   and channel widening occurred in 1891 (Huckleberry,
  


24   93b), but it was not until the floods of 1905 that the
  


25   middle Gila River changed from a single, slightly
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 1   sinuous, narrow --
  


 2             Sorry.  Pardon me.  I'll slow down.  Let me
  


 3   start.
  


 4             But it was not until the floods of 1905 that
  


 5   the middle Gila River changed from a single, slightly
  


 6   sinuous, narrow channel to a wide, straight, braided
  


 7   channel.  A single metamorphosis occurred in the upper
  


 8   reach of the Gila River in the Safford Valley, Arizona,
  


 9   citing (Burkham, 1972).  Tree-ring evidence indicates
  


10   that the decade of 1905 to 1915 was probably the
  


11   wettest in 500 years in central Arizona, and that
  


12   refers to the Meko and Graybill document that I used in
  


13   my report.
  


14             Large floods in 1905, 1914 and 1916 resulted
  


15   in repeated bank cutting and maintenance of wide,
  


16   braided channel plan forms.  In 1928 the channel was
  


17   still wide (GLO survey notes; Table 1), but thereafter
  


18   drier conditions and the Coolidge Dam effectively
  


19   decreased the frequency of large floods passing through
  


20   the study reach.  The normally dry channel was subject
  


21   to episodic, relatively small stream-flow events that
  


22   helped to create and maintain a small, relatively
  


23   narrow and sinuous, low-flow channel within a wider
  


24   flood channel; i.e., a compound plan form (Graf, 1988).
  


25   It was not until 1983 that the middle Gila River
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 1   underwent another large flood.
  


 2       Q.    Thank you, Dr. Mussetter.  And this was a
  


 3   document that you relied on and reviewed in reaching
  


 4   your opinion?
  


 5       A.    It is.
  


 6       Q.    Dr. Mussetter, every channel change that you
  


 7   discuss in your report that resulted in the channel
  


 8   becoming braided was caused by a flood, true?
  


 9       A.    Would you say that again, please?
  


10       Q.    Every channel change that you discuss in your
  


11   report that resulted in the channel becoming braided
  


12   was caused by a flood, true?
  


13       A.    The general thesis of the discussion in my
  


14   report is that the floods are the primary driver of the
  


15   braiding, yes.
  


16                  MR. HYRCKO:  Nothing else.  Thank you.
  


17                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  That's all?
  


18                  Is there anyone else who wishes to ask
  


19   some questions of Dr. Mussetter?
  


20                  And, Mr. McGinnis, do you wish to do
  


21   this before lunch or after lunch?
  


22                  MR. MCGINNIS:  I think given the fact
  


23   that we saw a document that we haven't seen before, I
  


24   would like to have a chance to look at it and finish up
  


25   after lunch, if that's okay with you.
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 1                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Is there anyone
  


 2   else that would like to ask some questions of
  


 3   Dr. Mussetter that we can finish in five minutes?
  


 4                  I'm not trusting lawyers at their word.
  


 5   Then we will adjourn for lunch and we'll come back here
  


 6   at about, oh, quarter after 1:00.
  


 7                  (A lunch recess was taken from
  


 8   11:51 a.m. to 1:15 p.m.)
  


 9                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. McGinnis, please
  


10   begin.
  


11                  MR. MCGINNIS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
  


12
  


13                    REDIRECT EXAMINATION
  


14   BY MR. MCGINNIS:
  


15       Q.    Dr. Mussetter, I have some questions to
  


16   follow up on some of the cross-examination that was
  


17   done with you the last day or so, okay?
  


18       A.    Okay.
  


19       Q.    Mr. Slade asked you some questions about your
  


20   boating experience, and he specifically asked you
  


21   whether you had ever come across a beaver dam.  Do you
  


22   recall that?
  


23       A.    I do.
  


24       Q.    Can you tell us where that was?
  


25       A.    It was on the upper Pennsylvania in Michigan.
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 1   It was a small stream.
  


 2       Q.    Do you remember the name of the stream?
  


 3       A.    I actually don't remember.
  


 4       Q.    And I think you said to him you came upon the
  


 5   beaver dam and you actually had to get out of the boat
  


 6   and carry the boat around the dam; is that right?
  


 7       A.    That's correct.
  


 8       Q.    Were you on a one-day trip or a several-day
  


 9   expedition at that point?
  


10       A.    I was just on a one-day trip.
  


11       Q.    How much gear did you have with you?
  


12       A.    Minimal.
  


13       Q.    If you had had five days worth of camping
  


14   gear with you, would you have had to unload the canoe
  


15   before you carried it?
  


16       A.    In this case I would have, yes.
  


17       Q.    If you had 500 pounds worth of beavers pelts,
  


18   would you have had to unload the canoe and go around
  


19   it?
  


20       A.    Yes.
  


21       Q.    Mr. Slade, I think it was Mr. Slade, asked
  


22   you some questions about --
  


23                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Excuse me.  Would the
  


24   record reflect that Mr. Hood has entered the room.
  


25                  MR. HOOD:  I saw everybody else walking
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 1   in at the same time, Mr. Chairman.
  


 2                  Pardon the interruption.
  


 3                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I'm sorry.  I'm sorry I
  


 4   interrupted you, Mr. McGinnis.
  


 5   BY MR. MCGINNIS:
  


 6       Q.    He also asked you some questions about your
  


 7   PowerPoint presentation, I believe, which was
  


 8   Exhibit X026.  And you don't need to go to it, because
  


 9   I think you'll probably remember it enough for this
  


10   question.  He asked you about Slide 8, which was a
  


11   picture of the Copper River in Alaska.
  


12       A.    Yes.
  


13       Q.    Do you recall that?
  


14       A.    Yes.
  


15       Q.    And you, I think, said that was a braided
  


16   river that could be navigable; is that right?
  


17       A.    Yes.
  


18       Q.    Do you have any idea what the magnitude of
  


19   flows is in the Copper River as compared to the Gila
  


20   River?
  


21       A.    Well, I actually tried to look that up.
  


22   There aren't any gauges in that vicinity, but it's a
  


23   very large river, so they're many times greater than
  


24   the flows in the Gila River.  Probably the flow in that
  


25   picture is as big as any of the recorded floods.
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 1       Q.    And I think maybe you testified on direct
  


 2   even, that a braided river could be navigable if there
  


 3   was a lot of water there?
  


 4       A.    Sure.
  


 5       Q.    Toward the end of your cross-examination with
  


 6   Mr. Hyrcko, he showed you a document from Huckleberry
  


 7   that's now been marked as Exhibit X034 "Contrasting
  


 8   channel response to floods on the middle Gila River,
  


 9   Arizona."  Do you recall seeing that?
  


10       A.    Yes.
  


11       Q.    And that was one of the documents that you
  


12   had cited in your report; is that right?
  


13       A.    That's correct.
  


14       Q.    Do you have a copy of that with you?
  


15       A.    Yes, I do.
  


16       Q.    Okay.  I want to ask you some questions just
  


17   about the first introduction part of it.
  


18             The first sentence after the introduction
  


19   says, Channel morphology in plan-view form in arid and
  


20   semi-arid stream systems is largely dependent on the
  


21   frequency and magnitude of large floods, with some
  


22   citations there.
  


23             Do you agree with that?
  


24       A.    Yes, I do.
  


25       Q.    Is that consistent with the opinion that
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 1   you've given the Commission in this case?
  


 2       A.    It is.
  


 3       Q.    The next sentence says, Consequently, such
  


 4   systems --
  


 5                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Mr. McGinnis, I'm
  


 6   sorry, point out where in the document you're talking
  


 7   about.
  


 8                  MR. MCGINNIS:  Reading right after the
  


 9   introduction, right in the introduction.  Do you see
  


10   that on the left-hand side of the first page --
  


11                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Yeah, I see that.
  


12                  MR. MCGINNIS:  -- it says Introduction?
  


13                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Yeah.
  


14                  MR. MCGINNIS:  I'm on the second
  


15   sentence now.
  


16                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Consequently?
  


17                  MR. MCGINNIS:  Yes, sir.
  


18   BY MR. MCGINNIS:
  


19       Q.    Consequently, such systems seldom maintain a
  


20   stable form at decadal to century time scale.
  


21             Did I read that right?
  


22       A.    You did.
  


23       Q.    What does it mean to seldom maintain a stable
  


24   form at decadal to century time scales?
  


25       A.    Means that over periods of tens of years, up
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 1   to a century, they showed dynamic behavior; they shift
  


 2   around, they change.
  


 3       Q.    Okay.  And the next sentence says, The Gila
  


 4   River in Arizona is an arid-region stream in which
  


 5   complex relation between floods and channel changes
  


 6   occurs.
  


 7             Did I read that right?
  


 8       A.    You did.
  


 9       Q.    Do you generally agree with that principle?
  


10       A.    Yes.
  


11       Q.    And then the next sentence says, Specific
  


12   hydroclimatic conditions favor the production of
  


13   catastrophic floods in the Gila River watershed.
  


14             Did I read that correctly?
  


15       A.    You did, and I agree with that.
  


16       Q.    And the last clause of that same sentence
  


17   says, but not all large floods result in the same
  


18   channel response.
  


19       A.    Yes.
  


20       Q.    Is that correct?
  


21       A.    That is correct.
  


22       Q.    Is that consistent with the opinion you've
  


23   given this Commission?
  


24       A.    It is.
  


25       Q.    You were asked some questions by both the


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







Transcript of Proceedings, Vol. VIII - August 20, 2014 1859


  


 1   lawyers about the Winkleman case.  Do you recall that?
  


 2       A.    I do.
  


 3       Q.    And Winkleman is State of Arizona ex rel.
  


 4   Winkleman versus ANSAC.  Do you understand that to be
  


 5   that case?
  


 6       A.    Yes.
  


 7       Q.    Was that case decided in 2010?
  


 8       A.    I believe so.
  


 9       Q.    Is it your understanding that the Winkleman
  


10   case dealt with this Commission's findings on the upper
  


11   Salt River?
  


12       A.    Yes.
  


13       Q.    Do you know if the Winkleman case involved
  


14   any review of the Commission's findings on the Gila
  


15   River?
  


16       A.    I don't believe it did.
  


17       Q.    And is it your understanding that the report
  


18   on the lower Salt River that was at issue in Winkleman
  


19   was done in September of 2005; does that sound about
  


20   right?
  


21       A.    That does sound right.
  


22       Q.    And the report, the Commission's latest
  


23   report on the Gila River wasn't done until January
  


24   2009.
  


25       A.    That's correct.
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 1       Q.    And, in fact, the trial court decision in the
  


 2   lower Salt River case was about 2007; is that right?
  


 3       A.    That sounds right.
  


 4                  MR. MCGINNIS:  Okay, you guys, I'm
  


 5   trying to listen.
  


 6   BY MR. MCGINNIS:
  


 7       Q.    Okay, thank you.
  


 8             So do you know of any court decision that has
  


 9   considered or found invalid this Commission's January
  


10   2009 decision on the Gila River?
  


11       A.    I do not.
  


12       Q.    Yesterday afternoon Mr. Slade had pointed you
  


13   to a particular exhibit, and I didn't have it in front
  


14   of me and I'm not sure I'm going to get right which one
  


15   it was, but maybe you can understand from my
  


16   description.  And that was an exhibit where it was
  


17   talking about mapping methods on the GLO plats.  Do you
  


18   recall that?
  


19       A.    I do recall that.
  


20       Q.    Do you recall which exhibit that was, which
  


21   author it was?
  


22       A.    It was from Huckleberry 1996, I believe.
  


23       Q.    And he gave you a notebook with some tabs in
  


24   it --
  


25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    -- that you were looking at, right?
  


 2       A.    Yes.
  


 3       Q.    And was that Huckleberry article one that you
  


 4   had cited in your report?
  


 5       A.    It is.
  


 6       Q.    Until yesterday, when was the last time you
  


 7   had read that Huckleberry article, if you can recall?
  


 8       A.    Nine months, six to nine months ago.
  


 9       Q.    And I never got a chance to see the notebook
  


10   that he handed you with the tabs in it, but on the tab
  


11   that he handed you, did that have the whole article, or
  


12   did it just have one page?
  


13       A.    I think it was just one or it might have
  


14   overlapped into two pages.  It was just a few pages,
  


15   though.
  


16       Q.    So that tab didn't have the whole article to
  


17   put the sentence he was reading to you in context,
  


18   right?
  


19       A.    It did not.
  


20       Q.    Have you had a chance since yesterday to look
  


21   back at that article and read the whole thing?
  


22       A.    I did go back and reread it.
  


23       Q.    And my impression of what the one sentence he
  


24   was having you read was along the lines of the mapping
  


25   methods that the GLO used had changed at some point.
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 1   Is that generally correct?
  


 2       A.    Well, sort of.  I think the two maps were
  


 3   made by different entities, but that the -- the
  


 4   procedure that -- the features that they were mapping
  


 5   might have changed somewhat.
  


 6       Q.    Okay.  And based upon your review of the
  


 7   entire article last night, is that your understanding?
  


 8       A.    I'm not really sure that that's what it says.
  


 9   I can see how it could be interpreted to mean what he
  


10   was implying by his questions, but I can also interpret
  


11   it other ways, so I'm not really sure that it -- all of
  


12   the differences you see in those maps are just strictly
  


13   because they map using different procedures.
  


14       Q.    And that interpretation is based upon a
  


15   review of the entire document, not just --
  


16       A.    That's correct.
  


17       Q.    -- one or two sentences he picked out for
  


18   you?
  


19       A.    That's correct.
  


20       Q.    Do you have a copy of your PowerPoint handy
  


21   that we can pull up electronically?
  


22       A.    I do.
  


23       Q.    Is it warming up, is that what we're waiting
  


24   for?
  


25       A.    Yeah, it's coming.
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 1       Q.    Okay.  This is the PowerPoint that you
  


 2   presented, Exhibit X026; is that right?
  


 3       A.    Yes.
  


 4       Q.    And we talked about it at some length
  


 5   yesterday.
  


 6       A.    Yes.
  


 7       Q.    And we have it up on the screen.
  


 8             Can you flip over to or slide down to
  


 9   Slide 22?
  


10             And Mr. Slade referred you to two or three
  


11   different of these sets of diagrams, and I think this
  


12   was one of them.  And it was my impression, from what
  


13   his questions were, was he was trying to lead to the
  


14   conclusion that the difference between the two maps --
  


15   I guess there's three -- two maps on this slide was
  


16   maybe just based on the different mapping methods that
  


17   changed between 1883 and 1907.  Do you recall that
  


18   testimony?
  


19       A.    I do.
  


20       Q.    Was that your understanding of what he was
  


21   trying to show as well?
  


22       A.    That was also my impression.
  


23       Q.    And based upon your review of the document
  


24   you looked at last night, at this point you're not even
  


25   sure that there was a change in mapping methods; is
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 1   that right?
  


 2       A.    I'm not sure of that, yes.
  


 3       Q.    And let's assume for a minute, though, that
  


 4   his premise, if that's his premise and that that
  


 5   premise is correct, if there was a -- if the difference
  


 6   between these two photos in 1883 and 1907 was just
  


 7   based on mapping methods, wouldn't that mean that the
  


 8   river was essentially the same in both time periods?
  


 9       A.    Yes.  If his proposition was correct, then
  


10   using these mapping methods, you would see a wide,
  


11   braided channel as well, flood channel in the top
  


12   photo.
  


13       Q.    In other words, if you used the mapping
  


14   methods that were used for the 1907 map in 1883, you
  


15   would have had a broad channel as well?
  


16       A.    Yes.
  


17       Q.    Now, as between 1883 and 1907, which of those
  


18   two time frames do we know more precisely what the
  


19   river actually looked like?
  


20       A.    I would think the more current time frame,
  


21   1907.
  


22       Q.    And why is that?
  


23       A.    Well, because they were mapping in more
  


24   detail at that time.  It's closer to the present time.
  


25   We have more information about the river at that time,
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 1   more people were around.
  


 2       Q.    And we actually have seen in this case, in
  


 3   this week actually, photographs from 1907, roughly --
  


 4       A.    Yes.
  


 5       Q.    -- right?
  


 6             Dr. Littlefield had photographs of the river
  


 7   in 1905.  Do you recall those?
  


 8       A.    I do.
  


 9       Q.    He had photographs of the river in 1910, I
  


10   believe.  Do you recall those?
  


11       A.    I do.
  


12       Q.    Do you know of any photographs of the Gila
  


13   River in 1883 or earlier?
  


14       A.    I'm not aware of any.
  


15       Q.    So if the river was the same, if you're
  


16   assuming that Mr. Slade's premise is correct and the
  


17   difference in these two maps is just based on mapping
  


18   methods, and if the river was the same, and we know the
  


19   1907 was the most likely to be correct, wouldn't that
  


20   also mean that the river was broad and wide in 1883,
  


21   and it's just drawn differently because of the
  


22   different mapping methods?
  


23       A.    That could very well be the case.
  


24       Q.    And all the testimony that you've heard so
  


25   far in this case doesn't support that, does it?
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 1       A.    That's right.
  


 2       Q.    And as a matter of fact, the State itself has
  


 3   put on evidence to show that in the mid 1800s, up to
  


 4   the floods in the late 1800s, they've been trying to
  


 5   show that it was a single meandering channel lined with
  


 6   cottonwoods?
  


 7       A.    Yes.
  


 8       Q.    And that's kind of what this picture actually
  


 9   looks like in 1883, right?
  


10       A.    It's a single-thread channel for sure.
  


11       Q.    So if his premise was correct, then it is
  


12   contrary to all the evidence his own witness has put
  


13   on?
  


14       A.    Yes.
  


15       Q.    Well, let's sort of step back from fantasy
  


16   land then and ask you another question, and that is, is
  


17   his premise correct?  Is there any real dispute that
  


18   the Gila River widened between the late 1880s and
  


19   statehood?
  


20       A.    I don't think there's any disputes about
  


21   that.
  


22       Q.    And what's your basis for that thought?
  


23       A.    Well, there's several documents that I've
  


24   talked about in my testimony, the Burkham study, the
  


25   Huckleberry studies, other descriptions of how the
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 1   river responded to the flooding around the turn of the
  


 2   century.
  


 3       Q.    And as a matter of fact, this particular
  


 4   Commission has written a report that talks about how
  


 5   the river broadened -- widened and braided in the late
  


 6   1800s and early 1900s; is that right?
  


 7       A.    That's correct.
  


 8       Q.    Do you have a copy there on your computer of
  


 9   the January 27th, 2009 report from this Commission?
  


10       A.    I do.
  


11       Q.    Can you pull that up for us?
  


12             Okay, and this says, In the Matter of the
  


13   Navigability of the Gila River from the New Mexico
  


14   Border to the Confluence with the Colorado River,
  


15   Greenlee, Graham, Gila, Pinal, Maricopa and Yuma
  


16   Counties, Arizona.
  


17             Do you see that?
  


18       A.    Yes.
  


19                  MR. MCGINNIS:  And I've got -- if you
  


20   don't have it, I've got some extra hard copies, if
  


21   anybody wants one.  Judge, would the Commission like a
  


22   hard copy?
  


23                  This is without the attachments.
  


24                  Who else?
  


25                  And I've given the Commission hard
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 1   copies.  One left.
  


 2                  The 2009 report is a couple hundred
  


 3   pages long or longer.  The copies I've handed to the
  


 4   Commission, just for the record, does not include the
  


 5   voluminous attachments.  It's just the hard -- the
  


 6   actual body of the report, which I think goes up to
  


 7   Page 89, with the signatures of who the then
  


 8   Commissioners were.
  


 9   BY MR. MCGINNIS:
  


10       Q.    And I want to talk some with you about what
  


11   this Commission found and what evidence was before it
  


12   back in 2009 based upon the 2005 hearing.
  


13       A.    Okay.
  


14       Q.    Okay?  And you weren't at that hearing; is
  


15   that right?
  


16       A.    I was not.
  


17       Q.    Have you reviewed the transcript of that
  


18   hearing?
  


19       A.    I have reviewed portions of the transcript,
  


20   yes.
  


21       Q.    Let's turn to the next page, which is the
  


22   Table of Contents.  And you see down under Roman
  


23   numeral VII.G there's a section that's called Geology,
  


24   Geomorphology and Hydrology of the Gila River.  Do you
  


25   see that?
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 1       A.    I do see that.
  


 2       Q.    And that starts on Page 62?
  


 3       A.    Yes.
  


 4       Q.    Is it your understanding that that section
  


 5   summarizes the Commission's findings with respect to
  


 6   those scientific issues based on the evidence that was
  


 7   presented to it in 2005?
  


 8       A.    Yes, it is.
  


 9       Q.    Okay, let's go down to Page 62.  Okay,
  


10   Section 2, that's where subsection -- excuse me.
  


11   Page 62, that's where Subsection G starts, correct?
  


12       A.    Yes.
  


13       Q.    Okay, and I'm going to save you the burden of
  


14   reading, because we've got some reading to do, and I'm
  


15   going to try and start out by reading it to you and
  


16   have you agree with me whether I read it right or not.
  


17   Is that okay?
  


18       A.    Okay.
  


19       Q.    The last sentence of the first paragraph
  


20   there under G says, summarizing that paragraph, says,
  


21   Thus, the river has been described as extremely
  


22   erratic, unstable and unpredictable in its disposition.
  


23             Do you see that?
  


24       A.    I do see that.
  


25       Q.    Did I read that correctly?
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 1       A.    I believe so.
  


 2       Q.    So based upon the evidence before it at the
  


 3   2005 hearing, this Commission found in 2009 that the
  


 4   river was described as extremely erratic, unstable and
  


 5   unpredictable in its disposition?
  


 6       A.    Yes.
  


 7       Q.    Based upon the evidence that you reviewed
  


 8   from that prior hearing and the testimony and evidence
  


 9   you've seen in this hearing, would you agree with that
  


10   statement?
  


11       A.    I think that's a reasonable description.
  


12       Q.    Okay, let's go down to Page 64.  The first
  


13   sentence in the second full paragraph there says, The
  


14   flow of the river is difficult to characterize, partly
  


15   because there were few records kept until the 1880s to
  


16   1900.
  


17             Do you see that?
  


18       A.    I do.
  


19       Q.    Did I read that correctly?
  


20       A.    Yes.
  


21       Q.    Based upon your review of the evidence from
  


22   the 2005 hearing and the additional evidence and
  


23   testimony that you've seen in the last eight days of
  


24   this hearing, would you agree with that statement?
  


25       A.    Yes.  They are sparse to nonexistent prior to
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 1   that time frame.
  


 2       Q.    Let's go on down to Page 67 of the 2009
  


 3   Commission report, and beginning at the bottom of
  


 4   Page 67, there is a rather long paragraph that
  


 5   describes the Commission's understanding of the
  


 6   testimony and evidence presented by the Land Department
  


 7   in the 2005 hearing, specifically in the report that
  


 8   was updated in 2009 by Mr. Fuller.
  


 9             Is that your understanding of that paragraph?
  


10       A.    Yes.
  


11       Q.    So the bottom, that last paragraph there
  


12   says, The navigability study prepared by the Arizona
  


13   State Land Department and updated through June of 2003
  


14   by J.E. Fuller contains a detailed chapter on
  


15   historical geomorphology of the Gila River with
  


16   numerous quotes from Dr. Gary Huckleberry of the
  


17   Arizona Geological Survey.
  


18             Did I read that correctly?
  


19       A.    Yes.
  


20       Q.    And that's the same Mr. Fuller -- is it your
  


21   understanding that's the same Mr. Fuller who's
  


22   testified this week --
  


23       A.    Yes.
  


24       Q.    Last time.
  


25       A.    Last session, yes.


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







Transcript of Proceedings, Vol. VIII - August 20, 2014 1872


  


 1       Q.    Mr. Huckleberry, are you familiar with him?
  


 2       A.    I'm familiar with his writings.
  


 3       Q.    And he wrote the document that we just looked
  


 4   at a few minutes ago, right?
  


 5       A.    He did.
  


 6       Q.    Is it your understanding that Mr. Huckleberry
  


 7   testified on behalf of the State Land Department in the
  


 8   2005 hearings that resulted in this 2009 decision?
  


 9       A.    Yes.
  


10       Q.    The next sentence says -- and this is the
  


11   Commission, again -- says, In the pioneer period, there
  


12   was, during a good deal of the time, a single channel
  


13   stream with moderate flow in the upper Gila Valley.
  


14             Did I read that correctly?
  


15       A.    Yes.
  


16       Q.    Is that your understanding of the facts?
  


17       A.    The anecdotal evidence seems to indicate
  


18   that.
  


19       Q.    And is that consistent with the opinion
  


20   you've given to the Commission in this hearing?
  


21       A.    It is.
  


22       Q.    The next sentence says, The large floods of
  


23   the 1890s and early 20th century changed the river
  


24   significantly, such that afterwards it showed a wide
  


25   sandy flood plain with several branching channels.
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 1             Did I read that correctly?
  


 2       A.    Yes.
  


 3       Q.    Is that consistent with the testimony you
  


 4   have given yesterday and today?
  


 5       A.    Yes.
  


 6       Q.    Do you think there's any dispute about
  


 7   whether the floods of the 1890s and early 20th century
  


 8   made the Gila River generally into a wide sandy
  


 9   floodplain with several braiding channels?
  


10       A.    I don't believe there is.
  


11       Q.    The next sentence says, The consecutive
  


12   floods would maintain the wide, braided conditions on
  


13   the alluvial reaches of the river.
  


14             Did I read that correctly?
  


15       A.    Yes.
  


16       Q.    Do you have any disagreement with that?
  


17       A.    No.
  


18       Q.    The next sentence says, The gauges and other
  


19   flow data show a relatively low, although consistent,
  


20   flow of this portion of the river.
  


21             Did I read that correctly?
  


22       A.    Yes.
  


23       Q.    Do you have any disagreement with that?
  


24       A.    No.
  


25       Q.    I'm going to skip down some because I don't
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 1   want to read every sentence in the whole 100-and-some
  


 2   pages.
  


 3             About halfway down the page there's a
  


 4   statement that says, Likewise, in this area -- and here
  


 5   they're talking about the area around Florence.  Yeah,
  


 6   the area around Florence in that sentence; middle Gila,
  


 7   I believe.
  


 8             Likewise, in this area, the floods of the
  


 9   1890s and early 1900s caused a great deal of channel
  


10   and bank cutting and transformed the Gila River into a
  


11   wide, braided channel with very little depth when it
  


12   did flow.
  


13             Did I read that correctly?
  


14       A.    Yes.
  


15       Q.    Is it your understanding that's a correct
  


16   statement?
  


17       A.    Yes.
  


18       Q.    Is that consistent with the testimony you've
  


19   given to the Commission the last two days?
  


20       A.    It is.
  


21       Q.    If you go down to the bottom of Page 68, the
  


22   Commission says, In summary, this report states; and
  


23   it's my understanding, and you can correct me if you
  


24   think I'm wrong --
  


25       A.    Wait.  Oh, I see it.
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 1       Q.    The very bottom of the page.
  


 2       A.    I see it.
  


 3       Q.    My understanding, they're talking about the
  


 4   report prepared for the State Land Department, updated
  


 5   by Mr. Fuller himself.  Is that your understanding?
  


 6       A.    Yes.
  


 7       Q.    If you flip over to the top of Page 69, this
  


 8   is the Commission from 2009 quoting a report prepared,
  


 9   at least in part, by Mr. Fuller in 2003; is that
  


10   correct?
  


11       A.    Yes.
  


12       Q.    Okay.  And that report was participated in by
  


13   Dr. Huckleberry, also, correct?
  


14       A.    That's my understanding.
  


15       Q.    The quote at the top of Page 69 says, The
  


16   Gila River is a classic example of a dryland river that
  


17   seldom seeks an equilibrium form.
  


18             Did I read that correctly?
  


19       A.    Yes.
  


20       Q.    Do you agree with that statement --
  


21       A.    Yes.
  


22       Q.    -- by Mr. Fuller?
  


23       A.    Yes.
  


24       Q.    Is that consistent with the testimony you've
  


25   given over the last two days?
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 1       A.    It is.
  


 2       Q.    There's some citations there, and then it
  


 3   says, Unlike rivers in humid regions that have more
  


 4   stable channels adjusted for more continuous stream
  


 5   flow with less variance in discharge, the dryland
  


 6   rivers are inherently more unstable and more prone to
  


 7   changes in channel configuration.
  


 8             Did I read that correctly?
  


 9       A.    You did.
  


10       Q.    Do you agree with that statement --
  


11       A.    Yes.
  


12       Q.    -- by Mr. Fuller?
  


13       A.    Yes.
  


14       Q.    Is that consistent with the testimony you've
  


15   given over the last two days?
  


16       A.    It is.
  


17       Q.    The next sentence says, In such unstable
  


18   fluvial systems, channel configuration depends much
  


19   upon the history of previous flood events.
  


20             Did I read that correctly?
  


21       A.    Yes.
  


22       Q.    Do you agree with that statement by
  


23   Mr. Fuller, quoted by this Commission in 2009?
  


24       A.    I do.
  


25       Q.    Is that consistent with your testimony in the
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 1   last two days?
  


 2       A.    It is.
  


 3       Q.    The next sentence says, Periods of high flood
  


 4   frequency are likely to correlate with periods of
  


 5   increased channel instability.
  


 6             Do you agree with that statement?
  


 7       A.    I do.
  


 8       Q.    Did I read it correctly?
  


 9       A.    Yes.
  


10       Q.    Is that consistent with the testimony you've
  


11   given to the Commission this week?
  


12       A.    Yes.
  


13       Q.    The next sentence says, Consequently channel
  


14   plan form and geometry of the lower Gila River in 1912
  


15   can also be characterized as mostly shallow and
  


16   braided.
  


17             Do you agree with that statement by
  


18   Mr. Fuller?
  


19       A.    I do.
  


20       Q.    Is that consistent with your testimony over
  


21   the last couple of days?
  


22       A.    It is.
  


23       Q.    The last sentence in that quote says, The
  


24   premise of this study is that the Gila River responds
  


25   to secular climatic variability by radical changes in
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 1   channel configuration and that periods of increased
  


 2   flood frequency correlate with unstable, braided
  


 3   channel conditions.
  


 4             Did I read that one correctly?
  


 5       A.    Almost.  You left out large flood frequency.
  


 6       Q.    I'm just checking to see if you're watching.
  


 7             Is that consistent with your testimony over
  


 8   the last couple days?
  


 9       A.    It is.
  


10       Q.    And do you agree with the statement by
  


11   Mr. Fuller, as quoted by the Commission in this 2009
  


12   report?
  


13       A.    I do agree with it.  I believe that actually
  


14   came from the Huckleberry document, but I agree with
  


15   it.
  


16       Q.    Huckleberry chapter in the report that was
  


17   signed by Mr. Fuller, prepared by Mr. Fuller; is that
  


18   correct?
  


19       A.    Yes.
  


20       Q.    And then the next sentence, and I'm not going
  


21   to go through and read it line by line, but the next
  


22   sentence talks about Mr. Huckleberry's testimony before
  


23   the Commission on November 17th, 2005; is that right?
  


24       A.    Yes.
  


25       Q.    Among other things, Dr. -- Mr. Huckleberry --
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 1   is it Mr. Huckleberry or Dr. Huckleberry?  Do you
  


 2   know?
  


 3       A.    I believe it's Mister.
  


 4       Q.    Okay.  Mr. Huckleberry stated that the Gila
  


 5   River was a very dynamic river because the discharge is
  


 6   so fluctuating and thus is similar to other rivers in
  


 7   dry lands and deserts.
  


 8             Is that what it says there?
  


 9       A.    It is.
  


10       Q.    And do you agree with that?
  


11       A.    I do.
  


12       Q.    Maybe I am going to read every sentence.
  


13             He stated that the character of the river had
  


14   been significantly changed by the very large floods,
  


15   particularly those in 1891, 1893, 1905 and 1916.
  


16             Is that correct?
  


17       A.    And, also, 1906.
  


18       Q.    And that's consistent with the testimony
  


19   you've given over the last couple of days?
  


20       A.    Yes.
  


21       Q.    And the rest of that page goes on to talk
  


22   about the statements that Mr. Huckleberry made in his
  


23   testimony to the Commission back on November 17th,
  


24   2005?
  


25       A.    Yes, it does.
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 1       Q.    And it's your understanding at that point he
  


 2   was testifying on behalf of the State Land Department
  


 3   itself; is that correct?
  


 4       A.    That's my understanding.
  


 5       Q.    So based upon your review of the Commission's
  


 6   report and the statement of the evidence that was
  


 7   presented back in 2005, including statements by
  


 8   Mr. Fuller and Dr. Huckleberry, Mr. Huckleberry, do you
  


 9   believe there's any reasonable dispute that the floods
  


10   in the late 1890s and early 1900s changed the channel
  


11   form of the Gila River?
  


12       A.    I think there's no dispute about that.
  


13       Q.    Do you think there's any reasonable
  


14   dispute of the fact that after those floods, in and
  


15   about the date of Arizona statehood, that the Gila
  


16   River, because of those floods, was a wide, braided
  


17   channel?
  


18       A.    I don't believe there's any dispute about
  


19   that.
  


20       Q.    And is that a big portion of what your
  


21   opinion has been today, those two things I just talked
  


22   about?  What your opinion has been over the last couple
  


23   of days, is that a big portion of what you're talking
  


24   about?
  


25       A.    Those are very important elements of my
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 1   opinion.
  


 2       Q.    And the other -- my understanding of the
  


 3   third element of your opinion is, based upon that and
  


 4   other evidence, you believe that the river was not
  


 5   navigable in its ordinary and natural condition?
  


 6       A.    That's correct.
  


 7       Q.    So if those are the three underpinnings,
  


 8   three main things you said in your testimony, the first
  


 9   two really have been agreed by the State's experts,
  


10   already found by the Commission, and also agreed to by
  


11   Dr. Huckleberry; is that right?
  


12       A.    That appears to be the case.
  


13       Q.    The last thing I want to deal with in this
  


14   report is, on Page 70 it starts talking about -- the
  


15   Commission there starts talking about Dr. Schumm.  And
  


16   we have had some discussion of Dr. Schumm over the last
  


17   couple days.  And he, I assume, also in this report --
  


18   excuse me.  This decision also shows that he agrees
  


19   with those two premises that we just talked about,
  


20   right?
  


21       A.    That's correct.
  


22       Q.    That there was a change in the channel and
  


23   that it was braided after the floods?
  


24       A.    That's correct.
  


25       Q.    Okay.  The only portion I want to refer you
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 1   to, in addition to that where it referred to
  


 2   Dr. Schumm, is, I think maybe it was in response to
  


 3   Mr. Slade's questioning yesterday.  It might have been
  


 4   Mr. Hyrcko today.  It all kind of blends together for
  


 5   me.  But one of them asked you, didn't Dr. Schumm just
  


 6   deal with the portion of the Gila River below the Salt
  


 7   River confluence.  Do you recall that?
  


 8       A.    I recall that question.
  


 9       Q.    And do you recall your answer was saying,
  


10   yeah, I think he did just deal with the lower portion
  


11   below the Salt River confluence?
  


12       A.    Yes.  I based that on the title of his
  


13   report.
  


14       Q.    And the title of his report probably leads to
  


15   that conclusion, in that it deals with the lower -- the
  


16   title says the lower Gila River; is that right?
  


17       A.    That's correct.
  


18       Q.    On Page 72 of the Commission's report,
  


19   there's some discussion, some quoted testimony by the
  


20   Commission, and testimony by Dr. Schumm, that would
  


21   seem to refute that conclusion; is that right?
  


22       A.    Yes.  He had information in his report that
  


23   applied, actually, to the middle reach of the Gila
  


24   upstream from the Salt River confluence.
  


25       Q.    And there on Page 72, they're quoting the
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 1   transcript from the November 17th, 2005 hearing at
  


 2   Page 21.  I would like you to just read along with me
  


 3   and make sure I'm reading this right.  They're talking
  


 4   about his opinion that the river is nonnavigable.  And
  


 5   if you start at the question about two-thirds of the
  


 6   way down the page.  And it doesn't say who was asking
  


 7   the questions.
  


 8             And you said that's in regard to lower reach.
  


 9   Is that correct?
  


10             Do you see that question?
  


11       A.    I see that.
  


12       Q.    Okay.  And then Dr. Schumm's response is:
  


13             Well, that's the title of my report, but the
  


14   data and information that I had from Huckleberry and
  


15   Burkham show that the river was -- the entire river
  


16   increased in width during that time.  So my assumption
  


17   is it's wide, it's shallow, steep, braided river.  And
  


18   that type of river without the vast quantities of water
  


19   in the Nile and --
  


20             I'm not even going to say this next word
  


21   right.  Brahmaputra?  How do you say that?
  


22       A.    Brahmaputra.
  


23       Q.    -- Brahmaputra, would likely be unsusceptible
  


24   to navigation.
  


25             And then after a break the quote continues:


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







Transcript of Proceedings, Vol. VIII - August 20, 2014 1884


  


 1             So, Dr. Schumm, is it your opinion that the
  


 2   entire length of the Gila River through Arizona is
  


 3   non-navigable?  Answer:  I would have to say yes,
  


 4   that's my conclusion.
  


 5             Did I read that correctly?
  


 6       A.    You did.
  


 7       Q.    So based upon that testimony, quoted by the
  


 8   Commission itself in its report, is it your
  


 9   understanding that Dr. Schumm, in his testimony, dealt
  


10   with the entire Gila River and not just the portion
  


11   below the Salt River confluence?
  


12       A.    That's correct.
  


13       Q.    Okay.  Last question, I hope.
  


14             Is there anything that you've heard in the
  


15   testimony in June and the testimony over the last,
  


16   roughly, two and a half days this week that has changed
  


17   your conclusions and opinions as set forth in your
  


18   report?
  


19       A.    No.
  


20                  MR. MCGINNIS:  No more questions.
  


21                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.
  


22                  Now, are there any other witnesses in
  


23   opposition?
  


24                  Oh, do you want to ask him some?
  


25                  MR. HELM:  I would beg permission of
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 1   the Commission to do this.  I realize that I
  


 2   sometimes engage in a folly of thinking that lawyers
  


 3   won't bring up stuff that they didn't use on direct
  


 4   when they get the privilege to do redirect, but I
  


 5   usually get proved wrong, and Mark has once again
  


 6   proven me wrong.
  


 7                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Excuse me, John, but
  


 8   are you bringing up something that didn't come up on
  


 9   direct or cross?
  


10                  MR. HELM:  I believe so.  I mean this
  


11   last flight through your 2005 report I don't recall
  


12   Mark ever bringing up on his direct.
  


13                  MR. MCGINNIS:  Everything I did in
  


14   redirect was tied directly to something they brought up
  


15   in cross.  Now, my redirect doesn't have to be within
  


16   the scope of my direct if they go outside the scope of
  


17   my direct in their cross.
  


18                  I thought I was pretty careful in
  


19   letting you know what portion of their cross I was
  


20   dealing with.  If you want to go back through that,
  


21   that's fine.  But there's no reason whatsoever for any
  


22   recross of this witness, and especially by a different
  


23   lawyer than the one who, from the same party, who
  


24   crossed him the first time.
  


25                  MR. HELM:  We never asked a question on
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 1   that report.  Now, I can't swear for --
  


 2                  MR. SLADE:  I didn't ask a question, nor
  


 3   did Dr. Mussetter cite that report in any of his
  


 4   documents.
  


 5                  MR. MCGINNIS:  That report was directly
  


 6   responsive to the questions from this gentleman,
  


 7   Mr. Slade, who seemed to be saying that the only thing
  


 8   that was different between those two maps was the
  


 9   difference in the mapping methods.
  


10                  And I went through that report to show
  


11   that not only Mr. Slade -- not only Dr. Mussetter --
  


12   what's your name -- Dr. Mussetter, but also Mr. Slade's
  


13   own expert to this Commission had testified to the same
  


14   thing that Mr. Slade was trying to disprove.
  


15                  MR. HELM:  In the real world, that
  


16   wouldn't be connected.
  


17                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. McGinnis, I agree
  


18   with you.
  


19                  Mr. Helm, proceed.
  


20                  MR. HELM:  Thank you.  I just have a
  


21   few.
  


22                  MR. MCGINNIS:  Will I have a chance to
  


23   re-redirect after he's done?
  


24                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. McGinnis, obviously
  


25   this chair is not going to restrict hardly anybody.
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 1                  MR. MCGINNIS:  Okay.
  


 2
  


 3                    RECROSS-EXAMINATION
  


 4   BY MR. HELM:
  


 5       Q.    I just want to talk to you about the report
  


 6   that you -- Mark just asked --
  


 7                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Oh, the chair would be
  


 8   most impressed if you would do it standing up, because
  


 9   that means it's not going to take very long.
  


10                  MR. HELM:  It won't.
  


11                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  No, go ahead and --
  


12                  MR. HELM:  No, for me, you can see.
  


13                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  -- sit down, John.  Sit
  


14   down, John.
  


15                  MR. HELM:  It's only four paragraphs.
  


16                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Sit down.  We're going
  


17   to be fine.
  


18                  MR. SPARKS:  Do you want me to hold your
  


19   notes up over here so you can see them?
  


20                  MR. HELM:  You couldn't read it.
  


21                  MR. SPARKS:  No, so you can see them.
  


22                  MR. HELM:  No, no, that's fine.  I do
  


23   better this way.
  


24   BY MR. HELM:
  


25       Q.    Now, regarding the Commission's 2005 report


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







Transcript of Proceedings, Vol. VIII - August 20, 2014 1888


  


 1   that you've testified here to, as I get it, basically
  


 2   what you're saying is, I've read that report and my
  


 3   testimony is consistent with all of the things that are
  


 4   stated in that report?
  


 5       A.    In the section that deals with the geology
  


 6   and geomorphology of the river, I have read that in
  


 7   some detail, and my testimony is consistent with that.
  


 8       Q.    Is it fair to say that by no means -- well,
  


 9   let me back up one.
  


10             You didn't do any other scientific tests or
  


11   studies other than the ones that you've told us about
  


12   before redirect, correct?
  


13                  MR. MCGINNIS:  This is clearly outside
  


14   the scope of my questioning about the report.  If we're
  


15   going to go outside, outside, outside, we're going to
  


16   be here for several more days.  The questions of the
  


17   scientific study have nothing to do with what he said
  


18   he was just going to ask him about, which was the 2009
  


19   report.
  


20                  MR. HELM:  If I can get the rest of the
  


21   stuff out, it might, Mark.
  


22                  MR. MCGINNIS:  You just asked a
  


23   question, and I'm objecting to that question.
  


24                  MR. HELM:  I know you've got some
  


25   heartburn because you did a fairytale on it.  Let me
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 1   finish.
  


 2                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Excuse me.  This is the
  


 3   direction, okay?  Up here is where we talk.
  


 4                  MR. MCGINNIS:  I have no heartburn, by
  


 5   the way.
  


 6   BY MR. HELM:
  


 7       Q.    The question goes like this:  What we're
  


 8   getting to is, you didn't do the research, did you,
  


 9   Doctor, that was done to support the 2005 report from
  


10   the Commission?
  


11                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Dr. Mussetter.
  


12                  THE WITNESS:  I did not do that
  


13   research, no.
  


14   BY MR. HELM:
  


15       Q.    Okay.  Did you read all of that research?
  


16       A.    I couldn't say I read 100 percent of it, but
  


17   I read the bulk of it.
  


18       Q.    When you say the bulk, what do you mean by
  


19   the bulk?  Whose did you read?  Which of the witnesses'
  


20   research did you read?
  


21       A.    Well, clearly Dr. Schumm's.
  


22       Q.    Okay.
  


23       A.    I've been read several of Huckleberry's
  


24   papers.  I've read --
  


25       Q.    Did you read the paper or did you read the
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 1   primary work behind the paper?
  


 2       A.    I would have to go back through the details.
  


 3   I'm sure I read some of the primary work behind it as
  


 4   well.
  


 5       Q.    Okay.  And am I right you haven't done any
  


 6   independent research, other than what you've already
  


 7   told us about, rendering your other opinions?
  


 8       A.    We've been through that.  Yes.
  


 9       Q.    Did you read the entire transcript from the
  


10   2005 hearing?
  


11       A.    Not the entire transcript, no.
  


12       Q.    You weren't present for the 2005 hearing?
  


13       A.    I was not.
  


14       Q.    Okay.  Did you review every exhibit submitted
  


15   for the 2005 hearing?
  


16       A.    No.
  


17       Q.    And, lastly, Huckleberry and Burkham did not
  


18   study the entire Gila River in their reports, did they?
  


19       A.    That's true.
  


20                  MR. HELM:  All I have.
  


21                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.
  


22                  Mr. McGinnis?
  


23                  MR. MCGINNIS:  Nothing worth responding
  


24   to there, Your Honor.
  


25                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Now, is there any other
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 1   evidence to be presented by a party who might be in
  


 2   opposition to a finding of navigability on the Gila?
  


 3                  (No response.)
  


 4                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  If not, then are we
  


 5   ready for rebuttal testimony?
  


 6                  MS. HERNBRODE:  Mr. Chairman, in the
  


 7   interest of time, the State has carefully reviewed what
  


 8   has happened in these last set of weeks, and we don't
  


 9   feel we need any rebuttal.
  


10                  However, if the Commission has any
  


11   questions of Mr. Fuller, we are happy to make him
  


12   available.
  


13                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Do you have any
  


14   questions for him?
  


15                  No.
  


16                  Jim?
  


17                  MR. HOOD:  Mr. Chairman, I just wanted
  


18   to remind you that there was some discussion about --
  


19   you got it.
  


20                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  You may show up late,
  


21   but you're on top of things.
  


22                  Do you have any questions for --
  


23                  MR. BREEDLOVE:  Commissioner Allen might
  


24   have some questions for Rich.
  


25                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Hood, would it be
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 1   possible --
  


 2                  Thank you, Dr. Mussetter.  We excuse
  


 3   you.
  


 4                  Would it be possible if we could have
  


 5   Mr. Burtell come back up?
  


 6                  MR. HOOD:  That sounds great.
  


 7                  MS. HERNBRODE:  I would like to reserve
  


 8   rebuttal at this point, I guess, Mr. Chairman.  I'm not
  


 9   sure what we're doing here, so...
  


10                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I'm about to explain.
  


11                  MS. HERNBRODE:  I apologize for jumping
  


12   ahead.
  


13                  MR. HOOD:  Just for Ms. Hernbrode, she
  


14   may not be aware.  This isn't -- I'm not going to be
  


15   asking Rich more questions, except perhaps in
  


16   follow-up.
  


17                  There was some questions by the
  


18   Commissioners that they didn't have a chance, so this
  


19   is their opportunity for that.  So barring follow-up, I
  


20   don't have any questions.
  


21                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Oh, you're not?
  


22                  Mr. Burtell, are you ready to come up?
  


23                  MR. BURTELL:  Yes.
  


24                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  You're not going to
  


25   have to.
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 1                  You think the State surprises us.  Bill,
  


 2   you surprised us.
  


 3                  What had happened was, at the conclusion
  


 4   of Mr. Burtell's previous testimony, the chair
  


 5   inadvertently concluded the hearing without allowing
  


 6   Commissioners to ask some questions.  And there was a
  


 7   Commissioner who had a question or two, and we've
  


 8   decided not to ask those.  That's what we were going to
  


 9   do.
  


10                  Now, I understand that this kind of
  


11   concludes it for this part of the Gila River hearing.
  


12                  We are scheduled to be in Florence a
  


13   week from Friday, on August 29, at 11:00 a.m., to take
  


14   local testimony only with regards to the Gila.
  


15                  Is there any question about that?
  


16                  Mr. Sparks.
  


17                  MR. SPARKS:  Mr. Chairman, yes.  Will
  


18   the record remain open through the conclusion of the
  


19   hearing in Florence?
  


20                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Let me get to that in
  


21   just a moment.  Let me hear from -- was that what you
  


22   were asking?
  


23                  MR. HELM:  I'm just trying to figure out
  


24   the time frame for my bass fishing.
  


25                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Here's the
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 1   record situation:  The record will remain open until
  


 2   Monday, September 15, close of business, 5:00 p.m.
  


 3                  You've either entered that into your PDA
  


 4   or you've written it down in your scribble, I mean
  


 5   scrabble.  Anyway.
  


 6                  MR. SPARKS:  The scribble part refers to
  


 7   the fact that you can read upside down from 20 feet
  


 8   away.  That's really good.
  


 9                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  But I know who to look
  


10   at.  Notice I didn't even go that direction.
  


11                  MR. MEHNERT:  And I'll send the notice
  


12   out to the people who aren't here.
  


13                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Is there anything else
  


14   we need to take up today?
  


15                  Yes, John.
  


16                  MR. HELM:  Just to continue my
  


17   curiosity, in terms of when we're going to start
  


18   counting the 30 days that our memorandum is due, then
  


19   will that be 30 days after we get the -- or 10 days
  


20   after we get the transcript, will it be 10 days after
  


21   your hearing in Florence, assuming that the transcript
  


22   will have arrived by that period?  I'm just trying to
  


23   see what may help there.
  


24                  MS. HERNBRODE:  It won't have.
  


25                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Joy?
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 1                  MS. HERNBRODE:  We will not have a
  


 2   transcript by next Friday, I can guarantee you that.
  


 3                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We'll send out a notice
  


 4   as to when the briefing period will start.
  


 5                  Mr. McGinnis.
  


 6                  MR. MCGINNIS:  Just in terms of giving
  


 7   us one less thing for lawyers to fight out, again, I
  


 8   think it would be helpful if you put the dates of the
  


 9   briefing in about, you know, when the briefs are due,
  


10   so we don't fight out about what --
  


11                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Rather than number of
  


12   days?
  


13                  MR. MCGINNIS:  Yeah.
  


14                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We will do that.
  


15                  MS. HERNBRODE:  Sorry.  Can you remind
  


16   us?  I remember vaguely that there were perhaps some
  


17   page limitations.  I'm hoping that they will be quite
  


18   generous because, there was a lot --
  


19                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Let's ask Poncho.
  


20                  MR. BREEDLOVE:  Well, I thought we would
  


21   be consistent with what we've done in the past.
  


22                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  It will consistent with
  


23   what we've done in the past.
  


24                  MR. BREEDLOVE:  Which I believe was
  


25   20/30 and then unlimited for the findings of fact and
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 1   conclusions of law.
  


 2                  MR. MEHNERT:  Right.
  


 3                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Now, does that
  


 4   help at all?
  


 5                  We will give you number of days and date
  


 6   when due when we send it out, send out the notice.  It
  


 7   is 20 for opening, 30 for response, and then the
  


 8   proposed findings of fact, conclusions of law, and
  


 9   other items is an unlimited page.
  


10                  Was it the other way around?
  


11                  MR. HOOD:  My recollection on the Santa
  


12   Cruz, which was the most recent one we finished
  


13   briefing, I thought it was 20 and 10, which may be a
  


14   little too short for this.  But it was shorter.  I know
  


15   that the response memos were shorter than the --
  


16                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We don't like shorter
  


17   comments.
  


18                  MR. BREEDLOVE:  I think it was 30/20.
  


19                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Joe and I, we kind of
  


20   avoid those shorter comments.
  


21                  MR. BREEDLOVE:  I think it was 30/20.
  


22                  (The proceedings were interrupted by the
  


23   Court Reporter.)
  


24                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  It's not that important
  


25   to have this on the record.
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 1                  Okay, we will make it consistent.  When
  


 2   we send it out, it will be the same as for the Santa
  


 3   Cruz.  So if you want to go back and look at what the
  


 4   Santa Cruz was, it will be the same.
  


 5                  MS. HERNBRODE:  I'm sorry, Mr. Chairman.
  


 6   If you really are -- if it really is 20 and 10, I'm
  


 7   going to have to make a motion for more pages.
  


 8                  So I think we can agree with the 20/30,
  


 9   whichever way you flip it, or 30/20.  I might be able
  


10   to make that happen.  But I --
  


11                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Let's discuss this
  


12   then.  What is a reasonable number John?
  


13                  MR. HELM:  For statement of facts or for
  


14   briefing?
  


15                  MS. HERNBRODE:  Briefs.
  


16                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  For introduction.
  


17                  MR. HELM:  Oh, just the introductory
  


18   portion?  I can get it in 100 pages without any problem
  


19   at all.
  


20                  No, I mean, what do they give you, 30 at
  


21   the Court of Appeals these days?
  


22                  MR. HYRCKO:  It's word count.
  


23                  MR. HELM:  Word count.  How many words?
  


24                  MR. HYRCKO:  15,000.
  


25                  MR. HELM:  15,000 words?
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 1                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Then you have to get
  


 2   the word counter working.
  


 3                  MS. HERNBRODE:  Yeah, please don't do
  


 4   that.
  


 5                  MR. HELM:  30 pages then for opening and
  


 6   20 for close.
  


 7                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Yeah, but we've had a
  


 8   lot more evidence in this particular one than we did
  


 9   the Santa Cruz, haven't we?
  


10                  MR. BREEDLOVE:  Yes.
  


11                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. McGinnis.
  


12                  MR. MCGINNIS:  I guess some of that has
  


13   to do with whether you want us to do our proposed
  


14   findings with the opening brief or with the response
  


15   brief.
  


16                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Proposed findings are
  


17   not subject to a page limitation.
  


18                  MR. MCGINNIS:  I guess that was what I
  


19   was thinking, was that if -- frankly, if our opening
  


20   brief, if we can do our proposed findings at the same
  


21   time, cite to the proposed findings, it makes your
  


22   brief not quite so long.  But 30 pages, I think, is
  


23   that what you -- is that what John suggested?
  


24                  MR. HELM:  Yes.
  


25                  MR. MCGINNIS:  That should be fine.
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 1                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Let's just do 30 all
  


 2   the way along.  You've got 30 to open.  You've got 30
  


 3   to respond with.
  


 4                  MR. MCGINNIS:  And no limit on the
  


 5   findings and conclusions?
  


 6                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  No limit on the
  


 7   findings, the proposed.
  


 8                  MR. HELM:  And my suggestion there would
  


 9   be that after the second -- because while I doubt it,
  


10   Mark might say something that would make me change my
  


11   mind on one of the proposed findings and I wouldn't put
  


12   it in.
  


13                  MR. SPARKS:  Your Honor, I've known him
  


14   50 years.  He's never changed his mind.
  


15                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mark?
  


16                  MR. SPARKS:  John.
  


17                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  John, I've heard that.
  


18                  MR. HELM:  I know.
  


19                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  At any rate --
  


20                  MR. HELM:  I'm a hardhead.
  


21                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  At any rate, if you
  


22   want to respond to something, you know, okay, so it's
  


23   going to be 30/30 is what it's going to be, and
  


24   proposed findings of fact, et cetera, that's unlimited.
  


25                  MR. HOOD:  And due with the response
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 1   memoranda, correct?
  


 2                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  You can do it when you
  


 3   want it --
  


 4                  MR. HOOD:  Okay.
  


 5                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  -- okay?
  


 6                  MR. SPARKS:  May we have posting as the
  


 7   time for posting is filing; in other words, posting
  


 8   with the U.S. Postal Service?
  


 9                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Yes.
  


10                  MR. SPARKS:  Thank you.
  


11                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  In other words, when
  


12   it's postmarked --
  


13                  MR. SPARKS:  Yeah, when it's postmarked.
  


14                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  -- is the same as being
  


15   received.
  


16                  MR. SPARKS:  Yes.  Well, at least filed.
  


17                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, filed.
  


18                  MR. SPARKS:  Yeah.
  


19                  MR. HELM:  I would --
  


20                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  You want it with the
  


21   response?
  


22                  MR. HELM:  No, I would like it like
  


23   10 days after, because honestly, I always hope that
  


24   somebody will say something and I'll take something out
  


25   of it, because in the responses I get, I might say, oh,
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 1   that's right, you know, and forget it.
  


 2                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Just making a quick
  


 3   snap decision, here's what we're going to do with
  


 4   regards to the proposed findings of fact and
  


 5   conclusions of law.  You will have 10 days after any
  


 6   filing of a proposed findings of fact and conclusions
  


 7   of law in which to respond, with a maximum of 10 pages.
  


 8                  Any other issues?
  


 9                  Go ahead, John.
  


10                  MR. HELM:  The only thing is, I wasn't
  


11   clear when -- the findings of facts are going to be due
  


12   with the response memorandum?
  


13                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  That's the latest they
  


14   can be filed.  If you want to file them before that,
  


15   you can.
  


16                  MR. HELM:  Okay.
  


17                  MR. BREEDLOVE:  That's consistent with
  


18   what we've done.
  


19                  MR. MEHNERT:  Yes.
  


20                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Any other items?
  


21                  Who's taking the rest of the donuts?
  


22   Oh, come on.  The security guard is going to have to
  


23   eat them now.
  


24                  MR. MEHNERT:  Who has young children?
  


25                  MR. BREEDLOVE:  That's the last thing I
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 1   need.
  


 2                  MR. MEHNERT:  Yeah, I know, more sugar.
  


 3                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Then we're in
  


 4   recess.
  


 5                  (The proceedings recessed at 2:03 p.m.)
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            1            BE IT REMEMBERED that the above-entitled and



            2  numbered matter came on regularly to be heard before



            3  the Arizona Navigable Stream Adjudication Commission,



            4  State Senate Building, Hearing Room 1, 1700 West



            5  Washington Street, Phoenix, Arizona, commencing at



            6  9:03 a.m. on the 20th day of August, 2014.



            7

               BEFORE:   WADE NOBLE, Chairman

            8            JIM HENNESS, Vice Chairman

                         JIM HORTON, Commissioner

            9            BILL ALLEN, Commissioner



           10

               Commission Staff:

           11

                    George Mehnert, Director,

           12       Legal Assistant, Research Analyst



           13

               APPEARANCES:

           14

               For the Commission:

           15

                    SQUIRE PATTON BOGGS (US) LLP

           16       By Fred E. Breedlove, III, Esq.

                    1 East Washington Street, Suite 2700

           17       Phoenix, Arizona 85004

                    (602) 528-4000

           18       fred.breedlove@squirepb.com
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           20  For the Salt River Project Agricultural Improvement and

               Power District and Salt River valley Water Users'

           21  Association:



           22       SALMON LEWIS & WELDON, PLC

                    By Mark A. McGinnis, Esq.

           23       By Mr. R. Jeffrey Heilman

                    2850 East Camelback Road, Suite 200

           24       Phoenix, Arizona 85016
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           25       mam@slwplc.com
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            1  APPEARANCES CONTINUED:
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                    THE SPARKS LAW FIRM, PC
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                    By Thomas L. Murphy, Esq.
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            1                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Well, we welcome you to



            2  day three of the hearing on the Gila River before the



            3  Navigable Streams Adjudication Commission, also known



            4  as Expendables 3.  Please keep that in mind.



            5                 Mr. Slade, I believe you were continuing



            6  to examine Dr. Mussetter.



            7                 MR. SLADE:  That's right.



            8                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Please begin.



            9                 MR. MEHNERT:  Do you want to do



           10  rollcall?



           11                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Yes, might as well.



           12                 MR. MEHNERT:  Okay.  Commissioner



           13  Horton?



           14                 COMMISSIONER HORTON:  Here.



           15                 MR. MEHNERT:  Commissioner Allen?



           16                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Here.



           17                 MR. MEHNERT:  Chairman Noble?



           18                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Here.



           19                 MR. MEHNERT:  And Mr. Henness?



           20                 And Mr. Henness will be out today.



           21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you, George.



           22                 Now, Edwin.



           23                 MR. SLADE:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman,



           24  Commissioners.



           25                 Good morning, Mr. Mussetter.
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            1                 THE WITNESS:  Good morning.



            2



            3               CONTINUED CROSS-EXAMINATION



            4  BY MR. SLADE:



            5      Q.    Have you ever canoed a navigable river?



            6      A.    Yes.



            7                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Edwin, may I interrupt?



            8  It might help you just a little bit if you would pull



            9  the microphone closer to you.



           10                 MR. SLADE:  Sure.



           11                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  That will allow you to



           12  relax a little bit and not have to bend over it.



           13                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Not look like you're



           14  jumping over the table.



           15                 MR. SLADE:  Any other pointers?



           16                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Nope.  I'll leave those



           17  to Joy.  Please go ahead.  I'm sorry for interrupting.



           18  BY MR. SLADE:



           19      Q.    Which river was that that you canoed?



           20      A.    The James River.



           21      Q.    And are there any riffles or rapids in the



           22  James River?



           23      A.    No.



           24      Q.    Are there any islands or sandbars?



           25      A.    Yes, there are some islands.  There probably
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            1  are sandbars.  I don't recall specifically.  It's a



            2  very different river from the Gila, if that's what



            3  you're driving at.



            4      Q.    Have you ever encountered a beaver dam on a



            5  river?



            6      A.    Yes.



            7      Q.    And what did you do?



            8            Were you canoeing the river; were you boating



            9  the river?



           10      A.    Yes.



           11      Q.    And where was the beaver dam?



           12      A.    It crossed -- probably to be more specific, I



           13  wouldn't call it a river.  It's a stream, a small



           14  stream.



           15      Q.    And what did you do when you encountered the



           16  beaver dam?



           17      A.    Well, I got out of the canoe and carried it



           18  around and got back in the canoe.



           19      Q.    We touched on this a little yesterday, but



           20  I'm not sure I got -- I understood your answer.  Is the



           21  Colorado navigable?



           22      A.    The Colorado below the mouth of the Gila



           23  certainly is, has been deemed to be navigable, yes.



           24      Q.    In your opinion, from Utah to Yuma, the



           25  Colorado, is that a navigable river?
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            1      A.    From Utah --



            2      Q.    So the Arizona Colorado River.



            3      A.    I don't know the legal status of the entire



            4  reach.



            5      Q.    But in terms of your expertise as a



            6  hydrologist, as an expert boater, would you say the



            7  Colorado is navigable from Utah to Yuma?



            8      A.    I'm not certain that I would agree that all



            9  of that reach meets the federal standard for



           10  navigability.



           11      Q.    What about the state standard?



           12      A.    My instructions are to apply the federal



           13  standard, and it's my understanding that those are also



           14  the instructions to the Commission; you know, the



           15  federal standard is what controls.



           16      Q.    And which sections would you say are



           17  navigable or which are not?



           18      A.    According to what standard?



           19      Q.    The standards that you're using, federal



           20  tests, state tests.



           21      A.    Well, the short section that I showed the



           22  image of in my presentation yesterday was deemed to be



           23  navigable, and I agree that that reach is probably



           24  navigable.



           25      Q.    Okay, but I believe that was in Utah; is that
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            1  correct?



            2      A.    Yes, that is in Utah.



            3      Q.    So, again, in Arizona, I think you just said



            4  some sections of the Colorado are navigable.  Which



            5  sections would those be?



            6      A.    Well, again, I'm not sure.  I haven't studied



            7  the whole reach.  What you're really referring to is



            8  the Grand Canyon, and I'm not sure if that really meets



            9  the standard for the federal test of navigability.



           10            Certainly we have commerce going on there



           11  with recreational boating, but that -- you know, the



           12  kinds of boats that can customarily or, you know, that



           13  customarily were being used at the time of statehood



           14  are not really suitable boats for that reach of the



           15  river.  I would have to say it's probably not navigable



           16  according to the federal standard.



           17      Q.    How about the lower reach of the Colorado in



           18  Arizona where steamboats were in use, would that part



           19  be navigable?



           20      A.    I think I already said that it's my



           21  understanding that it has been deemed to be navigable.



           22      Q.    How about the Grand Canyon to the Black



           23  Canyon, are you familiar with that area?



           24      A.    I'm not specifically familiar with that area.



           25      Q.    What percent of the time is a river in a
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            1  flood state, a dryland river like Arizona's Gila?



            2      A.    Typically, a small percentage of the time.



            3      Q.    Less than 5 percent?



            4      A.    I would say most dryland rivers that would be



            5  the case.



            6      Q.    How does vegetation affect a channel in your



            7  eyes, as a hydrologist?  A lack of vegetation or extra



            8  vegetation, how does that affect a channel?



            9      A.    Vegetation affects a channel in many



           10  different ways.  It tends to increase the hydraulic



           11  roughness, so that tends to reduce the capacity, make



           12  the velocity slower, the depth greater.  It also tends



           13  to stabilize the channel so it doesn't have as much of



           14  a tendency to erode laterally.



           15      Q.    And when you talk about stabilize the



           16  channel, are you talking about the low flow channel,



           17  the main flow channel?



           18      A.    I'm talking about wherever the vegetation is



           19  growing.



           20      Q.    Would you agree that vegetation can stabilize



           21  then the low flow channel?



           22      A.    It could.



           23      Q.    Could you turn to Tab 20, please?  This is



           24  Exhibit X025, Part 116, and this is Ross's 1923 USGS



           25  Water Supply Paper 498.
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            1            Could you read the highlighted portion?



            2      A.    Yes.



            3            The title of the section is Channel in the



            4  flood plain.  Gila River when first seen by white men



            5  presented a very different aspect from that of today.



            6  (See Page 64 through 67.)  It had a well-defined



            7  channel with hard banks, on which cottonwoods and other



            8  green-leaved plants were growing.  The current was



            9  swift and deep enough even in comparatively dry



           10  portions of the year to make fording difficult, except



           11  at a few places, and to float a flat boat of some size.



           12  Fish were plentiful enough to be depended on as food



           13  throughout the year by a considerable number of



           14  Indians.  Strangest of all to one who knows the



           15  silt-laden waters of the present stream, the water of



           16  Gila River is reported to have been clear and



           17  sea-green.



           18      Q.    Any reason to disagree with that account?



           19      A.    I presume this is reported as Mr. Littlefield



           20  did; it's depicting what people reported that they saw.



           21  But, you know, you're pulling one page out of a large



           22  document, and I don't really have the full context of



           23  what they're talking about here, so...



           24      Q.    Fair enough.



           25            Could you turn to Tab 19, please?  And this
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            1  is also Ross's USGS Water Supply Paper 498,



            2  Exhibit X025, Part 116, Page 66.



            3            And could you read the highlighted portion,



            4  please?



            5      A.    Yes.



            6            More recent information is furnished by



            7  Mr. John Montgomery, a ranchman residing in Arlington,



            8  who has had many years' experience in southwestern



            9  Arizona.  He states that in the summer of 1889, when a



           10  boy of 12, he was in camp near Powers Butte, on Gila



           11  River.  At that time the river had a well-defined



           12  channel with hard, sloping banks lined with cottonwoods



           13  and bushes.  The water was clear, was 5 or 6 feet deep,



           14  and contained many fish.  The grazing lands near the



           15  river were in much better condition then than now.



           16  Several varieties of grass then abundant have since



           17  died out.  Mr. Montgomery attributes the change in the



           18  character of the river largely to the practice of



           19  cattlemen of burning the heavy brush that once covered



           20  its banks in order to drive out wild cattle which had



           21  sought shelter there.  This destroyed the natural



           22  protection and left the soft silty soil exposed to



           23  rapid erosion.  The disastrous floods of 1890 and 1891



           24  did much to break down the river's confining banks,



           25  partly filled the channel with sediment, and in general
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            1  interfered with the equilibrium that had been



            2  established.



            3      Q.    Any reason to disagree with that account?



            4      A.    Well, again, I assume this is the facts, a



            5  reporting of what this person read from the historic



            6  accounts.



            7      Q.    And you did reference Ross's 1923 paper in



            8  your report?



            9      A.    I did.



           10      Q.    Were you here for Mr. Burtell's testimony?



           11      A.    Most of it, I believe.



           12      Q.    And were you here for Mr. Littlefield's



           13  testimony?



           14      A.    I was.



           15      Q.    And would you agree that -- with



           16  Mr. Littlefield's, and I think you just did, his



           17  opinion that primary source information is generally



           18  the most reliable in determining the condition of the



           19  river?



           20      A.    Well, I'm not a historian, but that appeals



           21  to common sense, yes.



           22      Q.    And as a professional hydrologist, a serious



           23  recreational boater, if I might call you that, would



           24  you agree that you can learn a lot about a river from



           25  actually having boots on the ground?
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            1      A.    Sure.



            2      Q.    And you mentioned yesterday that you haven't



            3  done a boots-on-the-ground inspection of the Gila.  Do



            4  you know of any experts in this case that have done a



            5  boots-on-the-ground inspection of the Gila?



            6      A.    Well, apparently Mr. Fuller has done some.



            7      Q.    I would like to take a look at your slides,



            8  and I believe your newest version is Tab 28, which is



            9  Exhibit X026.  And if we could go to Page 6.



           10            Is this the Mosquito Fork River?



           11      A.    Yes, it is.



           12      Q.    And would you say this part of the river is



           13  navigable?



           14      A.    Somehow I knew that question was coming.



           15            This section of the river would be navigable



           16  by small, shallow draft boats.



           17      Q.    Is this a dryland river?



           18      A.    This is not a dryland river.



           19      Q.    If we could go to Slide 7.



           20            And this is the Platte River; is that



           21  correct?



           22      A.    That's correct.



           23      Q.    And that's a Midwestern river?



           24      A.    It is.



           25      Q.    Would you characterize this river as similar
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            1  to the Gila?



            2      A.    There are similarities between this river and



            3  the Gila.



            4      Q.    What are the similarities?



            5      A.    Well, the braiding character of it,



            6  primarily.



            7      Q.    So you would disagree with Graf's quote that



            8  we cited yesterday that said Midwestern rivers have



            9  differences from dryland rivers?



           10      A.    I didn't say that, no.



           11      Q.    Are we looking at the low flow or the flood



           12  channel here?



           13      A.    Well, that's -- the answer to that question



           14  is not straightforward in this instance, because we



           15  have to define what period of time we're talking about.



           16            The area that's covered by -- that's within



           17  the rough bounds of the white line roughly corresponds



           18  to the present-day flood channel, although large floods



           19  can get out into the overbank area.  But the historic



           20  flood channel is much wider than what you see here.  In



           21  fact, it goes off the page on the top for some



           22  distance.



           23      Q.    And you have a chart at the bottom of the



           24  page.  Is that your chart?



           25      A.    Yes.
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            1      Q.    And that shows the channel geometry in a



            2  cross section; is that correct?



            3      A.    Yes.  It shows the ground profile along that



            4  white line.



            5      Q.    Did you create a chart like this for the Gila



            6  at any point?



            7      A.    I did not.



            8      Q.    If we could turn to Slide 8, please.



            9            Which river is this?



           10      A.    This is the Copper River.



           11      Q.    And where is that located?



           12      A.    In Alaska.



           13      Q.    Is this a dryland river?



           14      A.    No.



           15      Q.    Is it navigable?



           16      A.    I actually don't know the status of the



           17  navigability determinations on this particular river.



           18      Q.    Is it braided?



           19      A.    Sure.



           20      Q.    If we could turn to Slide 9.



           21            And this is the Chulitna River of Alaska?



           22      A.    That's correct.



           23      Q.    Is this a dryland alluvial river?



           24      A.    It is not a dryland river.



           25      Q.    And was this photo taken from a helicopter or





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                        GILA RIVER      VOL. VIII      08/20/2014

                                                                      1771





            1  on the ground?



            2      A.    It was taken from a helicopter.



            3      Q.    Were you in the helicopter?



            4      A.    I was.



            5      Q.    Is this a navigable river?



            6      A.    Again, I don't know the status of the



            7  navigability determination from a legal standpoint.  I



            8  suspect it would not be navigable.



            9      Q.    If we could turn to Slide 10, please.



           10            Now, you said yesterday this is the only



           11  photo that you have of the Gila; is that correct?



           12      A.    No, I didn't say that.



           13      Q.    Do you have other photos of the Gila?



           14      A.    Yes.



           15      Q.    But you didn't include them in your



           16  presentation?



           17      A.    I did not.



           18      Q.    Why is that?



           19      A.    Because they depict the Gila River as it is



           20  today, and we're not talking about the Gila River as it



           21  is today.



           22      Q.    What about photos as the Gila River was



           23  closer to statehood, do you have any of those photos?



           24      A.    Well, I certainly have seen, I've read the



           25  documents, I've read the other expert reports, I've
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            1  seen many of the photos that we've all seen in this



            2  proceeding.



            3      Q.    Why did you choose to put this photo in?



            4      A.    I just thought it was a good illustration of



            5  the braided character of this portion of the Gila



            6  River.



            7      Q.    When you did your flyover, what percent of



            8  the time would you say the Gila was braided?



            9      A.    It was braided the entire time that I was



           10  doing the flyover.  I don't understand your question.



           11      Q.    Was there a main low flow channel during your



           12  flyover?



           13      A.    In places, yes.



           14      Q.    What percent of the time was there a main low



           15  flow channel?



           16      A.    At the risk of helping you, do you mean what



           17  percentage of the distance?



           18      Q.    Yes.



           19      A.    I couldn't make an estimate of that.  I would



           20  say a reasonable percentage.



           21      Q.    Majority?



           22      A.    I'm not sure I would agree with that.  I



           23  would have to go back and study the photography more.



           24      Q.    And has this part of the Gila been subject to



           25  diversions?
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            1      A.    Yes.



            2      Q.    Is this below the Gillespie Dam?



            3      A.    Yes.



            4      Q.    And what time of year was this photo taken?



            5      A.    As I said yesterday, I believe it was



            6  November.  Might have been October.  I think it was



            7  November.



            8      Q.    Do you know the depth of the channels in this



            9  picture?



           10      A.    I don't know the exact depth.  They're very



           11  shallow, though.



           12      Q.    How do you know they're very shallow?



           13      A.    Pretty obvious from the photograph.



           14      Q.    Can you explain?



           15      A.    My understanding of the rivers.



           16      Q.    Say that again?



           17      A.    I said my understanding of rivers, the



           18  character of rivers, and the topography that I can see



           19  in this photograph, it's very shallow.



           20      Q.    But you've no data to back that up?



           21      A.    I didn't sit down and measure the depth here,



           22  no.



           23      Q.    And you didn't try to float it in a boat?



           24      A.    No, I didn't try to float it in a boat.



           25      Q.    Do you know how much flow is coming through
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            1  at this point, what the cfs number might be?



            2      A.    I don't know.



            3      Q.    If we could turn to Slide 11.



            4            Is this a quote from United States v. Utah?



            5      A.    Yes, it is.



            6      Q.    Are you familiar with what the case decided



            7  in regards to impediments like sandbars?  In other



            8  words, did they say anything else about sandbars and



            9  how they would view them regarding navigability?



           10      A.    Well, I think in general it depends on the



           11  circumstance.  Sandbars don't in and of themselves make



           12  a river not navigable.  Some sandbars make it very



           13  challenging.



           14      Q.    I'm going to read from U.S. v. State of Utah,



           15  283 U.S. 64, pin cite 86:  Quote, Recognizing the



           16  difficulties which are thus created, the master is



           17  plainly right in his conclusion that the mere fact of



           18  the presence of such sandbars causing impediments to



           19  navigation does not make a river nonnavigable.



           20            That's essentially what you just said,



           21  correct?



           22      A.    That's fair.



           23      Q.    If we could turn to Slide 12, please.



           24            These are your river dynamics slides, and in



           25  the second bullet point, the first paragraph, you talk
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            1  about the increased frequency of floods and then a



            2  braided channel.  How long does the braided channel



            3  last after a flood?



            4      A.    It can persist for an extended period of



            5  time.  Depends on the circumstances.



            6      Q.    And are you talking about there the flood



            7  channel?



            8      A.    I'm talking about the entire channel.



            9      Q.    And when the flood recedes, what happens?



           10      A.    Well, the flow becomes shallower, some of the



           11  braid channels consolidate, some of them become dry.



           12      Q.    And they consolidate into what?



           13      A.    Less channels.



           14      Q.    A low flow main channel?



           15      A.    In some cases.



           16                 MR. SLADE:  That's it for me,



           17  Dr. Littlefield.  Thanks.



           18                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Mussetter.



           19                 MR. SLADE:  Oh, Dr. Mussetter.  Excuse



           20  me.  I'm looking at Littlefield.



           21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Is there any other



           22  examination, State Land Department?



           23                 MS. HERNBRODE:  No, we're good.  Thank



           24  you, sir.



           25                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  And, Mr. Hyrcko, I
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            1  think you're next.



            2                 So nice of John to let you have that



            3  chair.



            4                 MR. HYRCKO:  Well, I prefer to sit on



            5  the left.  I'm blind in this eye, so I have to --



            6                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Hey, that's better when



            7  he's on your left.



            8                 MR. HELM:  He can exit quicker from this



            9  side than he can this side.



           10                 MR. SPARKS:  That way you don't have to



           11  look at John.



           12                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  All right, we're going



           13  to take a short break while you're getting set up.



           14                 MR. HYRCKO:  Thank you.



           15                 (A recess was taken from 9:31 a.m. to



           16  9:37 a.m.)



           17                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Are you going to do



           18  this by yourself?



           19                 MR. HYRCKO:  No, I think he'll be back.



           20



           21                     CROSS-EXAMINATION



           22  BY MR. HYRCKO:



           23      Q.    Good morning, Dr. Mussetter.  My name is



           24  Chuck Hyrcko.  I'm an attorney representing Maricopa



           25  County in this matter.
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            1      A.    Good morning.



            2      Q.    I'm not a hydrologist, but I'm going to ask



            3  you some questions, so if I'm not clear or if I use a



            4  term of art in your profession inaccurately, I would



            5  appreciate it if you would just ask me to clarify so



            6  that the record is clear and that we're communicating.



            7  Is that fair?



            8      A.    Sure.



            9      Q.    I understand that you haven't testified



           10  previously or submitted any other reports to ANSAC for



           11  any other river in Arizona at this point; is that



           12  correct?



           13      A.    No, that's not correct.



           14      Q.    Which other rivers have you submitted reports



           15  to ANSAC or testified on?



           16      A.    The upper Salt.



           17      Q.    The upper Salt?



           18            And you testified yesterday that you did --



           19  you have testified in other cases of navigability in



           20  other states, correct?



           21      A.    I have not actually testified in other cases.



           22      Q.    Worked on other cases of navigability?



           23      A.    Yes.



           24      Q.    Is that title navigability or some other?



           25      A.    Yes.
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            1      Q.    And that was -- you have -- I recorded two.



            2  One in North Carolina, the Yadkin River, is that one of



            3  them?



            4      A.    That's correct.



            5      Q.    And you are working for Alcoa on that case?



            6      A.    That's correct.



            7      Q.    Were you a proponent of navigability or an



            8  opponent of navigability?



            9      A.    An opponent of navigability.



           10      Q.    And then the other case that I noted, you



           11  worked on the PPL Montana case, correct?



           12      A.    That's correct.



           13      Q.    And in that case you worked for PPL Montana,



           14  and they were an opponent of navigability as well?



           15      A.    That's correct.



           16      Q.    And then you also worked on -- the cases you



           17  worked on in Alaska, were those for navigability as



           18  well?



           19      A.    There is only one navigability case in



           20  Alaska.



           21      Q.    And that's the Mosquito Fork?



           22      A.    That's correct.



           23      Q.    And you were working for the Department of



           24  Justice?



           25      A.    That's correct.
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            1      Q.    And were they the proponent of navigability?



            2      A.    They're the opponent.



            3      Q.    The Department of Justice is an opponent of



            4  navigability?



            5      A.    Yes.



            6      Q.    Can you tell me specifically what you did in



            7  each of those cases?



            8            Let's start with the Yadkin River.  What did



            9  you do, specifically, in that case?



           10      A.    Well, similar to what I've done here, we



           11  reviewed a large body of historical evidence,



           12  historical mapping, did field trips to the river, a



           13  field trip to the river, where we viewed the modern day



           14  conditions of the river.  And then in that particular



           15  case, actually did some modeling to try to understand



           16  the hydraulic conditions in the river.



           17      Q.    Is that all that you did on the Yadkin River?



           18      A.    From a technical perspective, yes.



           19      Q.    And you then testified; is that correct?



           20      A.    No.



           21      Q.    You did not.



           22            And what about on the PPL Montana case, what



           23  did you do in that case, specifically?



           24      A.    Primarily reviewed documents and, again, did



           25  field reconnaissance of the reaches that were in
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            1  question.



            2      Q.    Was that field reconnaissance on the ground,



            3  as was referred to earlier by the State's attorney?



            4      A.    Some on the ground and some aerial.



            5      Q.    So in both of those cases you did



            6  on-the-ground work?



            7      A.    Yes.



            8      Q.    How about in the Mosquito Fork case, what did



            9  you do specifically in that case?



           10      A.    I have visited the area a few times.  I have



           11  collected a significant amount of data.  I'm in the



           12  process of analyzing data.  I've reviewed historical



           13  documents.



           14      Q.    Have you done any fieldwork in that case?



           15      A.    Yes.



           16      Q.    On the ground type fieldwork?



           17      A.    Yes.



           18      Q.    Did you do any modeling in your work here in



           19  the Gila River?



           20      A.    No.



           21      Q.    And your only experience of the lower Gila



           22  was an overflight that you did in November of 2013; is



           23  that accurate?



           24      A.    That's correct.



           25      Q.    I'm going to ask you a little bit more about
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            1  that overflight when we get to the photographs, but



            2  we'll leave it there for now.



            3            Dr. Mussetter, as part of your educational



            4  training, are you trained in the scientific method?



            5      A.    Yes.



            6      Q.    And the foundation of the scientific method



            7  is formulation, testing and modification of hypotheses



            8  and measuring evidence against those hypotheses,



            9  correct?



           10      A.    Yes.



           11      Q.    Do you agree that in the scientific method



           12  one doesn't posit a single alternative hypotheses;



           13  rather, you propose various hypotheses and then set out



           14  to locate evidence that will test those hypotheses; is



           15  that accurate?



           16      A.    That's a fair statement, yes.



           17      Q.    Would you agree that the scientific method is



           18  intended to be as objective as possible and to avoid



           19  bias?



           20      A.    Sure.



           21      Q.    Did you do a scientific method in this case?



           22      A.    Yes, I would say I did.



           23      Q.    What were your hypotheses in this case?



           24      A.    Well, one hypothesis would be that the Gila



           25  River meets the standard of navigability.
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            1      Q.    And the alternative is --



            2      A.    It does not.



            3      Q.    -- it isn't navigable?



            4            So you have two hypotheses?



            5      A.    Yeah.



            6      Q.    And you mentioned yesterday, I believe, that



            7  you worked with or were familiar with the work that



            8  Dr. Schumm did in 2005; is that correct?



            9      A.    I was familiar with it, yes.



           10      Q.    And so in your developing of hypotheses, you



           11  started fresh; you didn't look at what Dr. Schumm did



           12  and start from there and work forward?



           13      A.    Well, I can't say that I started fresh.  I



           14  certainly was aware of what he did.  He and I discussed



           15  the evidence that he was looking at, his findings about



           16  that evidence.  So I had that in my mind when I started



           17  this.  But I also backed up and seriously asked myself



           18  could I, with scientific integrity, argue that this



           19  river meets the federal test for navigability.



           20      Q.    So I'm going to ask you a little bit more



           21  about Dr. Schumm's work, but I've got some more



           22  generalized questions here first.



           23            Since you're very familiar with the PPL



           24  Montana case, as you said earlier, you actually worked



           25  on that case for the opponent, why is it that you did
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            1  not consider the Gila River on a segment-by-segment



            2  basis, as is required by the PPL holding?



            3      A.    Well, as I said in some of my conversations



            4  yesterday, it's my opinion, based on all the evidence



            5  that I've seen to this point, that the Gila River



            6  through Arizona doesn't meet the federal test for



            7  navigability, and so it's unnecessary to break it into



            8  segments.



            9      Q.    So is it fair to say that you did the



           10  analysis of the various segments and then decided it



           11  was navigable, or did you look at the whole river,



           12  decide it was navigable, and then decide that you



           13  didn't need to break it into segments, just so that I



           14  can understand it?



           15                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Hyrcko, I'm not



           16  quite -- did he decide that it was navigable, is that



           17  the question you're asking?



           18                 MR. HYRCKO:  I'm sorry, I must be asking



           19  the wrong question.



           20  BY MR. HYRCKO:



           21      Q.    Okay.  The question I'm asking then is,



           22  apparently very badly, is that when you decided -- when



           23  you came up with -- you said that you did a scientific



           24  process in this case, correct?



           25      A.    Yes.
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            1      Q.    And you also said that you decided that based



            2  on your experience or what you saw, you didn't need to



            3  do any segment-by-segment analysis because the -- is



            4  that accurate?



            5      A.    Yes.



            6            But let me clarify that.  I mean I look at



            7  the river, different portions of the river as I study



            8  the information that's available.  So if that's what



            9  you mean by segmentation, yes, I consider there are --



           10  the river has different characteristics all along its



           11  length, and it's reasonable, depending on your purpose,



           12  to break it into segments, depending on your purpose.



           13            As I said, I didn't feel that I needed to



           14  break it into segments in accordance with the



           15  instructions in PPL Montana, because in my mind, the



           16  entire reach that's in question here was not navigable



           17  under its ordinary and natural condition at the date of



           18  statehood, and so there's no reason to do that.



           19      Q.    So in your opinion then, the PPL holding is



           20  to first determine -- excuse me.



           21            So in your opinion, the PPL holding doesn't



           22  require you to do an independent analysis of each



           23  segment; rather, you can look at the entire river first



           24  and then -- I guess what I'm trying to get at here is,



           25  you acknowledge there's some differences in the geology
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            1  of the river as it flows through Arizona, correct?



            2      A.    Yes.



            3      Q.    And one of those areas is bedrock-controlled,



            4  for instance, the Gila Box and the area downstream of



            5  San Carlos?



            6      A.    Yes.



            7      Q.    But you determined that -- and then there's



            8  other areas that are alluvial, correct?



            9      A.    Yes.



           10      Q.    But in your opinion, the areas that were



           11  bedrock and the areas that were alluvial were not



           12  significantly different enough to do an analysis of



           13  each of those areas and look at the historical evidence



           14  for those specific areas?



           15      A.    I didn't say they weren't significantly



           16  different.  My conclusion is that the entire reach is



           17  not navigable, and I don't need to break it into



           18  segments.  I don't need to consider -- I certainly



           19  consider the individual characteristics of different



           20  portions of the river.  But to formally say, you know,



           21  I have Segment 1 here and Segment 2 there, I don't need



           22  to do that, because the whole thing is not navigable.



           23      Q.    And that is largely based on the Kelvin gauge



           24  data, correct?



           25                 MR. SPARKS:  Pardon me.  Did you say
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            1  Calva or Kelvin?  There are two gauges.



            2                 MR. HYRCKO:  Kelvin.



            3                 MR. SPARKS:  With an E?



            4                 MR. HYRCKO:  K-E-L-V-I-N.



            5                 MR. SPARKS:  Thank you.  I'm sorry.



            6                 THE WITNESS:  Could you restate the



            7  question, please?



            8  BY MR. HYRCKO:



            9      Q.    And your opinions, at least in the work that



           10  is in your presentation, is based largely on the flow



           11  data from the Kelvin gauge site for the USGS, correct?



           12      A.    Well, the Kelvin gauge data forms part of the



           13  basis for my opinion.  I'm using the information from



           14  that gauge to illustrate points about my understanding



           15  of the behavior of the Gila River, the hydrologic



           16  behavior of the Gila River.  Certainly it varies along



           17  the reach, would be different at different gauges; but



           18  the general characteristics are very similar.



           19      Q.    You testified yesterday about what your idea



           20  of what the term ordinary means, but it's not really



           21  clear to me what you said.



           22            Could you please define for me what you



           23  understand the word ordinary to mean as it is used in



           24  the Winkleman case?



           25      A.    Well, it primarily refers to the condition --
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            1  in my reading of it, it primarily refers to the flow



            2  conditions that occur most of the time.  In other



            3  words, it excludes extreme floods and it excludes -- I



            4  intended to say excludes if I didn't.  It excludes



            5  extreme floods and it excludes severe drought.



            6      Q.    And when you did your evaluation of the river



            7  to determine its natural condition, did you evaluate it



            8  as a river that was untouched by civilization excluding



            9  any man-made diversions?



           10      A.    I did the best I could, given the available



           11  data, to understand what the river would have looked



           12  like in the absence of those factors.



           13      Q.    What time frame did you use as the standard



           14  for this evaluation, or to put it another way, what is



           15  your time period for untouched by civilization period



           16  that would have existed at statehood but for human



           17  intervention?



           18      A.    Well, strictly speaking, it would be even



           19  before the Hohokams were in the area.  But as is



           20  described in the Winkleman case, and I understand that



           21  that case strictly applies to the lower Salt River, but



           22  the time frames that they discuss I think also equally



           23  apply to the Gila River.  They said, well, the Native



           24  American diversions had died out enough by the early



           25  1800s, so that the early to, you know, perhaps up to
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            1  1850, 1860 in their mind would be representative of



            2  natural conditions.



            3      Q.    Is all the data that you looked at set out in



            4  your report?



            5      A.    No.



            6      Q.    What other data did you use that wasn't set



            7  out in your report?



            8      A.    Well, I looked at the data from the other



            9  gauges along the system.



           10      Q.    Which other gauges?



           11      A.    I would have to go back through my notes.



           12  There's a gauge up at the head of Safford Valley that I



           13  remember.  There's a gauge at Maricopa that has a



           14  shorter period of record.  I looked some at the gauge



           15  below Gillespie Dam.



           16      Q.    So you looked at the Kelvin gauge data, the



           17  Safford, and is that the head of Safford Valley?



           18      A.    Yes.



           19      Q.    Not the Calva Safford Valley?



           20      A.    I probably also looked at the Calva gauge.  I



           21  pulled most -- all of the gauge data that I could find.



           22      Q.    And then you looked at the Maricopa data in



           23  the region of Maricopa?



           24      A.    Right.



           25      Q.    And then Gillespie Dam.
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            1            What is your definition then of what is the



            2  natural and ordinary condition of the river on the date



            3  of statehood?



            4      A.    Well, it's what the river would have looked



            5  like -- specifically with respect to natural, it's what



            6  the river would have looked like on the date of



            7  statehood if we had not had the diversions and the



            8  other human impacts that have occurred along the reach.



            9      Q.    Did you evaluate the river in its ordinary



           10  condition separately from the river in its natural



           11  condition?  For example, floods are natural by



           12  definition, but they're not ordinary.  So did you look



           13  at the river separate from its natural condition, in



           14  its ordinary condition?



           15      A.    Well, I think what you're trying to do is get



           16  me to segment the ordinary from the impact of the



           17  floods, and as I said repeatedly yesterday, I believe



           18  that during the very relatively short period of time



           19  that a flood is occurring on the river, that probably



           20  is excluded from the ordinary definition; but certainly



           21  the effects of that on -- the long-term effects of that



           22  on the river are part of the ordinary condition.  You



           23  can't discount the floods.



           24      Q.    So what's your basis for the long-term effect



           25  of the floods being included in the ordinary condition
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            1  of the river?



            2      A.    I'm sorry, you'll have to restate the



            3  question.



            4      Q.    Yeah, that's not very well done.



            5            What is your basis for including the effects



            6  of floods in the ordinary condition of the river?  Is



            7  there any legal basis for that, or is that your



            8  personal decision?



            9      A.    Well, I'm not an attorney.  My job is to do



           10  the best scientific job I can of understanding and



           11  describing the character of the river.  And it's my



           12  opinion, as is the opinion of other well-published



           13  authors that you've heard about in these proceedings



           14  many times, that these dryland rivers are very



           15  flood-driven systems, and the characteristics are very



           16  strongly related to the effects of the floods.



           17      Q.    What elements must you consider when you



           18  reach a conclusion on whether a river can be navigated?



           19      A.    Well, I basically go back to the definitions



           20  of navigability that start with the Daniel Ball test,



           21  and that language is essentially repeated in the



           22  Arizona Revised Statutes.  And it's been clarified in



           23  PPL Montana.



           24      Q.    And those elements are, if you can just spell



           25  them out for me?
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            1      A.    Can it be used as a highway for commerce in



            2  its ordinary and natural condition.



            3      Q.    And evidently you determined the river is not



            4  susceptible to use as a highway of commerce.  How did



            5  you determine that?  How did you arrive at your opinion



            6  that the river was not susceptible for use as a highway



            7  of commerce?



            8      A.    By studying the physical characteristics of



            9  the river and matching that up with my understanding of



           10  the types of watercraft that would be customarily used



           11  around the date of statehood.



           12      Q.    Did you include any of the analysis about the



           13  types of watercraft used at or around the date of



           14  statehood in your report?



           15      A.    I didn't do quantitative analysis of that.



           16      Q.    And did you then do qualitative analysis in



           17  your report?



           18      A.    Well, I certainly have read the historical



           19  accounts.  I've, you know, listened to the testimony of



           20  Mr. Littlefield and others about the types of boats,



           21  and I, you know, matched that up with the character of



           22  the river.



           23      Q.    Just so that I understand, did you attend the



           24  2005 hearings in this matter?



           25      A.    I did not.
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            1      Q.    So when you heard Dr. Littlefield's



            2  testimony, that was just this past week, correct?



            3      A.    Yes.



            4      Q.    So how did that enter into your analysis of



            5  boating, the qualitative analysis?



            6      A.    Well, I read his report prior to my



            7  testimony, and I'm also aware of many of the historical



            8  accounts that he cited from other documents, reading of



            9  other documents, several of which I was questioned



           10  about this morning, in fact.



           11      Q.    Did you read his report before you wrote your



           12  report?



           13      A.    I read some of his earlier reports.



           14      Q.    Did you read any other expert reports before



           15  you wrote your report?



           16      A.    Yes.



           17      Q.    Which ones?



           18      A.    Well, certainly Dr. Schumm's report.  I read,



           19  I'm not sure all of, but much of the technical reports



           20  that were submitted by Mr. Fuller and Stantec in the



           21  earlier proceedings.



           22      Q.    Did your determination whether the river was



           23  susceptible for use as a highway of commerce require



           24  that both trade and travel occur together or that trade



           25  and travel must be commercial?
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            1      A.    According to the language of the Montana PPL,



            2  it must be a commercial reality.  So to me, that



            3  implies some correlation to being commercial, yes.



            4      Q.    Okay, so the answer is, yes, your definition



            5  of highway of commerce required that the activity be



            6  commercial in nature.



            7            How about that the trade and travel must be



            8  together?



            9      A.    I think that's a fuzzier question.  I don't



           10  know that they need to necessarily be together.



           11      Q.    So you could have travel, commercial travel,



           12  occurring, in your opinion, you could have commercial



           13  travel occurring, but it wouldn't necessarily have to



           14  be commercial trade in order for a river to be



           15  navigable?



           16      A.    I think that's correct.



           17      Q.    Does your determination whether the river was



           18  used or susceptible to use as a highway require both



           19  upstream and downstream travel?



           20      A.    Not necessarily.



           21      Q.    So your opinion then, that downstream travel



           22  could be sufficient if a river otherwise met the



           23  definition of navigability?



           24      A.    It could.



           25      Q.    Did your determination whether the river was
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            1  susceptible to navigation require that a profitable



            2  commercial enterprise be conducted or capable of being



            3  conducted on the river?



            4      A.    I don't recall ever seeing language in any of



            5  the documents that I've read that would suggest it has



            6  to be profitable.



            7      Q.    In fact, many businesses aren't profitable,



            8  right?



            9      A.    Yes.



           10      Q.    Did your determination of navigability



           11  consider overland transportation in proximity to the



           12  watercourse?



           13      A.    Not really, no.



           14      Q.    Yesterday you were asked some general



           15  questions by the State's attorney, and I just had a



           16  couple more, and I would like some clarifications of



           17  what you said about...



           18            How would you define the term floodplain?



           19      A.    Floodplain is the area adjacent to the



           20  channel that is inundated by flows under the current



           21  hydrologic conditions.



           22      Q.    And when you say it's inundated by flows,



           23  it's inundated by floods?



           24      A.    By flood flows.  It can be inundated by high



           25  flows, yes.
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            1      Q.    And then how would you define the term low



            2  flow channel?



            3      A.    A small channel within the main channel that



            4  carries low discharges.



            5      Q.    So you just used the term main channel.  In



            6  your mind, is main channel synonymous with floodplain



            7  or flood channel?  I'm just trying to understand the



            8  terms.



            9      A.    It depends on the type of river we're talking



           10  about.



           11      Q.    Well, we're talking about the Gila River, so



           12  let's limit it so Arizona's Gila River.



           13      A.    Okay.



           14      Q.    So in your mind then, is the floodplain



           15  synonymous with the main channel?  I've heard you use



           16  that term.



           17      A.    Yeah.  What I've heard in this proceeding



           18  referred to as the flood channel in many cases probably



           19  does expand beyond what I would typically refer to as



           20  the main channel.  But in a braided system like the



           21  Gila River, that gets a little bit confused.  It's sort



           22  of a fuzzy.  It's a matter of semantics, frankly.



           23      Q.    But you would agree then that the low flow



           24  channel is included within the main channel and the



           25  flood channel?
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            1      A.    Sure.



            2      Q.    And the floodplain?



            3      A.    Well, the floodplain is separate from the



            4  main channel, in my mind.



            5      Q.    So just so that I'm clear, you've got the low



            6  flow channel, which I've heard the term thalweg used.



            7  I don't know if that's the same term that -- is that a



            8  term that you would use to refer to the low flow



            9  channel?



           10      A.    I would not typically use that term, but I



           11  understand what that means, and I think in most



           12  people's minds it generally means the same thing.



           13      Q.    You wouldn't use the term, is that just



           14  because it's not in your profession, or you have a



           15  different definition of what that means?



           16      A.    I use the term thalweg, but I don't typically



           17  say the thalweg channel.  The thalweg is the deepest



           18  part across any cross section.  It refers to one point,



           19  strictly speaking.



           20      Q.    Fair enough.  So it's the -- if you're



           21  looking, it's more of a point --



           22      A.    Yes.



           23      Q.    -- thalweg point, which would be included --



           24  would it be included in the low flow channel, generally



           25  speaking?
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            1      A.    Generally, it would, yes.



            2      Q.    And then so you have the low flow channel and



            3  then you have the -- which a narrow low flow channel,



            4  and then you have a broader main channel; is that



            5  accurate?



            6      A.    Well, the low flow channel typically would be



            7  narrower than the main channel, yes.



            8      Q.    And included within that main channel?



            9      A.    Yes.



           10      Q.    And there might be other minor channels



           11  within that main channel?



           12      A.    Could be.



           13      Q.    And those would be at different elevations



           14  than the low flow channel?



           15      A.    Could be.



           16      Q.    Would the -- so you say could be, so are



           17  there multiple low flow channels?



           18      A.    There can be.



           19      Q.    Is that a static condition?



           20      A.    That depends on the time frame that you're



           21  talking about.



           22      Q.    Let's say is that static over the course of a



           23  decade in Arizona, like in the Gila River?



           24      A.    Most likely not, but it could be.



           25      Q.    Would the water tend -- if you had more than
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            1  one low flow channel, would the water tend towards



            2  forming one channel over time?



            3      A.    Not necessarily.



            4      Q.    So -- we'll get back into that later on.



            5            How would you define the term compound



            6  channel?



            7      A.    A compound channel is a channel that has --



            8  what's the easiest way to say it -- different stages;



            9  has topography within the channel that becomes



           10  inundated at different levels of flow.



           11      Q.    So we can relate that to the context of the



           12  prior definitions, does a compound channel have a low



           13  flow channel, at least one low flow channel?



           14      A.    Generally, yes.



           15      Q.    And then you have higher channels within that



           16  overall definition of compound?



           17      A.    (Witness nodded.)



           18      Q.    And does the compound -- I'm sorry.  Is that



           19  a yes?



           20      A.    That's correct, yeah.



           21      Q.    And then the compound channel, would that be



           22  how you could -- would a main channel be -- could it be



           23  considered a compound channel if it indeed has a low



           24  flow channel with other channels and elevations?



           25      A.    Sure.
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            1      Q.    As a practical matter, how do you end up with



            2  multiple low flow channels?  Wouldn't they have to be



            3  at an identical elevation?



            4      A.    Not necessarily.



            5      Q.    So you could have a low flow channel at



            6  1 foot and then another low flow channel at 2 feet?



            7      A.    Well, I'm not prepared to put numbers to it.



            8  You would have to show me the specific situation.  But



            9  they can be at different elevations.



           10      Q.    Yeah, I guess the question that -- the word



           11  low flow channel seems to imply a single channel.  So



           12  by -- you're saying that that definition does not



           13  include -- it does not limit itself to a single



           14  channel?



           15      A.    It doesn't have to limit itself to a single



           16  channel.  It depends on what you mean by low flow.



           17      Q.    Fair enough.  So if I meant lowest flow or



           18  median flow, or let's use the term lowest flow channel,



           19  then you would have one channel, correct?



           20      A.    I suppose in the limit, if you continue to



           21  decrease the flow to virtually nothing, at some point



           22  you're going to dry up all but one channel.



           23      Q.    So by inference then, that you would have at



           24  higher flows than that case you just described, water



           25  would spill out of that channel into -- possibly spill
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            1  out into other parts of this compound channel?



            2      A.    Yes.



            3      Q.    Can you estimate the dimensions of an average



            4  sandbar in the Gila River?



            5      A.    Not at this time.



            6      Q.    And you said that when you did your



            7  overflight in November of 2013, you didn't put your



            8  feet on the ground and actually go measure sandbars or



            9  look at the sandbars that existed out there?



           10      A.    I looked at them from the air.  I didn't get



           11  down on the ground and look at them.



           12      Q.    Are you able to estimate sandbars from a



           13  helicopter, the dimensions of a sandbar?



           14      A.    Roughly.



           15      Q.    So but you didn't do that on this flight,



           16  this past overflight that you did?



           17      A.    My purpose was not to quantify the dimensions



           18  of sandbars.



           19      Q.    How about frequency of sandbars; do you



           20  have -- can you estimate how frequently sandbars



           21  appeared in the lower Gila River below the Salt River



           22  confluence, but upstream from the Colorado confluence?



           23      A.    Well, there's a little bit of a problem with



           24  the questions that you're asking me, because in order



           25  to clearly see it as a sandbar, you have to have enough





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                        GILA RIVER      VOL. VIII      08/20/2014

                                                                      1801





            1  water in the river to be able to distinguish the



            2  topography and so on; and there wasn't.  It was



            3  basically dry, as the one picture we looked at earlier



            4  this morning was.  So the only way you could really do



            5  that is do a very detailed topographic survey.



            6      Q.    And again, you did not do that detailed



            7  topographic survey?



            8      A.    I did not.



            9      Q.    Do you know what the flow rate was on that



           10  day you flew the lower Gila?



           11      A.    I don't know.  Very low.



           12      Q.    Is that the flow that passes through the



           13  Gillespie Dam that isn't taken up by the Paloma Ranch



           14  Canal, the flow --



           15      A.    Well, the photo that I looked at with the



           16  State's attorney earlier today, that was below



           17  Gillespie Dam; and the answer is yes.



           18      Q.    And you're aware that there's a diversion



           19  upstream from there and just below the Gillespie Dam



           20  for the Paloma Ranch?



           21      A.    Yes.



           22      Q.    And did you see it when you were out there?



           23      A.    I probably did.  I don't specifically



           24  remember it.



           25      Q.    Continuing with the sandbars, would sandbars
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            1  have appeared more or less frequently in the Gila River



            2  than, say, in the Colorado?



            3      A.    Well, bed material characteristics are



            4  somewhat different in the Gila River than they are in



            5  the Colorado, so they would have different



            6  characteristics.  Whether less frequently -- there are



            7  different scales of sandbar, for one thing, so we



            8  can't -- you can't really generalize about that.  It



            9  depends on what scale of bedform feature you're talking



           10  about.



           11      Q.    Well, actually, I'm not talking about scale.



           12  I'm talking about frequency.  And I understand there's



           13  different flows and different bed materials, but in



           14  your 34 years of experiences in this field, and based



           15  on your study of the Gila River, would you say that



           16  sandbars occurred on the Gila River, in its natural and



           17  ordinary condition, more or less frequently than on the



           18  Colorado River?



           19      A.    Well, again, I know you're not talking about



           20  scale, but when we talk about sandbars, we have to talk



           21  about scale, because sandbars are basically a bedform



           22  feature.  There are many different scales of bedforms,



           23  and so the frequency of one type is different from the



           24  frequency of others.  Whether -- and they're different



           25  between the Gila River and the Colorado River partly
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            1  because of the characteristics of bed material and



            2  partly because of the hydrologic characteristics.



            3            So I couldn't say.  They would be different.



            4  Whether it's more or less frequent, I don't know.



            5      Q.    Fair enough.



            6            How about the frequency on the Verde River?



            7  The same questions related to the Verde River.  Do you



            8  have any opinion about the frequency of sandbars on the



            9  Gila River, and I'm meaning specifically from the



           10  confluence with the Salt down to the Colorado, versus



           11  the frequency of sandbars on the Verde River?



           12      A.    Well, the Verde River is, by and large, a



           13  gravel, cobble bed stream, so the frequency of sandbars



           14  there is much different.



           15      Q.    Less?



           16      A.    I'm not sure I've ever actually seen a



           17  sandbar on the Verde River.  I would have to go back



           18  through my photos to see.



           19      Q.    How about the Salt River?



           20      A.    Could you restate the question again?



           21      Q.    Would sandbars have appeared more or less



           22  frequently on the lower Salt River versus the Gila



           23  River downstream from the confluence with the Salt?



           24  And maybe I -- I think I might have misspoke that,



           25  misstated that question.
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            1            Would sandbars have appeared more or less



            2  frequently on the lower Salt than on the section of the



            3  Gila from the confluence with the Salt down to the



            4  Colorado?



            5      A.    Again, it depends on a variety of factors,



            6  including the bed material and the hydrologic



            7  conditions, and so on.  They're probably somewhat



            8  similar.  I couldn't quantify that at this time.  But



            9  the character of those two portions of the river are



           10  somewhat similar, so they're probably not that



           11  different.



           12      Q.    Are you aware of any waterfalls in the



           13  section of the Gila which is noted by the State as



           14  being sections Segments 7 and 8, which is the -- are



           15  you familiar with the segment numbers, so I can shorten



           16  up the language a little bit?



           17      A.    Generally.



           18      Q.    Are you aware that the sections Segments 7



           19  and 8 are the segments of the Gila River noted by the



           20  State from the Salt River confluence down to the



           21  Colorado?



           22      A.    Yes, I'm aware of that.



           23      Q.    So if I say Segments 7 and 8, you know what



           24  I'm talking about?



           25      A.    I do.
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            1      Q.    Are you aware of any waterfalls in Segments 7



            2  and 8 of the Gila?



            3      A.    I'm not aware of any waterfalls.



            4      Q.    Are you aware of any rapids in Segments 7 or



            5  8 of the Gila?



            6      A.    No.



            7      Q.    Are you aware of any beaver dams that



            8  completely span the Gila River, or any beaver dams for



            9  that matter, in Segments 7 or 8?



           10      A.    No.



           11      Q.    Did your client ask you to study the



           12  San Pedro River?



           13      A.    No.



           14                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. -- Jeff, would it



           15  be appropriate to take a break now?



           16                 MR. HYRCKO:  Yes.



           17                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We'll take a ten-minute



           18  break.



           19                 (A recess was taken from 10:15 a.m. to



           20  10:26 a.m.)



           21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  George, are we on?



           22  BY MR. HYRCKO:



           23      Q.    Dr. Mussetter, I just have a few questions



           24  here.  You were present for Dr. -- or for Mr. Gookin's



           25  testimony last time?
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            1      A.    Yes.



            2      Q.    And you answered some questions yesterday, I



            3  believe, about Mr. Gookin's n-values, and you testified



            4  that you thought Mr. Gookin's n-value was too low for



            5  the Gila River; is that correct?



            6      A.    That's correct.



            7      Q.    I believe you testified that you felt a more



            8  reasonable base value of 0.026 to 0.035 was reasonable,



            9  correct?



           10      A.    That's a reasonable range, yes.



           11      Q.    And what did you mean by the term base value?



           12      A.    Well, that the base value is intended to



           13  describe the hydraulic roughness associated with,



           14  basically, the boundary friction on the bottom of the



           15  channel, but there are other factors that can affect



           16  the roughness as well, which are in most relationships



           17  additive.



           18      Q.    And they can be significantly additive,



           19  correct?



           20      A.    They can.



           21      Q.    Based on your years of experience researching



           22  the river, do you have an estimate of the n-value of



           23  the river, of a final n-value of the river in the



           24  segment downstream from the confluence of the Salt to



           25  the Colorado River, Segments 7 and 8?
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            1      A.    It would vary depending on which portion of



            2  the reach you're in, particularly the amount of



            3  vegetation, the amount of irregularity in the channel,



            4  obstructions in the channel, that sort of thing.



            5      Q.    How would you come up with that n-value if



            6  you were tasked with doing that?



            7      A.    Well, the first thing I would try to do is



            8  get some data that would -- water surface elevation



            9  data that would allow me to calibrate either a model or



           10  a hydraulic calculation to what was observed in the



           11  field.



           12            Absent that, then I would go back to



           13  publications' relationships like the one that we



           14  discussed yesterday, and select values based on the



           15  characteristics of the river as described in those



           16  relationships.  You know, most of them are developed



           17  based on real data, and so we try to match up the river



           18  that I'm working on with the character of the river



           19  that those data were developed from.



           20      Q.    And how would you do that for the natural and



           21  ordinary condition of the river that existed at



           22  statehood?



           23      A.    Well, that would be challenging, because we



           24  really don't know exactly what the river looked like



           25  under its natural condition.
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            1      Q.    Did you attempt to do that in the modeling



            2  work that you did on the other navigability studies



            3  that you participated in?



            4      A.    Yes.



            5      Q.    And for the natural and ordinary condition of



            6  those rivers?



            7      A.    Yes.



            8      Q.    And you were able to do it there?



            9      A.    We were able to make estimates.



           10      Q.    But you didn't do that for this report, for



           11  this declaration?



           12      A.    I did not do hydraulic calculations for this



           13  issue.



           14      Q.    And Mr. Gookin testified, I believe, that the



           15  diversions of the Salt and Gila River and the



           16  percolation of that diverted water into the groundwater



           17  sped up the recovery of the Gila River channel.  Do you



           18  agree with that statement?



           19      A.    Could you read it again, please?



           20      Q.    Mr. Gookin claimed that the diversions from



           21  the Salt and Gila Rivers and the percolation of that



           22  diverted water into the groundwater sped up the



           23  recovery of the Gila River channel.



           24            I believe he was questioned by Mr. McGinnis



           25  and on redirect, and there was some discussion about
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            1  how that effect counteracts the effect of the



            2  diversions themselves.



            3            Do you agree with the conclusion that



            4  Mr. Gookin reached, or you don't -- did you hear that?



            5      A.    I'm not sure I know the full context of the



            6  question that you're asking me, so I'm not really sure



            7  I can give you an answer.



            8      Q.    Have you done any studies to that effect, on



            9  the effects of groundwater percolation and diversions?



           10      A.    Yes.



           11      Q.    And did you see any effects on the rebound of



           12  river into their single-thread condition in those



           13  studies that you did?



           14      A.    The purpose of the studies that I'm thinking



           15  of wasn't -- that wasn't the purpose.  So I can't



           16  answer that question.



           17      Q.    Fair enough.



           18            I would like to just ask you a few questions



           19  about your declaration.  Do you have a copy of that in



           20  front of you?



           21      A.    Yes, I do.



           22      Q.    In the first section, the introduction,



           23  define what you mean by the term independent assessment



           24  in the first paragraph.



           25      A.    I mean I pulled together the available
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            1  information and studied that information and made my



            2  own determination as to whether I thought the Gila



            3  River would be -- would fit the federal test of



            4  navigability.



            5      Q.    And the legal standard that you applied was



            6  the standard set out in Winkleman --



            7      A.    No.



            8      Q.    -- or which?



            9            Which legal standard did you use in your



           10  independent assessment?



           11      A.    Begins with the Daniel Ball test, and it was



           12  clarified by the PPL Montana decision.  Those are the



           13  primary ones.



           14      Q.    In this paragraph you reference various



           15  technical documents that you will subsequently refer



           16  to.  Is this reference meaning every technical document



           17  that you subsequently referred to, or does it mean



           18  something else?



           19      A.    Could you restate that again, please?



           20      Q.    In this paragraph you refer to various



           21  technical documents that you will subsequently refer



           22  to.  I believe it's in the middle sentence.



           23            It says, including various technical



           24  documents that will be cited below.  Does this mean



           25  every technical document you're -- I guess we have to
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            1  look at the first part of the sentence:  This



            2  assessment included review of the expert report from



            3  Schumm and testimony of Dr. Stanley Schumm regarding



            4  this matter, and independent review of additional



            5  relevant information, including various technical



            6  documents that will be cited below.



            7            This -- let me scratch that question.



            8            Are the page citation contained in your



            9  References appendix the extent of your reliance on



           10  those references to support the statements for which



           11  they were cited in the body of your report?



           12      A.    In general, that's true.  Although, most of



           13  those documents I've read the bulk of the document,



           14  and, you know, when you read information, maybe you



           15  don't specifically address it in the report, but it



           16  does influence the way you think about the issue that



           17  you're studying.  So I can't say that I didn't consider



           18  anything outside the context of those pages.



           19      Q.    You testified on your low-level overflight,



           20  the purpose of that was to gain firsthand knowledge of



           21  the present-day conditions of the river.  Why did you



           22  need to evaluate the present-day conditions to



           23  determine whether the river was navigable in its



           24  natural and ordinary condition in 1912?



           25      A.    Well, in the ideal world I would go back and
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            1  look at the natural condition; but I can't do that,



            2  so -- and I have to look at it as it is today.  And



            3  certainly the character of the river today tells us --



            4  gives us good information about what the river might



            5  have looked like in its natural condition.



            6      Q.    So your -- why did you end the flight where



            7  you did, 24 miles downstream from Gillespie?  Or, I'm



            8  sorry -- yeah, 24 miles downstream from Gillespie.



            9      A.    Basically, a time issue.



           10      Q.    Was it important to gather that same present



           11  knowledge both further downstream and upstream from



           12  there?



           13      A.    I think the part that I viewed gave me enough



           14  information, coupled with the other available



           15  information that I have, including aerial photographs



           16  and other data that we've discussed.



           17      Q.    And you used that for the other areas?



           18      A.    I'm sorry?



           19      Q.    So you used that other information to come up



           20  with your conclusions about the other segments of the



           21  Gila?



           22      A.    Yes, I looked at all the available



           23  information that I could that was relevant.



           24      Q.    Did you use -- how did that overflight



           25  influence your navigability determination?
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            1      A.    It just basically gave me the context so that



            2  I understood the general geography of the river,



            3  locations of things, what the adjacent topography is



            4  like, what the -- you know, how the geologic influences



            5  affect the character of the valley, general



            6  information.



            7      Q.    You would agree, though, that nothing related



            8  to the Gila River in its natural and ordinary



            9  condition, as those terms are applied in Winkleman, was



           10  visible on that overflight?



           11      A.    No, I wouldn't agree with that.



           12      Q.    So you would say that in that overflight in



           13  November of 2013, you were viewing the river in its



           14  natural and ordinary condition?



           15      A.    I didn't say that.



           16      Q.    So what about that flight -- what did you see



           17  on that that was related to the natural and ordinary



           18  condition?



           19      A.    Well, again, I answered that a few minutes



           20  ago.  The overflight gives me a sense of the character



           21  of the valley, the character of the materials that the



           22  river flows through, some information about the



           23  vegetation, although I'm sure at this time it's quite



           24  different from what it was in its natural condition.



           25  But it all puts the characteristics of the river into a
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            1  context.



            2      Q.    Would the Gillespie Dam have affected the



            3  morphology and conditions of the Gila River after it



            4  was built in 1921?



            5      A.    Yeah, certainly locally it would have.



            6      Q.    You're aware that the Winkleman case requires



            7  ANSAC to do a particularized assessment to determine



            8  whether a river or part of a river is navigable,



            9  correct?



           10      A.    I would have to see the specific language



           11  you're referring to.  I haven't memorized the Winkleman



           12  decision.



           13      Q.    Dr. Mussetter, would you read the Footnote 9



           14  on Page 237 of the Winkleman decision?



           15      A.    Yes.



           16            In conducting the, quote, particularized



           17  assessment, unquote, required to determine whether the



           18  river was navigable, see Hassell -- and then it cites



           19  the Arizona statutes -- ANSAC was required to make its



           20  determination, quote, in writing with sufficient



           21  documentation and detail to confirm the rationale and



           22  basis for the determination.



           23      Q.    So as you just said, you weren't aware that



           24  that was in the Winkleman case?



           25      A.    I have read that language before.  I just
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            1  simply didn't remember the details of it.



            2      Q.    What portions of your report fulfill that



            3  particularization requirement that ANSAC must address?



            4      A.    I think the entire report does.



            5      Q.    So the entire report is for the entire river,



            6  correct?



            7      A.    Yes.



            8      Q.    And it doesn't -- you said earlier you didn't



            9  do a segment-by-segment determination?



           10      A.    No, I didn't say that.



           11      Q.    Well, you said that you determined that



           12  segment-by-segment analysis was not necessary because



           13  you felt the entire river -- am I misstating your



           14  testimony?



           15      A.    Yes, you are.



           16      Q.    Okay, what -- your testimony was, as I



           17  understood it, was that you believe the entire river



           18  was not navigable, correct?



           19      A.    That's correct.



           20      Q.    And that as such, you didn't need to do a



           21  segment-by-segment determination?



           22      A.    Well, I think we're talking past each other.



           23  I didn't formally break the river down into segments in



           24  accordance with the instructions in PPL Montana because



           25  it's unnecessary.
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            1            But as I considered the characteristics of



            2  the river and whether or not it was navigable, I



            3  considered the characteristics of each individual



            4  section, or if you want to refer to it as segment,



            5  that's fine.  It has a different meaning in that



            6  context.  The river has variable characteristics along



            7  its length, and to the best of my ability, I considered



            8  all of those characteristics.



            9      Q.    And did you document the different



           10  characteristics of the river in your declaration, or



           11  the different sections?



           12      A.    To some extent, I did, yes.



           13      Q.    Where is that laid out?



           14      A.    Well, the -- some of the graphics describe



           15  different segments of the river, different sections of



           16  the river; the Burkham plots, for example, the



           17  Huckleberry plot, the mapping in Figures -- put my



           18  glasses on -- 6, 7, 8.



           19      Q.    Yeah, we'll get into those a little bit



           20  later.  But just the Burkham plot and the Meko plot,



           21  those are for the Safford Valley, correct?



           22      A.    The Burkham plot I believe is, yes.



           23      Q.    And what about the -- we're looking at



           24  Figure 4 of your report on Page 9?



           25      A.    Yes.
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            1      Q.    So does that data all relate to the Safford



            2  Valley?



            3      A.    The data relates to the Safford Valley, that



            4  gauge at the head of Safford Valley.



            5      Q.    In any of the navigability determinations



            6  that you've done previously, how many times has it been



            7  to determine natural and ordinary conditions of a river



            8  150 years after that condition existed?



            9      A.    None of them were 150 years after the



           10  condition.



           11      Q.    In your Qualifications section, you spent



           12  time discussing your association with Dr. Schumm.  What



           13  do you mean, you're generally familiar with his 2004



           14  report.  Let me correct that; generally familiar with



           15  the work that he did.



           16      A.    We've talked about that already.  I had brief



           17  discussions with him about what he was doing and what



           18  he was finding.



           19      Q.    But you didn't do any of the work with him or



           20  for him?



           21      A.    I did not.



           22      Q.    On the Section 1.2 on Page 1 of your report,



           23  you say based on my review of Dr. Schumm's report and



           24  other background material.  What is that other



           25  background material you're referring to?
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            1      A.    Well, first of all, the sentence doesn't say



            2  other background material.



            3      Q.    Thank you.  It says and background material.



            4  What background material is that referring to?



            5      A.    That particular clause refers to the



            6  background material that Dr. Schumm considered in



            7  preparing his report.



            8      Q.    Is that the same material referenced in



            9  yours, your declaration?



           10      A.    Some of it is, yes.



           11      Q.    I'm just trying to cut out questions here and



           12  shorten it up.



           13      A.    I'm in favor of that.



           14      Q.    I believe you, in your report, in Opinion 1,



           15  you state that portions of the river had a



           16  single-thread channel in the mid 1800s until the early



           17  1900s, correct?



           18      A.    I did say that, yes.



           19      Q.    And was that a perennial flow through those



           20  segments?



           21      A.    I think some of the historic accounts



           22  indicate that there was perennial flow.



           23      Q.    But you don't have any -- you didn't do any



           24  studies to determine what that flow would have been,



           25  correct?
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            1      A.    I did not try to quantify that flow.



            2      Q.    You testified yesterday that after



            3  significant flooding, assuming that the flow conditions



            4  revert to those existed before the flood, that the



            5  channel form would revert to the flood form in -- the



            6  form in existence before that flood; is that accurate?



            7      A.    Generally speaking, that's true.



            8      Q.    Why didn't the Gila River heal itself and



            9  revert to its prior form after the major floods of the



           10  late 1800s and early 1900s?



           11      A.    Because there wasn't enough flow to support



           12  the processes that cause it to recover; but to some



           13  extent, it did recover.



           14      Q.    And your PowerPoint slides document the river



           15  channel did narrow, correct?



           16      A.    Yes.



           17      Q.    In your Opinion No. 3 on Page 2, would you



           18  agree that the Gila's present hydrologic conditions are



           19  not the same as existed prior to the floods you



           20  reference in Opinion 2?



           21      A.    I'm sorry, I lost the question.  Could you



           22  ask it again, please?



           23      Q.    In Opinion No. 3 you state under present



           24  hydrologic conditions.  Would you agree that they are



           25  not the same hydrologic conditions that existed prior
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            1  to the major floods of the late 1800s?



            2      A.    I'm not sure I'm understanding what you're



            3  asking me.



            4      Q.    I'll pass on that question.  I think we've



            5  got it covered.



            6            In Opinion No. 5, you mention a small boat?



            7      A.    Yes.



            8      Q.    What are the dimensions of the small boat



            9  that you reference there?



           10      A.    I can't give you specific dimensions, but I'm



           11  thinking of something like a canoe or a small skiff or



           12  a rowboat or something of that sort.



           13      Q.    How deep would the water need to be to use



           14  that boat, in your mind?



           15      A.    Depends on what you're using the boat for and



           16  how loaded it is.



           17      Q.    For navigability, for the navigability test?



           18      A.    There's a lot more to the question of the



           19  navigability test than just the depth of flow to float



           20  the boat.



           21      Q.    How about like on an expedition with a man



           22  and his gear for five days; would that be included in



           23  that definition of floating a small boat?



           24      A.    It could, yes.



           25      Q.    In this opinion you mention reconstructed
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            1  annual flow extending back to the 1600s, correct?



            2      A.    Correct.



            3      Q.    Do those records go back to before 1600?



            4      A.    The specific ones that I'm referring to here



            5  come from the Meko and Graybill study, and they do not.



            6      Q.    Fair enough.



            7            Does that Meko and Graybill work tell you



            8  what kind of channels were in existence in the Gila



            9  River before the arrival of Europeans in the 1800s?



           10      A.    It tells us what -- their estimates of the



           11  annual flow in the river.  It doesn't say anything



           12  about the physical characteristics of the river.



           13      Q.    And it also doesn't talk about -- it also



           14  doesn't relate to the frequency of flooding, correct;



           15  it's just whether it's a wet year or a dry year?



           16      A.    Well, as I illustrate in the companion



           17  figure, in most cases it does tell you something about



           18  the flooding as well.



           19      Q.    How does the -- never mind.



           20            You mentioned unusually low -- unusually dry



           21  conditions in that opinion as well.  Let me find the



           22  language here.



           23            Unusually low flows during the period of the



           24  1850s to 1900s; is that correct?



           25      A.    Well, I said the mid to late 1800s.





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                        GILA RIVER      VOL. VIII      08/20/2014

                                                                      1822





            1      Q.    Is the 1850s mid of the 1800s?



            2      A.    Sure.



            3      Q.    Could the low flows that you talk about have



            4  been caused, at least in part, by the diversion of



            5  water from the Gila River?



            6      A.    In some cases they could have.



            7      Q.    And I believe you did touch on this earlier



            8  in your Opinion No. 6 there about the language



            9  significant segment.  How long would a segment have to



           10  be before you would consider it navigable irrespective



           11  of the conditions of the river?



           12      A.    I can't give you a specific number, but it



           13  has to be long enough to meet the commercial reality



           14  part of the test.



           15      Q.    So how long is that, Dr. Mussetter?  How long



           16  would it take to be a commercial reality?



           17      A.    It depends on the circumstances.  There isn't



           18  a general answer to that question.



           19      Q.    Could it be 1 mile?



           20      A.    I'm not sure that would be long enough.



           21      Q.    Is it -- how about 17 miles?



           22      A.    Under some circumstances, I could see that



           23  17 miles might be long enough.



           24      Q.    Would you consider the segment from -- of the



           25  section of the river of Segment 8 from the Colorado up
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            1  to Dome a significant enough segment for navigability



            2  determinations?



            3      A.    It may be.



            4      Q.    Turning to the Page 3 of your report, the



            5  table figure -- I'm sorry, Figure 1.  What form would



            6  the Gila have been before the flood of the 1800s began?



            7      A.    Well, actually, you would have had a variety



            8  of forms, depending on which portion of the channel



            9  you're discussing.  The overall form of what you all



           10  have been referring to as the flood channel would be 5.



           11  There would be parts of it that would be similar to



           12  perhaps the 3b to 4 category.



           13      Q.    So in the 3b to 4 category, let's say 3b,



           14  would that type of channel have been navigable as



           15  defined by Arizona state law?



           16      A.    On the Gila River, that part of the channel,



           17  in my opinion, would not have been navigable according



           18  to the federal test.



           19      Q.    Which part of the federal test disqualifies



           20  that segment from being navigable if it's a form of 3b?



           21      A.    As I've repeatedly testified here, the



           22  character of that channel, it's small, it's too



           23  shallow, it's too variable, the flows are too erratic.



           24  It's, over certain periods of time, unstable.  And I



           25  don't believe it meets the commercial reality part of
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            1  the test.



            2      Q.    Again, just checking off questions.



            3            In the first paragraph of Page 4, you talk



            4  about not being able to define the dominant discharge



            5  because the larger flood flows are more



            6  geomorphologically effective than the more frequently



            7  occurring flows.



            8            What does that mean?



            9      A.    It means that in the type of channel that we



           10  have in the Gila River, it's, as I said early in the



           11  paragraph, it's a nonequilibrium form.  So the form



           12  that you see at any particular time is very strongly



           13  affected by the flood, the previous flood history.  And



           14  the flows that you see in the river don't, under normal



           15  conditions, don't fill that whole part of the channel.



           16  So you don't have a self-adjusted channel.  It blows it



           17  out, and then over time it sort of slowly goes back to



           18  some kind of a recovered channel, and then the floods



           19  come again and it blows it out again.



           20            As opposed to, I'll say, for example, a



           21  Plains river, where you would have a well-defined



           22  bankfull channel, where you can clearly define where



           23  the banks are.  Under most flow conditions, most of the



           24  bed of the channel is under water, and the banks are



           25  fairly steep and well-defined, and then when you get a
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            1  flood, it spills out into the overbanks.



            2      Q.    Do you have any opinion -- and maybe I've



            3  asked you this before, but just want to make sure I



            4  did.  Do you have any opinion on what the natural and



            5  ordinary flows of the Gila River are in terms of flow



            6  rate?



            7      A.    I don't have a quantity, no.



            8      Q.    Turning to Page 5 of your report, I just have



            9  one question about that Burkham study.  Do you know how



           10  long miles-wise the Burkham study covered in the



           11  Safford Valley?



           12      A.    I would have to go back to the document to be



           13  sure.  I think it's probably on the order of 30 to



           14  40 miles.



           15      Q.    You also mentioned the Huckleberry study



           16  (1993) in this section?



           17      A.    Yes.



           18      Q.    Did either Huckleberry or Burkham study the



           19  river from its confluence with the Salt to the



           20  Colorado?



           21      A.    Certainly not in those studies at least.



           22      Q.    Not in the studies that you cited here?



           23      A.    Right.  Right.



           24      Q.    In Section 2.2.1 the Gila River at and after



           25  the Date of statehood on Page 6.  On Page 6 of your
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            1  report, Section 2.2.1, Gila River at and after the Date



            2  of statehood.  Do any of the studies that you rely on



            3  in that section show the -- let me back up.



            4            Do any of the studies that you reference in



            5  this section draw their conclusions regarding the



            6  condition of the Gila River in its natural and ordinary



            7  condition?



            8      A.    All of these studies were done based on



            9  information basically since the date of statehood, so



           10  they don't explicitly try to describe what the river



           11  looked liked in its ordinary and natural condition.



           12      Q.    So the answer to that question is no?



           13      A.    It's a qualified no, because there's a lot of



           14  information in these studies that tell us things about



           15  what the river most likely looked like under ordinary



           16  and natural conditions.



           17      Q.    But all the studies that were done since the



           18  date of statehood were done when the river had already



           19  been significantly diverted, correct?



           20      A.    That's correct.



           21      Q.    Turning to the Meko study reference on



           22  Page 8, you used that reconstructed annual flows as --



           23  in your analysis, correct?



           24      A.    That's correct.



           25      Q.    And I believe you testified that you -- that
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            1  is to determine the annual flows, but not the median



            2  flow or average daily flows, correct?



            3      A.    Well, to the extent that Meko's results



            4  correctly depict the annual runoff, you can use that to



            5  calculate what the average daily flow is.



            6      Q.    And that's simply dividing the flow by 365?



            7      A.    Essentially, with some conversion, yes.



            8      Q.    In this Figure No. 4 on Page 9, the Meko



            9  data, in this figure you're comparing the modeled data



           10  to the measured data on the right of the -- on the



           11  right side of the figure, correct?



           12      A.    That's one purpose, yes.



           13      Q.    But it is comparing modeled data to measured



           14  data?



           15      A.    Yes.



           16      Q.    Did you also look at how the post-1900 gauge



           17  data compared with the modeled data for the same years?



           18      A.    I did look at that briefly, yes.



           19      Q.    But you didn't put it in your report?



           20      A.    I did not.



           21      Q.    I have a few questions about your PowerPoint



           22  presentation.  Do you have that with you?



           23      A.    I do.



           24      Q.    On Slide No. 5, that depicts a navigable



           25  segment of the Colorado River, correct?
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            1      A.    That's my understanding, yes.



            2                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Now, Mr. Hyrcko, could



            3  you make sure we identify what it is you're talking



            4  about with him?



            5                 MR. HYRCKO:  Yes.



            6                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  For the record.



            7  BY MR. HYRCKO:



            8      Q.    All of the references are from X026, your



            9  PowerPoint presentation, and I'm going to be asking



           10  questions about the numbered slides in that



           11  presentation.



           12                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.



           13  BY MR. HYRCKO:



           14      Q.    So on that Slide No. 5, that's -- how wide is



           15  that channel in the image?



           16      A.    I'm not sure of the exact width.  It's



           17  probably a few hundred feet.



           18      Q.    Do you know how deep it is?



           19      A.    No, I don't.



           20      Q.    Do you know how long the navigable segment is



           21  there?



           22      A.    I don't recall the length of it.  It's a few



           23  tens of miles, as best I remember.



           24      Q.    Do you know what the flow rate is depicted in



           25  that photo?
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            1      A.    It's roughly 18,000 cubic feet per second.



            2      Q.    Is this river diverted for irrigation



            3  upstream from this segment?



            4      A.    There are diversions upstream from this



            5  point, yes.



            6      Q.    Are there any sandbars visible in this



            7  photograph?



            8      A.    I doubt any of the features you see there are



            9  sandbars.



           10      Q.    Looking at the lower left-hand portion of the



           11  river there, what would you say that is, looking at



           12  this photograph?



           13      A.    Well, there appears to be a riffle in that



           14  area.



           15      Q.    Is this the natural and ordinary condition of



           16  that river?



           17      A.    Not exactly.  I mean there certainly have



           18  been human influences upstream from here that affect



           19  the flow rate, but it's probably not far from its



           20  ordinary and natural condition.



           21      Q.    Turning to Slide 6 of that same exhibit,



           22  X026, how wide is the channel depicted in this



           23  photograph?



           24      A.    It's probably on the order of 40 feet, 40 to



           25  50 feet, maybe.
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            1      Q.    And how deep would you say that is?



            2      A.    It's highly variable.



            3      Q.    From what to what?



            4      A.    The maximum depths in the pools in some of



            5  those bends is probably on the order of 5 feet at



            6  least, 4 to 5 feet, perhaps even deeper.



            7      Q.    How long is the -- this is the Mosquito River



            8  in Alaska, correct?



            9      A.    That's correct.



           10      Q.    And I believe you testified it's navigable?



           11      A.    I didn't say that.



           12      Q.    I understood you to say that this segment was



           13  navigable.  I misunderstood?



           14      A.    That determination has not been made.



           15      Q.    Fair enough.



           16            You said that this -- I believe you testified



           17  that this segment would be navigable by small boats?



           18      A.    Yes.



           19      Q.    Would that be the same sort of small boats



           20  you referenced as would be floatable on the Gila in the



           21  1800s?



           22      A.    There would be some overlap there, yes.



           23      Q.    And in this photograph there's some



           24  obstacles, correct, to navigation?



           25      A.    There is some large woody debris in the
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            1  channel that I can see.



            2      Q.    And what else?



            3      A.    That's the only definite thing I can see that



            4  would be an obstacle.



            5      Q.    Are there sandbars depicted in the photo?



            6      A.    Yes.



            7      Q.    Turning to the Slide No. 7 of that same



            8  exhibit, X026, I believe you stated that the model



            9  below is 1,200 cfs?



           10      A.    That's correct.



           11      Q.    Is that the median flow for that river?



           12      A.    It's close to the median flow.  I would have



           13  to check the numbers exactly, but it's not far off from



           14  that.



           15      Q.    Higher or lower?



           16      A.    I think it's probably on the high side.



           17      Q.    I'm not exactly sure, but did you testify



           18  what the flow rate was in that photo?



           19      A.    I don't believe I did.



           20      Q.    Do you have an estimate of what the flow rate



           21  is in that?



           22      A.    About 300 cfs.



           23                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Excuse me.  I don't



           24  have a copy of that in front of me, so what specific



           25  figure are you referring to?  You already mentioned it,
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            1  but -- okay, identify it.  This is the what?



            2                 MR. HYRCKO:  This is the photograph of



            3  the braided --



            4                 COMMISSIONER HORTON:  That's the Platte.



            5                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  This is the Platte,



            6  okay.



            7                 MR. HYRCKO:  -- Platte River in



            8  Nebraska.



            9                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay, good.  Thank



           10  you.



           11                 MR. HYRCKO:  I apologize for not having



           12  a PowerPoint for the Commissioners.



           13                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  That's fine.



           14  BY MR. HYRCKO:



           15      Q.    Turning to Slide No. 10, which is titled



           16  Channel Pattern IS Relevant to Navigability.  It's a



           17  photograph of the braided reach of the Gila River below



           18  Gillespie.  Is that what the Gila River looked like in



           19  its natural and ordinary condition?



           20      A.    I doubt it.



           21      Q.    This was taken from your overflight in the



           22  helicopter, correct?



           23      A.    Yes.



           24      Q.    How high up were you when you were flying



           25  down there?
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            1      A.    I'm not sure.  Probably two to 300 feet,



            2  maybe four to 500.  I don't know exactly.  Fairly



            3  low elevation.



            4      Q.    Is this an image of a compound channel?



            5      A.    You could describe this as a compound



            6  channel, sure.



            7      Q.    And just for clarification, what date was



            8  that photograph taken?



            9      A.    October 29th, 2013.



           10      Q.    I had down in November.  I'm glad we



           11  clarified that.



           12      A.    I wasn't sure.  I had forgotten that I had



           13  the note here.



           14      Q.    Thank you.



           15            Turning to Slide No. 13 of that Exhibit X026,



           16  it's titled Gila River at Kelvin Flows.  That has mean



           17  daily and annual peak data, and it looks like



           18  January '05 to January '09.  I assume that's 1905 to



           19  2009, correct?



           20      A.    That's correct.



           21      Q.    The blue lines on that image, the vertical



           22  blue lines show the max mean daily flow for the year,



           23  correct?



           24      A.    Yeah, the highest point on any of those



           25  lines.  That's actually a continuous line that shows
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            1  all of the flows, but the highest point would be the



            2  maximum mean daily flow, yes.



            3      Q.    Right, it's cumulative.  I mean for that day



            4  it starts at whatever it was, but this is the maximum



            5  mean daily flow for that year.  I'm sorry, that is --



            6  let me straighten that out.



            7            That's the max mean daily flow for that



            8  entire year?



            9      A.    Well, there can be multiple peaks in there.



           10  So if you were able to zoom in on the picture and see



           11  year by year by year, you could pick out the maximum



           12  flow, maximum mean daily flow from that.



           13      Q.    And the dots above those blue lines, those



           14  indicate the max flow peak flow for that year, correct?



           15      A.    That's correct.



           16      Q.    That first dot in the upper left-hand corner,



           17  I believe that's -- what year is that for?



           18      A.    1906.



           19      Q.    And is that an estimated figure?



           20      A.    I believe it is, yes.



           21      Q.    Is it correct that the USGS didn't have a



           22  gauge at Kelvin in 1906?



           23      A.    I don't believe it had been formally



           24  established yet.



           25      Q.    In fact, they didn't have it until 1916,
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            1  correct?



            2      A.    I don't think that's correct.



            3      Q.    When did they -- what is the first date of



            4  the USGS data that you have?



            5      A.    I believe it's 1912.  I would have to go back



            6  and look at the records.  You see it.  It's the



            7  beginning of the blue lines there.



            8      Q.    Yes, you're correct.  It actually was 1911.



            9      A.    1911, yeah.



           10      Q.    Sorry about that.



           11            Does this flow data that's depicted here from



           12  beginning in 1911 through 2009 represent the natural



           13  and ordinary flow of the Gila River at Kelvin?



           14      A.    There were diversions in place prior to the



           15  start of this record, so it is modified.



           16      Q.    Do you know when those diversions, the



           17  upstream diversions, began?



           18      A.    I think the earliest significant ones were



           19  perhaps in the 1870s, in terms of the European man's



           20  influence on the river.  There may have been other



           21  smaller ones.



           22      Q.    Upstream from this gauge, though?



           23      A.    I believe so.  I would have to check that for



           24  sure.  The late 1800s.



           25      Q.    Looking at Slide No. 14 of that same exhibit,
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            1  which is a figure with months October to September on



            2  the bottom, and mean daily discharge in cfs on the left



            3  side.  Do you know when the Coolidge Dam was in



            4  operation?



            5      A.    I believe it was closed in November 1928.



            6      Q.    Do you know when it was dedicated?



            7      A.    I don't know that for sure.



            8      Q.    So 1928 is the -- so looking at this data,



            9  you have blue lines and orangey lines.  The blue line



           10  is the before Coolidge Dam data set, correct?



           11      A.    That's correct.



           12      Q.    So we established that, or according to your



           13  testimony, that data set ended in 1928?



           14      A.    Yes.



           15      Q.    And it began in 1911?



           16      A.    Yes.



           17      Q.    So the math there is how many years?



           18      A.    I guess it would be 17, 18 years, inclusive.



           19  I'm not -- I would have to go back and see exactly



           20  which years.



           21      Q.    So about 18 years of data?



           22      A.    Roughly.



           23      Q.    And then comparing that with the orange line,



           24  that's everything since Coolidge Dam.  I'm sorry.



           25  Yeah, since Coolidge Dam went into effect?
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            1      A.    That's correct.



            2      Q.    Until when?



            3      A.    I believe I used through water year 2013.  So



            4  it would be September 30th of last year.



            5      Q.    And so we're looking at somewhere about



            6  84 years of data?



            7      A.    That sounds close.



            8      Q.    Do you know how many large flow events



            9  occurred in the before Coolidge Dam data set?



           10      A.    Well, we can see that in the previous figure



           11  that we were talking about.  There were a number.



           12      Q.    So according to your Slide 12, I counted six



           13  flows that exceeded your 10-year peak.  We looked at



           14  your Slide No. 12.  Would that be accurate?



           15            How about we flip to the Slide 13.  I'm



           16  sorry, I may have just misnumbered here.  Slide 13.



           17      A.    I see 6 flows that were significantly larger



           18  than the -- than what I depict here as the 10-year



           19  peak, yes.  There are a couple of others that are just



           20  slightly above the line as well.



           21      Q.    So maybe as many as 8?



           22      A.    Could be.



           23      Q.    Irrespective of the effect of Coolidge Dam,



           24  would you expect a graph depicting 18 data points



           25  versus one depicting 84 data points to be smoother or
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            1  more dynamic?



            2      A.    You would probably expect the longer record



            3  to be smoother.



            4      Q.    And this figure does show that Coolidge Dam



            5  had an effect on the flow regime, correct?



            6      A.    Yes, I think it does show that.



            7      Q.    Looking at the median line for the blue,



            8  that's the lower blue line?



            9      A.    That's correct.



           10      Q.    That, by my eye, appears to run between



           11  100 cfs and 1,000 cfs for most of the year, correct?



           12      A.    I think that's fair.



           13      Q.    So even though we're looking at



           14  post-diversion flow data, more than half the time, more



           15  than 50 percent of the time pre-Coolidge Dam the flows



           16  were between 100 and 1,000 cfs?



           17      A.    Yes.



           18      Q.    Turning to Slide No. 15, it's titled Annual



           19  Flood Peaks:  Snowmelt and Monsoon.  This uses the same



           20  USGS data set as the previous slides, correct?



           21      A.    That's correct.



           22      Q.    I believe you testified on direct that the



           23  peaks and valleys of flows downstream from the Salt



           24  River are similar, but different volumes, as what's



           25  depicted in this image; is that accurate?
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            1      A.    I think that the seasonal pattern, the



            2  natural seasonal pattern, is similar, yes.



            3      Q.    What data do you rely on when you reach that



            4  conclusion?



            5      A.    Just my understanding of the hydrologic



            6  characteristics of the rivers in this area.



            7      Q.    So you didn't study the -- or did you study



            8  the Salt River flow data to come up with that



            9  conclusion?



           10      A.    I have studied the Salt River flow data, yes.



           11      Q.    And in coming up with the conclusion that you



           12  testified to?



           13      A.    I don't recall ever plotting it in exactly



           14  this fashion.



           15      Q.    Did you study the Salt River data for this



           16  case?



           17      A.    Not explicitly, no.



           18      Q.    Looking at Slide No. 16 of your presentation,



           19  X026, which is titled Similar Variability in Annual



           20  Volume Pre- and Post-statehood, who is that -- this



           21  figure depicts -- I think we already covered this, but



           22  I just want to be clear.  This depicts the light blue



           23  lines are the Meko and Graybill data?



           24      A.    That's correct.



           25      Q.    I think on the chart it says Reconstructed
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            1  (Meko and Graybill, 1972).  Did you actually mean 1995?



            2  I couldn't find a '72 reference in your references.



            3      A.    That's very possible.  '72 does not sound



            4  right.  I think I may have confused that with the



            5  Burkham paper when I typed the caption on that.



            6            It should be 1995, yes.



            7      Q.    This, as I believe we discussed earlier, this



            8  data is comparing a model data with measured data?



            9      A.    That's correct.



           10      Q.    Isn't it true that when you mathematically



           11  relate the tree ring width to runoff volume using a



           12  regression, you get a damping effect on the runoff



           13  volume for each year?



           14      A.    I think that's probably true, yes.



           15      Q.    And that's, by damping effect, it's the --



           16  that eliminates some of the variance of the estimates,



           17  correct?



           18      A.    I think if we had real data for the period



           19  that's shown with Meko and Graybill, my educated guess,



           20  if you will, is, it would be much -- well, maybe I



           21  shouldn't say much.  It would be more variable than



           22  what you see in this plot.



           23      Q.    Why did you not depict the modeled data for



           24  the post-1900 on this figure?



           25      A.    Because I had measured data for that period.
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            1      Q.    So but you're comparing damped data with



            2  measured data that's not damped, correct?



            3      A.    Yes.  And my point is simply to show that



            4  there was significant -- according to their data, there



            5  was significant variability in the full records prior



            6  to the start of the systematic gauge record.  And as we



            7  just said, it's probably even more variable than what



            8  you see in this plot, but I have no way of quantifying



            9  that.



           10      Q.    But in a sense, you're comparing apples to



           11  oranges in this data, right?



           12      A.    No.  For the purpose I used the plot, I think



           13  it's a very valid comparison.



           14      Q.    Turning to your figure Slide 17 of



           15  Exhibit 26, Annual peak is correlated with annual



           16  volume, it's -- the axes are Runoff Volume in acre-feet



           17  and Annual Peak Discharge in cfs.



           18            What years does this data depict?



           19      A.    This is the period of record at the gauge.



           20  It's all the data points.  So it would be 19 -- let me



           21  just see.  Well, we would be starting in 1911, So 1911



           22  to 1993.



           23      Q.    Did you make this figure?



           24      A.    Yes.



           25      Q.    And this is the Kelvin data, correct?





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                        GILA RIVER      VOL. VIII      08/20/2014

                                                                      1842





            1      A.    I believe this is actually the Safford gauge,



            2  and I think you remind me that I may have misspoke in



            3  my testimony yesterday.  It is not the Kelvin gauge.



            4  It is the gauge at Safford.



            5      Q.    Thank you.



            6            Does this data depict the runoff volume for a



            7  calendar year or for a water year?



            8      A.    Water year.



            9      Q.    For the Commission, what's the difference



           10  between a calendar year and a water year?



           11      A.    Yeah, the calendar years go from January



           12  through December.  The water years start on the 1st of



           13  October and go through the following September.



           14      Q.    Looking at your Slide No. 18, it's titled



           15  Flood-induced Changes in Channel Width, of



           16  Exhibit X026.  The 1869 map at the top of that, the



           17  plat map, shows level river bottom and a thin Gila



           18  River, while the 1928 map shows a wide Gila River and



           19  no level river bottom; is that correct?



           20      A.    I don't see a level river bottom label in the



           21  1928 figure, and it does show a wider flood channel.



           22      Q.    Looking at the Slide No. 20, it's a similar



           23  image.  It says Flood-induced Changes in Channel Width?



           24      A.    Yes.



           25      Q.    The bottom image there from 1915, that's





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                        GILA RIVER      VOL. VIII      08/20/2014

                                                                      1843





            1  dated after that all-time record flood in 1906,



            2  correct?



            3      A.    Yes.



            4      Q.    So it's depicting the aftereffects of that



            5  record flood?



            6      A.    I would assume in part, yes.



            7      Q.    Turning to Slide No. 26, Summary of Opinions,



            8  which portions of the Gila had a single-thread channel



            9  that would float boats?



           10      A.    I don't think we know that definitively.  We



           11  simply know from the anecdotal evidence that there were



           12  portions of the river that had that characteristic.



           13      Q.    So your opinion that it would happen is based



           14  on anecdotal records?



           15      A.    Yes.



           16      Q.    But you didn't do your own study?



           17      A.    No.



           18      Q.    Are any of the floods that occurred from 1895



           19  to 1916 the ordinary condition of the Gila, meaning



           20  more often than not?



           21      A.    Could you rephrase the question, please?



           22      Q.    Are any of the -- you have a second opinion:



           23  From 1895 to 1916 you state large floods scoured



           24  vegetation, et cetera.



           25            Are any of the floods that occurred in that
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            1  period the ordinary condition of the Gila River?



            2      A.    Well, as we've discussed before, this



            3  specific period during when the flood is happening most



            4  likely falls outside the definition of ordinary.



            5      Q.    On Slide 27, the next slide, titled Summary



            6  of Opinions, you state that prior to mid 1800s large



            7  floods routinely occurred in the ordinary and natural



            8  condition of the river, correct?



            9      A.    Yes.



           10      Q.    How often would a large flood have to be to



           11  be routine and ordinary?



           12      A.    I don't know that I can put a specific period



           13  on that.  If it happens every 10 years, a 10-year



           14  flood, perhaps, or greater.



           15      Q.    What evidence do you have that the large



           16  floods were routine and ordinary?



           17      A.    Well, from the figures that we looked at



           18  before, which would be the figures on Slide 16 and 17.



           19  We see significant variability in the annual runoff,



           20  and as we discussed, it's probably even more variable



           21  than what is depicted in that figure.  And the slide on



           22  Slide 17 shows that there's strong correlation between



           23  the peak flows, in other words the flood regime, and



           24  the annual runoff.  So the combination of those two



           25  says to me that we certainly had periodic floods during
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            1  that time.



            2            In addition to that, there's good evidence



            3  that there hasn't been a systematic shift in the



            4  climate during that period of time, going back, you



            5  know, several centuries.  And there undoubtedly are



            6  changes in the watershed, but not of sufficient amount



            7  to completely change the flood regime.



            8            And so my overall conclusion is that the



            9  flood regime was probably very similar under ordinary



           10  and natural conditions to what it is now.



           11      Q.    You have no other evidence besides that Meko



           12  and Graybill data, the predevelopment annual flows,



           13  correct?



           14      A.    That's the only quantification that I have.



           15      Q.    How many cfs does it take to make something



           16  into a large flood, in your mind?



           17      A.    I don't have a number in my mind.



           18      Q.    Do you have an estimate?



           19      A.    Well, according to Slide 13, the one in



           20  ten-year peak under the current regime is roughly



           21  20, 22,000 cubic feet per second.  So I think something



           22  in the range of 20 to 30,000.  From a geomorphic



           23  perspective, it would have to be a flow that's big



           24  enough to completely fill the channel or go out of bank



           25  and have enough energy to cause changes in the channel.
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            1      Q.    I would like to show you a document that you



            2  cite as a reference that you relied on by



            3  Dr. Huckleberry, "Contrasting channel response to



            4  floods on the middle Gila River."



            5            Is that a document that you relied on in



            6  your -- reaching your declaration, in working, making



            7  your declaration?



            8                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. McGinnis, do you



            9  have something?



           10                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Do you have copies for



           11  the rest of us?  Is it an exhibit, or are you just



           12  going to show it to him?  Did you print it out for



           13  everybody?



           14                 MR. HYRCKO:  I did not, but it's cited



           15  by --



           16                 MR. SLADE:  What's the date of the



           17  paper?



           18                 MR. HYRCKO:  1994, "Contrasting channel



           19  response to floods on the middle Gila River," by Gary



           20  Huckleberry, in Geology, Volume 22, Pages 1083 to 1086.



           21                 THE WITNESS:  I did cite this, yes.



           22                 MR. MCGINNIS:  It's not been submitted



           23  as an exhibit and it's not before the Commission.  If



           24  you want to ask about it, I guess that's okay.  But



           25  it's not in the record.
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            1                 MR. HELM:  We'll put it in the record



            2  this afternoon.  How's that, Mark?



            3                 MR. HYRCKO:  Dr. Mussetter relied on



            4  that.



            5                 MR. SPARKS:  I actually noticed that



            6  he's supplying us with one now.



            7                 MR. HELM:  He can get one now.



            8                 MR. SPARKS:  Yeah, there you go.



            9                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, Mr. McGinnis,



           10  would you clarify what you wanted to know, have done or



           11  explain?



           12                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Well, if he's asking him



           13  about a document that none of the rest of us have



           14  scene.  Maybe Dr. Mussetter has seen this.  We saw this



           15  yesterday.  At least the State was nice enough to mail



           16  it to me the day they used it.  We haven't even seen



           17  this document.  There's no way for me to effectively



           18  redirect him or even understand what the testimony is,



           19  because I didn't hear about the document until today,



           20  and he didn't even bring a copy.



           21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Now, Mr. Hyrcko or



           22  Mr. Helm, would you respond?



           23                 MR. HYRCKO:  Yes.  The document was



           24  relied upon by Dr. Mussetter in reaching his opinion.



           25  He certainly is familiar with this document.  He said
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            1  as much moments ago.



            2                 I am just going to ask him to read a



            3  section from that document, and if Mr. McGinnis would



            4  like, I'll supply him with a photocopy of this after



            5  the fact, or he can look at this copy and redirect



            6  Dr. Mussetter to his heart's content.  But I think it's



            7  a fair question to ask him about references that he



            8  cites in his declaration.



            9                 MR. MCGINNIS:  And I don't have any



           10  problem with him asking about it.  I just think the



           11  rest of us are entitled to see a copy, if it's not



           12  already been admitted as an exhibit, while he's asking.



           13                 MS. HERNBRODE:  What was the date,



           14  again, I'm sorry?



           15                 MR. HYRCKO:  December of 1994.



           16                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Jeff, how much more



           17  time do you have in examination?



           18                 MR. HYRCKO:  This is -- maybe one or two



           19  questions.



           20                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Will it be



           21  possible for you to obtain copies for distribution



           22  during the lunch period?



           23                 MR. HYRCKO:  I imagine.  I don't know



           24  where I would make copies here locally, but I imagine I



           25  can find something and bring enough copies for
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            1  Mr. McGinnis and any other attorneys that would like to



            2  have a copy.



            3                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Just to try to speed



            4  things along, to the extent that the copy that



            5  Dr. Mussetter has is going to be available over the



            6  lunchtime, I can look at it and he can look at it, and



            7  maybe that solves the problem.



            8                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Are there any other



            9  attorneys who share Mr. McGinnis's concern regarding



           10  this particular document?



           11                 MR. SPARKS:  We do.



           12                 MR. MCGINNIS:  I'll share it with



           13  Mr. Sparks.



           14                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I believe at least two



           15  other hands have gone up.



           16                 MR. HOOD:  I would like a copy, but I



           17  don't want to hold things up.



           18                 MS. MONTGOMERY:  Yeah, I would say that



           19  as well.



           20                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Mr. Chairman, we will



           21  assist Maricopa County in this matter and bring copies



           22  back after lunch.



           23                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.  Will that



           24  be satisfactory to the other counsel?



           25                 MR. MCGINNIS:  It will for me.
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            1                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.



            2                 Please do not forget the Expendables



            3  Three and their trusty Sancho Panza.



            4                 COMMISSIONER HORTON:  What a very



            5  literate man, Don Quixote.



            6                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I'm sorry we



            7  interrupted you in that way, but please continue.



            8                 MR. HYRCKO:  Thank you.



            9  BY MR. HYRCKO:



           10      Q.    Dr. Mussetter, could you please read the



           11  section that's highlighted there, Historical Channel



           12  Changes?



           13      A.    Sure.



           14            Historical records of floods and channel



           15  changes on the middle Gila River indicate that the



           16  river has not responded similarly to all large floods.



           17  Between 1696 and 1891, both anecdotal evidence and



           18  survey plats indicate that the study reach was



           19  characterized by a single, narrow channel lined by tall



           20  trees, citing (Rea, 1983).  This form was maintained



           21  despite catastrophic floods in 1833 and 1868.  That



           22  cites (Dobyns, 1981).  The first obvious bank erosion



           23  and channel widening occurred in 1891 (Huckleberry,



           24  93b), but it was not until the floods of 1905 that the



           25  middle Gila River changed from a single, slightly
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            1  sinuous, narrow --



            2            Sorry.  Pardon me.  I'll slow down.  Let me



            3  start.



            4            But it was not until the floods of 1905 that



            5  the middle Gila River changed from a single, slightly



            6  sinuous, narrow channel to a wide, straight, braided



            7  channel.  A single metamorphosis occurred in the upper



            8  reach of the Gila River in the Safford Valley, Arizona,



            9  citing (Burkham, 1972).  Tree-ring evidence indicates



           10  that the decade of 1905 to 1915 was probably the



           11  wettest in 500 years in central Arizona, and that



           12  refers to the Meko and Graybill document that I used in



           13  my report.



           14            Large floods in 1905, 1914 and 1916 resulted



           15  in repeated bank cutting and maintenance of wide,



           16  braided channel plan forms.  In 1928 the channel was



           17  still wide (GLO survey notes; Table 1), but thereafter



           18  drier conditions and the Coolidge Dam effectively



           19  decreased the frequency of large floods passing through



           20  the study reach.  The normally dry channel was subject



           21  to episodic, relatively small stream-flow events that



           22  helped to create and maintain a small, relatively



           23  narrow and sinuous, low-flow channel within a wider



           24  flood channel; i.e., a compound plan form (Graf, 1988).



           25  It was not until 1983 that the middle Gila River
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            1  underwent another large flood.



            2      Q.    Thank you, Dr. Mussetter.  And this was a



            3  document that you relied on and reviewed in reaching



            4  your opinion?



            5      A.    It is.



            6      Q.    Dr. Mussetter, every channel change that you



            7  discuss in your report that resulted in the channel



            8  becoming braided was caused by a flood, true?



            9      A.    Would you say that again, please?



           10      Q.    Every channel change that you discuss in your



           11  report that resulted in the channel becoming braided



           12  was caused by a flood, true?



           13      A.    The general thesis of the discussion in my



           14  report is that the floods are the primary driver of the



           15  braiding, yes.



           16                 MR. HYRCKO:  Nothing else.  Thank you.



           17                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  That's all?



           18                 Is there anyone else who wishes to ask



           19  some questions of Dr. Mussetter?



           20                 And, Mr. McGinnis, do you wish to do



           21  this before lunch or after lunch?



           22                 MR. MCGINNIS:  I think given the fact



           23  that we saw a document that we haven't seen before, I



           24  would like to have a chance to look at it and finish up



           25  after lunch, if that's okay with you.
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            1                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Is there anyone



            2  else that would like to ask some questions of



            3  Dr. Mussetter that we can finish in five minutes?



            4                 I'm not trusting lawyers at their word.



            5  Then we will adjourn for lunch and we'll come back here



            6  at about, oh, quarter after 1:00.



            7                 (A lunch recess was taken from



            8  11:51 a.m. to 1:15 p.m.)



            9                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. McGinnis, please



           10  begin.



           11                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.



           12



           13                   REDIRECT EXAMINATION



           14  BY MR. MCGINNIS:



           15      Q.    Dr. Mussetter, I have some questions to



           16  follow up on some of the cross-examination that was



           17  done with you the last day or so, okay?



           18      A.    Okay.



           19      Q.    Mr. Slade asked you some questions about your



           20  boating experience, and he specifically asked you



           21  whether you had ever come across a beaver dam.  Do you



           22  recall that?



           23      A.    I do.



           24      Q.    Can you tell us where that was?



           25      A.    It was on the upper Pennsylvania in Michigan.
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            1  It was a small stream.



            2      Q.    Do you remember the name of the stream?



            3      A.    I actually don't remember.



            4      Q.    And I think you said to him you came upon the



            5  beaver dam and you actually had to get out of the boat



            6  and carry the boat around the dam; is that right?



            7      A.    That's correct.



            8      Q.    Were you on a one-day trip or a several-day



            9  expedition at that point?



           10      A.    I was just on a one-day trip.



           11      Q.    How much gear did you have with you?



           12      A.    Minimal.



           13      Q.    If you had had five days worth of camping



           14  gear with you, would you have had to unload the canoe



           15  before you carried it?



           16      A.    In this case I would have, yes.



           17      Q.    If you had 500 pounds worth of beavers pelts,



           18  would you have had to unload the canoe and go around



           19  it?



           20      A.    Yes.



           21      Q.    Mr. Slade, I think it was Mr. Slade, asked



           22  you some questions about --



           23                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Excuse me.  Would the



           24  record reflect that Mr. Hood has entered the room.



           25                 MR. HOOD:  I saw everybody else walking
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            1  in at the same time, Mr. Chairman.



            2                 Pardon the interruption.



            3                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I'm sorry.  I'm sorry I



            4  interrupted you, Mr. McGinnis.



            5  BY MR. MCGINNIS:



            6      Q.    He also asked you some questions about your



            7  PowerPoint presentation, I believe, which was



            8  Exhibit X026.  And you don't need to go to it, because



            9  I think you'll probably remember it enough for this



           10  question.  He asked you about Slide 8, which was a



           11  picture of the Copper River in Alaska.



           12      A.    Yes.



           13      Q.    Do you recall that?



           14      A.    Yes.



           15      Q.    And you, I think, said that was a braided



           16  river that could be navigable; is that right?



           17      A.    Yes.



           18      Q.    Do you have any idea what the magnitude of



           19  flows is in the Copper River as compared to the Gila



           20  River?



           21      A.    Well, I actually tried to look that up.



           22  There aren't any gauges in that vicinity, but it's a



           23  very large river, so they're many times greater than



           24  the flows in the Gila River.  Probably the flow in that



           25  picture is as big as any of the recorded floods.
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            1      Q.    And I think maybe you testified on direct



            2  even, that a braided river could be navigable if there



            3  was a lot of water there?



            4      A.    Sure.



            5      Q.    Toward the end of your cross-examination with



            6  Mr. Hyrcko, he showed you a document from Huckleberry



            7  that's now been marked as Exhibit X034 "Contrasting



            8  channel response to floods on the middle Gila River,



            9  Arizona."  Do you recall seeing that?



           10      A.    Yes.



           11      Q.    And that was one of the documents that you



           12  had cited in your report; is that right?



           13      A.    That's correct.



           14      Q.    Do you have a copy of that with you?



           15      A.    Yes, I do.



           16      Q.    Okay.  I want to ask you some questions just



           17  about the first introduction part of it.



           18            The first sentence after the introduction



           19  says, Channel morphology in plan-view form in arid and



           20  semi-arid stream systems is largely dependent on the



           21  frequency and magnitude of large floods, with some



           22  citations there.



           23            Do you agree with that?



           24      A.    Yes, I do.



           25      Q.    Is that consistent with the opinion that
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            1  you've given the Commission in this case?



            2      A.    It is.



            3      Q.    The next sentence says, Consequently, such



            4  systems --



            5                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Mr. McGinnis, I'm



            6  sorry, point out where in the document you're talking



            7  about.



            8                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Reading right after the



            9  introduction, right in the introduction.  Do you see



           10  that on the left-hand side of the first page --



           11                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Yeah, I see that.



           12                 MR. MCGINNIS:  -- it says Introduction?



           13                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Yeah.



           14                 MR. MCGINNIS:  I'm on the second



           15  sentence now.



           16                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Consequently?



           17                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Yes, sir.



           18  BY MR. MCGINNIS:



           19      Q.    Consequently, such systems seldom maintain a



           20  stable form at decadal to century time scale.



           21            Did I read that right?



           22      A.    You did.



           23      Q.    What does it mean to seldom maintain a stable



           24  form at decadal to century time scales?



           25      A.    Means that over periods of tens of years, up
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            1  to a century, they showed dynamic behavior; they shift



            2  around, they change.



            3      Q.    Okay.  And the next sentence says, The Gila



            4  River in Arizona is an arid-region stream in which



            5  complex relation between floods and channel changes



            6  occurs.



            7            Did I read that right?



            8      A.    You did.



            9      Q.    Do you generally agree with that principle?



           10      A.    Yes.



           11      Q.    And then the next sentence says, Specific



           12  hydroclimatic conditions favor the production of



           13  catastrophic floods in the Gila River watershed.



           14            Did I read that correctly?



           15      A.    You did, and I agree with that.



           16      Q.    And the last clause of that same sentence



           17  says, but not all large floods result in the same



           18  channel response.



           19      A.    Yes.



           20      Q.    Is that correct?



           21      A.    That is correct.



           22      Q.    Is that consistent with the opinion you've



           23  given this Commission?



           24      A.    It is.



           25      Q.    You were asked some questions by both the
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            1  lawyers about the Winkleman case.  Do you recall that?



            2      A.    I do.



            3      Q.    And Winkleman is State of Arizona ex rel.



            4  Winkleman versus ANSAC.  Do you understand that to be



            5  that case?



            6      A.    Yes.



            7      Q.    Was that case decided in 2010?



            8      A.    I believe so.



            9      Q.    Is it your understanding that the Winkleman



           10  case dealt with this Commission's findings on the upper



           11  Salt River?



           12      A.    Yes.



           13      Q.    Do you know if the Winkleman case involved



           14  any review of the Commission's findings on the Gila



           15  River?



           16      A.    I don't believe it did.



           17      Q.    And is it your understanding that the report



           18  on the lower Salt River that was at issue in Winkleman



           19  was done in September of 2005; does that sound about



           20  right?



           21      A.    That does sound right.



           22      Q.    And the report, the Commission's latest



           23  report on the Gila River wasn't done until January



           24  2009.



           25      A.    That's correct.
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            1      Q.    And, in fact, the trial court decision in the



            2  lower Salt River case was about 2007; is that right?



            3      A.    That sounds right.



            4                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Okay, you guys, I'm



            5  trying to listen.



            6  BY MR. MCGINNIS:



            7      Q.    Okay, thank you.



            8            So do you know of any court decision that has



            9  considered or found invalid this Commission's January



           10  2009 decision on the Gila River?



           11      A.    I do not.



           12      Q.    Yesterday afternoon Mr. Slade had pointed you



           13  to a particular exhibit, and I didn't have it in front



           14  of me and I'm not sure I'm going to get right which one



           15  it was, but maybe you can understand from my



           16  description.  And that was an exhibit where it was



           17  talking about mapping methods on the GLO plats.  Do you



           18  recall that?



           19      A.    I do recall that.



           20      Q.    Do you recall which exhibit that was, which



           21  author it was?



           22      A.    It was from Huckleberry 1996, I believe.



           23      Q.    And he gave you a notebook with some tabs in



           24  it --



           25      A.    Yes.
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            1      Q.    -- that you were looking at, right?



            2      A.    Yes.



            3      Q.    And was that Huckleberry article one that you



            4  had cited in your report?



            5      A.    It is.



            6      Q.    Until yesterday, when was the last time you



            7  had read that Huckleberry article, if you can recall?



            8      A.    Nine months, six to nine months ago.



            9      Q.    And I never got a chance to see the notebook



           10  that he handed you with the tabs in it, but on the tab



           11  that he handed you, did that have the whole article, or



           12  did it just have one page?



           13      A.    I think it was just one or it might have



           14  overlapped into two pages.  It was just a few pages,



           15  though.



           16      Q.    So that tab didn't have the whole article to



           17  put the sentence he was reading to you in context,



           18  right?



           19      A.    It did not.



           20      Q.    Have you had a chance since yesterday to look



           21  back at that article and read the whole thing?



           22      A.    I did go back and reread it.



           23      Q.    And my impression of what the one sentence he



           24  was having you read was along the lines of the mapping



           25  methods that the GLO used had changed at some point.
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            1  Is that generally correct?



            2      A.    Well, sort of.  I think the two maps were



            3  made by different entities, but that the -- the



            4  procedure that -- the features that they were mapping



            5  might have changed somewhat.



            6      Q.    Okay.  And based upon your review of the



            7  entire article last night, is that your understanding?



            8      A.    I'm not really sure that that's what it says.



            9  I can see how it could be interpreted to mean what he



           10  was implying by his questions, but I can also interpret



           11  it other ways, so I'm not really sure that it -- all of



           12  the differences you see in those maps are just strictly



           13  because they map using different procedures.



           14      Q.    And that interpretation is based upon a



           15  review of the entire document, not just --



           16      A.    That's correct.



           17      Q.    -- one or two sentences he picked out for



           18  you?



           19      A.    That's correct.



           20      Q.    Do you have a copy of your PowerPoint handy



           21  that we can pull up electronically?



           22      A.    I do.



           23      Q.    Is it warming up, is that what we're waiting



           24  for?



           25      A.    Yeah, it's coming.
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            1      Q.    Okay.  This is the PowerPoint that you



            2  presented, Exhibit X026; is that right?



            3      A.    Yes.



            4      Q.    And we talked about it at some length



            5  yesterday.



            6      A.    Yes.



            7      Q.    And we have it up on the screen.



            8            Can you flip over to or slide down to



            9  Slide 22?



           10            And Mr. Slade referred you to two or three



           11  different of these sets of diagrams, and I think this



           12  was one of them.  And it was my impression, from what



           13  his questions were, was he was trying to lead to the



           14  conclusion that the difference between the two maps --



           15  I guess there's three -- two maps on this slide was



           16  maybe just based on the different mapping methods that



           17  changed between 1883 and 1907.  Do you recall that



           18  testimony?



           19      A.    I do.



           20      Q.    Was that your understanding of what he was



           21  trying to show as well?



           22      A.    That was also my impression.



           23      Q.    And based upon your review of the document



           24  you looked at last night, at this point you're not even



           25  sure that there was a change in mapping methods; is
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            1  that right?



            2      A.    I'm not sure of that, yes.



            3      Q.    And let's assume for a minute, though, that



            4  his premise, if that's his premise and that that



            5  premise is correct, if there was a -- if the difference



            6  between these two photos in 1883 and 1907 was just



            7  based on mapping methods, wouldn't that mean that the



            8  river was essentially the same in both time periods?



            9      A.    Yes.  If his proposition was correct, then



           10  using these mapping methods, you would see a wide,



           11  braided channel as well, flood channel in the top



           12  photo.



           13      Q.    In other words, if you used the mapping



           14  methods that were used for the 1907 map in 1883, you



           15  would have had a broad channel as well?



           16      A.    Yes.



           17      Q.    Now, as between 1883 and 1907, which of those



           18  two time frames do we know more precisely what the



           19  river actually looked like?



           20      A.    I would think the more current time frame,



           21  1907.



           22      Q.    And why is that?



           23      A.    Well, because they were mapping in more



           24  detail at that time.  It's closer to the present time.



           25  We have more information about the river at that time,
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            1  more people were around.



            2      Q.    And we actually have seen in this case, in



            3  this week actually, photographs from 1907, roughly --



            4      A.    Yes.



            5      Q.    -- right?



            6            Dr. Littlefield had photographs of the river



            7  in 1905.  Do you recall those?



            8      A.    I do.



            9      Q.    He had photographs of the river in 1910, I



           10  believe.  Do you recall those?



           11      A.    I do.



           12      Q.    Do you know of any photographs of the Gila



           13  River in 1883 or earlier?



           14      A.    I'm not aware of any.



           15      Q.    So if the river was the same, if you're



           16  assuming that Mr. Slade's premise is correct and the



           17  difference in these two maps is just based on mapping



           18  methods, and if the river was the same, and we know the



           19  1907 was the most likely to be correct, wouldn't that



           20  also mean that the river was broad and wide in 1883,



           21  and it's just drawn differently because of the



           22  different mapping methods?



           23      A.    That could very well be the case.



           24      Q.    And all the testimony that you've heard so



           25  far in this case doesn't support that, does it?
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            1      A.    That's right.



            2      Q.    And as a matter of fact, the State itself has



            3  put on evidence to show that in the mid 1800s, up to



            4  the floods in the late 1800s, they've been trying to



            5  show that it was a single meandering channel lined with



            6  cottonwoods?



            7      A.    Yes.



            8      Q.    And that's kind of what this picture actually



            9  looks like in 1883, right?



           10      A.    It's a single-thread channel for sure.



           11      Q.    So if his premise was correct, then it is



           12  contrary to all the evidence his own witness has put



           13  on?



           14      A.    Yes.



           15      Q.    Well, let's sort of step back from fantasy



           16  land then and ask you another question, and that is, is



           17  his premise correct?  Is there any real dispute that



           18  the Gila River widened between the late 1880s and



           19  statehood?



           20      A.    I don't think there's any disputes about



           21  that.



           22      Q.    And what's your basis for that thought?



           23      A.    Well, there's several documents that I've



           24  talked about in my testimony, the Burkham study, the



           25  Huckleberry studies, other descriptions of how the
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            1  river responded to the flooding around the turn of the



            2  century.



            3      Q.    And as a matter of fact, this particular



            4  Commission has written a report that talks about how



            5  the river broadened -- widened and braided in the late



            6  1800s and early 1900s; is that right?



            7      A.    That's correct.



            8      Q.    Do you have a copy there on your computer of



            9  the January 27th, 2009 report from this Commission?



           10      A.    I do.



           11      Q.    Can you pull that up for us?



           12            Okay, and this says, In the Matter of the



           13  Navigability of the Gila River from the New Mexico



           14  Border to the Confluence with the Colorado River,



           15  Greenlee, Graham, Gila, Pinal, Maricopa and Yuma



           16  Counties, Arizona.



           17            Do you see that?



           18      A.    Yes.



           19                 MR. MCGINNIS:  And I've got -- if you



           20  don't have it, I've got some extra hard copies, if



           21  anybody wants one.  Judge, would the Commission like a



           22  hard copy?



           23                 This is without the attachments.



           24                 Who else?



           25                 And I've given the Commission hard
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            1  copies.  One left.



            2                 The 2009 report is a couple hundred



            3  pages long or longer.  The copies I've handed to the



            4  Commission, just for the record, does not include the



            5  voluminous attachments.  It's just the hard -- the



            6  actual body of the report, which I think goes up to



            7  Page 89, with the signatures of who the then



            8  Commissioners were.



            9  BY MR. MCGINNIS:



           10      Q.    And I want to talk some with you about what



           11  this Commission found and what evidence was before it



           12  back in 2009 based upon the 2005 hearing.



           13      A.    Okay.



           14      Q.    Okay?  And you weren't at that hearing; is



           15  that right?



           16      A.    I was not.



           17      Q.    Have you reviewed the transcript of that



           18  hearing?



           19      A.    I have reviewed portions of the transcript,



           20  yes.



           21      Q.    Let's turn to the next page, which is the



           22  Table of Contents.  And you see down under Roman



           23  numeral VII.G there's a section that's called Geology,



           24  Geomorphology and Hydrology of the Gila River.  Do you



           25  see that?
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            1      A.    I do see that.



            2      Q.    And that starts on Page 62?



            3      A.    Yes.



            4      Q.    Is it your understanding that that section



            5  summarizes the Commission's findings with respect to



            6  those scientific issues based on the evidence that was



            7  presented to it in 2005?



            8      A.    Yes, it is.



            9      Q.    Okay, let's go down to Page 62.  Okay,



           10  Section 2, that's where subsection -- excuse me.



           11  Page 62, that's where Subsection G starts, correct?



           12      A.    Yes.



           13      Q.    Okay, and I'm going to save you the burden of



           14  reading, because we've got some reading to do, and I'm



           15  going to try and start out by reading it to you and



           16  have you agree with me whether I read it right or not.



           17  Is that okay?



           18      A.    Okay.



           19      Q.    The last sentence of the first paragraph



           20  there under G says, summarizing that paragraph, says,



           21  Thus, the river has been described as extremely



           22  erratic, unstable and unpredictable in its disposition.



           23            Do you see that?



           24      A.    I do see that.



           25      Q.    Did I read that correctly?
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            1      A.    I believe so.



            2      Q.    So based upon the evidence before it at the



            3  2005 hearing, this Commission found in 2009 that the



            4  river was described as extremely erratic, unstable and



            5  unpredictable in its disposition?



            6      A.    Yes.



            7      Q.    Based upon the evidence that you reviewed



            8  from that prior hearing and the testimony and evidence



            9  you've seen in this hearing, would you agree with that



           10  statement?



           11      A.    I think that's a reasonable description.



           12      Q.    Okay, let's go down to Page 64.  The first



           13  sentence in the second full paragraph there says, The



           14  flow of the river is difficult to characterize, partly



           15  because there were few records kept until the 1880s to



           16  1900.



           17            Do you see that?



           18      A.    I do.



           19      Q.    Did I read that correctly?



           20      A.    Yes.



           21      Q.    Based upon your review of the evidence from



           22  the 2005 hearing and the additional evidence and



           23  testimony that you've seen in the last eight days of



           24  this hearing, would you agree with that statement?



           25      A.    Yes.  They are sparse to nonexistent prior to
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            1  that time frame.



            2      Q.    Let's go on down to Page 67 of the 2009



            3  Commission report, and beginning at the bottom of



            4  Page 67, there is a rather long paragraph that



            5  describes the Commission's understanding of the



            6  testimony and evidence presented by the Land Department



            7  in the 2005 hearing, specifically in the report that



            8  was updated in 2009 by Mr. Fuller.



            9            Is that your understanding of that paragraph?



           10      A.    Yes.



           11      Q.    So the bottom, that last paragraph there



           12  says, The navigability study prepared by the Arizona



           13  State Land Department and updated through June of 2003



           14  by J.E. Fuller contains a detailed chapter on



           15  historical geomorphology of the Gila River with



           16  numerous quotes from Dr. Gary Huckleberry of the



           17  Arizona Geological Survey.



           18            Did I read that correctly?



           19      A.    Yes.



           20      Q.    And that's the same Mr. Fuller -- is it your



           21  understanding that's the same Mr. Fuller who's



           22  testified this week --



           23      A.    Yes.



           24      Q.    Last time.



           25      A.    Last session, yes.
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            1      Q.    Mr. Huckleberry, are you familiar with him?



            2      A.    I'm familiar with his writings.



            3      Q.    And he wrote the document that we just looked



            4  at a few minutes ago, right?



            5      A.    He did.



            6      Q.    Is it your understanding that Mr. Huckleberry



            7  testified on behalf of the State Land Department in the



            8  2005 hearings that resulted in this 2009 decision?



            9      A.    Yes.



           10      Q.    The next sentence says -- and this is the



           11  Commission, again -- says, In the pioneer period, there



           12  was, during a good deal of the time, a single channel



           13  stream with moderate flow in the upper Gila Valley.



           14            Did I read that correctly?



           15      A.    Yes.



           16      Q.    Is that your understanding of the facts?



           17      A.    The anecdotal evidence seems to indicate



           18  that.



           19      Q.    And is that consistent with the opinion



           20  you've given to the Commission in this hearing?



           21      A.    It is.



           22      Q.    The next sentence says, The large floods of



           23  the 1890s and early 20th century changed the river



           24  significantly, such that afterwards it showed a wide



           25  sandy flood plain with several branching channels.
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            1            Did I read that correctly?



            2      A.    Yes.



            3      Q.    Is that consistent with the testimony you



            4  have given yesterday and today?



            5      A.    Yes.



            6      Q.    Do you think there's any dispute about



            7  whether the floods of the 1890s and early 20th century



            8  made the Gila River generally into a wide sandy



            9  floodplain with several braiding channels?



           10      A.    I don't believe there is.



           11      Q.    The next sentence says, The consecutive



           12  floods would maintain the wide, braided conditions on



           13  the alluvial reaches of the river.



           14            Did I read that correctly?



           15      A.    Yes.



           16      Q.    Do you have any disagreement with that?



           17      A.    No.



           18      Q.    The next sentence says, The gauges and other



           19  flow data show a relatively low, although consistent,



           20  flow of this portion of the river.



           21            Did I read that correctly?



           22      A.    Yes.



           23      Q.    Do you have any disagreement with that?



           24      A.    No.



           25      Q.    I'm going to skip down some because I don't
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            1  want to read every sentence in the whole 100-and-some



            2  pages.



            3            About halfway down the page there's a



            4  statement that says, Likewise, in this area -- and here



            5  they're talking about the area around Florence.  Yeah,



            6  the area around Florence in that sentence; middle Gila,



            7  I believe.



            8            Likewise, in this area, the floods of the



            9  1890s and early 1900s caused a great deal of channel



           10  and bank cutting and transformed the Gila River into a



           11  wide, braided channel with very little depth when it



           12  did flow.



           13            Did I read that correctly?



           14      A.    Yes.



           15      Q.    Is it your understanding that's a correct



           16  statement?



           17      A.    Yes.



           18      Q.    Is that consistent with the testimony you've



           19  given to the Commission the last two days?



           20      A.    It is.



           21      Q.    If you go down to the bottom of Page 68, the



           22  Commission says, In summary, this report states; and



           23  it's my understanding, and you can correct me if you



           24  think I'm wrong --



           25      A.    Wait.  Oh, I see it.
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            1      Q.    The very bottom of the page.



            2      A.    I see it.



            3      Q.    My understanding, they're talking about the



            4  report prepared for the State Land Department, updated



            5  by Mr. Fuller himself.  Is that your understanding?



            6      A.    Yes.



            7      Q.    If you flip over to the top of Page 69, this



            8  is the Commission from 2009 quoting a report prepared,



            9  at least in part, by Mr. Fuller in 2003; is that



           10  correct?



           11      A.    Yes.



           12      Q.    Okay.  And that report was participated in by



           13  Dr. Huckleberry, also, correct?



           14      A.    That's my understanding.



           15      Q.    The quote at the top of Page 69 says, The



           16  Gila River is a classic example of a dryland river that



           17  seldom seeks an equilibrium form.



           18            Did I read that correctly?



           19      A.    Yes.



           20      Q.    Do you agree with that statement --



           21      A.    Yes.



           22      Q.    -- by Mr. Fuller?



           23      A.    Yes.



           24      Q.    Is that consistent with the testimony you've



           25  given over the last two days?
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            1      A.    It is.



            2      Q.    There's some citations there, and then it



            3  says, Unlike rivers in humid regions that have more



            4  stable channels adjusted for more continuous stream



            5  flow with less variance in discharge, the dryland



            6  rivers are inherently more unstable and more prone to



            7  changes in channel configuration.



            8            Did I read that correctly?



            9      A.    You did.



           10      Q.    Do you agree with that statement --



           11      A.    Yes.



           12      Q.    -- by Mr. Fuller?



           13      A.    Yes.



           14      Q.    Is that consistent with the testimony you've



           15  given over the last two days?



           16      A.    It is.



           17      Q.    The next sentence says, In such unstable



           18  fluvial systems, channel configuration depends much



           19  upon the history of previous flood events.



           20            Did I read that correctly?



           21      A.    Yes.



           22      Q.    Do you agree with that statement by



           23  Mr. Fuller, quoted by this Commission in 2009?



           24      A.    I do.



           25      Q.    Is that consistent with your testimony in the
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            1  last two days?



            2      A.    It is.



            3      Q.    The next sentence says, Periods of high flood



            4  frequency are likely to correlate with periods of



            5  increased channel instability.



            6            Do you agree with that statement?



            7      A.    I do.



            8      Q.    Did I read it correctly?



            9      A.    Yes.



           10      Q.    Is that consistent with the testimony you've



           11  given to the Commission this week?



           12      A.    Yes.



           13      Q.    The next sentence says, Consequently channel



           14  plan form and geometry of the lower Gila River in 1912



           15  can also be characterized as mostly shallow and



           16  braided.



           17            Do you agree with that statement by



           18  Mr. Fuller?



           19      A.    I do.



           20      Q.    Is that consistent with your testimony over



           21  the last couple of days?



           22      A.    It is.



           23      Q.    The last sentence in that quote says, The



           24  premise of this study is that the Gila River responds



           25  to secular climatic variability by radical changes in
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            1  channel configuration and that periods of increased



            2  flood frequency correlate with unstable, braided



            3  channel conditions.



            4            Did I read that one correctly?



            5      A.    Almost.  You left out large flood frequency.



            6      Q.    I'm just checking to see if you're watching.



            7            Is that consistent with your testimony over



            8  the last couple days?



            9      A.    It is.



           10      Q.    And do you agree with the statement by



           11  Mr. Fuller, as quoted by the Commission in this 2009



           12  report?



           13      A.    I do agree with it.  I believe that actually



           14  came from the Huckleberry document, but I agree with



           15  it.



           16      Q.    Huckleberry chapter in the report that was



           17  signed by Mr. Fuller, prepared by Mr. Fuller; is that



           18  correct?



           19      A.    Yes.



           20      Q.    And then the next sentence, and I'm not going



           21  to go through and read it line by line, but the next



           22  sentence talks about Mr. Huckleberry's testimony before



           23  the Commission on November 17th, 2005; is that right?



           24      A.    Yes.



           25      Q.    Among other things, Dr. -- Mr. Huckleberry --
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            1  is it Mr. Huckleberry or Dr. Huckleberry?  Do you



            2  know?



            3      A.    I believe it's Mister.



            4      Q.    Okay.  Mr. Huckleberry stated that the Gila



            5  River was a very dynamic river because the discharge is



            6  so fluctuating and thus is similar to other rivers in



            7  dry lands and deserts.



            8            Is that what it says there?



            9      A.    It is.



           10      Q.    And do you agree with that?



           11      A.    I do.



           12      Q.    Maybe I am going to read every sentence.



           13            He stated that the character of the river had



           14  been significantly changed by the very large floods,



           15  particularly those in 1891, 1893, 1905 and 1916.



           16            Is that correct?



           17      A.    And, also, 1906.



           18      Q.    And that's consistent with the testimony



           19  you've given over the last couple of days?



           20      A.    Yes.



           21      Q.    And the rest of that page goes on to talk



           22  about the statements that Mr. Huckleberry made in his



           23  testimony to the Commission back on November 17th,



           24  2005?



           25      A.    Yes, it does.
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            1      Q.    And it's your understanding at that point he



            2  was testifying on behalf of the State Land Department



            3  itself; is that correct?



            4      A.    That's my understanding.



            5      Q.    So based upon your review of the Commission's



            6  report and the statement of the evidence that was



            7  presented back in 2005, including statements by



            8  Mr. Fuller and Dr. Huckleberry, Mr. Huckleberry, do you



            9  believe there's any reasonable dispute that the floods



           10  in the late 1890s and early 1900s changed the channel



           11  form of the Gila River?



           12      A.    I think there's no dispute about that.



           13      Q.    Do you think there's any reasonable



           14  dispute of the fact that after those floods, in and



           15  about the date of Arizona statehood, that the Gila



           16  River, because of those floods, was a wide, braided



           17  channel?



           18      A.    I don't believe there's any dispute about



           19  that.



           20      Q.    And is that a big portion of what your



           21  opinion has been today, those two things I just talked



           22  about?  What your opinion has been over the last couple



           23  of days, is that a big portion of what you're talking



           24  about?



           25      A.    Those are very important elements of my
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            1  opinion.



            2      Q.    And the other -- my understanding of the



            3  third element of your opinion is, based upon that and



            4  other evidence, you believe that the river was not



            5  navigable in its ordinary and natural condition?



            6      A.    That's correct.



            7      Q.    So if those are the three underpinnings,



            8  three main things you said in your testimony, the first



            9  two really have been agreed by the State's experts,



           10  already found by the Commission, and also agreed to by



           11  Dr. Huckleberry; is that right?



           12      A.    That appears to be the case.



           13      Q.    The last thing I want to deal with in this



           14  report is, on Page 70 it starts talking about -- the



           15  Commission there starts talking about Dr. Schumm.  And



           16  we have had some discussion of Dr. Schumm over the last



           17  couple days.  And he, I assume, also in this report --



           18  excuse me.  This decision also shows that he agrees



           19  with those two premises that we just talked about,



           20  right?



           21      A.    That's correct.



           22      Q.    That there was a change in the channel and



           23  that it was braided after the floods?



           24      A.    That's correct.



           25      Q.    Okay.  The only portion I want to refer you
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            1  to, in addition to that where it referred to



            2  Dr. Schumm, is, I think maybe it was in response to



            3  Mr. Slade's questioning yesterday.  It might have been



            4  Mr. Hyrcko today.  It all kind of blends together for



            5  me.  But one of them asked you, didn't Dr. Schumm just



            6  deal with the portion of the Gila River below the Salt



            7  River confluence.  Do you recall that?



            8      A.    I recall that question.



            9      Q.    And do you recall your answer was saying,



           10  yeah, I think he did just deal with the lower portion



           11  below the Salt River confluence?



           12      A.    Yes.  I based that on the title of his



           13  report.



           14      Q.    And the title of his report probably leads to



           15  that conclusion, in that it deals with the lower -- the



           16  title says the lower Gila River; is that right?



           17      A.    That's correct.



           18      Q.    On Page 72 of the Commission's report,



           19  there's some discussion, some quoted testimony by the



           20  Commission, and testimony by Dr. Schumm, that would



           21  seem to refute that conclusion; is that right?



           22      A.    Yes.  He had information in his report that



           23  applied, actually, to the middle reach of the Gila



           24  upstream from the Salt River confluence.



           25      Q.    And there on Page 72, they're quoting the
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            1  transcript from the November 17th, 2005 hearing at



            2  Page 21.  I would like you to just read along with me



            3  and make sure I'm reading this right.  They're talking



            4  about his opinion that the river is nonnavigable.  And



            5  if you start at the question about two-thirds of the



            6  way down the page.  And it doesn't say who was asking



            7  the questions.



            8            And you said that's in regard to lower reach.



            9  Is that correct?



           10            Do you see that question?



           11      A.    I see that.



           12      Q.    Okay.  And then Dr. Schumm's response is:



           13            Well, that's the title of my report, but the



           14  data and information that I had from Huckleberry and



           15  Burkham show that the river was -- the entire river



           16  increased in width during that time.  So my assumption



           17  is it's wide, it's shallow, steep, braided river.  And



           18  that type of river without the vast quantities of water



           19  in the Nile and --



           20            I'm not even going to say this next word



           21  right.  Brahmaputra?  How do you say that?



           22      A.    Brahmaputra.



           23      Q.    -- Brahmaputra, would likely be unsusceptible



           24  to navigation.



           25            And then after a break the quote continues:
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            1            So, Dr. Schumm, is it your opinion that the



            2  entire length of the Gila River through Arizona is



            3  non-navigable?  Answer:  I would have to say yes,



            4  that's my conclusion.



            5            Did I read that correctly?



            6      A.    You did.



            7      Q.    So based upon that testimony, quoted by the



            8  Commission itself in its report, is it your



            9  understanding that Dr. Schumm, in his testimony, dealt



           10  with the entire Gila River and not just the portion



           11  below the Salt River confluence?



           12      A.    That's correct.



           13      Q.    Okay.  Last question, I hope.



           14            Is there anything that you've heard in the



           15  testimony in June and the testimony over the last,



           16  roughly, two and a half days this week that has changed



           17  your conclusions and opinions as set forth in your



           18  report?



           19      A.    No.



           20                 MR. MCGINNIS:  No more questions.



           21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.



           22                 Now, are there any other witnesses in



           23  opposition?



           24                 Oh, do you want to ask him some?



           25                 MR. HELM:  I would beg permission of
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            1  the Commission to do this.  I realize that I



            2  sometimes engage in a folly of thinking that lawyers



            3  won't bring up stuff that they didn't use on direct



            4  when they get the privilege to do redirect, but I



            5  usually get proved wrong, and Mark has once again



            6  proven me wrong.



            7                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Excuse me, John, but



            8  are you bringing up something that didn't come up on



            9  direct or cross?



           10                 MR. HELM:  I believe so.  I mean this



           11  last flight through your 2005 report I don't recall



           12  Mark ever bringing up on his direct.



           13                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Everything I did in



           14  redirect was tied directly to something they brought up



           15  in cross.  Now, my redirect doesn't have to be within



           16  the scope of my direct if they go outside the scope of



           17  my direct in their cross.



           18                 I thought I was pretty careful in



           19  letting you know what portion of their cross I was



           20  dealing with.  If you want to go back through that,



           21  that's fine.  But there's no reason whatsoever for any



           22  recross of this witness, and especially by a different



           23  lawyer than the one who, from the same party, who



           24  crossed him the first time.



           25                 MR. HELM:  We never asked a question on
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            1  that report.  Now, I can't swear for --



            2                 MR. SLADE:  I didn't ask a question, nor



            3  did Dr. Mussetter cite that report in any of his



            4  documents.



            5                 MR. MCGINNIS:  That report was directly



            6  responsive to the questions from this gentleman,



            7  Mr. Slade, who seemed to be saying that the only thing



            8  that was different between those two maps was the



            9  difference in the mapping methods.



           10                 And I went through that report to show



           11  that not only Mr. Slade -- not only Dr. Mussetter --



           12  what's your name -- Dr. Mussetter, but also Mr. Slade's



           13  own expert to this Commission had testified to the same



           14  thing that Mr. Slade was trying to disprove.



           15                 MR. HELM:  In the real world, that



           16  wouldn't be connected.



           17                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. McGinnis, I agree



           18  with you.



           19                 Mr. Helm, proceed.



           20                 MR. HELM:  Thank you.  I just have a



           21  few.



           22                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Will I have a chance to



           23  re-redirect after he's done?



           24                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. McGinnis, obviously



           25  this chair is not going to restrict hardly anybody.
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            1                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Okay.



            2



            3                   RECROSS-EXAMINATION



            4  BY MR. HELM:



            5      Q.    I just want to talk to you about the report



            6  that you -- Mark just asked --



            7                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Oh, the chair would be



            8  most impressed if you would do it standing up, because



            9  that means it's not going to take very long.



           10                 MR. HELM:  It won't.



           11                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  No, go ahead and --



           12                 MR. HELM:  No, for me, you can see.



           13                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  -- sit down, John.  Sit



           14  down, John.



           15                 MR. HELM:  It's only four paragraphs.



           16                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Sit down.  We're going



           17  to be fine.



           18                 MR. SPARKS:  Do you want me to hold your



           19  notes up over here so you can see them?



           20                 MR. HELM:  You couldn't read it.



           21                 MR. SPARKS:  No, so you can see them.



           22                 MR. HELM:  No, no, that's fine.  I do



           23  better this way.



           24  BY MR. HELM:



           25      Q.    Now, regarding the Commission's 2005 report
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            1  that you've testified here to, as I get it, basically



            2  what you're saying is, I've read that report and my



            3  testimony is consistent with all of the things that are



            4  stated in that report?



            5      A.    In the section that deals with the geology



            6  and geomorphology of the river, I have read that in



            7  some detail, and my testimony is consistent with that.



            8      Q.    Is it fair to say that by no means -- well,



            9  let me back up one.



           10            You didn't do any other scientific tests or



           11  studies other than the ones that you've told us about



           12  before redirect, correct?



           13                 MR. MCGINNIS:  This is clearly outside



           14  the scope of my questioning about the report.  If we're



           15  going to go outside, outside, outside, we're going to



           16  be here for several more days.  The questions of the



           17  scientific study have nothing to do with what he said



           18  he was just going to ask him about, which was the 2009



           19  report.



           20                 MR. HELM:  If I can get the rest of the



           21  stuff out, it might, Mark.



           22                 MR. MCGINNIS:  You just asked a



           23  question, and I'm objecting to that question.



           24                 MR. HELM:  I know you've got some



           25  heartburn because you did a fairytale on it.  Let me
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            1  finish.



            2                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Excuse me.  This is the



            3  direction, okay?  Up here is where we talk.



            4                 MR. MCGINNIS:  I have no heartburn, by



            5  the way.



            6  BY MR. HELM:



            7      Q.    The question goes like this:  What we're



            8  getting to is, you didn't do the research, did you,



            9  Doctor, that was done to support the 2005 report from



           10  the Commission?



           11                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Dr. Mussetter.



           12                 THE WITNESS:  I did not do that



           13  research, no.



           14  BY MR. HELM:



           15      Q.    Okay.  Did you read all of that research?



           16      A.    I couldn't say I read 100 percent of it, but



           17  I read the bulk of it.



           18      Q.    When you say the bulk, what do you mean by



           19  the bulk?  Whose did you read?  Which of the witnesses'



           20  research did you read?



           21      A.    Well, clearly Dr. Schumm's.



           22      Q.    Okay.



           23      A.    I've been read several of Huckleberry's



           24  papers.  I've read --



           25      Q.    Did you read the paper or did you read the
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            1  primary work behind the paper?



            2      A.    I would have to go back through the details.



            3  I'm sure I read some of the primary work behind it as



            4  well.



            5      Q.    Okay.  And am I right you haven't done any



            6  independent research, other than what you've already



            7  told us about, rendering your other opinions?



            8      A.    We've been through that.  Yes.



            9      Q.    Did you read the entire transcript from the



           10  2005 hearing?



           11      A.    Not the entire transcript, no.



           12      Q.    You weren't present for the 2005 hearing?



           13      A.    I was not.



           14      Q.    Okay.  Did you review every exhibit submitted



           15  for the 2005 hearing?



           16      A.    No.



           17      Q.    And, lastly, Huckleberry and Burkham did not



           18  study the entire Gila River in their reports, did they?



           19      A.    That's true.



           20                 MR. HELM:  All I have.



           21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.



           22                 Mr. McGinnis?



           23                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Nothing worth responding



           24  to there, Your Honor.



           25                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Now, is there any other
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            1  evidence to be presented by a party who might be in



            2  opposition to a finding of navigability on the Gila?



            3                 (No response.)



            4                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  If not, then are we



            5  ready for rebuttal testimony?



            6                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Mr. Chairman, in the



            7  interest of time, the State has carefully reviewed what



            8  has happened in these last set of weeks, and we don't



            9  feel we need any rebuttal.



           10                 However, if the Commission has any



           11  questions of Mr. Fuller, we are happy to make him



           12  available.



           13                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Do you have any



           14  questions for him?



           15                 No.



           16                 Jim?



           17                 MR. HOOD:  Mr. Chairman, I just wanted



           18  to remind you that there was some discussion about --



           19  you got it.



           20                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  You may show up late,



           21  but you're on top of things.



           22                 Do you have any questions for --



           23                 MR. BREEDLOVE:  Commissioner Allen might



           24  have some questions for Rich.



           25                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Hood, would it be
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            1  possible --



            2                 Thank you, Dr. Mussetter.  We excuse



            3  you.



            4                 Would it be possible if we could have



            5  Mr. Burtell come back up?



            6                 MR. HOOD:  That sounds great.



            7                 MS. HERNBRODE:  I would like to reserve



            8  rebuttal at this point, I guess, Mr. Chairman.  I'm not



            9  sure what we're doing here, so...



           10                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I'm about to explain.



           11                 MS. HERNBRODE:  I apologize for jumping



           12  ahead.



           13                 MR. HOOD:  Just for Ms. Hernbrode, she



           14  may not be aware.  This isn't -- I'm not going to be



           15  asking Rich more questions, except perhaps in



           16  follow-up.



           17                 There was some questions by the



           18  Commissioners that they didn't have a chance, so this



           19  is their opportunity for that.  So barring follow-up, I



           20  don't have any questions.



           21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Oh, you're not?



           22                 Mr. Burtell, are you ready to come up?



           23                 MR. BURTELL:  Yes.



           24                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  You're not going to



           25  have to.
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            1                 You think the State surprises us.  Bill,



            2  you surprised us.



            3                 What had happened was, at the conclusion



            4  of Mr. Burtell's previous testimony, the chair



            5  inadvertently concluded the hearing without allowing



            6  Commissioners to ask some questions.  And there was a



            7  Commissioner who had a question or two, and we've



            8  decided not to ask those.  That's what we were going to



            9  do.



           10                 Now, I understand that this kind of



           11  concludes it for this part of the Gila River hearing.



           12                 We are scheduled to be in Florence a



           13  week from Friday, on August 29, at 11:00 a.m., to take



           14  local testimony only with regards to the Gila.



           15                 Is there any question about that?



           16                 Mr. Sparks.



           17                 MR. SPARKS:  Mr. Chairman, yes.  Will



           18  the record remain open through the conclusion of the



           19  hearing in Florence?



           20                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Let me get to that in



           21  just a moment.  Let me hear from -- was that what you



           22  were asking?



           23                 MR. HELM:  I'm just trying to figure out



           24  the time frame for my bass fishing.



           25                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Here's the
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            1  record situation:  The record will remain open until



            2  Monday, September 15, close of business, 5:00 p.m.



            3                 You've either entered that into your PDA



            4  or you've written it down in your scribble, I mean



            5  scrabble.  Anyway.



            6                 MR. SPARKS:  The scribble part refers to



            7  the fact that you can read upside down from 20 feet



            8  away.  That's really good.



            9                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  But I know who to look



           10  at.  Notice I didn't even go that direction.



           11                 MR. MEHNERT:  And I'll send the notice



           12  out to the people who aren't here.



           13                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Is there anything else



           14  we need to take up today?



           15                 Yes, John.



           16                 MR. HELM:  Just to continue my



           17  curiosity, in terms of when we're going to start



           18  counting the 30 days that our memorandum is due, then



           19  will that be 30 days after we get the -- or 10 days



           20  after we get the transcript, will it be 10 days after



           21  your hearing in Florence, assuming that the transcript



           22  will have arrived by that period?  I'm just trying to



           23  see what may help there.



           24                 MS. HERNBRODE:  It won't have.



           25                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Joy?
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            1                 MS. HERNBRODE:  We will not have a



            2  transcript by next Friday, I can guarantee you that.



            3                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We'll send out a notice



            4  as to when the briefing period will start.



            5                 Mr. McGinnis.



            6                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Just in terms of giving



            7  us one less thing for lawyers to fight out, again, I



            8  think it would be helpful if you put the dates of the



            9  briefing in about, you know, when the briefs are due,



           10  so we don't fight out about what --



           11                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Rather than number of



           12  days?



           13                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Yeah.



           14                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We will do that.



           15                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Sorry.  Can you remind



           16  us?  I remember vaguely that there were perhaps some



           17  page limitations.  I'm hoping that they will be quite



           18  generous because, there was a lot --



           19                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Let's ask Poncho.



           20                 MR. BREEDLOVE:  Well, I thought we would



           21  be consistent with what we've done in the past.



           22                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  It will consistent with



           23  what we've done in the past.



           24                 MR. BREEDLOVE:  Which I believe was



           25  20/30 and then unlimited for the findings of fact and
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            1  conclusions of law.



            2                 MR. MEHNERT:  Right.



            3                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Now, does that



            4  help at all?



            5                 We will give you number of days and date



            6  when due when we send it out, send out the notice.  It



            7  is 20 for opening, 30 for response, and then the



            8  proposed findings of fact, conclusions of law, and



            9  other items is an unlimited page.



           10                 Was it the other way around?



           11                 MR. HOOD:  My recollection on the Santa



           12  Cruz, which was the most recent one we finished



           13  briefing, I thought it was 20 and 10, which may be a



           14  little too short for this.  But it was shorter.  I know



           15  that the response memos were shorter than the --



           16                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We don't like shorter



           17  comments.



           18                 MR. BREEDLOVE:  I think it was 30/20.



           19                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Joe and I, we kind of



           20  avoid those shorter comments.



           21                 MR. BREEDLOVE:  I think it was 30/20.



           22                 (The proceedings were interrupted by the



           23  Court Reporter.)



           24                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  It's not that important



           25  to have this on the record.
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            1                 Okay, we will make it consistent.  When



            2  we send it out, it will be the same as for the Santa



            3  Cruz.  So if you want to go back and look at what the



            4  Santa Cruz was, it will be the same.



            5                 MS. HERNBRODE:  I'm sorry, Mr. Chairman.



            6  If you really are -- if it really is 20 and 10, I'm



            7  going to have to make a motion for more pages.



            8                 So I think we can agree with the 20/30,



            9  whichever way you flip it, or 30/20.  I might be able



           10  to make that happen.  But I --



           11                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Let's discuss this



           12  then.  What is a reasonable number John?



           13                 MR. HELM:  For statement of facts or for



           14  briefing?



           15                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Briefs.



           16                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  For introduction.



           17                 MR. HELM:  Oh, just the introductory



           18  portion?  I can get it in 100 pages without any problem



           19  at all.



           20                 No, I mean, what do they give you, 30 at



           21  the Court of Appeals these days?



           22                 MR. HYRCKO:  It's word count.



           23                 MR. HELM:  Word count.  How many words?



           24                 MR. HYRCKO:  15,000.



           25                 MR. HELM:  15,000 words?
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            1                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Then you have to get



            2  the word counter working.



            3                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Yeah, please don't do



            4  that.



            5                 MR. HELM:  30 pages then for opening and



            6  20 for close.



            7                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Yeah, but we've had a



            8  lot more evidence in this particular one than we did



            9  the Santa Cruz, haven't we?



           10                 MR. BREEDLOVE:  Yes.



           11                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. McGinnis.



           12                 MR. MCGINNIS:  I guess some of that has



           13  to do with whether you want us to do our proposed



           14  findings with the opening brief or with the response



           15  brief.



           16                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Proposed findings are



           17  not subject to a page limitation.



           18                 MR. MCGINNIS:  I guess that was what I



           19  was thinking, was that if -- frankly, if our opening



           20  brief, if we can do our proposed findings at the same



           21  time, cite to the proposed findings, it makes your



           22  brief not quite so long.  But 30 pages, I think, is



           23  that what you -- is that what John suggested?



           24                 MR. HELM:  Yes.



           25                 MR. MCGINNIS:  That should be fine.
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            1                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Let's just do 30 all



            2  the way along.  You've got 30 to open.  You've got 30



            3  to respond with.



            4                 MR. MCGINNIS:  And no limit on the



            5  findings and conclusions?



            6                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  No limit on the



            7  findings, the proposed.



            8                 MR. HELM:  And my suggestion there would



            9  be that after the second -- because while I doubt it,



           10  Mark might say something that would make me change my



           11  mind on one of the proposed findings and I wouldn't put



           12  it in.



           13                 MR. SPARKS:  Your Honor, I've known him



           14  50 years.  He's never changed his mind.



           15                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mark?



           16                 MR. SPARKS:  John.



           17                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  John, I've heard that.



           18                 MR. HELM:  I know.



           19                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  At any rate --



           20                 MR. HELM:  I'm a hardhead.



           21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  At any rate, if you



           22  want to respond to something, you know, okay, so it's



           23  going to be 30/30 is what it's going to be, and



           24  proposed findings of fact, et cetera, that's unlimited.



           25                 MR. HOOD:  And due with the response
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            1  memoranda, correct?



            2                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  You can do it when you



            3  want it --



            4                 MR. HOOD:  Okay.



            5                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  -- okay?



            6                 MR. SPARKS:  May we have posting as the



            7  time for posting is filing; in other words, posting



            8  with the U.S. Postal Service?



            9                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Yes.



           10                 MR. SPARKS:  Thank you.



           11                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  In other words, when



           12  it's postmarked --



           13                 MR. SPARKS:  Yeah, when it's postmarked.



           14                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  -- is the same as being



           15  received.



           16                 MR. SPARKS:  Yes.  Well, at least filed.



           17                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, filed.



           18                 MR. SPARKS:  Yeah.



           19                 MR. HELM:  I would --



           20                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  You want it with the



           21  response?



           22                 MR. HELM:  No, I would like it like



           23  10 days after, because honestly, I always hope that



           24  somebody will say something and I'll take something out



           25  of it, because in the responses I get, I might say, oh,
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            1  that's right, you know, and forget it.



            2                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Just making a quick



            3  snap decision, here's what we're going to do with



            4  regards to the proposed findings of fact and



            5  conclusions of law.  You will have 10 days after any



            6  filing of a proposed findings of fact and conclusions



            7  of law in which to respond, with a maximum of 10 pages.



            8                 Any other issues?



            9                 Go ahead, John.



           10                 MR. HELM:  The only thing is, I wasn't



           11  clear when -- the findings of facts are going to be due



           12  with the response memorandum?



           13                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  That's the latest they



           14  can be filed.  If you want to file them before that,



           15  you can.



           16                 MR. HELM:  Okay.



           17                 MR. BREEDLOVE:  That's consistent with



           18  what we've done.



           19                 MR. MEHNERT:  Yes.



           20                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Any other items?



           21                 Who's taking the rest of the donuts?



           22  Oh, come on.  The security guard is going to have to



           23  eat them now.



           24                 MR. MEHNERT:  Who has young children?



           25                 MR. BREEDLOVE:  That's the last thing I





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                        GILA RIVER      VOL. VIII      08/20/2014

                                                                      1902





            1  need.



            2                 MR. MEHNERT:  Yeah, I know, more sugar.



            3                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Then we're in



            4  recess.



            5                 (The proceedings recessed at 2:03 p.m.)
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            9  the best of my skill and ability.



           10            I FURTHER CERTIFY that I am not related to



           11  nor employed by any of the parties hereto, and have no



           12  interest in the outcome.
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